

## **Durham E-Theses**

## The unfolded protein response and HLA-B27 misfolding: implications for ankylosing spondylitis

#### LEMIN, ANDREW, JAMES

#### How to cite:

LEMIN, ANDREW, JAMES (2010) The unfolded protein response and HLA-B27 misfolding: implications for ankylosing spondylitis, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/797/

#### Use policy

 $The full-text\ may\ be\ used\ and/or\ reproduced,\ and\ given\ to\ third\ parties\ in\ any\ format\ or\ medium,\ without\ prior\ permission\ or\ charge,\ for\ personal\ research\ or\ study,\ educational,\ or\ not-for-profit\ purposes\ provided\ that:$ 

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

# The unfolded protein response and HLA-B27 misfolding: implications for ankylosing spondylitis

Andrew James Lemin

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

University of Durham

August 2010

### Material Abstract

The unfolded protein response (UPR) detects the presence of misfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and subsequently relieves ER stress by increasing the folding capacity of the ER. The secretory pathway substrate HLA-B27 is highly associated with the chronic inflammatory disease ankylosing spondylitis (AS) and has a tendency to misfold in the ER. Here, we show that overexpression of HLA-B27 and non-disease associated HLA-B7 in immortalised cell lines leads to heavy chain misoxidation, which is accompanied by upregulation of *BiP* and splicing of *XBP1*, a key step in the IRE1 pathway of the UPR which is increasingly being linked with intestinal inflammation.

We also demonstrate that different cell lines respond to different ER stress stimuli in distinct ways. We establish that HT1080 cells inefficiently induce a UPR in response to tunicamycin and that this has consequences for cell survival. However, inefficient activation of the UPR in HT1080 cells can be overcome by secondary signals, since co-administration of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor genistein leads to activation of *XBP1*. Furthermore, we show that genistein can inhibit UPR induction of *BiP* in response to a range of ER stresses indicating that the cancer drug genistein can inhibit or activate the UPR depending on the environment and cell type. This has implications for inflammatory disease since regulation of the UPR is important in determining a cell's tendency towards apoptosis.

## Table of Contents

1. Summary	1
2. General Introduction	5
2.1 The molecular fate of polypeptides	6
2.2 Assisted protein folding	11
2.2.1 Cytosolic chaperone system	12
2.2.1.1 The Hsp70 system	13
2.2.1.2 Chaperonins	14
2.2.1.3 <i>Hsp90</i>	16
2.2.1.4 The bacterial periplasm	17
2.2.2 Protein folding in the ER	22
2.2.2.1 The endoplasmic reticulum	23
2.2.2.2 Oxidative protein folding	24
2.2.2.3 Protein disulfide isomerase	26
2.2.2.3.1 PDI homologs	29
2.2.2.4 ER oxidoreducase (Ero) protein	34
2.2.2.4.1 Human Ero protein	36
2.2.2.5 Glycosylation	38
2.2.2.6 Chaperones of the ER	41
2.2.2.6.1. Chaperone activity of PDI	41
2.2.2.6.2. <i>BiP</i>	43
2.2.2.6.3 Grp94	44
2.2.2.7 ER-associated Degradation (ERAD)	46
2.2.2.7.1 ERAD substrate recognition	46
2.2.2.7.2 Retrotranslocation and degradation	50
2.3 Unfolded Protein Response	53
2.3.1 The yeast UPR	54
2.3.2 The mammalian UPR	58
2.3.2.1 <i>IRE1</i>	58
2.3.2.2 <i>PERK</i>	69
2.3.2.3 ATF6	74
2.3.2.4 Other roles of the UPR	78

2.3.2.5 Apoptosis vs. Survival	80
2.3.2.6 UPR in disease	84

2.4 Ankylosing S	Spondylitis	88
2.4.1 Anky	losing spondylitis and the spondyloarthropathies	88
	2.4.1.1 Clinical features	88
	2.4.1.2 Genetics of AS	90
	2.4.1.3 Animal Models	92
2.4.2 MHC	C class I molecule	94
	2.4.2.1 MHC class I folding events in the ER	95
2.4.3 HLA	-B27 and AS	101
	2.4.3.1 Arthritogenic peptide hypothesis	101
	2.4.3.2 Aberrant cell surface heavy chains	104
	2.4.3.3 HLA-B27 misfolding in the ER	107
2.5 Thesis Aims		115
3. Materials an	nd Methods	116
3.1 Cell lines, T	issues and Antibodies	117
3.2 Constructs		121
3.3 Transfection	1	121
3.4 Cell treatme	ents	122
3.5 Cell lysis		123
3.6 <i>RT-PCR</i>		124
3.7 PstI digestio	n	124
3.8 PNGase dig	estion	126
3.9 SDS-PAGE		126

3.10 Ponceau S staining	127
3.11 Western blotting	127
3.12 Glycine stripping	128
3.13 Immunofluorescence	128
3.14 Cell viability assay	129
4. Results	130
4.1 Induction of the UPR by pharmacological agents	131
<ul> <li>4.1.1 Introduction</li> <li>4.1.1.1 Tunicamycin</li> <li>4.1.1.2 Disruption of cellular calcium levels</li> <li>4.1.1.3 DTT and glucose starvation</li> </ul>	131 131 133 134
4.1.2 Results 4.1.2.1 Hela and HT1080 both upregulate BiP in memoryse to EP stress induction	135 135
4.1.2.2 Induction of XBP1 splicing by ER stress inducers in HeLa and HT1080	138
4.1.2.3 The downstream UPR target CHOP is differentially induced by distinct ER stress inducers	147
4.1.2.4 ATF6α can form higher order structures which are influenced by DTT and tunicamycin treatment	150
4.1.3 Discussion	160
4.2 HLA-B27 misfolding and the unfolded protein response	166
4.2.1 Introduction 4.2.2 Results	166 169
4.2.2.1 Transient transfection of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 into HeLa and HT1080 cells causes misoxidation of MHC class I heavy chains	169
4.2.2.2 Misoxidation of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27	174

	upregulates BiP and induces XBP1 splicing	
4.2.2.3	Rapamycin treatment of HLA-B27-expressing cells	177
4.2.2.4	XBP1 processing in HLA-B27 stable transfectants	180
4.2.2.5	5 Lymphocytes from SpA patients exhibit HLA-B27 misoxidation	183
4.2.3 Discussion		186
4.3 Context dependent ac response	ctivation of the unfolded protein	192
4.3.1 Introduction		192 196
4.3.2.1	1 Serum withdrawal promotes XBP1 processing by tunicamycin in HT1080 cells	196
4.3.2.2	2 The magnitude of tunicamycin-induced UPR induction correlates with cell viability in HeLa and HT1080 cells	200
4.3.2.3	3 Genistein suppresses the expression of BiP and XBP1 in HeLa cells undergoing different forms of ER stress	204
4.3.2.4	4 Genistein regulates the transcriptional activation of BiP and XBP1	213
4.3.2.5	5 Genistein treatment does not strongly suppress MHC class I misoxidation-induced XBP1 or BiP expression	216
4.3.3 Discussion		219
5. Final Discussion		226
5.1 Coordination of the U	UPR in response to diverse ER stimuli	228
5.2 MHC class I heavy cl	hain misfolding-driven UPR activation	231
5.3 The integration of gen	nistein activity with the UPR	234
6. References		238

## List of Figures

2. General Introduction
-------------------------

2.1 The molecular fate of polypeptides	
Figure 1. A combined energy landscape diagram for both protein folding	8
and protein aggregation.	
2.2 Assisted protein folding	
Figure 2. PDI domain structure.	27
Table 1. The structural diversity of some of the key members of the human	30
PDI family.	
Figure 3. The N-linked core oligosaccharide.	39
2.3 Unfolded Protein Response	
Figure 4. The IRE1 branch of the UPR.	68
2.4 Ankylosing Spondylitis	
Figure 5. The structure of HLA-B27.	106
3. Materials and Methods	
3.1 Cell Lines, Tissues and Antibodies	
Table 2. Antibody concentrations.	120
Table 3. RT-PCR Primer	125

## 4. Results

## 4.1 Induction of the UPR by pharmacological agents

4.1.1 Introduction

Figure 6. The ER stress-inducing agents tunicamycin, thapsigargin and	132
dithiothreitol.	
4.1.2 Results	
Figure 7. <i>BiP</i> expression in HeLa and HT1080 cells in response to ER	136
stress-inducing treatment.	
Figure 8. PstI digestion as a technique for analysing XBP1 processing.	139
Figure 9. XBP1 is spliced in response to a range of ER stress-inducing	141
agents.	
Figure 10. HT1080 cells inefficiently process XBP1 in response to	143
tunicamycin treatment.	
Figure 11. HT1080 cells exposed to tunicamycin do not process <i>XBP1</i> ,	146
but tunicamycin prevents glycosylation of MHC class I heavy chains.	
Figure 12. Expression of CHOP is differentially induced by distinct	148
pharmacological agents.	
Figure 13. ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA transfection in HeLa cells leads to increased	151
ATF6α transcript and protein.	
Figure 14. Transfected ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA localises to the ER.	152
Figure 15. p50 ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA is not detected upon treatment with DTT or	155
tunicamycin but the amount of p90 ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA is diminished.	

Figure 16. The oligomerisation status of ATF6 $\alpha$ is influenced by the ER	158
stress inducers DTT and tunicamycin.	
4.1.3 Discussion	
Figure 17. The regulation of CHOP expression.	162
HLA-B27 misfolding and the unfolded protein response	
4.2.2 Results	
Figure 18. Protein sequence alignment of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27.	170
Figure 19. Transient transfection of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 causes	171
misoxidation in HeLa and HT1080 cells which is accompanied by an	
increase in <i>BiP</i> expression.	
Figure 20. Misoxidation of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 upregulates <i>BiP</i>	176
and induces XBP1 splicing.	
Figure 21. The effect of rapamycin on misoxidation of	179
MHC cI heavy chains.	
Figure 22. XBP1 processing in C58 stable transfectants.	182
Figure 23. HLA-B27 misfolding in AS patient lymphocytes.	185
4.2.3 Discussion	
Figure 24. The consequences of heavy chain misfolding in the ER.	187

### 4.3 Context dependent activation of the unfolded protein response

#### 4.3.2 Results

4.2

Figure 25. Serum withdrawal in the presence of tunicamycin promotes *XBP1* 197

splicing and <i>BiP</i> and <i>CHOP</i> upregulation in HT1080.	
Figure 26. Tunicamycin-treated HT1080 cells remain comparatively resistant	202
to cell death.	
Figure 27. Genistein suppresses BiP expression in serum-starved HeLa and	205
HT1080 cells exposed to tunicamycin.	
Figure 28. Genistein suppresses transcriptional activation of XBP1 and BiP	208
induced by a range of ER stress inducers.	
Figure 29. Genistein can suppress XBP1 and BiP transcriptional activity or	210
promote <i>XBP1</i> splicing at early time points.	
Figure 30. The UPR-driven protein expression of GRP94 is suppressed by	211
genistein in HeLa cells.	
Figure 31. Diadzein does not suppress the UPR-driven transcriptional activity	214
of XBP1 or BiP in HeLa cells.	
Figure 32. Genistein does not suppress MHC class I heavy chain	217
misoxidation-induced transcriptional activation of <i>XBP1</i> or <i>BiP</i> in HeLa cells.	
4.3.3 Discussion	
Figure 33. Cell-specific differences in UPR regulation between HeLa and	223

HT1080.

## Abbreviations

AD	Activation domain
AS	Ankylosing spondylitis
ASK1	Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1
ATF4	Activating transcription factor 4
ATF6	Activating transcription factor 6
$\beta_2 m$	$\beta_2$ microglobulin
B27-Tg	HLA-B27/ $\beta_2$ m transgenic
BIM	BCL-2-interacting mediator of cell
	death
BiP	Immunoglobulin binding protein
BMDM	Bone marrow derived macrophage
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
СНОР	CCAAT/Enhancer-binding protein
	homologous protein
СР4Н	Collagen prolyl-4 hydroxylase
CREB	cAMP response element-binding protein
DBD	DNA binding domain
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DSS	Dextran sodium sulphate
DTT	Dithiolthreitol
EDEM	ER degradation enhancing $\alpha$ -
	mannosidase-like protein
eIF2a	Eukaryotic initiation factor 2 alpha

ERAAP	ER amino peptidase associated with
	antigen presentation
ERAD	Endoplasmic reticulum-associated
	degradation
ERSE	ER stress response element
Ero	Endoplasmic reticulum oxidoreductin
FAD	Flavin adenine dinucelotide
FCS	Foetal calf serum
GCN2	General control non-derepressible-2
GRP	Glucose regulated protein
GSH	Reduced glutathione
GSSG	Oxidised glutathione
GT	UDP-Glc:glycoprotein
glucosyltransferase	
НС	Heavy chain
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
Hsp	Heat shock protein
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
IRE1	Inositol-requiring kinase 1
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
KEAP1	Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1
KIR	Killer immunoglobulin receptor

LIR	Leukocyte immunoglobulin receptor	
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide	
mAb	Monoclonal antibody	
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex	
mRNA	Messenger ribose nucleic acid	
NEM	N-Ethylmaleimide	
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa B	
NF-Y	Nuclear factor Y	
NK	Natural killer	
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance	
NR	Non-reducing	
NRF2	Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor	
	2	
ORF	Open reading frame	
pAb	Polyclonal antibody	
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell	
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline	
PDI	Protein disulfide isomerase	
PDILT	Protein disulfide isomerase-like protein	
	of the testis	
PDIp	Pancreas-specific protein disulfide	
	isomerase	
PERK	RNA-activated protein kinase (PKR)-	
	like endoplasmic reticulum kinase	

p <i>K</i> <sub>a</sub>	The negative logarithm of the acid	
	dissociation constant	
PPIase	cis-trans peptidyl prolyl isomerase	
R	Reducing	
RAC	Ribosome associating complex	
ReA	Reactive arthritis	
RIPA	Radio immunoprecipitation assay	
RNase A	Bovine pancreatic ribonuclease A	
ROS	Reactive oxygen species	
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain	
	reaction	
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate	
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate	
	polyacrylamide electrophoresis	
SpA	Spondyloarthropathy	
SREBP	Sterol response element binding protein	
SRP	Signal recognition particle	
ТАР	Transporter associated with antigen	
	processing	
Tm	Tunicamycin	
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor	
TRAF2	TNF receptor associated factor 2	
UPR	Unfolded protein response	
UPRE	Unfolded protein response element	
WB	Western blot	

WT	Wild-type
XBP1	X-box binding protein 1

## Declaration

I declare that the composition of this thesis, and all the data presented herein, is the result of my own work. No part of the materials offered has previously been submitted for a higher degree. This body of work has been achieved under the supervision of Dr. Adam. M. Benham.

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without the prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged.

Andrew J Lemin

## Acknowledgements

Special thanks go to my supervisor Dr. Adam Benham for his continued support, trust, encouragement and unyielding commitment to the project and to my personal growth.

Thanks also go to Dr. Marcel van Lith, Dr. Sanjika Dias-Gunasekara, Dr. Nicholas Hole, Graeme R. Watson and everyone in laboratory 8 – past and present – for their help, support and patience.

Personal thanks go to my Mother, Anne and Father, Rob, who have supported me throughout my time in Durham and especially in the writing of this thesis. Thanks also go to friends and family including Alastair, Claire M., Claire R., Jen, the Katies, Matthew, Sarah, Stephen, Stuart and Suzanne. For all your support, I am indebted.

## THESIS

## **1. SUMMARY**

### 1. Summary

The major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I heavy chain human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-B27 is highly associated with the development of the chronic inflammatory group of diseases known as the spondyloarthritides (SpA). HLA-B27 is unusual since it can form homodimers both at the cell surface and in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Homodimer formation of HLA-B27 in the ER is believed to be a consequence of the propensity of HLA-B27 to misfold. Recently, induction of the unfolded protein response (UPR) has been associated with HLA-B27 misfolding in the B27/human  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin (h $\beta_2$ m) transgenic rat model. UPR induction has been linked to the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases since UPR activation can lead to activation of nuclear factor (NF)- $\kappa$ B, a master regulator of inflammation, immune responses and apoptosis and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK).

Our results demonstrate that overexpression of the MHC class I heavy chains HLA-B27 and HLA-B7 lead to misoxidation and the formation of high molecular weight, disulfide-linked complexes. Formation of misoxidised class I heavy chains (cI HC) is accompanied by *XBP1* splicing, a key step in the activation of the IRE1 branch of the UPR. This is important in the context of SpA since *XBP1* activation is increasingly being linked with gut inflammation, a component of SpA. Furthermore, I demonstrate misoxidation-induced upregulation of *BiP*, a major target of the UPR indicating that misoxidation of HLA-B heavy chains can trigger downstream effects. Stable transfection of HLA-B27 in C58 cells however does not lead to *XBP1* splicing but may decrease the sensitivity of these cells to secondary stress implying that chronic misfolding may pre-sensitise cells to further bouts of ER stress.

I also describe cell specific differences in the UPR induction in response to the pharmacological agent tunicamycin, which triggers ER stress by inhibiting glycosylation. HT1080 cells do not initiate *XBP1* splicing or *BiP* induction in the face of tunicamycin. Interestingly, HT1080 cells also do not initiate expression of CCAAT/Enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP) homologous protein (*CHOP*). Since *CHOP* is a proapoptotic transcription factor, I studied the effects of tunicamycin on cell survival of HT1080 and found that these cells exhibit increased cell survival over HeLa cells, which promote *CHOP* expression in the face of tunicamycin. However, the weak response of HT1080 to tunicamycin can be overcome by serum deprivation, indicating that HT1080 cells may have mechanisms of UPR regulation which are not as highly expressed in HeLa cells. Taken together, these results demonstrate that there are differences in how certain cells respond to different stimuli and that these responses can have an impact on cell survival.

Furthermore, I also demonstrate that UPR-driven transcriptional activation of BiP – a major downstream target of the UPR – by DTT, tunicamycin and thapsigargin can be inhibited with the use of the isoflavone genistein. Genistein has previously been demonstrated to inhibit *BiP* upregulation in response to thapsigargin but I demonstrate that genistein can inhibit transcriptional activation of *BiP* by a range of ER stresses in HeLa cells. Furthermore, I propose that this action is due to the tyrosine kinase inhibitory activity of genistein since the isoflavone diadzein, which lacks the tyrosine kinase inhibitory activity, does not regulate *BiP* expression in the

face of ER stress. Furthermore, I show that HT1080 cells can initiate tunicamycindriven, but not thapsigargin- or DTT-driven *XBP1* splicing in the presence of genistein further indicating that there are cell specific differences in the regulation of the UPR. This has implications for SpA and inflammatory disease since regulation of the UPR is involved in controlling the cell's tendency towards survival or death.

## 2. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

#### 2. General Introduction

#### 2.1 *The molecular fate of polypeptides*

In order for proteins to carry out their intended task, they must acquire the correct three-dimensional structure necessary for their function. Evolutionary pressure, along with the vast number of possible unique protein structures, is responsible for generating the level of structural and functional diversity seen in the human proteome. The structure of a protein is determined primarily by its amino acid sequence; however, the majority of proteins require further processing to achieve functionality. A polypeptide chain of amino acids needs to be converted into a tightly-folded, compact, energetically-favourable structure where hydrophobic amino acids are buried within the soluble protein and hydrophilic residues are found in the solvent-accessible positions. This stable, 'correctly' folded, functional conformation is known as the native structure and will comprise secondary structural elements –  $\alpha$ -helixes and  $\beta$ -sheets – as well as stabilising hydrogen bonds and electrostatic van der Waal's interactions. Oxidative folding and the addition of disulfide bonds contribute to the tertiary structure of secretory proteins (Sevier & Kaiser, 2002).

Achieving the native structure requires finding the state at which the protein is most stable under physiological conditions. According to Levinthal's paradox, it is impossible for a protein to systematically sample all of the possible confirmations before settling on the most stable (Dill & Chen, 1997). This is especially unlikely when you consider that protein folding events need to occur within a biologically practical timescale. As a result, the concept of energy landscapes, which describes the free energy of a polypeptide chain as a function of its conformational state, was born. This theory describes the maturity of an unfolded polypeptide chain along an energy landscape to the final compact, native structure (Jahn & Radford, 2008).

Just as each protein will exhibit its own unique three-dimensional structure when at its native conformation, so too does each protein exhibit a unique energy landscape determined by the multitude of possible conformational states. Energy landscapes for small, relatively simple proteins appear funnel-shaped since many of the conformational options available lead reliably towards the native state. However, more complex proteins exhibit elaborate, highly dynamic energy landscapes where many intermediate conformations – or partially folded species – may journey towards or indeed away from the final native structure. These intermediates are sometimes referred to as on- or off-pathway species (Brockwell & Radford, 2007). An example of an energy landscape of a complex folding protein can be seen in Figure 1.

The energy landscape of a folding protein illustrates the wide variety of conformational states and folding pathways available to the polypeptide. However, the relative depth of each energy well is not simply dependent on the polypeptide sequence alone, but takes into consideration temperature, solution conditions and protein concentration (Jahn & Radford, 2008).



Figure 1. A combined energy landscape diagram for both protein folding and protein aggregation. Unfolded polypeptide chains progress along the energy landscape towards the compact native structure (Left hand side). Alternatively, polypeptide chains can form intermolecular protein associations, increasing the ruggedness of the energy landscape (Right hand side) and potentially resulting in the formation of low energy oligomeric and amyloid fibril states. Based upon a figure published by Jahn & Radford, 2008.

As polypeptide chains get larger, an assortment of factors, including an increased number of hydrophobic domains, may lead polypeptides to form large regions of non-native like structures, even when highly native-like segments have been formed (Dobson, 2004). This situation may trap the protein, albeit transiently, in a misfolded state. The appearance of species with a significant number of persistent non-native interactions is not considered part of the normal protein folding pathway since the architecture of these species is distinct from that of the native protein. However, a folding intermediate participating in the normal folding process of a protein is rather termed 'unfolded', not 'misfolded', even though they may contain non-native regions and similarly have higher free-energy than the native confirmation (Dobson, 2004).

An increase in population of a species with persistent non-native interactions, or indeed partially folded proteins, enhances the probability of species-specific intermolecular interactions between aggregation-prone regions (Ferguson *et al.*, 2006). The key residues for aggregate formation are thought to be different from those guiding correct folding of the polypeptide chain (Chiti *et al.*, 2002). However, certain key amino acids have been indentified which influence the on- or off-pathway fate of specific proteins (Wigley *et al.*, 2002) indicating the importance of the polypeptide sequence in defining its folding fate (DuBay *et al.*, 2004). Aggregate formation is nucleation-dependent and requires a transiently populated aggregation nucleus. The lag phase of protein aggregation – determined by the rate of nucleation – can be eliminated by the addition of pre-formed fibrils in a process known as 'seeding' (Harper & Landsbury, 1997). Once nucleus formation arises, aggregate growth occurs rapidly by the addition of further 'monomers'. Although the formation of the nucleus is unfavourable, once underway, elongation of the aggregate is highly

favourable and rapidly leads to the formation of fibril structures with characteristic cross- $\beta$  structures. However, the progression of amyloid fibril formation will depend on the specific energy landscape of that protein.

The formation of so-called amyloid fibrils represents an alternative, stable folding destination for polypeptides. The energy landscapes discussed earlier, therefore, are only part of the protein folding narrative, since the formation of a non-native, energetically-stable fibril, which is distinct from the native protein, can be achieved. Thus, a double-funnel diagram with two energetically favourable destinations seems more appropriate, since this view recognises the effects of aggregation on productive folding processes and the potential destinations of unfolded and misfolded intermediates (Fig. 1).

An increasing number of human diseases have been linked with protein misfolding, protein aggregation and amyloid fibril formation in different tissues and organs (Dobson, 2001). Termed 'protein misfolding' or 'protein conformational' diseases; these pathological conditions include, but are not limited to, neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease (Tan *et al.*, 2009; Meraz-Rios *et al.*, 2010), type II diabetes (Gotz *et al.*, 2009), cystic fibrosis (Chaudhuri & Paul, 2006) and  $\alpha$ 1-antitrypsin deficiency (Perlmutter, 2006). Some of these diseases, such as cystic fibrosis, are the consequence of specific misfolded proteins not being able to carry out their intended function (Thomas *et al.*, 1995) whereas the formation and build up of protein aggregates within cells or in the extracellular space characterises Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. Aggregate formation, in the case of the neurodegenerative disorders, confers cytotoxicity on neuronal cells due to a gain-of-function (Caughey *et al.*, 2003). Inappropriate interactions of fibrillar aggregates may lead to sequestration of cellular proteins into disease-specific deposits such as inclusion bodies or plaques leading to cell death. However, in the case of Alzheimer's disease, smaller, multimeric aggregates have been described, which correlate with the early stages of the disease in a mouse model suggesting that early-stage aggregation of specific protein species can have pathological consequences (Berger *et al.*, 2007).

#### 2.2 Assisted protein folding

Although it is possible, under optimised conditions, to reconstitute simple, monomeric proteins to their native conformation *in vitro*, this process is still too slow to occur in the cell. Renaturation of bovine pancreatic ribonuclease (RNase) – containing 124 amino acids and 8 sulfhydryl groups – under favourable pH, temperature and protein concentration still takes around 20 minutes after reduction of disulfide bridges and disruption of the tertiary structure (Goldberger *et al.*, 1963). It had been established that the synthesis of native RNase in a higher organism should take around 2 minutes (Dintzis, 1961; Cranfield & Anfinsen, 1963). Thus, it was realised very early on that cells must possess special mechanisms to increase the efficiency of protein folding. This realisation was further reinforced by observations that if RNase concentrations were increased to mimic physiological concentration, the yield of native protein was markedly low and that some chains become trapped with incorrect disulfide pairings (Anfinsen *et al.*, 1961; Goldberger *et al.*, 1963). The resulting non-native proteins were likely to be the result of incorrect formation of intrachain disulfides as well as interchain disulfides.

Since the intrinsic features of the polypeptide chain – despite being critical – do not seem to guarantee the reliable manufacture of functional proteins or preclude the threat of protein aggregation, the cell must possess a system that addresses these issues in the crowded cellular environment. The cell's quality control machinery ensures the correct folding of nascent polypeptides and the rapid removal and degradation of inappropriately folded, or misfolded, proteins. This multitude of folding enzymes and molecular chaperones prevent proteins getting trapped in off-pathway intermediates and inhibit unproductive interactions with other proteins, increasing the likelihood of reaching the native conformation.

#### 2.2.1 Cytosolic chaperone system

Nascent polypeptides may interact with a number of different molecular chaperones. A chaperone is defined as a protein which interacts, stabilises or helps a non-native protein acquire their native conformation but is not incorporated into the functional structure. A protein destined for the cytoplasm will encounter two systems of chaperone action (Albanèse *et al.*, 2006) which act to a) stabilise nascent proteins on the ribosome and initiate folding (Kramer *et al.*, 2009) and b) aid downstream folding events to the native conformation (Bukau *et al.*, 2000; Hartl & Hayer-Hartl, 2002). Upon emergence from the ribosome, nascent polypeptides – in mammals – initially interact with the specialised ribosome-associated complex (RAC) comprising the heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) homolog Hsp70L1 and the Hsp40 homolog Mpp11 (Otto *et al.*, 2005). The RAC provides a role similar to that which is provided by bacterial trigger factor (TF) in the early stages of prokaryotic protein folding (Chang *et al.*, 2007; Tang *et al.*, 2007). Together, these early-stage chaperones bind to hydrophobic regions, preventing compaction of the polypeptide

chain. This keeps the chain in an elongated state, delaying constructive folding events until sufficient structural information – inherent within the emerging polypeptide chain – is available.

#### 2.2.1.1 The Hsp70 system

In higher eukaryotes, the constitutively expressed Hsp70 homolog, heat shock cognate 70 (Hsc70) mediates co- or post-translational folding of polypeptides through ATP-regulated binding cycles (Hartl & Hayer-Hartl, 2009). Members of the Hsp70 family are able to couple ATP hydrolysis to the binding and release of substrate molecules in a co-factor dependent manner. Binding of ATP to the Nterminal ATPase domain of Hsp70 family members causes a conformational change in the C-terminal domain, opening the peptide binding cleft, allowing the rapid binding and release of substrates. Hydrolysis of ATP to ADP however, closes the substrate binding cleft, resulting in an ADP-bound state that binds tightly to peptide substrates (McCarty et al., 1995; Szabo et al., 1994). In eukaryotes, the chaperone co-factor Hsp40 activates the ATPase activity of Hsc70, promoting the retention of substrates as well as targeting those substrates to Hsc70 (Tsai & Douglas, 1996). This system is analogous to the well-studied bacterial DnaK/DnaJ system (Hartl, 1996; McCarty et al., 1995; Szabo et al., 1994). The bacterial system also includes a nucleotide-exchange factor (GrpE in E. coli) co-factor which promotes the release of ADP from DnaK (Liberek et al., 1991). Recent studies however, have highlighted a number of other regulatory co-chaperone components of the Hsc70/Hsp40 system including BAG-1 which stimulates Hsc70's ATP hydrolysis activity (Höhfeld & Jentsch, 1997) and Hip, an oligomeric protein which both stabilises the ADP-bound state of Hsc70 by interacting with its ATPase domain and binds directly to peptide

substrates, acting itself as a molecular chaperone (Höhfeld *et al.*, 1995). The regulated stabilisation and release of unfolded substrates within the Hsp70 system both prevents aggregation and aids in the formation of the native state.

#### 2.2.1.2 Chaperonins

Downstream from the Hsp70 folding system are the chaperonins, a distinct group of sequence-related proteins characterised by their large, oligomeric, double-ring complexes of around 800 kD. Chaperonins promote substrate folding by global protein encapsulation and, like Hsp70, are ATP-regulated. The chaperonins can be split into two separate groups (Horwich *et al.*, 2007). Group I chaperonins, also known as Hsp60s, are found in bacteria, mitochondria and chloroplasts. They comprise seven rings and cooperate with members of the Hsp10 proteins to form the lid of a folding cage, also known as an Anfinsen folding cage (Saibil *et al.*, 1993). Group II chaperonins are cytosolic proteins with eight- or nine-membered rings. This group of chaperonins is Hsp10-independent and encapsulates its substrate using specialised  $\alpha$ -helical extensions which are part of the ring structure (Hartl & Hayer-Hartl, 2009).

The best characterised group I chaperonin system is bacterial GroEL and its cofactor GroES (Hartl, 1996; Horwich *et al.*, 2007; Horwich *et al.*, 2009). GroEL is a tetradecamer assembled as two back-to-back rings, each with a central hydrophobic cavity which can bind non-native polypeptide substrates (Braig *et al.*, 1994). The co-chaperonin GroES associates with either end of the GroEL in an ATP-dependent manner, forming an enclosed cavity (Weissman *et al.*, 1996; Hunt *et al.*, 1996). Isolation of unfolded monomers, in this system, serves to protect them from

unproductive aggregation events, allowing folding to occur unimpaired by the crowded, outside environment. Accordingly, the main purpose of the chaperonin cavity is to prevent aggregation (Horwich *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, the environment within the Anfinsen folding cage is critical in accelerating folding and rearrangement steps of non-native polypeptides (Tang *et al.*, 2006). This is believed to be down to the cavity lining which provides a non-stick surface which compels the non-native chain to "follow its intrinsic folding pathway without providing any general or substrate-specific direction to the process" (Horwich *et al.*, 2009). Nevertheless, not all proteins require entry into the GroEL/GroES system in addition to the DnaK/DnaJ-mediated folding. Ellis and Hartl used temperature-sensitive mutants to knock-out GroEL in *E. coli*; an experiment which indicated that a maximum of 30% of bacterial proteins require GroEL to reach their mature structure (Ellis & Hartl, 1996).

The group II chaperonins, found in eurkarya and archaea is represented by TCP-1 Ring Complex (TRiC) or chaperonin-containing TCP-1 (CCT). TRiC/CCT is arranged in a double-ring structure but, unlike group I chaperonins which are homooligomeric, each TRiC/CCT ring comprises eight different subunits. Each polypeptide-binding domain has evolved to bind a diverse set of polypeptide substrates (Kim *et al.*, 1994). Generally, TRiC/CCT substrates tend to be large hydrophobic proteins with the most abundant substrates being identified as the cytoskeletal proteins actin and tubulin (Lewis *et al.*, 1996; Yam *et al.*, 2008). In a key paper by Spiess and colleagues, the TRiC substrate VHL tumour suppressor was used to identify the binding sites in TRiC in order to further understand how the chaperonin engages its substrates (Spiess *et al.*, 2006). It was established that different subunits in the complex are specialised to recognise distinct but overlapping substrates resulting in the ability to facilitate the folding of a range of eukaryotic proteins. However, despite recent advances in our understanding of the structural architecture of the group II chaperonins, the functional mechanisms underlying their chaperone activity are still not fully understood (Bosch *et al.*, 2000; Shomura *et al.*, 2004; Pappenberger *et al.*, 2006).

#### 2.2.1.3 Hsp90

The cytosolic chaperone Hsp90 differs from other eukaryotic chaperones in its substrate specificity. Hsp90 is known to preferentially interact with signal transduction proteins, typified by the steroid hormone receptors and signalling kinases (Picard, 2002; Xu & Lindquist, 1993). Therefore, Hsp90 is essential for the maintenance of signal transduction networks. Unlike the Hsc70/Hsp40 system, Hsp90 family members do not interact with nascent polypeptide chains but rather bind downstream of the Hsc70/Hsp40 system, recognising a subset of client proteins that have neared their native conformation (Jakob *et al.*, 1995). However, much the same as Hsp70 family members, Hsp90 is ATP-dependent, relying on cycles of ATP hydrolysis to regulate the binding and release of substrates (Obermann *et al.*, 1998; Prodromou *et al.*, 2000). Loading of the substrate onto Hsp90 requires Hsp70 (Hutchinson *et al.*, 1994) and is aided by the co-chaperone Hsp-organising protein (Hop/p60) (Scheufler *et al.*, 2000).

Together, the Hsp70/Hsp40 system, chaperonins and Hsp90 provide an essential cytosolic system for proteins to reliably and efficiently traverse the energy landscape, preventing aggregation and guiding them towards the native conformation.

Mutational studies of key chaperones and co-factors reveal that many of them are lethal or associated with protein-conformational diseases (Senderk *et al.*, 2005; Chapman *et al.*, 2006; Polier *et al.*, 2008; Hainzl *et al.*, 2009), highlighting the importance of the cytosolic chaperone system.

#### 2.2.1.4 The bacterial periplasm

Gram-negative bacteria also possess a vast cell membrane-bound compartment – the periplasm – which is specialised for protein biosynthesis of extracytoplasmic proteins (Pugsley, 1993). The periplasm, or periplasmic space, is bounded by the inner cytoplasmic membrane and the porous outermembrane of gram-negative bacteria. Gram-positive bacteria also possess a periplasm but this is located between the outer plasma membrane and an outer peptidoglycan layer. The periplasm in gram-positive bacteria also tends to be less pronounced. The two membranes which bound the periplasm in gram-negative bacteria are distinct in both composition and structure. The inner membrane is a phospholipid bilayer which contains integral membrane proteins which typically span the membrane as hydrophobic  $\alpha$ -helices whereas the outer membrane is an asymmetric bilayer consisting of phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides (LPS) and contains integral membrane proteins which exist as cylindrical  $\beta$ -strand-containing  $\beta$ -barrels with a hydrophobic interior (Bos *et al.*, 2007).

The membranes which form the boundary of the periplasmic compartment contain many proteins which are essential for several cell functions including the sensing and signal transduction of environmental stimuli and the uptake and secretion of biological substrates (Facey & Kuhn, 2010). Since these proteins are translated in the
cytosol, they require coordinated targeting to the periplasm and subsequent translocation across the membrane – in the case of outer membrane proteins – or insertion into the membrane – in the case of inner membrane proteins. Furthermore, within the periplasm exists molecular chaperones which facilitate the folding and assembly of these proteins (Miot & Betton, 2004).

The synthesis of bacterial integral membrane proteins takes place on ribosomes in the cytosol. Proteins destined for outer- or inner-membrane insertion are recognised by the highly conserved signal recognition particle (SRP) shortly after synthesis. SRP delivers the polypeptide to the Sec translocase for transport across the inner membrane into the periplasm or for insertion into the inner membrane (Keenan *et al.*, 2001; Ullers *et al.*, 2003). Both these tasks are carried out by the SecYEG complex which has to switch between a transversal opening – for allowing secretory proteins in to the periplasm – and a lateral opening – to allow for the insertion of transmembrane proteins. SecA, the motor subunit of the SecYEG complex, is required for both the translocation of secretory proteins and the insertion of inner-membrane proteins (Facey & Kuhn, 2010). However, there is evidence of the insertion of small inner-membrane proteins occurring in a SecYEG-independent manner via YidC (Samuelson *et al.*, 2000; Chen *et al.*, 2002).

Secretory proteins, on the other hand, are targeted to the inner membrane translocation machinery by the cytoplasmic chaperone SecB. Much like SRPmediated membrane targeting, SecB also scans the nascent polypeptide for a signal sequence which targets the polypeptide to the inner membrane. SecB, binds to the unfolded polypeptide after dissociation from TF, shortly after synthesis (Muller, 1996). Secretory proteins are then delivered to the SecYEG complex in a translocation competent conformation.

Chaperones and protein folding catalysts exist within the periplasm, which serve to promote the formation of native structures and prevent aggregation (Surrey & Jahnig, 1995). Most cytoplasmic chaperones utilise ATP to drive cycles of protein substrate binding and release, however, the periplasm lacks ATP. Few periplasmic chaperones have been identified thus far, but the general chaperone Skp is one which is well studied. The trimeric Skp chaperone can keep periplasmic substrates in a soluble and unstructured conformation by forming stable complexes with substrates, thus preventing aggregation (Bulieris et al., 2003). Furthermore, the folding rate of the periplasmic substrate OmpA is increased in the presence of Skp. However, Skp null mutants only cause a moderate decrease in the levels of properly folded outer membrane proteins, indicating that other folding factors may be involved in outer membrane protein maturation (Chen & Henning, 1996). SurA is also a periplasmic chaperone, but exhibits *cis-trans* peptidyl prolyl isomerase (PPIase) activity - which catalyses the *cis-trans* isomerisation of peptide bonds. The null mutant of SurA too exhibits diminished levels of folded outer membrane proteins indicating a role in the folding and assembly of outer membrane proteins for SurA (Lazar & Kolter, 1996). The chaperone activity of SurA was inferred by the deletion of the PPIase I and PPIase II domains, which are responsible for the isomerase activity of the enzyme. This double mutant almost complements wild type function in vivo, indicating that the N- and C-terminal domains exhibit chaperone activity (Behrens et al., 2001). Furthermore, SurA selectively binds outer membrane proteins since it preferentially recognises peptide sequences containing aromatic amino acids in the sequence Ar-X-

Ar, which occur more frequently in membrane proteins than cytoplasmic and other soluble proteins (Bitto & McKay, 2003).

The periplasmic serine protease DegP (also called high temperature requirement A (HtrA) or protease Do) unusually also functions as a chaperone (Spiess et al., 1999; Ortega et al., 2009). DegP is an ATP-independent heat shock protein that can degrade and refold misfolded proteins in the periplasm. DegP can discriminate between misfolded and folded substrates due to the dimensions of its inner cavity which excludes folded substrates (Clausen et al., 2002). DegP is required for bacterial survival at high temperatures and for the degradation of aberrantly folded periplasmic proteins (Lipinska et al., 1988; Strauch & Beckwith, 1988). Interestingly, DegP can switch between its chaperone activity, at low temperatures, and protease activity, at high temperatures perhaps allowing it to respond to environmental changes (Skorko-Glonek et al., 1995; Spiess et al., 1999). The chaperone activity of DegP is physiologically relevant since the proteolytically inactive degPS210A mutant can complement the lethality of the surA degP double mutant (Rizzitello et al., 2001). Taken together, these results suggest that a functional chaperone network exists in the periplasm that is essential for protein folding and degradation. Further work is required to identify additional members of this chaperone network.

In addition, protein disulfide isomerases exist within the periplasm to pass on disulfide bonds to substrate proteins, which provides them with structural stability. Protein disulfide isomerases and the formation of disulfide bonds will be examined in more detail when discussing protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum. The periplasmic disulfide isomerases DsbA and DsbC function together with the inner membrane proteins DsbB and DsbD to allow the oxidation, reduction and isomerisation of disulfide bonds in the oxidising environment of the bacterial periplasm. DsbA has two cysteine residues and is a potent catalyst of disulfide bond formation (Wunderlich et al., 1993; Zapun and Creighton, 1994). When in an oxidised form (i.e. when there is an intramolecular disulfide bond between the two cysteines), DsbA is able to transfer its intramolecular disulfide bond to substrate proteins in the periplasm leading to reduction of DsbAs disulfide to two thiol groups (-SH). However, DsbA may catalyse the formation of non-native disulfides in substrates. If this occurs, DsbC-mediated isomerisation of these bonds allows for the rearrangement of disulfides and the formation of native structures (Zapun et al., 1993; Rybin et al., 1996; Sone et al., 1997). Evidence of this comes from studying proteins targeted to the periplasm. Urokinase, a protein that contains 12 disulfide bonds is undetectable in the DsbC null mutant. However, the yield of alkaline phosphatase, which only contains two disulfide bonds, is only lowered by 15% (Rietsch et al., 1996). After passing on the disulfide bond from DsbA to the substrate, the disulfide bond on DsbA is 'recharged' by DsbB which delivers electrons to the electron transport chain (Kobayashi et al., 1997). DsbD, on the other hand, maintains DsbC and DsbG in their reduced forms – thus allowing them to carry out reduction and isomerisation of non-native disulfides – by receiving electrons from cytoplasmic thioredoxin (Chung et al., 2000; Joly and Swartz, 1997). Together, periplasmic chaperones and protein disulfide isomerases function to form native disulfide bonds and assist in the folding and insertion of substrate proteins in the periplasm.

# 2.2.2 Protein folding in the ER

Protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) has been studied extensively in the last two decades. The ER is similar to that of the bacterial periplasm since substrate proteins can undergo the addition of covalent disulfide bonds between two cysteine residues. However, the eukaryotic ER boasts a further feature which is not present in cytosolic and bacterial protein folding: the introduction of N-linked oligosaccharide chains to the folding protein. As a consequence, the ER requires its own specialised set of components to assist in the correct folding of substrate proteins in order to reach the native conformation (Jonikas *et al.*, 2009). However, since many of the principles of protein folding in the cytosol apply to protein folding in the ER, there also exists a set of ER-resident chaperones and folding enzymes with homology to cytosolic, mitochondrial and periplasmic folding factors (Christis *et al.*, 2008; Hartl & Hayer-Hartl, 2002).

A considerable proportion of the proteome is destined for the extracellular space (Clark *et al.*, 2003; Chen *et al.*, 2005). These proteins are intended for secretion by the cell into the extracellular environment or to be incorporated into membranes to act as cell surface receptors, for example. Similar to the periplasm, the signal peptide, located at the N-terminus of nascent polypeptides is recognised by the signal recognition particle (SRP) and directs the mRNA/ribosome/nascent polypeptide complex to the ER membrane. This enables cotranslational translocation into the ER via the Sec61 translocon, where newly synthesised secretory/membrane-bound proteins can acquire their native conformation (Sakaguchi, 1997; Walter & Johnson, 1994). However, recent evidence has highlighted the ability of mRNAs to localise to the ER membrane in the absence of SRP indicating intrinsic localisation

determinants within the mRNA sequence (Pyhtila *et al.*, 2008). Once all folding events are completed, native proteins are then trafficked to the Golgi where additional modifications may take place before being further compartmentalised or secreted.

## 2.2.2.1 The endoplasmic reticulum

The ER is a convoluted bilayer membrane enclosing a continuous lumenal space which provides an optimal environment for protein folding, disulfide bond formation, the removal of signal sequences, the acquisition of N-linked glycans and oligomeric assembly of proteins destined for the extracellular environment. Furthermore, the ER is responsible for the synthesis of glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins and fatty acylation of proteins. The ER is loaded with numerous chaperones and folding enzymes which outnumber the client proteins that require folding, reaching millimolar concentrations (Lyles & Gilbert, 1992). Activity of ER-resident chaperones and folding enzymes is highly dependent on the localised environment of the organelle.

The ER is the principal Ca<sup>2+</sup> store of the cell and Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels are regulated in an ATP-dependent manner by inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor type 1, 2 and 3 and the ryanodine receptor Ca<sup>2+</sup> release channels which allows the release of large quantities of the cation in response to extracellular stimuli (Meldolesi *et al.*, 1998; Berridge *et al.*, 2000). However, the Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor type 1 (IP<sub>3</sub>R1), which mediates Ca<sup>2+</sup> release from the ER, is regulated by the ER protein disulfide isomerase-like protein ERp44 through direct binding to its third lumenal loop (Higo *et al.*, 2005). Regulating Ca<sup>2+</sup> ion concentration in the ER is

crucial for productive protein folding since many chaperones, such as calreticulin, rely upon  $Ca^{2+}$  binding to regulate protein-protein interactions (Corbett *et al.*, 1999; Michalak *et al.*, 2009). Thus, perturbations in  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration crucially affect protein folding and maturation (Berridge *et al.*, 2003).

## 2.2.2.2 Oxidative protein folding

Anfinsen and colleagues in the 1960s showed that disulfide bond formation can occur spontaneously *in vitro* in the presence of  $O_2$  (Anfinsen *et al.*, 1961). However, shortly after, it was observed that folding of secretory proteins was facilitated in the presence of microsomal extracts (Goldberger *et al.*, 1963). These vesicles are now known to contain machinery involved in protein folding as well as having the ability to generate a redox potential conducive to disulfide bond formation (Gething & Sambrook, 1992; Hwang *et al.*, 1992; Ruddon & Bedows, 1997). Thus, *in vivo*, the formation of disulfide bonds is an enzyme-catalysed event which takes place in the specialised environment of the ER.

Key to the conferment of disulfide bonds is the reduction/oxidation (redox) environment within the endoplasmic reticulum. In terms of redox potential, the ER is similar to the extracellular environment providing an appropriate folding location for proteins destined for the extracellular space since if a protein is unable to reach a stable formation in the ER, it is unlikely to be stable in the extracellular environment. Comparatively, the bacterial and eukaryotic cytosol are poor environments for the production of multiple disulfide bonds since these locations are highly reducing. The redox environment of the ER, however, is highly oxidising and is illustrated by the ratio of reduced glutathione (GSH) to oxidised glutathione (GSSG), which is ~3:1 in the ER compared with ~100:1 in the cytosol (Hwang *et al.*, 1992; Bass *et al.*, 2004).

The role of glutathione in the ER is still not fully understood. Oxidised glutathione was initially believed to provide oxidising equivalents for the formation of disulfide bonds via the oxidation of the oxidoreductase protein disulfide isomerase (PDI). However, it is now largely believed that the ER flavoprotein Ero1 is responsible for the oxidation of reduced PDI (to be discussed in more detail later). However, there is evidence of glutathione having a role in disulfide bond formation, since lowering the level of glutathione in the cell results in an increase in disulfide bond formation. This is accompanied by an increase in non-native disulfide bond formation and an increase in the time required for disulfide bond isomerisation (Chakravarthi & Bullied, 2004; Molteni *et al.*, 2004). These results may imply a role for reduced glutathione in disulfide bond isomerisation.

Furthermore, reduced glutathione can reduce the PDI family member ERp57 indicating that GSH may be involved in maintaining oxidoreductases in their reduced form allowing them to carry out the reduction and isomerisation of non-native disulfides in ER substrates (Fratelli *et al.*, 2002). In addition, glutathione can be found in mixed disulfides with proteins (Bass *et al.*, 2004). These are either formed during the reduction of substrate disulfides by GSH or the oxidation of substrate disulfides by GSSG (Cuozzo & Kaiser, 1999). Together, these results show that glutathione may have a direct or non-direct role in native disulfide bond formation and that this may influence the redox buffering system in the ER.In the highly oxidising environment of the ER, disulfide bond reduction and isomerisation is

crucial to avoid getting trapped in off-pathway intermediates on the way to the native conformation (Jansens *et al.*, 2002). It was therefore evident that in eukaryotes, the correct formation and arrangement of disulfide bonds was catalysed by an ER-resident enzyme (Givol *et al.*, 1964).

#### 2.2.2.3 Protein disulfide isomerase

Protein disulfide isomerase, or PDI, mentioned earlier, catalyses the formation and isomerisation of disulfide bonds in the eukaryotic ER. PDI is a highly abundant ER-resident protein, making up approximately 0.8% of total cellular protein (Freedman *et al.*, 1994). PDI is highly conserved between species and is essential for eukaryotic oxidative protein folding as illustrated by its requirement for *S. cerevisiae* viability (Farquhar *et al.*, 1991).

Due to recent extensive research into PDI and its homologs, we now have a reasonably detailed understanding of the structure and enzymatic properties of this protein (Edman *et al.*, 1985; Xiao *et al.*, 2004; Gruber *et al.*, 2006; Tian *et al.*, 2006). PDI comprises four thioredoxin-like domains (**a**, **b**, **b'**, **a'**, an anionic tail domain called **c** and a linker region between **b'** and **a'** called **x**) (Fig. 2). The **a** and **a'** domains show both sequence- and structural-homology to thioredoxin – an  $\alpha\beta$ -fold with a mixed  $\beta$ -sheet core – (Ferrari *et al.*, 1998), each containing an independent active site. These active sites consist of two cysteine residues – in the sequence WCGHCK – which are responsible for PDIs enzymatic activity (Edman *et al.*, 1985). This short, cysteine-containing sequence is sometimes called the active-site motif. The **b** and **b'** domains do not have active sites. However, the **b** and **b'** domains may

be important for substrate recognition and peptide binding activities of PDI (Kemmink *et al.*, 1997; Klappa *et al.*, 1998a).



Figure 2. **PDI domain structure**. PDI consists of two active site thioredoxin-like domains a and a' and two non-reactive thioredoxin-like domains b and b'. The boundaries for the domains a and b are those defined by NMR (Kemmink *et al.*, 1999).

The CXXC active-site motif is key to PDIs oxidase and isomerase activity. When the cysteines are oxidised, the disulfide can be transferred to a reduced protein substrate, reducing the disulfides of the active site. When the active site is in the reduced state however, substrate disulfides can be transferred to PDI and the active site becomes oxidised. The function of PDI-family members is defined by the biochemistry of the sequence both immediately surrounding and within the active site, as well as the residues and features of the three-dimensional space directly surrounding the active site. The  $pK_a$  value of the reactive N-terminal cysteine in the active site is 4.5. This value has been shown to be influenced by both the histidine residue in the thioredoxin fold and by partial positive charges from the N-terminus of an  $\alpha$ -helix

close to the active site (Kortemme and Creighton, 1995). This generates a PDI disulfide which can promote the oxidation of substrate proteins.

The body of evidence indicating isomerases activity of PDIs is significant (Walker and Gilbert, 1997; Gilbert, 1998; Schwaller et al., 2003). The process of isomerisation requires the breaking of a substrate disulfide for rearrangement. Thus, there is no net change in substrate redox state but rather the protein moves closer towards its native state. Therefore, isomerisation requires PDI to be in the reduced state so it may attack substrate disulfides, catalysing their rearrangement. Recent work from Kulp and colleagues highlighted an asymmetry in the functionality of PDIs active sites which contribute to its isomerase activity (Kulp *et al.*, 2006). Their studies showed that oxidation of the N-terminal active site, in the first catalytic domain (a), is subject to substrate-mediated inhibition whereas the C-terminal active site - in the **a'** domain - is readily oxidised. This asymmetry is not intrinsic to the individual active sites but rather occurs in the context of the full-length protein. The asymmetry of active site motifs permits the two thioredoxin-like domains to exhibit two distinct functional roles. The disparity in rates of oxidation ensures the a' domain is in the oxidised state, ready to promote substrate oxidation while the **a** domain is in the reduced state and can promote disulfide isomerisation. How PDI recognises non-native disulfides is still not fully understood but the requirement of the non-redox active domains (b and b') for oxidase and isomerase activity on bovine pancreatic trypsin inhibitor (BPTI) (Darby et al., 1998) may suggest that one or both of these domains is important in recognising non-native proteins requiring isomerase activity.

The crystal structure studies of PDI reveal that the two active sites are located on two flexible arms which are connected to a rigid base formed by the **b** and **b'** domains (Tian *et al.*, 2006; Tian *et al.*, 2008). This molecular flexibility can allow for different conformations, allowing the protein to accommodate an array of structurally diverse substrates. Furthermore, the flexibility of the two arms may be required for the isomerisation of non-native disulfides since it might ensure that the active sites can locate incorrect disulfide bonds in the substrate (Tian *et al.*, 2008).

### 2.2.2.3.1 PDI homologs

The protein disulfide isomerase family now extends to around 19 proteins (Appenzeller-Herzog & Ellgaard, 2008). The most well studied PDI family members are: ERp29 (Demmer et al., 1997; Mkrtchian et al., 1998; Hermann et al., 2004; Rainey-Barger et al., 2007; Barak et al., 2009), ERp44 (Anelli et al., 2002; Anelli et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2008), ERp57 (Oliver et al., 1997; Oliver et al., 1999; Antoniou et al., 2002; Peaper et al., 2005; Jessop et al., 2006; Santos et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2009), ERp72 (Mazzarella et al., 1990; Shaiff et al., 1992; Miyaishi et al., 1998; Forster et al., 2006; Menon et al., 2007; Kozlov et al., 2009), ERdj5 (Cunnea et al., 2003; Dong et al., 2008; Ushioda et al., 2008; Thomas & Spyrou, 2009), PDIp (Desilva et al., 1997; Volkmer et al., 1997; Klappa et al., 1998b; Ruddock et al., 2000; Klappa et al., 2001) and PDILT (van Lith et al., 2005; van Lith et al., 2007). Members of the PDI family are defined by the presence of the thioredoxin-like domain but vary greatly in the arrangement and number of these domains. The variation of domain arrangement is thought to modulate the function of PDI family members. The diversity of human PDI family member domain structure can be seen in table 1.

Member name	Accession Number	Length	ER localisation motif	Number of a-type domains	Active site sequence	Domain composition
PDI	P07237	508	KDEL	2	2x CGHC	a-b-b'-a'
ERp29	P30040	261	KEEL	0	-	b-D
ERp44	Q9BS26	406	RDEL	1	CRFS	a-b-b'
ERp57	P30101	505	QEDL	2	2x CGHC	a-b-b'-a'
ERp72	P13677	645	KEEL	3	3x CGHC	aº-a-b-b'-a'
ERdj5	Q8IXB1	793	KDEL	4	CSHC, CPPC, CHPC, CGPC	J-a''-b-a <sup>°</sup> -a- a'
PDIp	Q13087	525	KEEL	2	CGHC, CTHC	a-b-b'-a'
PDILT	Q8N807	584	KEEL	2	SKQS, SKKC	a-b-b'-a'
ERp18	O95881	172	EDEL	1	CGHC	a
ERp27	Q96DN0	273	KVEL	0	-	b-b'
EndoPDI/ ERp46	Q8NBS9	432	KDEL	3	3x CGHC	aº-a-a'
P5	Q15084	440	KDEL	2	2x CGHC	a°-a-b
PDIr	Q14554	519	KEEL	3	CSMC, CGHC, CPHC	b-aº-a-a'
TMX	Q9H3N1	280	Unknown	1	CPAC	a
TMX2	Q9Y320	296	KKDK	1	SNDC	a
TMX3	FLJ20793	454	KKKD	1	CGHC	a-b-b'
TMX4	Q9H1E5	349	RQR	1	CPSC	a

Table 1 – The structural diversity of some of the key members of the human PDI family

The D-domain in ERp29 is a C-terminal  $\alpha$ -helical domain. The J-domain in ERdj5 is a BiPbinding domain. The a° and a'' domains are variants of the active site domains. Taken from data in Appenzeller-Herzog & Ellgaard, 2008 and Ellgaard & Ruddock, 2005. Although the archetypal protein disulfide isomerase, PDI, is responsible for directly catalysing disulfide bond formation, it is not necessary for PDI family members to exhibit oxidase or isomerase function. Rather, membership into this group is dependent – amongst other things – on structural features as opposed to functional ones. Typical examples of this are ERp27 and ERp29 which are non-catalytic since neither contains catalytic **a**-type domains (Ferrari *et al.*, 1998; Alanen *et al.*, 2006). Most PDI family members however, do contain at least one **a**-type domain (Ellgaard & Ruddock, 2005) (Table 1).

PDILT, a testis-specific PDI homolog has the same domain organisation as PDI – a**b-b'-a'** – but lacks the canonical CXXC active site motif – instead possessing an SXXC motif. Accordingly, PDILT has no oxidoreductase activity in vitro (van Lith et al., 2005). Recently, PDILT has been shown to be involved in a specialised, spermatogenesis-specific, chaperone system with the testis-specific calnexin homolog, calmegin (van Lith et al., 2007). Thus, although not redox active, PDILT still has a role in protein maturation. Similarly, ERp44 boasts a non-canonical active site motif – CRFS – and, despite covalently interacting with the ER oxidoreductase Erol-L $\alpha$  - which will be discussed in depth later – and substrate proteins, it is not fully understood whether it exhibits oxidoreductase activity (Anelli et al., 2002; Anelli et al., 2003). However, ERp44 has a role in PDI oxidation since it helps retain Ero1-L $\alpha$  and Ero1-L $\beta$  in the ER (Otsu *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, as mentioned earlier, ERp44 can inhibit the  $Ca^{2+}$  channel IP<sub>3</sub>R1, regulating ER  $Ca^{2+}$  levels (Higo *et* al., 2005). Thus, in line with the divergent oxidoreductase capacity within this group of proteins, PDI family members show differences in their ability to complement a PDI-deficient yeast strain (Gunther et al., 1993).

The majority of PDI family members are constitutively expressed, however, in addition to PDILT, a few other family members exhibit tissue-specific distributions. EndoPDI is a PDI-like protein containing three CXXC active site motifs and is highly expressed in endothelial cells (Sullivan *et al.*, 2003). EndoPDI expression is induced upon hypoxia and is thought to protect endothelial cells from hypoxia-induced apoptosis.

The pancreatic acinar cell-specific PDI, PDIp shares the same domain organisation as PDI but lacks the acidic C-terminal region (Desilva et al., 1997; Volkmer et al., 1997). PDIp has two canonical CXXC active site motifs but it is the b-like, nonredox active domains which have been the subject of extensive research. Soon after identification, PDIp was reported to bind both peptides and misfolded proteins – including those not containing any cysteine residues (Klappa et al., 1998b). Furthermore, studies with peptide substrates revealed that tyrosine and tryptophan residues are the recognition motifs for binding to PDIp (Ruddock et al., 2000). Studies using cross-linkers to trap non-peptide ligands showed that hydroxyl groups are the structural motifs for the binding of PDIp (Klappa et al., 2001). However, studies comparing the **b**' domains – thought to be important for peptide binding – of PDI and PDIp reveal that they can interact with many of the same substrates indicating that there is an overlap in substrate specificity (Klappa *et al.*, 1995; Klappa et al., 2001). This finding is strange since PDI has been shown to colocalise with PDIp in acinar cells (Dias-Gunasekara et al., 2005). The existence of tissue-specific PDI homologs may be due to the requirement for the folding of tissue-specific proteins, however, it seems some functional redundancy does exist at least in the case of PDIp. Ruddock and colleagues postulate that co-expressed members of the PDI

33

family do not act on distinct proteins but rather cooperate by interacting with different parts of the polypeptide (Ruddock *et al.*, 2000).

ERp57, together with PDILT and PDIp, shares a common domain architecture with PDI. ERp57 is considered the closest known homolog of PDI, containing two canonical active site motifs (Freeman et al., 1994; Koivunen et al., 1996). Unlike PDI, however, ERp57 almost exclusively catalyses the disulfide bond formation of glycoproteins (Elliott et al., 1997; Oliver et al., 1997; Ellgaard & Frickel, 2003). The redox activity of ERp57 was investigated soon after its discovery and ERp57 was shown to exhibit thiol-dependent reductase activity and form mixed disulfides with glycoprotein substrates (Bourdi et al., 1995; Hirano et al., 1995; Molinari & Helenius, 1999). However, the mechanism for the recognition of these specialist substrates is more complex. In 1999, Oliver and colleagues demonstrated the noncovalent binding of ERp57 to the ER-resident lectins calnexin and calreticulin (Oliver et al., 1999), whilst further investigation by Russell and colleagues showed that the **b**' domain of ERp57 – thought to be involved in substrate binding – has been adapted to specifically interact with ER lectins (Russell et al., 2004). Recently evidence suggests that the specificity of ERp57 for client proteins is determined by its interaction with the calnexin cycle and that these client proteins tend to share similar structural motifs (Jessop et al., 2007; Jessop et al., 2008). I shall talk about these two lectins in more detail later but in brief, calnexin and calreticulin are chaperones capable of recognising one or more monoglucosylated oligosaccharide side chains on unfolded proteins (Rodan et al., 1996). Thus, ERp57 recognises glycoproteins in concert with the ER lectins calnexin and calreticulin to catalyse disulfide bond formation in monoglucosylated glycoproteins (Zapun et al., 1998).

Also of note is the fact that ERp57 binds glycoproteins lacking any cysteine residues, indicating that the oxidoreductase may function as a more general chaperone within the ER lumen (Elliot *et al.*, 1997; Oliver *et al.*, 1997).

The most well-studied example of ERp57-mediated protein folding is in the maturation of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecule. Here, ERp57, calnexin and calreticulin form part of a series of complexes that are responsible for the correct folding, oxidation and maturation of the immune molecule (Dick, 2004; Zhang & Williams, 2006). The folding and maturation of the MHC class I molecule as well as its role in the immune system will be discussed in greater detail later.

# 2.2.2.4 ER oxidoreductin (Ero) protein

The existence of a protein disulfide isomerase does not provide a complete model for the formation of correct disulfide bonds since disulfides requiring rearrangement may have been oxidised by another oxidation mechanism and, more importantly, an additional oxidant is required for the reoxidation, or recharging, of PDI itself.

An abundance of recent work provides evidence suggesting that glutathione is not essential for oxidative protein folding in the ER and that disulfide bond formation relies upon a different electron acceptor (Frand and Kaiser, 1998; Pollard *et al.*, 1998; Cuozzo and Kaiser, 1999). Using *S. cerevisiae* to genetically dissect oxidative protein folding, Frand and Kaiser and the Weissman lab isolated endoplasmic reticulum oxidoreductin 1 (*ERO1*) which encodes a novel but conserved ER membrane protein essential for the net formation of protein disulfide bonds (Pollard

*et al.*, 1998; Frand & Kaiser, 1998). It was suggested that *ERO1* could introduce oxidising equivalents – utilised during disulfide bond formation – via its two pairs of conserved cysteines (CXXCXXC), since introduction of the thiol oxidant diamide restored viability in *ero1-1* mutants – defective in disulfide bond formation – and overexpression of *ERO1* confers resistance to otherwise toxic levels of the reductant dithiothreitol (DTT) (Frand and Kaiser, 2000).

Further investigation from this group led to the isolation of mixed disulfide intermediates between yeast Ero1p and Pdi1p which was presented in a key paper in 1999 (Frand and Kaiser, 1999). Direct, covalent interaction between the two ER-resident proteins was representative of the transfer of disulfide bonds from Ero1p to Pdi1p and the passing of oxidising equivalents to Pdi1p to sustain it in its disulfide form. Thus, the recharging of Pdi1p – that is, the direct oxidation of the reduced CXXC motif – is carried out by Ero1p.

As with PDI, the two active sites of Ero1p exhibit discrete properties which are crucial for functional activity. The N-terminal CXXCXXC active site – containing the so-called shuttle cysteines at  $Cys^{100}$  and  $Cys^{105}$  – is responsible for transferring oxidising equivalents to PDI (Frand & Kaiser 2000). Further mutational studies and the elucidation of the crystal structure of yeast Ero1p by Gross and colleagues revealed that the N-terminal active site motif is then likely to transfer electrons to the latter two residues –  $Cys^{352}$  and  $Cys^{355}$  – of the C-terminal CXXCXXC motif (Gross *et al.*, 2004; Sevier & Kaiser 2006). This is possible because of the presence of a disulfide relay where  $Cys^{100}$  and  $Cys^{105}$  are located on a flexible loop. This loop is

capable of changing conformation by 17Å, bringing  $Cys^{105}$  within disulfide-bonding distance of  $Cys^{352}$  (Gross *et al.*, 2004).

This paper, however, still left the question unanswered of how the C-terminal active site of Ero1p becomes reoxidised. In the bacterial periplasm, reoxidation of DsbB the functional equivalent of Ero1p – occurs primarily via the transfer of electrons to molecular oxygen at the later stages of the respiratory electron transport chain via cytochrome bd or bo oxidase (Kobayashi and Ito, 1999; Kobayashi et al., 1997). Ero1p however, uses a flavin-dependent reaction to pass electrons directly to molecular oxygen (Tu and Weissman, 2002). Thus, oxidative folding in yeast is dependent on the levels of cellular FAD (Tu et al., 2000). Ero1p is a novel FADbinding protein confirmed by the presence of an FAD-binding domain in close proximity to the C-terminal active site (Gross et al., 2004). Under anaerobic conditions, excess free FAD cannot drive Ero1p-catalysed disulfide bond formation (Tu and Weissman, 2002). Thus, FAD is not thought to be the terminal electron acceptor. Rather, the bound FAD-cofactor can shuttle the electrons to molecular oxygen in a reaction that produces hydrogen peroxide in stoichiometric amounts to the disulfides formed (Tu & Weissman, 2002; Gross et al., 2006). Interestingly, a few groups have shown that disulfide bond formation can proceed via FAD in anaerobic conditions, suggesting the existence of alternative electron acceptors (Gross et al., 2006; Farrell & Thorpe, 2005).

## 2.2.2.4.1 Human Ero protein

Human homologs of the yeast Ero1p have recently been described and have been termed Ero1-L $\alpha$  and Ero1-L $\beta$  (Cabibbo *et al.*, 2000; Pagani *et al.*, 2000). Both

homologs are capable of rescuing the S. cerevisiae erol-1 thermosensitive mutant and catalysing the oxidation of substrate proteins (Cabibbo et al., 2000; Pagani et al., 2000; Mezghrani et al., 2001). Both proteins contain the conserved CXXCXXC motif and are involved in the transfer of oxidising equivalents to PDI (Benham et al., 2000; Cabibbo et al., 2000; Dias-Gunasekara et al., 2005; Mezghrani et al., 2001; Pagani et al., 2000). The CXXCXXC motif of Ero1-La is also important for the folding and structural integrity of Ero1-L $\alpha$  as well as the stability of the Ero1-L $\alpha$ -PDI complex (Benham et al., 2000). Recent complementary studies by Ellgaard and colleagues and Bullied and colleagues highlighted the role of a non-catalytic disulfide bond between the redox active  $Cys^{94}$  residue and  $Cys^{131}$  in Ero1-La (Appenzeller-Herzog et al., 2008; Baker et al., 2008); the formation of which is responsible for regulating the redox activity of Ero1-L $\alpha$  in an oxidising environment. This strong disulfide bond inactivates  $\text{Ero1-L}\alpha s$  redox activity until there is an increased demand for oxidative activity, as determined by the presence of reduced PDI (Sevier et al., 2007). Hence, PDI is acting as a key regulator of ER redox homeostasis.

The reasons why higher eukaryotes contain two different Ero proteins, whilst *S. cerevisiae* only requires one, is not yet fully understood. Induction of the expression of Ero1-L $\beta$  is induced by ER stress, possibly suggesting separate regulation pathways (Pagani *et al.*, 2000). However, Ero1-L $\alpha$  and Ero1-L $\beta$  do differ in their tissue distribution, with Ero1-L $\alpha$  highly expressed in the oesophagus, whilst Ero1-L $\beta$ is more abundant in the pancreas, stomach, testis and pituitary gland (DiasGunasekara *et al.*, 2005; Pagani *et al.*, 2000). Thus, different human Ero proteins might participate in tissue-specific oxidation pathways.

# 2.2.2.5 Glycosylation

The second modification to polypeptides afforded by the endoplasmic reticulum, in addition to disulfide bond formation, is the addition of N-linked oligosaccharides to form so-called glycoproteins. Upon translocation, the oligosaccharyltransferase complex (OST) scans the polypeptide chain for asparagine residues in the sequence Asn-x-Ser/Thr. The 8 subunit OST enzyme covalently transfers a preformed triglucosylated oligosaccharide (GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>Man<sub>9</sub>Glc<sub>3</sub>), known as the core oligosaccharide, from dolicholpyrophosphate to the Asn residue of the polypeptide (Abeijon and Hirschberg, 1992) (Fig. 3). Soon after, the terminal glucose is trimmed off by the membrane-bound  $\alpha$ -glucosidase I (GI) enzyme (Kornfeld & Kornfeld, 1985). The remaining two glucose molecules are removed by the ER soluble glucosidase II (GII) enzyme leaving a GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>Man<sub>9</sub> stalk. This, however, is not an irreversible step, since the ER enzyme UDP-Glc:glycoprotein glucosyltransferase (GT) is able to add a glucose unit onto the terminal mannose residue. Thus, GII not only trims glucose residues after GI trimming but removes single glucose units added by UDP-Glc.

The explanation for this deglucosylation, reglucosylation cycle was revealed in the mid 90s (Hebert *et al.*, 1995). Binding of the ER lectins calnexin and calreticulin to oligosaccharide side chains requires the trimming of the first two glucose units while the release of substrates from these lectins is determined by the trimming of the third glucose unit. Thus, glucose trimming by the  $\alpha$ -glucosidases GI and GII and

reglucosylation by UDP-Glc serves to regulate the association of folding polypeptides with the ER lectins calnexin and calreticulin. Calnexin is a  $Ca^{2+}$  binding, type-I membrane protein of the ER. Calreticulin, on the other hand, is a soluble ER protein with both high and low affinity  $Ca^{2+}$  binding sites and a C-terminal KDEL signal (Michalak *et al.*, 1999; High *et al.*, 2000). A homolog of calnexin, calmegin is expressed in the testis and can interact with the non-redox active PDI homolog, PDILT (van Lith *et al.*, 2007).



Figure 3. The N-linked core oligosaccharide. The core glycan has 14 saccharides: 3 glucose, 9 mannose and 2 N-acetylglucosamine. The terminal glucose (**n**) is removed by glucosidase I. The **m** and **l** glucose residues are then removed by glucosidase II. However, a glucose residue can be added to the terminal mannose residue, at position **l**, by UDP-Glc:glycoprotein glucosyltransferase (GT). The ER  $\alpha$ -mannosidase I enzyme removes the terminal **i** mannose as a countdown timer for glycoprotein folding.

Regulation of lectin binding is important for the maturation of protein substrates since encouraging lectin binding allows the retention of the substrate protein in the ER lumen, preventing partially folded or misfolded proteins from traversing the secretory pathway. As such, the monoglucosylation/deglucosylation cycle has implications for protein quality control. Local structure around the glycan is responsible for determining GT association although it may recognise unstructured regions not in the vicinity of the N-glycan (Taylor *et al.*, 2004). If areas surrounding the glycan exhibit unstructured, non-native features they are targeted by GT (Trombetta & Helenius, 2000), allowing another round of lectin association which may promote constructive folding events. This cycle continues – if native portions of the unfolded protein exist – until the substrate has reached its conformational maturation. Thus, in proteins which normally undergo multiple lectin binding events, deletion of GT results in the premature release of substrates from calnexin and may contribute to lower folding efficiency. However, calnexin-substrates only requiring

one binding events are not affected by GT knock-out (Solda et al., 2007).

The addition of an oligosaccharide side chain to a newly synthesised polypeptide initially serves to increase the hydrophiliy of the unfolded protein. The consequential binding of calnexin/calreticulin prevents aggregation of the unstructured polypeptide chain and promotes ER retention. As previously mentioned, the ER oxidoreductase ERp57 is able to interact directly with glycoproteins as well as the ER lectins calnexin and calreticulin (Elliott *et al.*, 1997; Oliver *et al.*, 1997). The importance of these ER components is demonstrated by the fact that mouse knock-outs of calreticulin and ERp57 are both embryonic lethal (Mesaeli *et al.*, 1999; Garbi *et al.*, 2006; Solda *et al.*, 2006). Knock-out of calreticulin alone leads to disruption of heart development despite allowing normal development of the other embryonic organs. The calnexin knock-out leads to premature death due to impaired growth and motor disorders (Denzel *et al.*, 2002). However, knock-out studies with calnexin and calreticulin have demonstrated that they are unable to compensate for the loss of each other indicating that they have unique functions (Masaeli *et al.*, 1999; Nakamura *et al.*, 2001; Denzel *et al.*, 2002). Calreticulin has an important role to play in the modulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis. Calreticulin-deficient cells have impaired Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis leading to a reduction in the free Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration in the ER whereas overexpression of calreticulin results in an increase in the ER concentration of free Ca<sup>2+</sup> and an increase in the Ca<sup>2+</sup> capacity of the ER (Bastianutto *et al.*, 1995; Mery *et al.*, 1996; Arnaudeau *et al.*, 2002; Molinari *et al.*, 2004).

### 2.2.2.6 Chaperones of the ER

In addition to calnexin and calreticulin, many other chaperones exist in the ER lumen to monitor and facilitate the folding of substrate proteins. Many members of the PDI family are postulated to have chaperone activity in addition to, or in lieu of oxidoreductase activity (Ferarri *et al.*, 1999). There are many chaperones which aid the folding of specific client substrates such as tapasin – which will be discussed later. Here I discuss the chaperone activities of PDI, BiP and Grp94.

## 2.2.2.6.1 Chaperone activity of PDI

Disulfide oxidoreductases should only require catalytic concentrations in order to facilitate disulfide bond formation or rearrangement. However, PDI exists at millimolar concentrations in the ER. Since studies show that PDI is essential for cell

viability and  $\Delta pdil$  null mutations of yeast are rescued by mammalian PDI with unconventional domain structure, it is possible that another function of PDI is essential for yeast viability (Farquhar *et al.*, 1991; Xiao *et al.*, 2001). The isomerase activity of PDI somehow requires the preferential recognition of unfolded proteins. Direct binding of PDI to unfolded substrates would then facilitate disulfide bond rearrangement as well as prevent unfolded proteins from participating in unconstructive intermolecular interactions.

LaMantia & Lennarz demonstrated the binding of unfolded proteins by PDI, suggesting that the oxidoreductase may demonstrate chaperone activity (LaMantia and Lennarz, 1993). Studies with the enzyme lysozyme - which is prone to aggregation – demonstrated that PDI did indeed exhibit chaperone activity since the recovery of soluble lysozyme - in optimised conditions - was increased in the presence of PDI – which prevented lysozyme aggregation (Puig and Gilbert, 1994). In addition to this, Puig and Gilbert discovered a novel anti-chaperone activity of PDI, where, at higher lysozyme concentrations and substoichiometric PDI concentrations, PDI facilitates the formation of large disulfide cross-linked lysozyme aggregates. It has been suggested that anti-chaperone activity is a consequence of multivalent binding of partially aggregated substrates to PDI (Primm et al., 1996). This is perhaps not significant in vivo but it does indicate that the concentration of PDI in the ER is key to determining the fate of proteins between an off- and onpathway destination. Thus, the unexpectedly high concentration of PDI is perhaps necessary to prevent potential anti-chaperone activity and help promote constructive oxidative events.

## 2.2.2.6.2 BiP

Immunoglobulin-binding protein (BiP), also known as glucose-regulated protein 78 (Grp78) is an abundant ER homolog of Hsp70 (Lee, 2001; Kleizen & Braakman, 2004; Hendershot, 2004). During translocation of nascent polypeptides into the ER, BiP is responsible for gating the translocon on the ER lumenal side, maintaining the permeability barrier of the translocon during the initial stages of translocation (Hamman *et al.*, 1998). BiP also seals translocons that are assembled even if they are not participating in translocation. This serves to preserve the environment in the ER. Furthermore, BiP may provide the driving force for post-translational translocation by acting as a molecular ratchet since multiple BiP molecules bind substrates at the translocon and prevent passive backwards movement through the translocation channel (Matlack *et al.*, 1999; Rapoport *et al.*, 1999).

BiP was initially discovered as a binder of immature immunoglobulin precursors (Haas & Wabl, 1983; Bole *et al.*, 1986) and later found to be essential for the assembly, transport and ultimate secretion of complete immunoglobulin molecules Hendershot *et al.*, 1987). Since BiP is a member of the Hsp70 family, it too possesses a conserved ATPase domain and hydrolyses ATP to regulate its function (Bukau & Horwich, 1998). The ATP-bound BiP molecule is open to protein binding, and hydrolysis of ATP to ADP closes the binding site onto the substrate. The ER-resident DnaJ ortholog ERdj3 has been detected in a BiP-Ig heavy chain complex, implicating it as a candidate BiP co-chaperone. There are several ER localized DnaJ proteins including ERdj1, ERdj3, ERdj4 and ERdj5. The nucleotide-exchange factor BiP-associated protein (BAP) induces ADP release so that ATP can bind, reopening the binding cleft (Chung *et al.*, 2002).

A key paper by Flynn and colleagues demonstrated the ability of BiP to distinguish unfolded and folded proteins (Flynn *et al.*, 1991). They showed that BiP binds to linear segments of polypeptides which contain non-native features. They suggested that the seven amino acid residues which make up the peptide binding site of BiP substitutes for the hydrophobic interior of a native globular protein, allowing the recognition of unfolded structures and the protection of exposed sections of newly translated polypeptides.

More recently, BiP has been demonstrated to have a key role in the response to the accumulation of unfolded proteins in the ER, allowing the detection and transduction of ER stress signals across the ER membrane (Malhotra & Kaufman, 2007). This will be discussed in further detail later.

# 2.2.2.6.3 Grp94

Glucose-regulated protein 94 (Grp94) – also known as Gp96, adenotin and endoplasmin – is an ER-resident member of the Hsp90 family. Grp94 has an essential role in the folding of a specific subset of client proteins such as Toll-like receptors, immunoglobulins and integrins (Melnick *et al.*, 1994; Argon *et al.*, 1999; Nigam *et al.*, 1994). Grp94 interacts with unfolded immunoglobulins after interaction with BiP to ensure correct folding of the substrate (Melnick *et al.*, 1992; Melnick *et al.*, 1994).

Cytosolic Hsp90 activity is aided by the co-chaperone Hsp-organising protein (Hop/p60) which mediates the association of Hsp90 with Hsp70 (Scheufler *et al.*,

2000). Currently, no Grp94 co-chaperones have been identified although many other ER chaperones have been detected in complexes with Grp94. This is not surprising since Grp94 lacks the C-terminal KEEVD domain necessary for recognition by TPR motif-bearing accessory proteins such as the co-chaperone Hop.

Grp94 does interact with adenosine nucleotides, but this association is very weak. It was, therefore, believed that Grp94 does not function as an ATPase (Wearsch & Nicchitta, 1997; Rosser & Nicchitta, 2000). The role of adenosine nucleotides in substrate binding was recently studied by Rosser and colleagues who demonstrated that in the presence of ATP, ADP or geldanamycin, Grp94-Ig heavy chain complexes remained stable indicating that the hydrolysis of ATP is not responsible for the release of client proteins from Grp94 (Rosser et al., 2004). However, recent evidence now suggests that Grp94 does have ATPase activity (Dollins *et al.*, 2007; Frey *et al.*, 2007).

The crystal structure of the Grp94 N-terminal regulatory domain bound to the adenosine derivative NECA shows structural divergence from other Hsp90 family members. A 5 amino acid insertion in a subdomain could potentially act as a ligand responsive conformational switch, altering the oligomerisation behaviour of Grp94 (Soldano *et al.*, 2003). Further crystallographic work from nearly full-length Grp94 has supported this finding (Dollins et al., 2007). Cytosolic Hsp90 complex recruitment is regulated by ligand binding, however, indicating potential functional similarities between Grp94 and Hsp90 (Whitesell *et al.*, 1994).

## 2.2.2.7 ER-associated Degradation (ERAD)

Those proteins stuck in off-pathway conformations pose a danger to the cell due to the risk of accumulation and aggregation or the binding of wild-type proteins as well as causing membrane damage, leakiness of organelles and loss of ion/small molecule gradients over these membranes. Although unfolded or misfolded proteins interact with ER chaperones to promote constructive folding events, eventually, if they do not reach their native conformation they are removed from the ER, possibly by retrotranslocation, and degraded in the cytoplasm in a process known as ERassociated degradation (ERAD) (Kostova & Wolf, 2003; Nakatsukasa & Brodsky, 2008). These 'terminally misfolded' proteins may have arisen as a consequence of mutations at translation, lack of co-factors or prosthetic groups or failure to oligomerise. In short, the aim of ERAD is to remove terminally unfolded/misfolded proteins from the ER to maintain ER homeostasis.

#### 2.2.2.7.1 ERAD substrate recognition

The first step in the removal of terminally misfolded proteins is their detection. One of the key modes of highlighting proteins destined for retrotranslocation – at least for glycoproteins – is the trimming of N-glycans by ER-mannosidase I, since inhibition or removal of this enzyme halts glycoprotein degradation (Su *et al.*, 1993; Knop *et al.*, 1996; Vallee *et al.*, 2000). The Ca<sup>2+</sup>-requiring enzyme is responsible for removing a single mannose residue – or more (Helenius, 1994; Hosokawa *et al.*, 2003) – from the core oligosaccharide resulting in a GlcNAcMan<sub>8</sub>Glc<sub>0-3</sub> structure (Fig. 3). Since mannose removal is a slower process than glucose removal – mediated by GI and GII – mannose trimming by ER-mannosidase I acts as a countdown timer for glycoprotein folding which, if surpassed, results in degradation.

Although essential, the removal of this mannose residue is not sufficient for ERAD since correctly folded proteins also require mannose trimming before exiting the ER (Byrd *et al.*, 1982). Thus, there must exist other mechanisms – most likely involving an interplay between ERAD components, ER folding assistants and the biophysical properties of the substrate – to determine if proteins are to be retrotranslocated; especially since non-glycosylated proteins are not subjected to mannose trimming.

Once ER-mannosidase 1 has removed a single mannose residue, the efficiency of reentry into the calnexin cycle is reduced and the binding of the putative lectin ER degradation enhancing  $\alpha$ -mannosidase-like protein (EDEM) (Htm1/Mn11 in yeast) is favoured. Through interaction with calnexin, terminally misfolded proteins are directly handed over to EDEM, diverting these substrates towards ERAD (Molinari et al., 2003; Oda et al., 2003; Cormier et al., 2009). Furthermore, overexpression of EDEM1 reduces intervals of calnexin binding, accelerates the degradation of substrates and inhibits the formation of disulfide-linked dimers and complexes for clients of the calnexin cycle, thus maintaining the retrotranslocation competence of terminally misfolded proteins and preventing the formation of misfolded aggregates (Molinari & Helenius, 2000; Oda et al., 2003; Hosokawa et al., 2006). In a screen for EDEM-binding proteins, Ushioda and colleagues illustrated that the disulfide isomerase, ERdj5, binds to EDEM and accelerates the ERAD of substrates by facilitating the reduction of substrate disulfide bonds (Ushioda et al., 2008). As such, EDEM seems to possess a new type of chaperone-like activity, preventing unconstructive covalent interactions and aggregation – essential since the misfolded protein needs to be retrotranslocated out of the ER - but in order to promote degradation rather than constructive folding events. It is unclear however, whether **EDEM** facilitates degradation through recognition of misfolded the conformations/hydrophobic regions in addition to recognising specific oligosaccharide side chains. The three members of the EDEM family - EDEM1, EDEM2 and EDEM3 - share considerable homology to ER-mannosidase 1 in their lumenal domain but seem to lack the enzymatic activity to process  $\alpha$ -1,2-mannose. However, overexpression of EDEM1 was found to result in mannose trimming and enhancement of ERAD (Hosokawa et al., 2010). Furthermore, Html, the yeast orthalog of EDEM, exhibits  $\alpha$ 1,2-specific exomannosidase activity firstly requiring processing of the glycan by GI, GII and mannosidase I (Clerc et al., 2009) and also possibly acts as a marker for Yosp9 activity by potentially recognising the presence of misfolded structures (Quan et al., 2008). The homology between EDEM and ERmannosidase 1 may be responsible for EDEMs ability to preferentially recognise mannose-trimmed substrates. EDEM1 is a membrane protein whereas EDEM2 and EDEM3 are located in the lumen of the ER (Olivari et al., 2005; Mast et al., 2005; Hirao et al., 2006). However, only EDEM3 contains a KDEL ER retention signal; EDEMs 1 and 2 lack any discernable retention signal (Hirao et al., 2006). Since EDEM does not interact with calreticulin, it is possible that further lectins will be discovered that link ERAD to calreticulin-mediated chaperone activity.

In addition to EDEM, a second class of lectin-like ERAD components exist. Yeast osteosarcoma 9 protein (Yos9p) – the yeast OS-9 ortholog – possesses a lectin-like domain but with similarities to the mannose 6-phosphate receptor (MPR) family – indicative of its function in mannose recognition. The protein contains a C-terminal HDEL ER retention signal and associates with the ER membrane (Friedmann *et al.*, 2002). More recent work has identified Yos9p as being able to bind misfolded

glycoproteins in an N-glycan-specific manner (Szathmary *et al.*, 2005). A genomewide screen initially identified Yos9p as being essential for glycoprotein ERassociated degradation. This was further supported by the observation that Yos9p coimmunoprecipitated with the classic ERAD substrate misfolded carboxypeptidase Y (CPY) when exhibiting specific oligosaccharide architecture (Buschhorn *et al.*, 2004; Bhamidipati *et al.*, 2005; Szathmary *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, Bhamidipati and colleagues found that Yos9p could bind misfolded CPY *lacking* N-glycans. Although this seems contradictory to Szathmary and colleagues' work, Bhamidipati and colleagues used different methods. Furthermore, the concentrations of Yos9p used in the experiments of the latter reportedly exceed that of physiological Yos9p concentration which may have an influence of substrate binding.

The role of Yos9p in ERAD is still not fully understood but the observation that the binding of misfolded glycoproteins with Yos9p is reduced in the absence of EDEM (Htm1p) in yeast might suggest that Yos9p is part of the same degradation pathway as EDEM and perhaps exerts its function downstream of EDEM or forms a complex together with Yos9p which is able to stabilise the misfolded protein-Yos9p interaction. Due to the observation that altering conserved residues in the lectin-like mannose 6-phosphate homology (MRH) domain of Yos9p abolishes its ERAD function and that degradation of mutant glycoproteins is dependent on Yos9p, is was proposed by the Wolf laboratory that Yos9p-misfolded glycoprotein binding is mediated by an MRH-domain-N-glycan interaction (Szathmary *et al.*, 2005). However, this theory does not exclude the binding of misfolded glycoproteins to Yos9 in an N-glycan-independent manner. Yos9 has two mammalian homologs, OS-9 and XTP3-B, both of which contain MRH domains (Christianson *et al.*, 2008). OS-

9 and XTP3-B have been found in a complex with the ubiquitin ligase Hrd1 via the SEL1L adaptor protein as well as with ERAD substrates indicating that both homologs are involved in the ERAD of proteins in the mammalian system.

# 2.2.2.7.2 Retrotranslocation and degradation

Once the recognition of proteins destined for degradation has taken place, these ERAD candidates are then targeted to the putative dislocation and ubiquitination complex. The pore through which ERAD substrates are retrotranslocated is still being debated (Herbert et al., 2010). Sec61, the main component of the protein translocation channel responsible for allowing the translocation of newly synthesised proteins into the ER, was shown to participate in the retrotranslocation of ER proteins. In mammalian cells, Sec $61\alpha$  has been coimmunoprecipitated with MHC class I heavy chains directed to ERAD by the cytomegalovirus (CMV) gene products US2/US11 (Wiertz et al., 1996). Many further studies support a role for Sec61 in the retrotranslocation of ERAD substrates (Pilon et al., 1997; Schmitz et al., 2000; Oyadomari et al., 2006; Scott & Schekman, 2008). However, the crystallographic structure of SecY/E, an archaeal ortholog of Sec61, revealed that the size limit for the pore diameter is small and seems unlikely to accommodate larger retrotranslocation substrates (Tirosch et al., 2003; van den Berg et al., 2004). Another candidate, Derlin1 (Derlp in yeast), which has four membrane spanning domains, has too been shown to be necessary for CMV-induced dislocation of MHC class I heavy chains from the ER (Hitt & Wolf, 2004; Lilley & Ploegh, 2004; Ye et al., 2004). Overexpression of members of the Derlin protein family accelerated the degradation of ERAD substrates further supporting their putative role in retrotranslocation (Oda et al., 2006). Derlin1 forms a complex with both ER lumenal components and cytosolic proteins required for efficient ERAD including the homohexameric ATPase p97/VCP (cell division cycle 48 (Cdc48) in yeast) and VIMP (p97-interacting protein). The yeast system is better characterised and, in addition to Cdc48 and Der1p, other components of the retrotranslocation machinery have been identified and include: the dimeric cofactor Ufd1/Npl4, the membrane adapter protein Ubx2p, which contains a ubiquitin associating (UBA) domain, the E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase Hrd1p and lastly Usa1p, which stabilises the interaction between Hrd1p and Der1p (Lilley & Ploegh, 2004; Ye et al., 2004; Carvalho et al., 2006; Oda et al., 2006; Bernardi et al., 2008; Christianson et al., 2008; Goder et al., 2008). Thus, Derlin interacts with components of the ubiquitination and degradationtargeting machinery. Furthermore, in yeast, Yos9p has been shown to form a complex with Kar2 (the yeast homolog of BiP) – which has also been implicated in ERAD – and Hrd3p which stabilises Hrd1p in the multimeric ubiquitination complex ((Plemper & Wolf, 1999; Brodsky et al., 1999; Kabani et al., 2003; Denic et al., 2006; Hedge et al., 2006). Thus, it has been proposed that Yos9p recruits proteins, genuinely designated for ERAD, to the putative dislocation/ubiquitination complex providing a link between the recognition of aberrantly folded proteins and their retrotranslocation and subsequent ubiquitination as well as helping to eliminate indiscriminate, basal levels of degradation. In higher eukaryotes, many other factors have been reported to be important in assisting in the retrotranslocation of ER components including PDI and BiP (Gillece et al., 1999; Molinari et al., 2002; Forster et al., 2006; Heiligenstein et al., 2006; Hosokawa et al., 2008)

Dislocation of ERAD substrates is aided by the Cdc48-Ufd1-Npl4 complex and precedes the addition of polyubiquitin to these proteins targeting them towards

proteasomal degradation (Ye *et al.*, 2001; Jarosch *et al.*, 2002). Ubiquitination requires a sequence of reactions starting with the activation of ubiquitin by the ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1) which then transfers the activated ubiquitin to the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (Ubc or E2). The E3 ubiquitin ligase is responsible for conjugating the ubiquitin – via an isopeptide bond – to a target lysine residue. A number of E3 ligases involved in the ubiquitination of ERAD substrates have been identified (Kostova *et al.*, 2007). Hrd1p, a putative retrotranslocon, contains a cytosolic RING-H2 face that is stabilised by an interaction with the transmembrane Hrd3p (Bordallo *et al.*, 1998; Bays *et al.*, 2001). Hrd1p can interact with the E2 enzymes Ubc1p, Ubc6p or Ubc7p and is responsible for the selective ubiquitination of ER lumenal and membrane proteins (Friedlander *et al.*, 2000; Bays *et al.*, 2001; Sato *et al.*, 2009). Doa10 – also proposed as an alternative dislocation channel – is a further E3 ligase with a much broader a range of substrates than Hrd1p (Kostova *et al.*, 2007).

The fact that these E3 ligases are proposed to be putative retrotranslocons seems sensible, since housing the retrotranslocation and ubiquitination activities in the same enzyme may be the most efficient way of targeting ERAD substrates for proteasomal degradation (Vembar & Brodsky, 2008).

Once targeted for degradation, substrates are delivered to the proteasome possibly by Cdc48 and several proteasome-interacting factors including UBA domain- and UBL domain-containing proteins such as Rad23 and Dsk2, which have been shown to increase ERAD efficiency (Verma *et al.*, 2000; Medicherla *et al.*, 2004; Raasi & Wolf, 2007). Substrates are then deubiquitinated and degraded by the 26S

proteasome which may even be localised to the surface of the ER membrane (Rivett, 1993; Amerik & Hochstrasser, 2004).

ER-associated degradation of integral membrane proteins is more poorly understood than that of ER lumenal proteins (Nakatsukasa & Brodsky, 2008). The ERassociated, cytoplasmic Hsp40-Hsp70 chaperones have been shown to assist in the interaction of integral membrane proteins with E3 ligases, possibly indicating a role in their degradation (Nakatsukasa *et al.*, 2008). This is consistent with the several other studies which suggest that the cytoplasmic chaperone machinery plays an important role in the ERAD of membrane proteins (McClellan *et al.*, 2005; Carvalho *et al.*, 2006). However, further research is needed on the degradation of membrane proteins with few or no soluble domains.

#### 2.3 Unfolded Protein Response

In the endoplasmic reticulum, much as in any organelle, an increase in population of a folding polypeptide species with persistent non-native interactions can have dire consequences for the cell. The accumulation of off-pathway intermediates can lead to the formation of intermolecular interactions and the development of protein aggregates. I have already discussed the intrinsic properties that chaperones exert on constructive protein folding and the prevention of aggregate formation. However, due to potential changes in the protein folding demand of the cell as well as the ER's susceptibility to perturbations caused by environmental factors, it is essential that the ER possesses a mechanism for detecting the folding competency and status of the organelle. Accordingly, the ER contains sensors that detect the folding capacity of the organelle and transduce that signal across the ER membrane and, where
appropriate, mount a suitable response to maintain ER homeostasis. This signalling network is known as the unfolded protein response (UPR).

The capacity of the ER protein folding machinery to meet the folding demand of ER proteins is regulated by coordinating the expression of many genes. The UPR responds to perturbations in ER homeostasis by coordinating a transcriptional – and additionally in higher eukaryotes, a translational – programme to restore protein folding efficacy. These perturbations can be the synthesis and accumulation of terminally misfolded proteins, environmental stresses such as heat shock or hypoxia or a sudden increase in protein synthesis. All of these perturbations result in an imbalance between the demand of folding proteins and the folding capacity of the ER and can collectively be referred to as 'ER stress', which is typically defined as 'a situation where the folding capacity of the ER is exceeded'. At this point, the cell must make a 'decision' on whether it is beneficial or detrimental to promote survival under these conditions. The mechanisms by which the cell switches between prosurvival a proapoptotic pathways are not fully understood but the role of the UPR in apoptosis and the respective merits of survival and death on the organism will be discussed further on in this chapter.

#### 2.3.1 The yeast UPR

The story of the yeast UPR started with genetic screens of mutants defective in UPR carried out in the budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. As a result, in 1993, two separate groups independently isolated *IRE1* as a putative ER stress transducer (Cox *et al.*, 1993; Mori *et al.*, 1993). *Ire1* $\Delta$  mutants are unable to activate transcription of *KAR2* and *PDI1* which encode the yeast ER resident proteins BiP and PDI

respectively. Furthermore, *IRE1* was found to be essential for cell viability under stress conditions where unfolded proteins were allowed to accumulate in the ER; indicating a direct role for *IRE1* in the protection of cells from perturbation in ER homeostasis. Sequence data suggested that Ire1p was a single-spanning ER transmembrane protein kinase with an N-terminal region in the ER lumen, whilst further work illustrated that its cytosolic domain is composed of two functional domains, a serine/threonine protein kinase and an RNase L-like endoribonuclease domain (Bork & Sander, 1993; Mori *et al.*, 1993 Shamu *et al.*, 1994; Sidrauski & Walter, 1997).

Subsequent biochemical analysis of Ire1p revealed that after detecting the accumulation of unfolded proteins in the ER, Ire1p forms dimers or oligomers in the plane of the membrane inducing its kinase activity and causing *trans*-autophosphorylation of Ire1p (Shamu & Walter, 1996; Welihinda & Kaufman, 1996). This, in turn, induces the endoribonuclease activity of Ire1p (Sidrauski & Walter 1997). The sole target of Ire1p RNase activity is the constitutively-expressed *HAC1* mRNA (Cox & Walter, 1996; Sidrauski *et al.*, 1996; Kawahara *et al.*, 1997). Recently, crystal structure evidence for the early-stage formation of Ire1 oligomers was published (Lee *et al.*, 2008a; Aragòn *et al.*, 2009; Korennykh *et al.*, 2009; Wiseman *et al.*, 2010). These high-order, 'supramolecular structures' give rise to Ire1 foci to which *HAC1* mRNA is recruited via a conserved 3' untranslated region (UTR) targeting element which promotes Ire1p activation and Ire1p-mediated UPR signalling (Aragòn *et al.*, 2009). Indeed, both *HAC1* and the metazoan equivalent, *XBP1*, have a tendency to be found associated with ER membranes (Diehn *et al.*, 2000; Stephens *et al.*, 2005; Yanagitani *et al.*, 2009).

In yeast, Hac1p (Homology to ATF and CREB 1 protein) – identified by three independent groups - is responsible for mediating transcription from unfolded protein response element (UPRE)-containing promoters (Mori et al., 1996; Cox & Walter, 1996; Nikawa et al., 1996). The UPRE is a single 22-bp element which is conserved among targets of the UPR and required for transactivation of target genes such as KAR2, PDI1, EUG1, LHS1 and ERO1 (Normington et al., 1989; LaMantia et al., 1991; Mori et al., 1992; Tachibana & Stevens, 1992; Kohno et al., 1993; Craven et al., 1996; Pollard et al., 1998; Frand & Kaiser 1998). The HAC1 gene was identified as a homolog of the ATF/CREB family of basic leucine zipper (bZIP) transcription factors but unusually, transcripts of the gene vary depending on the presence or absence of ER stress (Bork & Sander, 1993; Nojima et al., 1994; Sidrauski & Walter, 1997). Under stressed conditions, HAC1 mRNA lacks a 252-bp region present in non-stressed cells. The endoribonuclease activity of Ire1p – together with an RNA ligase - is responsible for this non-canonical splicing event, rather than the conventional splicosome machinery. Removal of this intron takes place by Ire1p-mediated cleavage at two specific sites near the 3' end of the mRNA sequence on conserved, predicted stem-loop structures either side of the 252-bp fragment - which are then joined by tRNA ligase (Sidrauski et al., 1996; Sidrauski & Walter, 1997; Kawahara et al., 1998; Gonzalez et al., 1999). The result of Ire1pmediated splicing is the replacement of the 10-amino acid C-terminal tail encoded in the intron of unspliced HAC1 mRNA (HAC1<sup>u</sup>) with an 18-amino acid tail encoded by the second exon of spliced HAC1 (HAC1<sup>i</sup>). The splicing event does not affect the 220-amino acid N-terminal region which contains the DNA-binding domain.

Under non-stressed conditions, constitutively-expressed  $HACI^{u}$  associates with polyribosomes to initiate translation but translation stalls on ribosomes possibly due to long-range base pairing between the 5' untranslated region (UTR) and sequences within the intron (Chapman & Walter, 1997; Mori *et al.*, 2000; Rüegsegger *et al.*, 2001). Splicing out of this 252-bp intron prevents this long-range base pairing and relieves *HAC1* from translational attenuation (Rüegsegger *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, Mori and colleagues showed that increased transcriptional activator activity was not solely due to an increase in translation efficacy (Mori *et al.*, 2000). They proposed that an observed 10-fold increase in the transcription activator activity of Hac1p<sup>i</sup> over Hac1p<sup>u</sup> was due to the proximity of a C-terminal activation domain (AD) to the DNA-binding domain (DBD). However, the C-terminal tail becomes more acidic in spliced Hac1p<sup>i</sup>, leading to transcriptional activity.

Yeast cells that lack *HAC1* are unable to mount an unfolded protein response and, although viable, are sensitive to pharmacological agents which can induce ER stress and tend to die at ordinarily sublethal doses (Mori *et al.*, 1996). Thus, the transcriptional regulation of components involved in the promotion of protein folding and the restoration of ER homeostasis – and the regulation of Rpd3 histone deacetylase activity – is performed by Hac1p<sup>i</sup>, which, through Ire1p-mediated regulation, and in conjunction with Gcn4p, responds to the protein folding capacity of the yeast endoplasmic reticulum (Travers *et al.*, 2000; Patil *et al.*, 2004; Schröder *et al.*, 2004).

### 2.3.2 The mammalian UPR

Whereas yeast cells have a single proximal stress sensor, the UPR in higher eukaryotes consists of three distinct pathways modulated through three transmembrane stress sensors, IRE1, PERK and ATF6. Similar to the yeast UPR, the mammalian UPR responds to perturbations in ER homeostasis and initiates a transcriptional programme to meet the requirements of the ER for protein folding. Transcriptional activation of specific genes involved in protein folding – such as chaperones and folding enzymes – and components of ER-associated degradation alleviates ER stress and restore ER homeostasis. Moreover, in addition to yeast, the mammalian UPR exerts attenuation of global protein translation to combat ER stress. This is achieved by inhibiting translation initiation and serves to decrease the load of newly synthesised proteins on the ER.

#### 2.3.2.1 *IRE1*

IRE1 is highly conserved in evolution. In mammals, two homologs of yeast *IRE1*, which are encoded by different genes, have been identified (Tirasophon *et al.*, 1998; Wang *et al.*, 1998). IRE1 $\alpha$  is expressed broadly in a range of tissues whereas IRE1 $\beta$  is expressed only in the epithelial cells of the gastrointestinal tract, particularly in colon and stomach. Deletion of the mouse homolog of IRE1 $\alpha$  is embryonic lethal whereas IRE1 $\beta$ -deficient mice are viable but susceptible to environmental agents that promote colitis (Bertolotti *et al.*, 2001; Lee *et al.*, 2002). Similarly to Ire1p, both mammalian IRE1 proteins respond to ER stress by *trans*-autophosphorylation and dimerisation – which has recently been confirmed by solving the yeast cytosolic domain crystal structure – and can activate downstream target genes (Lee *et al.*, 2008a). Overexpression of either IRE1 $\alpha$  or IRE1 $\beta$  is able to activate the BiP

promoter indicating a functional conservation between yeast and mammals – although BiP activation might be the result of IRE1 $\alpha/\beta$  acting as an unfolded protein. Deletion of mouse IRE1 $\alpha$  and/or IRE1 $\beta$  does not *prevent* transcriptional activation of BiP or the Hsp90 family-member Grp94, indicating that there are IRE1-independent pathways that can complement IRE1 in the mammalian UPR target gene regulation (Tirasophon *et al.*, 1998; Wang *et al.*, 1998; Urano *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 2002).

The main substrate for the endoribonuclease activity of mammalian IRE1 is the bZIP transcription factor X-box binding protein 1 (*XBP1*) mRNA (Shen *et al.*, 2001; Yoshida *et al.*, 2001a; Calfon *et al.*, 2002; Lee *et al.*, 2002) (Fig. 4). Unlike *HAC1*, in which the DNA-binding domain (DBD) and transcriptional activation domain (AD) are in the same open reading frame (ORF), the pre-mRNA version of *XBP1* (*XBP1<sup>u</sup>*) only contains the DBD (Yoshida *et al.*, 2001a). Splicing of *XBP1<sup>u</sup>* joins two open reading frames allowing the translation of both the DBD and AD. The splice-site motif of *XBP1<sup>u</sup>* is conserved from yeast further indicating that *XBP1<sup>u</sup>* undergoes a non-conventional splicing event. Unlike *HAC1*, the intron removed from *XBP1<sup>u</sup>* is small at only 26-bp compared with 252-bp. This is in line with the fact that apart from the DBD, *XBP1<sup>s</sup>* and *HAC1<sup>i</sup>* share little sequence homology.

Furthermore, in contrast to  $HAC1^{u}$  expression, which is subject to translational stalling,  $XBP1^{u}$  is constitutively translated as a non-functional protein, but is quickly degraded by the proteasome (Lee *et al.*, 2003). The purpose of this non-functional version of XBP1 – besides providing a cytoplasmic source of a 'ready' downstream target for IRE1 without *de novo* transcription – has been investigated recently

(Tirosh *et al.*, 2006; Yoshida *et al.*, 2006b; Uemura *et al.*, 2009; Yoshida *et al.*, 2009). Tirosh and colleagues showed that increasing the stability of XBP1<sup>u</sup> protein augments the transcription of *XBP1*-specific and -non-specific target genes in response to ER stress, indicating that rapid degradation of XBP1<sup>u</sup> is required to prevent uncontrolled activation of the UPR (Tirosh *et al.*, 2006). Yoshida and colleagues, on the other hand, demonstrated that XBP1<sup>u</sup> protein acts as a negative regulator of the UPR by promoting the degradation of the transcriptionally active XBP1<sup>s</sup> and ATF6 $\alpha$  proteins, preventing residual transcription of ER chaperone and ERAD components (such as EDEM) during the recovery phase. Thus, *XBP1* mRNA seems to encode a positive- and negative-regulator of mammalian UPR in XBP1<sup>s</sup> and XBP1<sup>u</sup>.

Spliced XBP1 binds to a *cis*-acting ER stress-response element (ERSE), ERSE II and mammalian unfolded protein response element (UPRE) (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2004). XBP1 acts alone, as a homodimer, to bind promoter elements – as in the case of UPRE – or in heterodimers with other transcriptional activators such as AFT6α or NF-Y, which will be discussed in more detail later (Yoshida *et al.*, 1998; Yoshida *et al.*, 2001b, Yamamoto *et al.*, 2004; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2007). As a consequence, XBP1 transactivates the expression of components of the ER-associated degradation system including EDEM, Derlin1 and Derlin2, OS9, HERP and the DnaJ co-chaperones p58<sup>IPK</sup>, HEDJ and MDG1, secretory pathway components, SEC23B, SEC24C, SEC61A, SEC61G, SRP54 and TRAM1, and condition- and tissue-specific targets such as the transcription factor Mist1 (Lee *et al.*, 2003; Yoshida *et al.*, 2003; Shaffer *et al.*, 2004; Oda *et al.*, 2006; Yoshida *et al.*, 2006a; Acosta-Alvear *et al.*,

2007). Thus, IRE1-mediated splicing of *XBP1* regulates a great number of downstream targets able to influence the protein folding capacity of the ER.

IRE1 exhibits further features, outside of mediating XBP1 cleavage, which may have an influence on protein expression and cell fate. Overexpression of IRE1 can promote the cleavage of 28S ribosomal rRNA – although this may only be very minor - as well as mRNA encoding IRE1 itself, indicating that, under certain conditions, the endonuclease activity of IRE1 might have a wider range of substrates (Iwawaki et al., 2001; Tirasophon et al., 2000). This hypothesis was further supported by a recent systematic study which concluded that, under stressed conditions, IRE1 mediates the rapid degradation of a specific subset of mRNAs which encode proteins in the plasma membrane and other secreted proteins (Hollien & Weissman, 2006; Iqbal et al., 2008; Han et al., 2009; Hollien et al., 2009). This was shown to be a rapid response to ER stress, which takes place much faster than expression changes mediated by XBP1. This makes sense since quickly attenuating the translation of proteins before they enter the secretory pathway may relieve acute ER stress while the XBP1-dependent pathway takes effect. It is not clear however, if oligomerisation and formation of IRE foci is necessary for ER-localised mRNA decay.

Additionally, IRE1 possesses features which may promote cell death in response to ER stress. When cells become stressed, IRE1 binds to the E3 ligase TRAF2 via the kinase domain of IRE1 (Fig. 4). This causes the activation of apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1/MAP3K5) through the formation of a IRE1-TRAF2-ASK1 heterotrimer. As a result, the phosphorylation and consequential activation of

c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) occurs (Urano et al., 2000; Nishitoh et al., 2002). The IRE1-TRAF2 interaction has, however, been demonstrated in the absence of IRE1 kinase activity indicating that that kinase activity is not essential for IRE1-TRAF2 heterodimer formation (Kaneko et al., 2003). ASK1-deficient cells are resistant to ER stress-induced apoptosis and JNK activation, providing evidence that JNK is downstream of ASK1 activation (Nishitoh et al., 2002). ASK1 activation is also associated with amyloid beta-induced neuronal cell death further demonstrating how important the IRE1-TRAF2-ASK1 signalling pathway is in apoptosis (Kadowaki et al., 2005). JNK activation promotes cell death under physiological stresses such as UV irradiation, thus JNK activation might too contribute to cell death in response to ER stress (Barr & Bogoyevitch, 2001) (Fig. 4). Bcl-2 is phosphorylated by ASK1 and JNK leading to Bcl-2 inactivation, and Bim, a Bcl-2 family member, is induced and phosphylated by JNK leading to the induction of apoptosis (Molton et al., 2003). Furthermore, JNK is responsible for the induction of apoptosis by the proteasome inhibitor PS-341 through activation of the JNK/AP-1/CHOP signalling by inhibiting NF-kB and Bcl-2 (Nozaki et al., 2001). The consequences of ASK1 and JNK activation, however, are most likely widespread and these factors may also be involved in prosurvival as well as proapoptotic pathways (Lin et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2008; Choi et al., 2009). These are discussed in more detail in section 2.3.2.5 Apoptosis vs. Survival.

Integration of IRE1 signalling and activation of the caspase pathway may also promote cell death signalling. The caspases are a family of cysteine proteases which can act as effectors of apoptosis, mediating apoptotic signalling and inflammatory cytokine processing. Upon ER stress and the binding of TRAF2 to IRE1, the TRAF2/procaspase-12 interaction is disrupted, causing the conversion of procaspase-12 to the mature form (Yoneda *et al.*, 2001). The effect of caspase-12 maturation in humans is unclear; however other caspases have been implicated in the ER stress response in humans (Hitomi *et al.*, 2004; Xue *et al.*, 2006). Lastly,  $Bak^{-/-} Bax^{-/-}$  cells are highly resistant to cell death including that induced by ER stress (Wei *et al.*, 2001; Hetz *et al.*, 2006). BCL-2 homologous antagonist/killer (BAK) and BCL-2associated X protein (BAX) are members of the pro-apoptotic BCL-2 family which, possibly due to the release of ER lumenal Ca<sup>2+</sup>, facilitate the exit of cytochrome *c* from the mitochondria into the cytosol, initiating apoptosis (Nutt *et al.*, 2002; Oakes *et al.*, 2005; Oakes *et al.*, 2006). Alternatively, the BCL-2 family member BIM may contribute to apoptosis as a result of its activation by phosphorylated JNK (Lei & Davis, 2003; Putcha *et al.*, 2003). Thus, IRE1 signalling has widespread effects that include the downstream regulation of genes involved in protein folding and ERAD, the selective degradation of secretory- and membrane-targeted mRNAs and the regulation of pro-apoptotic pathways.

A question which has thus far not been addressed in this thesis is how does the Nterminal region of IRE1 'sense' ER stress? Concurrent with UPR studies on yeast was an investigation into the ability of several mutant versions of simian virus 5 haemagglutinin-neuraminidase glycoprotein to induce the UPR in mammalian fibroblast CV-1 cells (Ng *et al.*, 1992). When a mutant version of the glycoprotein – which does not bind BiP – accumulated in the ER, no induction of the UPR was detected. This is in contrast to other misfolded mutants of the glycoprotein, capable of binding BiP, which initiated a UPR. This lead to the hypothesis that UPR transducers detect changes in the concentration of free BiP in the ER or in the

<u>64</u>

concentration of BiP bound to unfolded proteins. Furthermore, the overexpression of BiP attenuates the induction of the UPR (Dorner et al., 1992; Kohno et al., 1993). Thus, the amount of free BiP in the ER negatively regulates the activation of the UPR (Shamu et al., 1994; Liu et al., 2003). This model states that, under nonstressed conditions, BiP is bound to the lumenal domain of IRE1, inhibiting dimer and oligomer formation and consequently downstream signalling. Under ER stress conditions however, the increased concentration of unfolded/misfolded proteins results in these proteins competing with the IRE1 lumenal domain for free BiP which will then bind to these off-pathway intermediates to prevent aggregation. This then promotes dimer/oligomer formation and IRE1-mediated signalling (Bertolotti et al., 2000; Okamura et al., 2000; Kimata et al., 2003; Todd-Corlett et al., 2007; Oikawa et al., 2009). The relationship between the structural features of the lumenal domain of IRE1 and IRE1-mediated signalling is complex and not fully understood. Deletion of the subregion of the IRE1 lumenal domain responsible for BiP binding (sub region V) is dispensable for activation in the face of ER stress (Kimata et al., 2004; Kimata et al., 2007; Oikawa et al., 2007). These results suggest that BiP binding and dissociation are not sufficient for IRE1 activation and that BiP may not be the primary determinant for activation of the UPR.

The crystal structure of lumenal regions of yeast Ire1 and human IRE1 have recently been determined by two separate groups (Credle *et al.*, 2005; Zhou *et al.*, 2006). Credle and colleagues determined the presence of a shared central groove in yeast Ire1 reminiscent of the peptide binding groove of major histocompatability (MHC) molecules. This grove is formed by two  $\alpha$ -helices positioned on the  $\beta$ -sheet platforms of each monomer to form the walls of a deep groove that is connected to the groove of the neighbouring monomer. Disruption of groove architecture by removing hydrophobic regions buried in the interface (F247A) and introducing bulk into the interface (T226W) for example, resulted in reduced in vivo Ire1 activity. This led the group to speculate that this groove - created by dimerisation of Ire1 monomers - might recognise flexible regions of unfolded proteins during Ire1 activation and that binding of unfolded proteins might contribute to the formation of higher-order structures of Ire1 in yeast (Credle et al., 2005). On the other hand, Zhou and colleagues, who also detected an MHC-like groove upon IRE1 dimerisation, suggested that this groove was too narrow to accommodate peptides. Furthermore, the residues that were proposed to be involved in peptide binding are buried in the human IRE1 crystal indicating that these residues would not be involved in prptide binding. Additionally, the groove was oriented towards the membrane rather than the lumen and acess to the groove was blocked by an  $\alpha$ -helix providing further evidence that direct binding of peptides is unlikely. Despite this, they demonstrated that an intact groove was necessary for both dimerisation and ER stress-induced UPR signalling. In accordance with this finding, other groups have provided evidence that IRE1 activation does not depend on the binding of a ligand (Liu et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2003; Oikawa et al., 2009). Thus, Zhou and colleagues propose a ligandindependent model of IRE1 activation where BiP release is sufficient for dimerisation via an MHC-like groove while Credle and colleagues' data support a model where, in addition to BiP release, the binding of unfolded proteins to the groove of the Ire1 dimer may be required for oligomer formation; a ligand-dependent model.

Recently a two-step model for IRE1 regulation was proposed which suggested that both BiP dissociation and IRE1 binding of unfolded proteins are responsible for IRE1 activation (Kimata et al., 2007). The first step in this model is the dissociation of BiP from IRE1 which causes oligomerisation of IRE1 while subsequent binding of unfolded proteins causes activation. However there is evidence that the enzymatic activity of IRE1 is determined by the oligomerisation state of IRE1 which would suggest that once oligomerisation has taken place, IRE1 becomes activated. A recent paper by Peter Walter's group, however, suggested that BiP binding to Ire1 modulates efferent signalling by sequestering inactive Ire1 molecules, which prevents oligomerisation and facilitates deactivation if the folding conditions within the ER permit (Pincus et al., 2010). Furthermore, they propose that direct sensing of unfolded proteins is the primary trigger for Ire1 activation. In low level stress situations, BiP binding reduces the system's sensitivity, ensuring that Ire1 is only activated when the stress is sufficient to warrant a response. Thus, BiP-mediated modulation of Ire1 activity may allow Ire1 to efficiently counteract a large spectrum of stress magnitudes. This work was undertaken in yeast Ire1. However, the structure and function of Ire1 is conserved between yeast and mammals and when human IRE1 lumenal domain replaces the corresponding domain in yeast Ire1, yeast UPR function is retained (Liu et al., 2000). Further work will be required to determine if BiP modulates the activation of IRE1 in higher eukaryotes.

Recently, the crystal structure of the cytoplasmic region of IRE1 was resolved, which provided an insight into the activation of the endoribonuclease activity of IRE1 (Lee *et al.*, 2008a; Korennykh *et al.*, 2009; Yanagitani *et al.*, 2009). The protein that Lee and colleagues crystallised had both kinase and endoribonuclease activity, was

phosphorylated on the activation loop – which usually occurs by *trans*autophosphorylation – and was loaded with ADP. Thus, the crystallised protein is likely to represent activated IRE1. The structure reveals that IRE1 forms a symmetric dimer with both kinase and both nuclease domains facing back to back. Additionally, nucleotide binding is required for dimer formation Therefore, it is likely that ER stress induced dimer formation positions the cytosolic domains in proximity for *trans*-autophosphorylation of the kinase activation loop which then, upon nucleotide binding, is reconfigured, leading to the formation of the dimer seen in the crystal structure, which can now accommodate substrate mRNA for cleavage in the kinase extension nuclease (KEN) domain. Further work will be required to understand the relevance of dimer formation in mRNA cleavage. A summary of the IRE1 branch of the mammalian UPR is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. **The IRE1 branch of the UPR**. An increase in concentration of unfolded proteins in the ER causes the titration of BiP away from the lumenal portion of IRE1. Direct binding of IRE1 to unfolded proteins may also influence IRE1 activation. Once activated, IRE1 forms homodimers leading to activation of its endoribonuclease activity. Activation also allows the binding of TRAF2 and ASK to IRE1 which leads to JNK phosphorylation and downstream events which may lead to apoptosis. IRE1 is also involved in the rapid degradation of mRNA coding for membrane and secretory proteins. IRE1 RNase activity targets *XBP1* and removes a 26-bp intron which results in the translation of an active transcription factor (XBP1). This then travels to the nucleus to recognise ERSE I, ERSE II and UPRE promoter elements and upregulate target genes.

### 2.3.2.2 PERK

The second pathway in the metazoan UPR is the PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK) pathway. PERK, like IRE1, is a type I transmembrane protein located in the ER membrane which too senses the accumulation of unfolded proteins in the ER lumen (Shi *et al.*, 1998; Shi *et al.*, 1999; Harding *et al.*, 1999; Harding *et al.*, 2000b; Harding *et al.*, 2001; Liu *et al.*, 2003). The lumenal domain of PERK, despite low sequence homology, is supposedly similar to that of IRE1 but the C-terminal cytosolic domain contains a eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha (eIF2 $\alpha$ ) kinase domain (Harding *et al.*, 1999; Ma *et al.*, 2002). Regulation of PERK activity is similar to that of IRE1 since binding of BiP to the PERK lumenal domain seems to keep the kinase in an inactive, monomeric state.

Dissociation of BiP from PERK triggers oligomerisation, then *trans*autophosphorylation of a large number of residues and activation of the cytosolic domain (Bertolotti et al., 2000; Ma et al., 2002; Marciniak et al., 2006). Phosphorylation of residues that lie in the kinase insert loop of PERK are thought to be responsible for selectively recruiting its substrate, eIF2 $\alpha$  (Marciniak *et al.*, 2006). Further evidence for shared functionality of the IRE1 and PERK lumenal domain comes from domain swapping experiments where the PERK lumenal domain can replace the yeast Ire1 lumenal region and the lumenal domain of human IRE1ß can replace the corresponding domain in mammalian PERK (Bertolotti et al., 2000; Liu et al., 2000). Ma and colleagues, however, did note an inconsistency with IRE1 function; their mutant, which lacks the BiP-binding domain (sub-region V) in the PERK lumenal region, was constitutively active, suggesting that BiP is essential for the negative regulation of PERK activity, contrary to that demonstrated by Kimata and colleagues for IRE1, which may mean that the PERK lumenal domain is unable to directly bind unfolded proteins (Ma *et al.*, 2002).

Under ER stress conditions,  $Perk^{-/2}$  cells are defective in eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation, polyribosome deaggregation and inhibition of amino acid incorporation into proteins (Harding *et al.*, 2000b). Accordingly, activated PERK phosphorylates eIF2 $\alpha$  on a serine at position 51, mutations of which ( $eIF2\alpha^{S5IA}$ ) leave cells extremely sensitive to the lethal effects of ER stress (Scheuner et al., 2001). Phosphorylation of eIF2a makes it an inhibitor of the GTP exchange factor eIF2B, attenuating the recycling of eIF2. The eIF2 complex is essential for the synthesis of new proteins since it recruits the initiator methionyl tRNA to ribosomes at the commencement of protein translation (Anderson & Kederscha, 2002; Kolitz & Lorsch, 2010). Therefore, Ser51 phosphorylation of eIF2 $\alpha$  inhibits this activity and thus reduces global protein translation. As a result, cells are able to confer immediate protection on the ER by adjusting the level of new protein synthesis in response to a decrease in folding capacity. If eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation is not tightly regulated however, protein levels could fall below that required for efficient cellular function. Accordingly, growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible gene 34 (GADD34), a protein phosphatase regulatory subunit, is also induced by activated PERK and its downstream targets (Novoa et al., 2001; Jiang et al., 2004; Marciniak et al., 2004). GADD34 dephosphorylates eIF2 $\alpha$  to oppose PERK activity and prevent over attenuation of translation or to limit the time window of translational arrest.

Whereas during ER stress and consequential eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation the majority of transcripts undergo translational inhibition, a small subset of transcripts are preferentially translated (Harding *et al.*, 2000a; Mikulits *et al.*, 2000; Lu *et al.*, 2004; Vattem & Wek, 2004; Yoshimura *et al.*, 2008; Zhou *et al.*, 2008). The stress-inducible transcription factor *ATF4* is the best studied of these preferentially translated transcripts. *ATF4* contains multiple upstream ORFs that precede the *ATF4* ORF (Harding *et al.*, 2000a). Under non-stressed conditions, when ribosomal assembly is efficient, this feature of *ATF4* mRNA inhibits its translation since ribosomes bind and initiate translation at the decoy ORFs. However, when ribosomal assembly is impaired – as is the case in PERK-mediated eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation – ATF4 translation is enhanced because the ATF4 start codon is favoured over the decoy ORFs.

ATF4, like XBP1, is a bZIP transcription factor that recognises specific promoter elements and upregulates genes involved in protein folding, ERAD and indeed upregulates other bZIP transcription factors (Harding *et al.*, 2003; Oyadomari & Mori, 2004). Additionally, ATF4 induces the antioxidant response, protecting cells against oxidative stress as well as upregulating genes involved in amino acid metabolism (Okada *et al.*, 2002; Harding *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, ATF4 induces the induction of 4E-binding protein 1 (4E-BP1), inhibiting translation through the inhibition of the 5'-cap binding protein eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF-4E) which may contribute to cell cycle arrest during ER stress (Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2008). ATF4 can homodimerise or form heterodimers with other bZIP transcription factors such as ATF6, XBP1 and other members of the C/EBP family, and binds to the nutrient-sensing response element (NRSE)-1 and -2 during both ER

stress and nutrient deficiency (Barbosa-Tessmann *et al.*, 2000; Bruhat *et al.*, 2002; Chen *et al.*, 2004).

One of the best studied targets of ATF4 transcription activator activity is CHOP/GADD153 promoter (Fawcett et al., 1999; Harding et al., 2000a; Scheuner et al., 2001; Ma et al., 2002). ATF4, however, is not the only inducer of CHOP expression since other components of the UPR as well as other pathways have been shown to activate CHOP (Wang & Ron, 1996; Wang et al., 1998; Yoshida et al., 2000). CHOP is considered a proapoptotic component of the UPR since  $chop^{-/2}$  cells are protected from the lethal consequences of ER stress (Zinszner et al., 1998; Oyadomari et al., 2002b). Moreover, CHOP inhibits the protective, anti-apoptotic factor BCL-2, promoting, among other things, formation of the apoptosome (McCullough et al., 2001; Ma et al., 2002). In addition, CHOP is responsible for the translocation of BAX from the cytosol to the mitochondria as well as the promotion of apoptotic caspase activity and the induction of proapoptotic Tribbles related protein 3 (TRB3) (McCullough et al., 2001; Gotoh & Mori, 2004; Ohoka et al., 2005). CHOP also upregulates ERO1 $\alpha$  which leads to the promotion of oxidising conditions in the ER and a potential increase in the levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (McCullough et al., 2001; Marciniak et al., 2004).

Interestingly, whereas the induction of CHOP and GADD34 expression by ER stress requires PERK, induction by amino acid starvation is PERK-independent. This is because amino acid-induced eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation requires the eIF2 kinase GCN2 rather than PERK (Harding *et al.*, 2000b; Novoa *et al.*, 2001). GCN2 is induced by a mechanism whereby uncharged tRNA binds to regulatory regions homologous to

histidyl-tRNA synthestase (HisRS) enzymes (Wek *et al.*, 2006). Indeed, GCN2 responds to other forms of stress such as UV irradiation and proteasomal inhibition, suggesting that ER stress-transducer-independent pathways of protein translational attenuation exist, and that inhibition of protein synthesis is a common response to diverse forms of stress (Jiang & Wek, 2005a; Jiang & Wek, 2005b; Wek *et al.*, 2006).

Recently, a new target of PERK phosphorylation activity was identified. NRF2, under non-stressed conditions, is held in an inactive complex with the cytosolic cytoskeletal anchor protein KEAP1. Phosphorylation of NRF2 by PERK results in disruption of this complex and NRF2 moves to the nucleus where, in a heterodimer with ATF4, activates, among other things, the transcription of antioxidant genes and genes involved in protein folding, ERAD and immune responses (Cullien & Diehl, 2006).

A further mechanism by which PERK-mediated- and GCN2-mediated-eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation can have an effect on transcriptional activity is related to its general attenuation of protein synthesis. Besides the many effects that have been discussed, translational attenuation can preferentially reduce the expression of regulatory components that are rapidly turned over. An example of this is the regulation of the transcription factor, and master regulator of inflammation, the immune response, cell proliferation and apoptosis, NF- $\kappa$ B. Under non-stressed or non-inflammatory conditions, NF- $\kappa$ B is bound in the cytosol to inhibitors of NF- $\kappa$ B (I $\kappa$ B) such as I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ . Triggering of the inflammatory response – due to the detection of cytokines such as tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) – causes rapid phosphorylation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ 

by IκB kinase (IKK). The effect of serine 32 phosphorylation is to target the inhibitor for ubiquitination and subsequent proteasomal degradation, releasing NF-κB and facilitating its translocation to the nucleus to regulate target genes. Reduction in global protein synthesis is accompanied by a significant reduction in the translation of IκBα (Deng *et al.*, 2002; Jiang & Wek, 2005a). Therefore, eIF2α phosphorylation may promote the NF-κB-mediated transcriptional activator activity. Furthermore, IKK has been demonstrated to form a complex with IRE1α via TRAF2 and *IRE1α<sup>-/-</sup>* cells exhibit impaired ER stress-induced NF-κB activation (Hu *et al.*, 2006). Thus, NF-κB activation may be linked with the IRE1 branch of the UPR, linking ER stress with NF-κB activation. Activation of NF-κB has been demonstrated in response to several different cellular stresses including ER stress, UV irradiation and reactive oxygen species (Jiang *et al.*, 2003; Deng *et al.*, 2004; Wu *et al.*, 2004; Jiang & Wek, 2005a; Gloire *et al.*, 2006).

### 2.3.2.3 *ATF6*

The third ER stress sensor unique to metazoans is ATF6, a type-II membrane protein containing a lumenal sensing domain and a cytosolic bZIP transcription factor domain (Yoshida *et al.*, 1998). Initially, ATF6 was identified as an ERSE-binding transcriptional activator (Hai *et al.*, 1989). Further analysis revealed that, activation of promoter elements required nuclear factor Y (NF-Y) binding in addition to ATF6 binding and that, under stressed conditions, ATF6-ERSE binding requires a cleaved form of ATF6 (Yoshida *et al.*, 1998; Li *et al.*, 2000; Wang *et al.*, 2000; Yoshida *et al.*, 2001b). This cleaved form was identified as the product of N-terminal cleavage and named p50ATF6 (Haze *et al.*, 1999). Although full-length

ATF6 localised to the ER, p50ATF6 was present in the nucleus. Thus, it was predicted that the mechanism behind ATF6 cleavage may be similar to that of the bZIP transcription factor sterol response element binding proteins (SREBPs) since, in response to low cholesterol levels, ER membrane-bound SREBP is transported to the Golgi and cleaved at two sites, releasing the transcription factor domain which is involved in the control of cellular sterol levels (Hua *et al.*, 1996; Sakai *et al.*, 1996). This was confirmed by Ye and colleagues who demonstrated that, under ER stress conditions, ATF6 is transported to the Golgi where it is sequentially processed by Site-1/2 proteases (S1P and S2P), liberating the cytoplasmic transcription factor domain which then translocates to the nucleus to activate the transcription of ER quality control proteins (Ye *et al.*, 2000; Adachi *et al.*, 2008).

The mechanism which regulates the transport of activated ATF6 to the Golgi is not fully understood, however, two conserved putative regulatory domains have been implicated in ER stress-induced ATF6 transport (Ye *et al.*, 2000; Chen *et al.*, 2002). Additionally, recent work has demonstrated that, under non-stressed conditions, the lumenal domain of ATF6 is disulfide bonded and exists in monomeric, dimeric and oligomeric forms, and that ER stress-induced reduction is required but not sufficient for trafficking to the Golgi (Nadanaka *et al.*, 2007). Like IRE1 and PERK, ATF6 activation is controlled by the ER chaperone BiP (Gething, 1999; Shen *et al.*, 2002). However, binding of BiP to the lumenal domain of ATF6 masks the intrinsic Golgi localisation signals GLS1 and GLS2 (Shen *et al.*, 2002). Evidence for this comes from BiP and ATF6 mutation experiments where a) ER stress-induced BiP release was blocked causing the inhibition of translocation and proteolytic processing of ATF6 and b) removal of the BiP binding domain from ATF6 caused constitutive activation of ATF6 signalling (Shen *et al.*, 2002; Summer & Jarosch, 2002). Thus, the mechanism of negative regulation that BiP exerts on ATF6 may differ to that exerted upon PERK and IRE1 monomers.

However, Shen and colleagues recently demonstrated that BiP binds stably to ATF6 and postulated that BiP-ATF6 dissociation is not a consequence of competition of unfolded proteins for BiP but that ER stress-induced dissociation is a consequence of an active regulatory mechanism (Shen et al., 2005). Perhaps the active reduction of disulfide bonded higher order structures of ATF6 demonstrated by Nadanaka and colleagues is important in the dissociation of BiP from ATF6 (Nadanaka et al., 2007). Since BiP may play a role in modulating the sensitivity of IRE1 to mild stresses (Pincus *et al.*, 2010), it might also be possible that the BiP binding to ATF6 may modulate the activation of ATF6 through other mechanisms, such as direct reduction of ATF6 oligomers. The glycosylation status of ATF6 may also contribute to its activation since, under non-stressed conditions, fully glycosylated ATF6 is retained in the ER by calreticulin binding (Hong et al., 2004). In ER stressed cells however, newly synthesised ATF6 is underglycosylated – presumably due to the folding capacity of the ER being exceeded – preventing the interaction with calreticulin which may, together with BiP dissociation and ATF6 disulfide reduction, serve to regulate the transport of ATF6 to the Golgi.

The product of the G13 gene is a transmembrane bZIP transcription factor with homology to ATF6. Thus, it was named ATF6 $\beta$  (Haze *et al.*, 2001). Unlike the paralog of human IRE1 $\alpha$ , IRE $\beta$ , ATF6 $\beta$  is ubiquitously expressed. Like ATF6 $\alpha$ (referred to up until now as ATF6), ATF6 $\beta$  is proteolytically cleaved releasing the cytosolic bZIP transcription factor domain (Haze *et al.*, 2001). ATF6 $\beta$  can bind to ERSE either as a homodimer or as a heterodimer with ATF6 $\alpha$  (Yoshida *et al.*, 2001b). However, unlike ATF6 $\alpha$ , ATF6 $\beta$  possesses weak transcriptional activation activity but binds much more stably to promoter elements (Theurauf *et al.*, 2002; Thuerauf *et al.*, 2004; Thuerauf *et al.*, 2007). Thus, ATF6 $\beta$  may act as a transcriptional repressor of ATF6 $\alpha$  activity, fine-tuning the strength of ERSE gene activation and cell viability (Theurauf *et al.*, 2007). There is some evidence that fulllength ATF6 $\beta$  might regulate ERSE gene activation since underglycosylation of p110ATF6 $\beta$  cannot be proteolytically cleaved, resulting in the loss of its repressor function on p50ATF6 $\alpha$  (Guan *et al.*, 2009).

Deletion of ATF6 $\alpha$ , although not lethal, compromises the functionality of the secretory pathway during ER stress (Wu *et al.*, 2007). Further evidence supports a role for ATF6 $\alpha$  in the ER stress response. In cells deficient in S2P or where S1P activity was inhibited leading to a failure of ATF6 processing, ER stress-induced BiP induction was abolished (Shen *et al.*, 2001; Okada *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, dominant negative forms of ATF6 blocked the induction of BiP reporter genes and RNAi knock-down of ATF6 levels result in reduced induction of many ER stress-inducible genes (Wang *et al.*, 2000; Yoshida *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 2003). However, knock-down of ATF6, only in combination with XBP1 loss, reduced the expression of some ER stress-inducible genes and ATF6 knock-down alone did not strongly reduce the induction of BiP (Lee *et al.*, 2003). Thus, it appears that the XBP1 and ATF6 branches of the unfolded protein response exhibit a level of functional redundancy since there is an overlap of transcriptional targets. This is further

exemplified by the fact that  $irel^{-/-}$  cells still show comparable levels of BiP mRNA induction upon ER stress treatments (Lee *et al.*, 2002). It seems, therefore, that BiP expression can be induced upon ER stress by either the ATF6 or IRE1 branches of UPR.

## 2.3.2.4 Other roles of the UPR

The most well-studied role of the UPR is to respond to the folding demands of the ER, however, many studies have highlighted a role for specific branches of the UPR in the development of tissues and the maturation and differentiation of cell types. XBP1, for example, is highly expressed in developing bone and cartilage cells of the developing skeleton and the exocrine glands – both highly secreting cell types – during mouse embryogenesis (Clauss *et al.*, 1993). The pattern of XBP1 expression in developing skeleton was similar to that of tissue specific genes expressed in osteoclasts, indicating that XBP1 may be involved in the regulation of these genes (Clauss *et al.*, 1996). Further studies have confirmed a role for XBP1 in myogenesis, hepatogenesis and the development of secretory tissues in the mouse embryo and adult mouse models (Masaki *et al.*, 1999; Reimold *et al.*, 2000; Iwawaki *et al.*, 2004; Blais *et al.*, 2005; Lee *et al.*, 2005).

The most well-studied example of the UPR in secretory cell development comes from the differentiation of B lymphocytes into plasma cells. B cell lymphopoesis consists of two phases, one in the bone marrow, which is antigen-independent and one in the periphery, which is antigen-dependent. Differentiation into high-level Igsecreting plasma cells in the periphery is accompanied by a five-fold expansion of the ER compartment. Studies using LPS to induce differentiation of B lymphocytes showed that differentiation induces classical UPR target genes such as BiP and Grp94 (Gass *et al.*, 2002; Iwakoshi *et al.*, 2003). Transcription of XBP1 is induced during B cell differentiation, and XBP1 splicing can restore Ig production in XBP1-deficient cells *in vitro* (Reimold *et al.*, 2001; Iwakoshi *et al.*, 2003). It is, therefore, believed that XBP1 promotes differentiation of B cells by regulating the biogenesis and expansion of organelles involved in secretion (Shaffer *et al.*, 2004; Acosta-Alvear *et al.*, 2007; Sriburi *et al.*, 2007; Hu *et al.*, 2009). However, the ability to regulate membrane biosynthesis and organelle biogenesis is most likely not B-cell-specific. Additionally, XBP1 is essential for the regulation of hepatic lipogenesis (Lee *et al.*, 2008b).

Furthermore, IRE1 $\alpha$  is required for B cell lymphopoesis, not for ER expansion, but for the downstream activation of genes involved in Ig gene rearrangements (Zhang *et al.*, 2005). ATF6 activation has been observed during LPS-induced B cell differentiation and the overexpression of a dominant negative ATF6 $\alpha$  mutant in differentiating B cells resulted in a marked decrease in total IgM release (Gass *et al.*, 2002; Gunn *et al.*, 2004). Enforced expression of constitutively active ATF6 $\alpha$  can drive ER expansion, even in the absence of spliced XBP1 (Bommiasamy *et al.*, 2009). However, the role of ATF6 in B cell differentiation is currently unknown. There is evidence that B cell lymphopoesis is a PERK-independent process, since *perk*<sup>-/-</sup> mice show defects in secretory cells of the pancreas and skeletal system but not in B cell development (Harding *et al.*, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 2002; Gass *et al.*, 2002; Zhang *et al.*, 2005; Zhang *et al.*, 2006, Gass *et al.*, 2008). Taken together, these studies demonstrate that the UPR provides a crucial physiological role in professional secretory cell differentiation and suggests the possibility of cross-talk between differentiation signals and the UPR.

#### 2.3.2.5 Apoptosis vs. Survival

Mutations in either the IRE1 branch or ATF6 branch of the UPR are fairly well tolerated, but mutations in both branches either prevent the transcriptional activation of some target genes or block development in the case of *C. elegans* (Lee *et al.*, 2002; Lee *et al.*, 2003; Shen *et al.*, 2005). Thus, there is functional redundancy between the IRE1 and ATF6 branches of the UPR. Since these arms of the UPR seem to have overlapping targets, does this mean they can be selectively activated or are temporally distinct? How the UPR coordinates its response to ER stress is still not fully understood, neither are the downstream effects of UPR target gene activation. No single branch of the UPR activates solely proapoptotic or prosurvival pathways. Thus, a paradox exists where all branches of the UPR are activated in response to ER stress but the fate of the cell (i.e. survival or apoptosis) is mutually exclusive.

The transcription of apoptotic mediators such as *CHOP* occurs in response to both acute and chronic ER stress. It has been suggested that cell survival in the face of acute ER stress is governed by the intrinsic instabilities of mRNAs and proteins which promote apoptosis – such as CHOP, ATF4 and GADD34 – and that only chronic ER stress can activate transcription of these cell death mediators at levels which surpass the threshold for apoptosis (Rutkowski *et al.*, 2006). Thus, cells may be able to adapt to low levels of ER stress despite simultaneous activation of both proapoptotic and prosurvival programmes.

81

As far as the turning point for the promotion of cell death is concerned, much work has focused on CHOP and the phosphorylation of eIF2 $\alpha$ . Loss of PERK-mediated eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation sensitises the cell to death (Scheuner *et al.*, 2001). CHOP has been implicated in the regulation of phosphorylation of eIF2 $\alpha$  since it induces the expression of GADD34, which is responsible for dephosphorylating phosphorylated eIF2 $\alpha$  (Marciniak *et al.*, 2004). It has been suggested that, under chronic ER stress conditions, increased levels of CHOP are able to induce the expression of GADD34 which dephosphorylates eIF2 $\alpha$ , preventing attenuation of protein synthesis and encouraging the recovery of ER load in stressed cells, which might possibly promote apoptosis (Marciniak *et al.*, 2004). This theory is supported by the fact that *chop*<sup>-/-</sup> cells protect against ER stress-mediated cell death. Deletion of CHOP in this instance would lead to reduced GADD34 expression meaning the persistence of phosphorylated eIF2 $\alpha$  and continued translational attenuation. Furthermore, salubrinal, a compound shown to attenuate eIF2 $\alpha$  dephosphorylation in ER stressed cells, also protects against cell death (Boyce *et al.*, 2005).

Additionally, mitochondria-dependent as well as mitochondria-independent pathways may also contribute to apoptosis. Regulated Ca<sup>2+</sup> release from the ER into the cytoplasm is conducted by the proapoptotic BCL-2-related proteins BAK and BAX upon ER stress (Scorrano *et al.*, 2003; Zong *et al.*, 2003). This, in turn, regulates caspase activity and promotes cytochrome *c* release from the mitochondria (Boya *et al.*, 2002; Danial & Korsmeyer, 2004). CHOP has also been identified as a promoter of cell death by repression of the apoptosis inhibitor BCL-2 and induction of the proapoptotic BCL-2 family member, BIM (McCullough *et al.*, 2001;

Puthalakath *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, the IRE1/TRAF2 interaction may promote apoptosis through caspase-12 activation (Yoneda *et al.*, 2001). However, in plasma cell differentiation, CHOP is required for efficient IgM secretion but is dispensable for apoptosis, indicating that CHOP exerts tissue-specific roles which can be independent of apoptosis (Masciarelli *et al.*, 2010).

Since more than one branch of the UPR is associated with proapoptotic activity, it is possible that during long term ER stress induction, there are fluctuations in the activity of certain branches of the ER allowing the predominance of branch-specific signals. These could potentially be mediated by branch-specific sensory mechanisms – in addition to BiP dissociation – of the ER stress sensors. Examples of this may include the ability of ATF6 $\alpha$  to be regulated by disulfide bond reduction and glycosylation and the possibility that IRE1 may directly bind unfolded proteins and that BiP may not be the primary determinant for IRE1 activation (Kimata *et al.*, 2004; Hong *et al.*, 2004; Credle *et al.*, 2005; Nadanaka *et al.*, 2006; Kimata *et al.*, 2007; Oikawa *et al.*, 2007 Lee *et al.*, 2008a). If these events are required for activation of individual branches of the UPR, it is possible that, over time, signalling by individual branches of the UPR may be attenuated by adaptive processes which promote homeostasis. The predominance of certain UPR branches may then have an influence on cell fate.

Recently, Lin and colleagues developed assays to examine the molecular behaviour of the individual branches of the UPR in human cells in the face of persistent pharmacological stress and discovered that the activity of individual arms of the UPR varied markedly with time after the onset of stress (Lin et al., 2007). They demonstrated that, after rapid, initial activation of all branches of the UPR, the IRE1 arm selectively attenuated after around eight hours despite the persistence of stress. ATF6 signalling also declined, although after IRE1 attenuation. PERK signalling persisted under prolonged ER stress and was still evident 30 hours after the onset of stress. When activation of the IRE1 branch was selectively prolonged, cells showed increased survival indicating that IRE1 signalling attenuation may be a key step in switching fates from a prosurvival to a proapoptotic strategy. The mechanism by which IRE1 is attenuated is unknown although BAX-inhibitor 1 (BI-1) has been implicated in the negative modulation of IRE1 and possibly ATF6 (Bailly-Maitre et al., 2006; Lisbona et al., 2009). So it seems, initially, when all branches of the UPR are activated, prosurvival outputs outweigh proapoptotic ones, however, when the opportunity to recover from ER stress has passed, the cell may adjust the signalling activity of the IRE1 and ATF6 branches leading to a predominance of proapoptotic outputs. Prolonged activation of the PERK pathway in isolation impairs both cell viability and cell proliferation (Lin et al., 2009). Thus, distinct combinations of individual UPR signalling pathways and the duration of individual UPR branch activity may determine cell fate in response to ER stress. The relationship between the duration of stress and stress severity is further supported by a recent study by Pincus and colleagues who demonstrated that the duration of Ire1 activity in yeast, rather than the maximum amplitude, correlated with the magnitude of the stress (Pincus et al., 2010). This is likely since the Hac1 transcription factor is short lived and so the length of activation determines the duration of UPR target gene induction.

Furthermore, Han and colleagues recently showed that the IRE1 branch of the UPR, rather than promoting solely prosurvival signals, also has a role in the switch to

apoptosis (Han *et al.*, 2009). By using inhibitors and mutant forms of IRE1 in mammalian cells, they decoupled the kinase and RNase activities of IRE1 and showed that activation of RNase activity promotes the degradation of ER-localised mRNAs. This complements the work of Hollien and Weissman who showed that IRE1 is required for the rapid decay of ER-localised mRNA in *D. melanogaster* and in mammalian cells (Hollien & Weissman, 2006; Hollien *et al.*, 2009). However, Han and colleagues showed that prolonged ER stress resulted in the sustained decay of these mRNAs including those secretory proteins involved in protein folding and that sustained RNase activity correlated positively with apoptosis (Han *et al.*, 2009). They postulated that apoptosis is the result of reduced secretory pathway activities due to the sustained decay of ER-localised mRNA. This work is in contrast to Lin and colleagues who attributed only prosurvival activities to IRE1, however it has been noted that the cells used in these experiments were overproducing kinase-dead IRE1 and so did not report the proapoptotic activity seen by Han and colleagues (Lin *et al.*, 2009).

## 2.3.2.6 UPR in disease

Abnormalities in the UPR, as well as conditions which lead to an increase in ER stress due to misfolding, have been linked with a number of different diseases including neurodegeneration, cardiovascular disease, ischemia, bipolar disorder and type I diabetes (Yoshida, 2007; Lin *et al.*, 2008). Here, I will briefly discuss the role of ER stress and the UPR in diabetes mellitus and the neurodegenerative disease Alzheimer's disease.

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a disease characterised by an inability to maintain homeostasis of glucose metabolism. In type II diabetes, peripheral tissues develop resistance to insulin as characterised by a failure to respond to normal insulin levels. In response, the pancreatic islet  $\beta$  cells hypersecrete insulin to compensate for insulin resistance and may eventually die (Saltiel & Kahn, 2001). Thus,  $\beta$  cell dysfunction in type II diabetes has been linked with ER stress and the UPR due to the large secretory burden of these cells (Scheuner & Kaufman, 2008). Indeed, overexpression of BiP in  $\beta$  cells subjected to hyperglycemia partially rescues glucose-induced suppression of proinsulin levels and improves glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (Zhang *et al.*, 2008). Type I diabetes, on the other hand, is the result of a primary failure of  $\beta$  cells to secrete sufficient amounts of insulin. This is usually the result of an autoimmune attack on the  $\beta$  cells but can be inherited as a monogenetic disease (Harding & Ron, 2002; Oyadomari *et al.*, 2002a).

A hereditary form of type I diabetes called Wolcott-Rallison syndrome is the result of mutations in the PERK branch of the UPR (Delepine *et al.*, 2000). Similarly, *perk*<sup>-/-</sup> mice show symptoms characteristic of type I diabetes (Harding *et al.*, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 2002). In both examples, during post-natal development, there is a loss of  $\beta$  cells, possibly by apoptosis. It has been suggested that the lack of PERK in these cells means they are unable to decrease protein load on the ER in response to high secretory demand (Lin *et al.*, 2008). In line with this, mice expressing nonphosphorylatable eIF2 $\alpha$  develop diabetes (Scheuner *et al.*, 2001; Scheuner *et al.*, 2005). However, recent work has demonstrated that PERK is only required during development of  $\beta$  cells and adult mice do not require PERK to maintain glucose homeostasis suggesting that PERK might have more of an important role in differentiation than survival (Zhang *et al.*, 2006). However, the levels of ER stress in a developing tissue might be significantly higher than in an adult secretory cell. Furthermore, expression of the *WFS1* gene, mutations in which are responsible for Wolfman syndrome (juvenile diabetes), is induced by ER stress and is a PERK-responsive protein that is mostly expressed in the  $\beta$  cells (Inoue *et al.*, 1998; Strom *et al.*, 1998; Fonseca *et al.*, 2005; Ueda *et al.*, 2005).

The Akita mouse model of early-onset/neonatal diabetes contains a missense mutation in the *insulin 2* gene (Wang *et al.*, 1999). Mutant insulin is misfolded and retained in the ER leading to ER stress and possibly subsequent  $\beta$  cell apoptosis (Oyadomari *et al.*, 2002b). Knocking-out CHOP expression in these mice delayed the onset of diabetes further suggesting a role for the UPR. Indeed, UPR target genes are upregulated in the Akita mouse model. BiP, GRP94 and HRD1 are upregulated and both ATF6 and XBP1 are activated in the Akita mouse indicating that the UPR may play a role in ER stress-induced  $\beta$  cell loss (Allen *et al.*, 2004; Nozaki *et al.*, 2004).

The neurodegenerative disease, Alzheimer's disease (AD) is characterised by the formation of cerebral neuritic plaques of amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide (Mattson *et al.*, 1998; Pereira *et al.*, 2004; Lindholm *et al.*, 2006; Zhang & Kaufman, 2006; Roychaudhuri *et al.*, 2008). Studies suggest that disease pathogenesis is the consequence of accumulation of amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide – and possibly tau – in the ER (Schenk *et al.*, 1999; Lee *et al.*, 2001b). Three genes responsible for AD have been identified: amyloid precursor protein (APP), Presenilin1 and Presenilin2. The gene product of

*APP* is a transmembrane protein, the function of which is currently unknown while the presenilins are essential components of the  $\gamma$ -secretase protease. APP is sequentially cleaved by a  $\beta$ -secretase and  $\gamma$ -secretase which leads to the accumulation of amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide (Selkoe, 2001). The role of amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide accumulation in disease pathogenesis is currently unknown but several reports have implicated the UPR in the cytotoxicity of amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide. Expression of amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide increases ER chaperone levels and activates caspase-12 whereas knock-down of caspase-4 or knock-out of caspase-12 confers resistance to amyloid  $\beta$ -mediated cytotoxicity (Nakagawa *et al.*, 2000; Hitomi *et al.*, 2004; Ferreiro *et al.*, 2006).

The IRE1-ASK1-JNK pathway of the UPR has been implicated in amyloid  $\beta$ mediated cytotoxicity since  $ask1^{-/-}$  neurons are resistant to amyloid  $\beta$ -mediated cell death (Kadowaki *et al.*, 2005). This study also demonstrated that expression of amyloid  $\beta$  in rat PC12 cells selectively activated ASK1 and JNK signalling without activating other outputs from the IRE1 and PERK branches of the UPR. Thus, amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide accumulation might cause the selective activation of the UPR signalling machinery to mediate cytotoxicity. However, this is in conflict with the model of apoptosis discussed earlier which regards IRE1 signalling as short-lived and cytoprotective while PERK signalling is long-lived and after time becomes apoptotic (Lin *et al.*, 2007). More work will be required to elucidate how the UPR is coordinated in amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide-expressing neurons.

# 2.4 Ankylosing Spondylitis

### 2.4.1 Ankylosing spondylitis and the spondyloarthropathies

## 2.4.1.1 Clinical features

ER stress and the UPR have recently been implicated in the pathogenesis of the chronic inflammatory disease ankylosing spondylitis (AS). AS is the major subtype of an inter-related group of chronic rheumatic diseases known as the spondyloarthropathies or the spondyloarthritides (SpA). The clinical features of disease include asymmetrical peripheral oligoarthritis of the lower limbs, inflammatory back pain, enthesitis, psoriasis, anterior uveitis, and chronic inflammatory bowel disease (Braun & Sieper, 2007). Despite all coming under the umbrella of SpA, the disease is divided into five clinical subgroups: ankylosing spondylitis (AS), psoriatic spondyloarthritis (PsA), reactive spondyloarthritis (ReA), spondyloarthritis associated with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and undifferentiated spondyloarthritis.

Inflammatory back pain is the most typical presenting symptom of AS characterised by stiffness and pain that is worse in the morning or characterised by long periods of inactivity and is improved with exercise (Sampaio-Barros *et al.*, 2001; Mansour *et al.*, 2006). In addition to lumbosacral pain, patients can experience pain in the gluteal region which is indicative of sacroiliac involvement. Loss of mobility and spinal stiffness at these sites – the lumbosacral region and sacroiliac joints – is explained by spinal inflammation, structural damage, or both (Wanders *et al.*, 2005). Structural changes, such as the formation of syndesmophytes – a bony growth caused by ossification of a ligament – and ankylosis – the fusion of the bones of a joint – are usually caused by osteoproliferation rather than osteodestruction. Peripheral arthritis affects mainly, but not exclusively, the lower limbs and around a fifth of patients exhibit arthritis in the hip and shoulder joints; which is commonly asymmetrical (Dougados *et al.*, 1991). In addition, around 70% of patients also report neck pain and inflammation in the cervical spine (Maghraoui *et al.*, 2003). Radiographs or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the affected joints show joint space narrowing, erosions with new bone formation, and synovitis (Vinje *et al.*, 1985; Mudlinger *et al.*, 1991; Lambert *et al.*, 2004). Enthesitis – inflammation at the point at which a tendon, ligament or muscle inserts into the bone – is common in AS sufferers at sites such as the Achilles tendon, and both synovial and cartilaginous joints, including those within the spine, and is thought to underlie many of the skeletal manifestations of the disease (Olivieri *et al.*, 1998; Mansour *et al.*, 2006).

Extra-articular manifestations such as anterior inflammation of the eye (uveitis) – seen in up to 40% of patients with AS – and cardiovascular and pulmonary disease can be the earliest manifestations of disease but the incidence of these features tends to rise with increasing disease duration (Mansour *et al.*, 2006). In addition, AS patients can suffer from the inflammatory skin disease (psoriasis) which results in psoriatic nail lesions and swollen finger joints (dactylitis). However, development of concomitant psoriasis and articular inflammation is usually diagnosed as psoriatic arthritis.

Subclinical gut inflammation has been discovered in around a quarter to half of AS patients whereas clinically overt inflammatory bowel disease – which includes Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, both of which affect the colon – has been reported to be present in between 5 and 10% of patients with AS (Leirisalo-Repo *et*
*al.*, 1994; de Vlam *et al.*, 2000). Since increased intestinal permeability has been described in AS and IBD, it has been speculated that a disturbed gut/blood barrier could facilitate the interaction between bacteria and the immune system and might initiate or perpetuate disease pathogenesis (Rudwaleit & Baeten, 2006).

# 2.4.1.2 Genetics of AS

A breakthrough in AS and SpA pathogenesis research came in 1973 when the association between disease and the possession of the class I major histocompatibility complex (MHC) allele HLA-B27 was discovered (Brewerton *et al.*, 1973). The MHC class I molecule is involved in the presentation of antigen at the cell surface to T-cells for immune surveillance. HLA-B27 is present in the overwhelming majority of individuals suffering from ankylosing spondylitis (AS) – around 90-95% – and is also associated with reactive arthritis (ReA) and IBD-associated SpA. However, possession of the allele alone is not sufficient to cause onset of AS since only 5% of HLA-B27-positive individuals develop the disease in the absence of family history.

Currently, over 30 HLA-B27 subtypes have been identified. The HLA-B\*2705 subtype is considered the 'parent' subtype since it is found in all populations and is highly associated with disease. Many of the other subtypes differ from HLA-B\*2705, and from each other, by only a few amino acids. Most of the more common subtypes – which include HLA-B\*2705, HLA-B\*2702, HLA-B\*2704 and HLA-B\*2707 – are associated with disease whereas HLA-B\*2706 and HLA-B\*2709 – found in south-east Asia and Sardinia – do no appear to be associated with disease. The molecular differences between HLA-B27 subtypes will be discussed in more detail later.

Recently, two further genetic loci besides HLA-B27 have been associated with AS. The interleukin 23 (IL-23) receptor (IL-23R) and ARTS1/ERAAP were recently identified by SNP analysis (WTCCC, 2007). The IL-23R is involved in the inflammatory response through the promotion of expansion and survival of the IL-17-producing Th17 subset of T-cells suggesting that, in AS patients, these cells might expand under the influence of IL-23 (McGeachy *et al.*, 2009; Melis & Elewaut, 2009). There is also growing evidence that IL-17 is a crucial proinflammatory cytokine since it can act on several cell types including macrophages, fibroblasts, endothelial and epithelial cells to upregulate TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-1 (Nakae *et al.*, 2003; Kolls *et al.*, 2004). Aside from IL-17, Th17 cells are also capable of producing TNF $\alpha$  and IL-6 themselves (Cua *et al.*, 2003; Chen *et al.*, 2006). Thus, it is clear that the downstream effects of Th17 expansion may include the production of multiple proinflammatory cytokines.

ARTS1 is an ER-localised aminopeptidase which may trim oligopeptides for antigen presentation (Kastelein *et al.*, 2007). Recently, specific ARTS1 gene polymorphisms have been associated with HLA-B\*2705 in AS patients in a Hungarian population (Pazár *et al.*, 2010). Further studies have also linked IL-23R polymorphism with AS (Rahman *et al.*, 2008; Rueda *et al.*, 2008). Additionally, the Th17 subset has been shown to be present at elevated levels in both AS and rheumatoid arthritis (RA) indicating a role for these cells in human inflammatory disease (Shen *et al.*, 2009). Further work, however, is required to understand the associations of IL23R and ARTS1 polymorphisms with disease as well as the impact of polymorphisms on disease pathogenesis. Thus, in addition to HLA-B27, susceptibility to AS may be determined by genes which lie outside the MHC.

### 2.4.1.3 Animal models

In order to understand the pathogenesis of AS, animal models of AS have been developed through the generation of HLA-B27 transgenic rats and mice. Generation of transgenic mice was initially met with disappointment since these animals failed to exhibit inflammatory disease (Kievits *et al.*, 1987). However, further studies revealed that the SpA phenotype could be observed when the endogenous gene for mouse  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin ( $\beta_2$ m) – the accessory molecule which stabilises the MHC class I heavy chain and is necessary for peptide loading and ER egress – was deleted (Khare *et al.*, 1995; Khare *et al.*, 1997; Khare *et al.*, 1998). These transgenic mice have lower cell surface expression of mature HLA-B27 because of the lack of mouse  $\beta_2$ m and may implicate free heavy chains in disease pathogenesis (Khare *et al.*, 1996).

However, the majority of studies have been carried out on the successful and reproducible HLA-B27/human  $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat model developed by Hammer and colleagues (Hammer *et al.*, 1990). This model showed that under certain conditions, overexpression of HLA-B27 was sufficient to induce the development of spontaneous multisystemic inflammation which resembled that of human SpA. This finding was crucial since it was the first piece of evidence that the gene product of HLA-B27 was involved in disease. The phenotype exhibited by B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rats included inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract, similar to that of human ulcerative colitis, inflammatory lesions in the skin and nails (resembling psoriasis) and peripheral arthritis involving predominantly the hind limbs. Axial inflammation was rare and ankylosis of the spine – seen in human AS – was not detected (Taurog *et al.*, 1999). However, subsequent studies have demonstrated that further increasing

the expression of transgenic  $h\beta_2 m$  in B27/ $h\beta_2 m$  transgenic rats can alter the phenotype and result in more severe arthritis and significant axial disease without affecting the severity of colitis (Tran *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, expression of the disease phenotype was dependent on the genetic background which implicates the significance of other genes in the development of human SpA.

There is strict correlation between the susceptibility to disease and the level of HLA-B27 transgene expression, which, in turn, is determined by the number of copies of the transgene integrated into the rat genome (Taurog *et al.*, 1993). It was also discovered that a threshold number of copies of the integrated HLA-B27 transgene was required for the disease phenotype. It may also be the case that B27 expression has an impact on human SpA since there is evidence of increased expression of B27 on the cell surface of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of AS patients compared with normal individuals (Cauli *et al.*, 2002). This difference in expression was not accompanied by general class I upregulation suggesting that high levels of B27 expression may be a contributing factor to disease. The specificity of inflammatory disease for a HLA-B27 transgene was established by showing that HLA-B\*0702/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rats with comparable copy number and expression level to the B27/h $\beta_2$ m disease model does not develop an inflammatory phenotype (Taurog *et al.*, 1999). Taken together, these studies provide direct evidence for a causative role of HLA-B27 in disease.

Other contributing factors to disease in transgenic rats include exposure to bacterial flora. When disease-prone  $B27/h\beta_2m$  transgenic rats were reared in sterile conditions, both gut and joint inflammation were completely prevented, whereas

exposure to normal gut flora – particularly *Bacteroides* ssp. – triggered gut inflammation and arthritis (Taurog *et al.*, 1994; Rath *et al.*, 1996). Despite this, the development of skin lesions in these rats was independent of bacterial exposure. Germ-free conditions still allowed for the presentation of antigen, therefore it is possible that non-viable microorganisms may have played a role in the pathogenesis of skin lesions.

In the ANKENT mouse model – which develops ankylosing enthesopathy – the enthesitis and ankylosis phenotype are highly dependent on bacterial flora since mice bred in germ-free conditions are also protected from disease (Rehakova *et al.*, 2000). Thus, enteric bacteria may play a critical role in triggering SpA-like disease in B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rats and ankylosis and enthesitis in ANKENT mice. If this is the case in human disease, the requirement for specific gut flora in triggering disease might partially account for the fact that not all B27-expressing individuals develop disease. In addition to this, several gastrointestinal and genito-urinary pathogens including *Campylobacter* ssp., *Chlamydia* ssp., *Salmonella* ssp. and *Shigella* ssp. have been implicated as triggers of HLA-B27-associated reactive arthritis (Colmegna *et al.*, 2004).

### 2.4.2 MHC Class I molecule

As demonstrated by the HLA-B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat, the HLA-B27 gene product plays a key role in the development of AS. Since the presence of pathogens seems to be correlated with disease development, pathogenesis of the disease has been linked with the physiological role of the class I molecule. The role of the MHC class I molecule in the cell is to present antigenic peptide at the cell surface as part of the

95

innate immune system (Pamer and Cresswell, 1998). Fragments of cellular proteins are bound by MHC class I molecules – expressed on all nucleated cells – in the ER and transported to the cell surface allowing the cell to display a sample of their expressed genes. CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T-cells monitor antigen presented by the MHC class I molecules and are capable of mounting an immune response (including the promotion of cytotoxicity and the production of cytokines such as interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ) which promote inflammation and stimulate antigen presentation) when foreign antigen - as a result of viral infection for example - occurs. The MHC class I molecule comprises a 45-kD heavy chain comprising an  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\alpha 2$  and  $\alpha 3$  domain which is non-covalently associated with a 12-kD soluble accessory molecule called  $\beta_2$ m (which has been previously mentioned). Finally, a short 8-10 amino acid peptide is bound in the membrane-distal domains of the heavy chain – known as the peptide binding groove - to form the mature MHC class I molecule. Peptides which are too large for presentation by class I molecules are subsequently trimmed by the gene product of ARTS1/ERAAP, polymorphisms in which are associated with AS (as mentioned previously) (Saric et al., 2002; York et al., 2002). Peptide binding differences between different alleles of MHC class I are the result of extensive polymorphisms, particularly in the amino sequences within the peptide binding groove.

### 2.4.2.1 MHC class I folding events in the ER

The ER is the site of both class I assembly and acquisition of antigen for presentation. The MHC class I molecule must reach its native conformation before receiving high affinity peptides for presentation. The class I heavy chain achieves its correct structure and acquires peptide whilst within the peptide loading complex

96

(PLC). However, early heavy chain folding events are independent of the PLC. The class I heavy chain is a glycoprotein, and, a short time after cotranslational translocation into the ER, the nascent class I heavy chain is bound by the transmembrane lectin-like chaperone calnexin, which retains the heavy chain in the ER, stabilises class I assembly intermediates and may enhance the association of the class I heavy chain with  $\beta_2 m$  (Tector & Salter, 1995; Vassilakos *et al.*, 1996). Calnexin, via its extended arm-like domain, or P-domain, is associated with the substrate-specific thiol-oxidoreductase ERp57 (mentioned previously) which promotes the oxidation of the two highly conserved internal disulfide bonds within the heavy chain (Tector et al., 1997; Lindquist et al., 1998; Morrice & Powis, 1998; Farmery et al., 2000; Dick, 2004; Russell et al., 2004; Kozlov et al., 2006). ERp57 has been shown to require the presence of calnexin or calreticulin to promote disulfide bond formation in glycosylated substrates in vitro, however, recent evidence has demonstrated that ERp57 can catalyse heavy chain disulfide bond formation – and substrate specific oxidative folding – in the absence of interactions with calnexin and calreticulin (Zapun et al., 1998; Jessop et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2009). ERp57 depletion by RNAi delayed heavy chain disulfide bond formation and slowed folding of the  $\alpha$ 3 domain. Taken together, the data implies that ERp57 is recruited by calnexin and calreticulin to incompletely folded proteins bearing Nlinked oligosaccharides but that ERp57 may be capable of recognising substrates directly (Zhang et al., 2006).

Oxidation of the disulfide bond in the  $\alpha$ 3 domain has been shown to be fast and efficient (Tector *et al.*, 1997). Once this disulfide has been formed, the accessory molecule  $\beta_2$ m binds to the heavy chain, forming a HC- $\beta_2$ m heterodimer. Evidence

supporting this comes from  $\beta_2$ m-deficient cell lines and *in vitro* studies which showed that in the absence of  $\beta_2$ m, the  $\alpha$ 3 disulfide but not the  $\alpha$ 2 disulfide is formed and that  $\beta_2$ m is required for the formation or maintenance of the  $\alpha$ 2 disulfide (Ribaudo & Margulies 1992; Wang *et al.*, 1994). Newly assembled HC- $\beta_2$ m heterodimers then enter the PLC in a process typically accompanied by the loss of calnexin-ERp57 and its replacement with calreticulin-ERp57 (Sadasivian *et al.*, 1996). There has been evidence to suggest that complete disulfide oxidation of the heavy chain is required for integration into the PLC (Smith *et al.*, 1995; Tector *et al.*, 1997). Thus, it is possible that the  $\alpha$ 2 disulfide is unstable and after formation is stabilised by  $\beta_2$ m association and integration into the PLC, which may protect it from reduction (Dick, 2004).

The PLC is a multiprotein complex comprising the HC- $\beta_2$ m heterodimer, calreticulin, ERp57, the type I transmembrane glycoprotein tapasin and the heterodimeric transmembrane protein transporter associated with antigen presentation (TAP). The tapasin molecule is key in increasing the peptide loading efficiency of the PLC since it acts as a physical bridge between the peptide-receptive HC- $\beta_2$ m heterodimer and the site of entry of peptides into the ER, i.e. TAP. (Sadasivian *et al.*, 1996; Williams *et al.*, 2002; Momberg & Tan, 2002; Tan *et al.*, 2002). Tapasin also forms a stable disulfide bridge via its Cys<sup>95</sup> residue with Cys<sup>57</sup> of ERp57 (Peaper *at al.*, 2005). In addition, ERp57 is also associated with calreticulin in the PLC in the same manner as calnexin (Oliver *et al.*, 1999; Ireland *et al.*, 2008).

The TAP transporter transports peptide fragments into the ER lumen and has a preference for peptides ~8-16 residues in length (Scholz & Tampe, 2009). In  $TAP^{-/-}$  mice, class I molecules either lack peptide or are bound with low affinity peptides and consequently, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses are impaired (van Kaer *et al.*, 1992). This leads to prolonged association of the HC- $\beta_2$ m heterodimer with the PLC and the relatively few molecules that reach the cell surface dissociate rapidly (Ljunggren *et al.*, 1990; Baas *et al.*, 1992). Thus, the binding of high affinity peptides is crucial for release from the PLC, ER egress and stable cell surface expression. The absence of tapasin results in a decrease in the stability of TAP as well as failure of the class I molecule to be recruited to the PLC in the proximity of TAP together resulting in decreased peptide transport into the ER lumen, reduced loading of high-affinity peptides and thus, reduced cell surface expression (Ortmann *et al.*, 1997; Garbi *et al.*, 2003).

Several groups have highlighted the importance of tapasin in class I peptide selection in addition to its role as a structural component of the PLC. Studies have demonstrated that tapasin is involved in optimising the peptides class I molecules bind by exchanging abundant low affinity peptides for those which bind more stably in a process known as peptide-editing (Williams *et al.*, 2002; Howarth *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, a mutant soluble form of tapasin which does not interact with TAP but does bind to class I molecules, presumably via ERp57 and calreticulin, was discovered (Lenher *et al.*, 1998). Despite not being located near the source of peptide, normal peptide loading and cell surface expression of these class I was supported, indicating that tapasin can promote high-affinity peptide binding independent of its ability to recruit class I molecules to TAP. Recent work has highlighted the importance of ERp57 in this mechanism. The ERp57-tapasin heterodimer was demonstrated to promote efficient loading of high-affinity peptides and stabilise peptide-receptive class I molecules where tapasin alone was ineffective

(Wearsch & Cresswell, 2007).

The role of the ERp57-tapasin disulfide bond in peptide loading is not fully understood, however, abolition of the disulfide by mutagenesis results in the loading of low affinity peptides, incomplete oxidation, and the ER egress of unstable class I molecules (Dick et al., 2002). Tobias Dick's group demonstrated the possibility that the ERp57-tapasin conjugate is directly involved in the isomerisation of the class I  $\alpha$ 2 domain disulfide providing further evidence that the class I heavy chain enters the PLC in a non-fully native conformation. However, ERp57-deficient mice show that ERp57 does not influence the redox state of class I molecules but acts instead as a structural component of the PLC (Garbi et al., 2006). Additionally, ERp57 depletion seems to have no effect on the redox state of the class I heavy chain or peptide loading (Zhang et al., 2006). Mutagenesis experiments to inactivate the two redoxactive sites of ERp57 have demonstrated that the enzymatic activity of ERp57 is not required for its functions within the PLC, indicating that it plays a structural role rather than a catalytic one within the PLC (Peaper & Cresswell, 2008; Zhang et al., 2009). These findings have been confirmed by the crystal structure of the ERp57tapasin conjugate, published recently, which showed that the two active sites of ERp57 are buried in the interaction interface with tapasin (Dong *et al.*, 2009). This is further supported by evidence from Kienast and colleagues, who showed that, in the absence of tapasin, class I heavy chains were subject to rapid  $\alpha 2$  disulfide reduction indicating that tapasin restrains the  $\alpha$ 2-directed redox activity of ERp57 by covalent

sequestration (Kienast *et al.*, 2007). The apparent structural role of ERp57 in class I folding and peptide loading requires further investigation.

The influence of the HC  $\alpha 2$  domain isomerisation on peptide loading has been investigated. Recently, PDI was implicated in optimal peptide selection by regulating the oxidation of the heavy chain  $\alpha 2$  disulfide (Park *et al.*, 2006). Their data demonstrated that suboptimal peptide binding renders the  $\alpha 2$  disulfide more susceptible to PDI-mediated reduction whereas high affinity peptides protect the disulfide from reduction. Since oxidation of the  $\alpha 2$  disulfide is necessary for optimal peptide loading, PDI appears to regulate the binding of high-affinity peptides in this regard. Despite this, Kienast and colleagues were unable to detect an interaction of PDI with the PLC (Kienast *et al.*, 2007). Thus, there seems to be a complex relationship between the redox status of the class I heavy chain and the binding of high-affinity peptides, which may involve components outside of the PLC.

Similar to PDI and ERp57, the transmembrane thioredoxin-related protein TMX has also been implicated in oxidative protein folding of MHC class I molecules since it was found in mixed disulfide intermediates with the class I heavy chain (Matsuo *et al.*, 2009). Unlike PDI and ERp57 however, TMX was not essential for normal assembly of the MHC class I molecule since TMX knock-down did not affect class I cell surface expression. However, in this study, TMX prevented the retrotranslocation of misfolded MHC class I heavy chains and, furthermore, TMXclass I HC complexes were promoted when cells were treated with the ER stress inducer tunicamycin. Together, these results indicate that TMX may play a role in regulating the degradation and refolding of misfolded or incompletely folded proteins in the ER.

Upon acquiring high affinity peptides, class I molecules are released from the PLC, transit through the Golgi and are transported to the cell surface via the exocytic pathway. There is some evidence of PLC components being detected in the ER-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC)/*cis*-Golgi as well as peptide-receptive class I molecules. This calls into question whether peptide-receptive class I molecules remain solely in the ER before acquiring peptide ligand or are recycled back into the ER (Garstka *et al.*, 2007). Fully-folded, peptide-loaded class I molecules then present peptide at the cell surface to CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells and natural killer (NK) cell bearing certain receptor families.

### 2.4.3 HLA-B27 and AS

The features of HLA-B27 which distinguish it from other MHC class I alleles have provided the basis for investigation into the pathogenesis of AS and SpA. These can broadly be separated into two groups relating either to immunological recognition of some form of the HLA-B27 heavy chain or to intracellular events.

### 2.4.3.1 Arthritogenic peptide hypothesis

The first concept arises from the ability of HLA-B27 to present self-peptide to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. The so-called arthritogenic peptide hypothesis states that disease is a consequence of autoreactivity caused when a specific self-peptide presented by folded HLA-B27/ $\beta_2$ m becomes the target of autoreactive CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells because it resembles foreign peptide derived from either intracellular bacteria or viruses

102

(Benjamin & Parham, 1990). In this theory, chronic inflammatory disease results from T-cell mediated cytotoxicity. This theory is supported by evidence of HLA-B27-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell clones with specificity for bacteria which have been detected in the synovium and peripheral blood of AS and ReA patients (Hermann et al., 1993). Additionally, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells reacting with collagen-derived self-peptides in a B27-dependent manner were detected in the synovium of AS patients (Atagunduz et al., 2005). Aside from this, recurrent structural motifs were discovered in T-cell receptors of B27-specific T-cells from unrelated individuals (May et al., 2002). Despite all of these studies, candidate arthritogenic peptides have not yet been identified. However, a self-peptide derived from the cytoplasmic tail of HLA-B27 and other MHC class I molecules which is constitutively presented by three disease associated subtypes (B\*2705, B\*2702 and B\*2704) but not presented by the nondisease associated subtypes B\*2709 or B\*2706 was discovered (Ramos et al., 2002). This finding showed great promise since this peptide shows much similarity to an enzyme found in Chlamydia trachomatis, a member of a genus of gram-negative bacteria which can trigger ReA. However, attempts to detect presentation of the corresponding chlamydial peptide by HLA-B27 have been unsuccessful (Lopez de Castro, 2006).

Comparing HLA-B27-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses from AS patients with healthy individuals provides another method for identifying candidate peptides. Studies with peripheral blood lymphocytes identified a specific peptide – present in both the HLA-B27 heavy chain and enteric bacteria – which is preferentially recognised by HLA-B27-restricted CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells in AS patients compared with healthy individuals (Schofield *et al.*, 1995; Frauendorf *et al.*, 2003). This finding supports the idea of cytotoxic T-cells being important in disease pathogenesis but does not provide direct evidence of an arthritogenic peptide since numerous other HLA-A and HLA-B alleles, not associated with AS, also possess this peptide. However, the arthritogenic peptide hypothesis remains a popular theory of pathogenesis since only a small number of polymorphic HLA-B27 subtypes are associated with the disease (Colbert *et al.*, 1994; D'Amato *et al.*, 1995; Lopez-Larrea *et al.*, 1995).

This theory is met by a few further problems. If disease associated subtypes of HLA-B27 present arthritogenic peptides which are unable to be presented by non-disease associated subtypes, there is difficulty in explaining the apparent mutual exclusivity of the peptide repertoire of HLA-B\*2705 and HLA-B\*1403 despite both being associated with AS (HLA-B\*1403 is an example of an AS-associated allotype found in B27-negative individuals in Sub-Saharan populations) (Lopez-Larrea et al., 2002; Merino et al., 2005). Data from the B27 transgenic mouse model demonstrates that SpA-like disease only develops in the absence of  $\beta_2$ m and indicates that stable, fullyformed B27/ $\beta_2$ m/peptide complexes are not required for disease (Khare *et al.*, 1995; Kingsbury *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, results from B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rats where  $CD8\alpha\beta^+$  T-cells have been depleted using antibodies, demonstrate that B27/CD8<sup>+</sup> Tcells interactions might not be necessary for disease since depletion of these cells does not affect the development of arthritis or gut inflammation (May et al., 2003). Recently, SpA-like disease was detected in CD8 $\alpha^{-/-}$  knock-out rats with nonfunctional CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells, further indicating that classical MHC class I-T-cell interactions are non responsible for disease (Taurog et al., 2009). However, T-cells in general *are* required for inflammatory disease perhaps implicating CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells,

or other cell types bearing CD8 such as macrophages and NK cells, in disease pathogenesis (Breban *et al.*, 1996; Colonna *et al.*, 1999; Smith *et al.*, 2006).

#### 2.4.3.2 Aberrant cell surface heavy chains

At the end of the last decade, a feature of HLA-B27 unrelated to antigen presentation was described (Allen *et al.*, 1999). Allen and colleagues demonstrated that HLA-B27 formed disulfide-linked heavy chain homodimers *in vitro*. These heavy chain homodimers form without  $\beta_2$ m and are capable of binding peptide. Covalently linked heavy chain homodimers are established via the unpaired cysteine residue that HLA-B27 possesses at position 67 (Fig. 5). The stable homodimers form via an endosomedependent recycling pathway when fully folded, but unstable, B27/ $\beta_2$ m heterodimers dissociate at the cell surface (Bird *et al.*, 2003). HLA-B27 heavy chain homodimers have been detected at the cell surface of lymphoblastoid cells, rat dendritic cells in the HLA-B27 transgenic rat model and HLA-B27 transfected cells (Allen *et al.*, 1999; Kollnberger *et al.*, 2002; Bird *et al.*, 2003; Kollnberger *et al.*, 2004).

The detection of aberrant forms of HLA-B27 at the cell surface has led to the theory that disease pathogenesis might be the consequence of the modulation of leukocyte function through the specific recognition of these non-canonical versions of HLA-B27. Along with T-cell receptors, mature class I molecules have been shown to bind several other immunomodulatory molecules including a) members of the killer immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) family, such as KIR3DL1, which recognises HLA-B27 as well as other HLA class I alleles and b) members of the leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptor (LIR) (also known as immunoglobulin-like transcripts (ILT)) family (Peruzzi *et al.*, 1996; Andre *et al.*, 2001).

However, further studies on immune receptor recognition have led to the discovery that KIR3DL1, LIRB2 and LIRA1 all recognise the homodimeric form of HLA-B27 in addition to B27/ $\beta_2$ m with bound peptide (Allen *et al.*, 2001; Kollnberger *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, the KIR3DL2 receptor binds homodimeric B27 but does not bind B27/ $\beta_2$ m heterodimers (Kollnberger *et al.*, 2002). KIR3DL2 does bind HLA-A3 and A11 but is dependent on the specific peptide bound by these class I molecules. On the other hand, KIR3DL1 and KIR3DL2 binding of homodimeric B27 is independent of bound peptide sequence (Chan *et al.*, 2005).

Both KIR3DL1 and KIR3DL2 transmit inhibitory signals through their immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs and expression of KIR3DL2 has been linked with increased cell survival of T-cells and NK cells (Young *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, KIR3DL2 is expressed at increased levels in the periphery and synovium of AS patients compared with healthy individuals (Chan *et al.*, 2005). Since development of AS is not associated with the KIR3DL2-binding HLA-A3 and A11 alleles, it is likely that the expansion of KIR3DL2-expressing lymphocytes results from unique properties of the B27 homodimer-KIR3DL2 interaction.

А



Figure. 5. **The structure of HLA-B27**. A, The position of the disulfide bonds of HLA-B27 are shown as well as the free cysteines in the extracellular and cytosolic domains. B, A ribbon diagram of the extracellular domains of the HLA-B27 heavy chain using the crystal structure coordinates; adapted from Bowness *et al.*, 1999. The  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\alpha 2$  and  $\alpha 3$  domains are labelled as well as the accessory molecules  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin ( $\beta_2$ m). A close-up view of the B-pocket shows the proximity of the free cysteine at position 67 to the peptide binding groove and to the side chains which are of importance to the B-pocket and P2 anchor region.

Chan and colleagues also demonstrated expansion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells in SpA patients (Chan *et al.*, 2005). As mentioned previously, depletion of T-cells but not  $CD8\alpha\beta^+$ T-cells prevents SpA-like disease in the transgenic rat model. It has been suggested that CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells might be involved in disease pathogenesis since CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells have been demonstrated to recognise HLA-B27 which is expressed in cells with defective antigen processing pathways – and thus present an array of B27 conformations including homodimers – but not classical B27/ $\beta_2$ m/peptide complexes (Boyle *et al.*, 2001; Boyle et al., 2004). Recently, it has been demonstrated that dendritic cells, from the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat are dysfunctional since the cell surface expression of mature B27 impairs the formation of an immunological synapse with CD4<sup>+</sup> Tcells which may affect the production and/or maintenance of regulatory T-cells, contributing to the expansion of pathogenic CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells (Stagg et al., 1995; Hacquard-Bouder et al., 2007). Taken together, these studies demonstrate that cell surface homodimers of HLA-B27 can interact with several different immune receptors that are found on some cell types – such as NK and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells – which are expanded during inflammation. Thus, the expression of aberrant forms of HLA-B27 at the cell surface may be important for the pathogenesis of AS.

### 2.4.3.3 HLA-B27 misfolding in the ER

In 1999, Robert Colbert's research group demonstrated that, under normal physiological conditions, HLA-B27 heavy chains were being degraded shortly after synthesis (Mear *et al.*, 1999). ERAD had previously been described as the route for the disposal of misfolded MHC class I molecules (Hughes *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, this study revealed the importance of the B pocket region of HLA-B27 on folding efficiency. The B pocket, a region of the peptide binding groove which plays a key

role in peptide selection, was thought to be important for the arthritogenic phenotype since it is conserved among B27 subtypes and thus among those subtypes associated with disease (Colbert *et al.*, 1994; Gonzalez-Roces *et al.*, 1997; Lopez de Castro, 1998). Colbert's group demonstrated that amino acids located in the  $\alpha$ 1 domain, which ultimately form the B pocket, were responsible for the inefficient folding of the B27 heavy chain. This inefficient folding was associated with heavy chain dislocation and degradation by the proteasome indicating that B27 heavy chains were misfolding – defined as an inability to reach a native conformation or preferentially form abnormal conformations – even in the presence of a normal supply of  $\beta_2$ m and peptide.

Further studies have now revealed that HLA-B27 does indeed form abnormal conformations in the ER. Heavy chains spontaneously form misfolded disulfidelinked complexes in the ER and make up a substantial portion (~25%) of newly synthesised heavy chains (Dangoria *et al.*, 2002). However, in this study, the fraction of newly synthesised heavy chains that were being degraded was much less than 25% indicating that heavy chain homodimers are retained in the ER and may still undergo constructive folding events. The ER pool of heavy chain homodimers is distinct from those found at the cell surface since cell surface homodimers are the result of fully folded,  $\beta_2$ m/peptide-associated class I molecules which have become unstable and dissociated, whereas the ER pool of homodimers is the result of an inability to efficiently reach a native conformation.

Intracellular MHC class I heavy chain dimerisation is not unique to HLA-B27 since the mouse class I alleles H-2Ld, H-2Dd and H-2Db have been shown to dimerise

(Capps et al., 1993). However, these mouse alleles form ER dimers in the absence of  $\beta_{2m}$  whilst ER B27 dimers have been demonstrated to form in the presence of  $\beta_{2m}$ (Mear et al., 1999). These mouse heavy chains do not possess a free, unpaired cysteine in their extracellular domain and form instead via cytoplasmic tail cysteines. Consistent with studies of homodimer formation at the cell surface, the unpaired cysteine at position 67 – shared by a relatively small number of class I alleles including HLA-B14, -B15, -B38, -B39 and -B73 - was shown to be crucial for homodimer formation in the ER (Kostyu et al., 1997; Dangoria et al., 2002). A mutant form of B27 which folds rapidly and efficiently but does possess an unpaired Cys<sup>67</sup> does not form homodimers indicating that impaired folding of newly synthesised B27 heavy chains leaves the Cys<sup>67</sup> residue exposed and therefore prone to the formation of aberrant complexes with other heavy chains. However, substitution of the unpaired cysteine with alanine in disease associated subtypes HLA-B\*2704 and B\*2705 does not prevent homodimer formation when overexpressed (not in conjunction with increased expression of  $\beta_2$ m) suggesting that these homodimers may form via cytoplasmic tail cysteines (Saleki et al., 2006). This is consistent with homodimer formation in the mouse alleles since heavy chain homodimer formation in these non-Cys<sup>67</sup>-possessing heavy chains only occurs in the absence of sufficient  $\beta_2 m$ .

Further evidence for the role of B27 folding efficiency in homodimer formation comes from Simon Powis' group who showed that introduction of Cys<sup>67</sup> into rapidly folding HLA-A2 did not lead to homodimer formation indicating that Cys<sup>67</sup> is not sufficient for homodimer formation (Antoniou *et al.*, 2004). Furthermore, they were able to mimic an HLA-B27 folding phenotype in HLA-A2 by incubating cells at

26°C leading to a decrease in heavy chain folding kinetics and the consequential formation of heavy chain homodimers. Incubation at this temperature also enhanced homodimer formation in HLA-B27 heavy chains. Moreover, the structural cysteine at position 164 also appears to be important for homodimer formation since the *C164S* mutation prevents the formation of B27 homodimers indicating that this cysteine may be involved in interchain disulfides or that the Cys<sup>101</sup>-Cys<sup>164</sup> structural disulfide is essential for homodimer formation.

The heavy chain misfolding hypothesis should explain the differential association of HLA-B27 subtypes with disease. Subtypes not associated with AS, B\*2706 and B\*2709, fold much more efficiently than the disease associated subtypes B\*2702, B\*2704 and B\*2705 which is indicative of a relationship between folding properties and development of disease (Goodall *et al.*, 2006; Lopez de Castro, 2007; Galocha & Lopez de Castro, 2008). However, the B\*2707 subtype, which shows association with disease, folds as efficiently as non-AS-associated subtypes. Thus, there appears to be correlation between inefficient heavy chain folding and AS susceptibility except for HLA-B\*2707.

Studies with splenocytes from the transgenic rat model of AS also identified B27 disulfide-linked heavy chain homodimers and higher order multimers (Tran *et al.*, 2004). Heavy chain homodimers were identified in the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat but not in the B7/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat, which remains healthy, suggesting a possible correlation between heavy chain homodimer formation and disease. Furthermore, in line with previous studies, the Cys<sup>67</sup> residue was found to be non-essential for homodimer formation although the size and number of high molecular weight

complexes in C67S mutant spleen cells was altered compared with wild-type B27 (Dangoria et al., 2002; Tran et al., 2004). B27-C67S/hβ<sub>2</sub>m transgenic rats do not develop as severe a disease phenotype than wild-type B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rats which might suggest that B27 heavy chain homodimers formed in the presence of an unpaired Cys<sup>67</sup> might be more arthritogenic than homodimers formed via alternative cysteines (Taurog et al., 1999; Tran et al., 2004). However, the transgene copy number in this rat is lower than the wild-type transgenic rat implying that the milder phenotype might be the result of a low copy number of B27 or indeed of  $h\beta_2 m$  which would result in a high ratio of B27 to  $\beta_2$ m. In the study by Tran and colleagues, mentioned earlier, additional  $h\beta_2 m$  was introduced by cross breeding and led to an increase in severity and duration of arthritis but an absence of colitis and gut inflammation. It is interesting to note that in this study B27 heavy chain homodimers were abolished (Tran et al., 2006). These results suggest that 1) the expression of  $h\beta_2$ m has an influence on B27 heavy chain misfolding and 2) that B27 misfolding and homodimer formation plays a role in gut inflammation but not necessarily in arthritis.

The location of heavy chain homodimers from the transgenic rat was not identified by Tran and colleagues, but, consistent with findings from Dangoria and colleagues, free heavy chains were abundantly immunoprecipitated from B27 transgenic cell lysates with anti-BiP, whereas little BiP was found bound to B7 heavy chains (Dangoria *et al.*, 2002; Tran *et al.*, 2004). These results suggest that disulfide-linked B27 homodimers from the transgenic rat exist as unfolded heavy chains complexed with the ER chaperone BiP. One job of the chaperone BiP is to retain misfolded proteins in the ER in order to prevent inefficiently folded proteins from exiting the ER into the secretory pathway. Thus, association of BiP with HLA-B27, although a quality control measure, may indeed serve to promote aberrant disulfide formation since misfolding is a consequence of prolonged retention in the ER.

The observation that HLA-B27 misfolds and forms disulfide-linked homodimers and binds stably to the ER chaperone BiP in both transfected cell models and the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat model, led to the proposal that B27 heavy chains accumulate in the ER causing ER stress and that consequential activation of the UPR might contribute to disease pathogenesis (Mear *et al.*, 1999; Colbert, 2000). This theory was bolstered significantly by a key study in 2005 which demonstrated that, in bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM) from the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat, heavy chain misfolding is associated with activation of the UPR (Turner *et al.*, 2005). B27-expressing cells exhibited overexpression of the UPR target genes *BiP*, *CHOP* and *XBP1* as well as increased *XBP1* splicing.

In line with disease severity in the transgenic rat, UPR activation is dependent on the expression level of HLA-B27. There was no UPR detected in spleen or thymus from premorbid rats – which all express HLA-B27 – suggesting that ongoing UPR activation is not a widespread phenomenon in these animals. However, when cells from these animals are treated with IFN- $\gamma$ , which induces HLA-B upregulation, UPR activation is observed (Taurog *et al.*, 1993; Turner *et al.*, 2005). However, it is possible that UPR activation is a consequence of IFN- $\gamma$ -induced upregulation of other gene products. Thus, this study linked, for the first time, increased expression of HLA-B27, misfolding and accumulation of its heavy chain in the ER, induction of

UPR and B27-associated disease. The absence of a UPR in spleen, thymus and macrophages from premorbid rats might be due to many factors including 1) insufficient levels of heavy chains expressed in unstimulated cells 2) these cell types may express different levels of other class I assembly pathway components or 3) these cell types have adapted to chronic misfolding and increased load on the ER.

The role of IFN- $\gamma$  in HLA-B27 expression and UPR activation has been addressed by several recent investigations. IFN-y treatment of B27-expressing BMDMs from the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat is accompanied by increased accumulation of disulfidelinked heavy chain complexes and binding of these complexes to BiP (Turner et al., 2005). However, this does not occur in the B7/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat. IFN- $\gamma$  also upregulates components of the class I assembly pathway such as components of the proteasome, TAP, tapasin,  $\beta_2$ m and ARTS1/ERAAP. Thus, B27 misfolding and UPR activation occurs despite an increase in source peptides and HC folding machinery which may indicate that they may be insufficient to prevent misfolding or that one or more of these components may exacerbate heavy chain misfolding (Colbert et al., 2009). It has also been postulated that IFN expression might be regulated by the UPR. Type I IFN and IFN- $\beta$  are only expressed at low levels in BMDMs from the transgenic rat model or in cells undergoing pharmacological agent-induced ER stress (Lee et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2008). However, when macrophages undergoing a UPR are exposed to ligands for Toll-like receptors such as LPS and dsRNA, robust synergistic IFN-ß production occurs (Smith et al., 2008). This synergistic effect seems to require the spliced version of XBP1 and suggests a fundamental relationship between ER stress and innate immune signalling. Furthermore, HLA-

B27 homodimers have been detected in dendritic cells upon cell activation by PMA/ionomycin and peripheral blood monocyte-derived dendritic cells upon stimulation of TLR4 by LPS further indicating a link between immune cell activation and/or maturation and B27 homodimer formation (Santos *et al.*, 2008).

The various theories of pathogenesis under consideration are not mutually exclusive despite any single theory being able to explain the pathogenesis of HLA-B27-associated inflammatory disease yet. However, since ER stress and UPR activation can be pathogenic (Oyadomari *et al.*, 2002a) and B27-driven UPR activation has been demonstrated in activated immune cells (Santos *et al.*, 2008), it is likely that a UPR driven by HLA-B27 misfolding has the potential to adversely affect immune function and contribute to inflammatory disease. Moreover, if HLA-B27 misfolding can mediate inflammation, it seems that a prior event – such as interferon-mediated stimulation of B27 expression – is required to exacerbate the accumulation of misfolded heavy chains. Furthermore, the contribution of T-cell and leukocyte receptor recognition of B27 homodimers and the involvement of other genetic factors such as polymorphisms in ARTS1 and IL-23R must also not be overlooked.

# 2.5 Thesis aims

Activation of the UPR is implicated in a number of non-inflammatory and inflammatory diseases including ankylosing spondylitis. Activation of the UPR in AS is associated with the misfolding of the MHC class I heavy chain HLA-B27. The main objectives of this project were:

- To use pharmacological agents to induce ER stress in different cell types to investigate the activation of different branches of the UPR.
- To determine if there are cell-specific differences in the activation of the UPR in response to different forms of ER stress.
- To investigate the consequences of UPR activation on cell survival in different cell types.
- To examine the misfolding of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 in different cell types and investigate the activation of the UPR in these cells.
- To examine the impact of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor genistein on UPR target gene expression.

# 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 3. Materials and Methods

### 3.1 Cell Lines, Tissues and Antibodies

Human cervical carcinoma HeLa cells (a gift from J. Neefjes, NKI, Netherlands) were maintained in minimum essential medium (MEM) (22561-021; Gibco, Invitrogen), human fibrosarcoma HT-1080 cells (a gift from J. Neefjes, NKI, Netherlands) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (D-MEM) (21063-029; Gibco, Invitrogen). Both cell lines were free from mycoplasma as determined by the EZ-PCR mycoplasma test kit which detects a conserved, mycoplasma-specific 16S rRNA gene region by PCR methods (Geneflow, UK). Human lymphoblastoid, WEWAK1, JESTHOM, HOM-2 (all from ECACC, UK) and the human monocyte THP1 cells (a gift from J. Robinson, Newcastle-upon-Tyne University, UK) were maintained in RPMI 1640 (21875-034; Gibco, Invitrogen). Immortalised AS patient lymphocytes (a gift from J Goodall, Cambridge University, UK) maintained in RPMI 1640 (21875-034; Gibco, Invitrogen). These cells were generated by Goodall and colleagues from peripheral blood mononuclear cells by incubation with the supernatant of the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-producting cell line B95.8 at 37°C for 1 hour. Cells were then cultured in RPMI (Life Technologies Ltd, UK), supplemented with 5 % (v/v) FCS (HI FCS; Life Technologies Ltd, UK), 10mM HEPES (Sigma), 2 mM glutamine (Sigma), 100 µg ml<sup>-1</sup> streptomycin sulphate BP (Evans Medical Ltd, UK) and 100 U/ml benzylpenicillin sodium BP (Glaxo, UK) in the presence of 1  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> cyclosporin A. The cells were passaged at weekly intervals with fresh medium supplemented with cyclosporin A until the cell line was established, at which time the use of cyclosporin A was discontinued.

Untransfected rat thymoma C58 cells and C58 cells stably transfected with HLA-A2, HLA-B27, and a HLA-B27.H114D.D116Y mutant (a gift from A. Antoniou, University College London, UK) were maintained in RPMI 1640 (21875-034; Gibco, Invitrogen). Stable transfectants were generated by electroporation and selected in R10 medium (RPMI 1640 plus 10 % (v/v) FCS) plus 1 mg/ml G418. Vectors for stable transfection, clone selection and clone characterisation were not disclosed. Media for stable transfectants was supplemented with 1 mg/ml G418 (Sigma-Aldrich) for selection. All cell lines were supplemented with 8 % (v/v) foetal calf serum (FCS) (10106-151; Sigma-Aldrich), 2 mM Glutamax (A12860-01; Invitrogen), 100 units  $ml^{-1}$  penicillin and 100 µg  $ml^{-1}$  streptomycin (15140-122; Invitrogen) and propagated at 37°C under 5 % CO<sub>2</sub>. Sterile cell culture passage took place every 2-5 days depended on cell density. Spent medium was removed from cells in 10  $\text{cm}^2$  cell culture dishes. The cells were then washed with 10 ml warm (37°C) PBS and trypsinised with 0.25 ml 1x trysin-EDTA (Invitrogen). Cell culture dishes were placed in the 37°C incubator for 5 mins or until the cells had loosened from the dish. Cells were then resuspended in 10 ml warm fresh media. One ml of this suspension was added to 9 ml warm fresh media and plated into a new cell culture dish and placed in the incubator to allow the cells to adhere.

The polyclonal rabbit antisera against PDI (Benham *et al.*, 2000), has been described. The mouse monoclonal (mAb) antibody HA-7 (H9658; Sigma-Aldrich) and the antimyc mAb 9B11 (#2276; Cell Signalling) are both commercially available. The conformation-specific mAb W6/32 (Parham *et al.*, 1979) and the heavy chainspecific mAb HC10 recognising free B and C allele heavy chains (Stam *et al.*, 1986) were gifts from J. Neefjes, Netherlands Cancer Institute, The Netherlands. The rabbit polyclonal antisera against the C-terminus of GRP78/BiP (H-129) (sc-13968), the rabbit polyclonal antisera against human ATF6 $\alpha$  (H-280) (sc-22799), the rabbit polyclonal antisera raised against the N-terminus of PERK (H-300) (sc-13073), the rabbit polyclonal antisera raised against human IRE1 $\alpha$  (H-190) (sc-20790) and the rabbit polyclonal antisera raised against mouse XBP1 (M-186) (sc-7160) are commercially available (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). The rabbit polyclonal antisera against the phosphorylated Ser51 of eukaryotic initiation factor 2 alpha (eIF2 $\alpha$ ) (#9721), the mouse monoclonal antisera against a broad range of tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins (P-Tyr-100) (#9411) and the rabbit polyclonal antisera against GRP94 (#2104) are all commercially available (Cell Signalling Technology). The mAb Jol 2, which recognises nuclear lamins A and C, was a gift from R. A. Quinlan, University of Durham, UK. The polyclonal sheep antisera against the human glycoprotein TGN46 is commercially available (AHP500; AbD Serotec).

Antibody	Dilution
HC10 (mAb)	1:200-1:300 (WB)
anti-PDI (pAb)	1:1000 (WB), 1:400 (IF)
anti-HA (mAb)	1:2000 (WB, IF)
anti-myc (mAb)	1:4000 (WB)
W6/32 (mAb)	1:200-1:300 (WB)
anti-BiP (pAb)	1:200 (WB)
anti-ATF6α (pAb)	1:200 (WB), 1:100 (IF)
anti-PERK (pAb)	1:200 (WB)
anti-IRE1a (pAb)	1:200 (WB)
anti-XBP1 (pAb)	1:200 (WB)
anti-eIF2a (Ser51) (pAb)	1:1000 (WB)
anti-P-Tyr-100 (mAb)	1:1000 (WB)
anti-Grp94 (pAb)	1:1000 (WB)
Jol2 (mAb)	1:100-1:200 (WB), 1:100 (IF)
anti-TGN46	1:200 (IF)

Table 2 – Antibody concentrations

# 3.2 Constructs

The pcDNA3-HLA-B2705 construct (confirmed by DNA sequencing) was a gift from J. Neefjes, NKI, Netherlands. This plasmid features an intermediate-early cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter which drives high-level expression of the transgene in a variety of mammalian cell lines and a bovine growth hormone (BGH) polyadenylation signal providing transcriptional termination. The plasmid also features an ampicillin resistance gene allowing bacterial selection and a neomycin resistance gene allowing mammalian selection and an SV40 replication origin. The pCGN-ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA construct contains an N-terminal influenza virus haemagglutinin (HA) epitope tag (SSYPYDVPDYASLGGPSR) (described in Chen *et al.*, 2002 and Tanaka & Herr, 1990) and was a gift from R. Prywes, Columbia University, New York, USA. This plasmid features a human CMV promoter, an HSV tk gene 5' untranslated leader and initiation codon, rabbit  $\beta$ -globulin gene splicing and polyadenylation signals and the replication origin of SV40.

## 3.3 Transfection

Plasmid DNA for transfection was transformed in DH5 $\alpha$  *E. coli* bacteria, amplified using the mini- or maxi-prep kits (Qiagen) and purified by isopropanol precipitation. Plasmid DNA concentration was determined by spectrophotometry and diluted to 1 µg/µl. Two-3 days pre-transfection, cells were grown in 6 cm dishes to 80% confluency. Cells were then transfected with the appropriate construct using either the transfection reagent lipofectamine 2000 (11668-019; Invitrogen) or Fugene HD transfection reagent (04709705001; Roche). For lipofectamine 2000 transfection, cells were initially washed with 2 ml Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS) (140 mg

 $1^{-1}$  CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 100 mg  $1^{-1}$  MgCl<sub>2</sub>-6H<sub>2</sub>O, 140 mg  $1^{-1}$  MgSO<sub>4</sub>-7H<sub>2</sub>O, 400 mg  $1^{-1}$  KCl, 60 mg l<sup>-1</sup> KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 350 mg l<sup>-1</sup> NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 8000 mg l<sup>-1</sup> NaCl, 48 mg l<sup>-1</sup> Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> and 1000 mg 1<sup>-1</sup> Dextrose) (14025-050; Gibco, Invitrogen) then 2 ml serum-free optiMEM (11058-021; Gibco, Invitrogen). 2.5 µl lipofectamine 2000 reagent was diluted in 1 ml warm optiMEM and allowed to mix for 5 minutes. Separately, 1 µg of plasmid being DNA ml optiMEM before was added to 1 added to the lipofectamine/optiMEM mix. The 2 ml optiMEM/lipofectamine/plasmid DNA preparation was allowed to couple for 20 minutes before being added to the cells for 6 hours at 37°C. Post-incubation, cells were washed with 2 ml warm optiMEM then 2 ml warm HBSS and replaced with 2 ml fresh complete medium. Cells were then lysed 24 hours post-transfection. For Fugene HD transfection, cells were initially washed with 2 ml warm PBS and 3.5 ml fresh complete medium was added. 2.1 µg of plasmid DNA was incubated with 5.25 µl Fugene reagent in 175 µl serum-free optiMEM for 10 minutes before being added drop-wise to the cells containing fresh medium. Cells were incubated at 37°C for 24 hours before being washed twice in 2 ml warm PBS for lysis. Mock transfections were subject to all wash and incubation steps but did not receive plasmid DNA or transfection reagent.

### 3.4 Cell treatments

HeLa and HT1080 cells were split from confluent 10 cm dishes into 6 cm dishes and grown for 2-3 days prior to treatment. To induce the UPR, media was supplemented with 10 mM DTT, 1  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> tunicamycin, 2  $\mu$ M A23187 or 2  $\mu$ M thapsigargin for the times stated. The chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. Treatments were staggered in order to achieve the desired course of treatment, washed with PBS and

subjected to MNT or RIPA lysis or lysis in tri reagent for RNA analysis (see section 3.5 below). For experiments involving a change of media (low glucose (1000 mg/l) DMEM (D2429; Sigma-Aldrich), serum withdrawal), cells were washed twice with warm PBS before being replaced with fresh media for the times indicated. For serum withdrawal, cells were grown in the presence of serum for two days, before the media was replaced with media lacking FCS for 6 hours in the presence or absence of ER stress inducers. For the genistein (Sigma-Aldrich) experiments, a 35 mM stock was made in DMSO (Sigma-Aldrich) and supplied to the cells at 140  $\mu$ M for the stated times. A vehicle control was included.

### 3.5 *Cell lysis*

Post-transfection and -treated cells were lysed for protein analysis by SDS-PAGE at 4 °C in either 300  $\mu$ l MNT lysis buffer (1 % (v/v) Triton X-100, 30 mM Tris-HCl, 100 mM NaCl, 20 mM MES, pH 7.4) supplemented with 20 mM *N*-ethylmaleimide (NEM) (Sigma-Aldrich) and 10  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> protease inhibitors chymostatin, leupeptin, antipain and pepstatin A (Sigma-Aldrich) or 300  $\mu$ l RIPA lysis buffer (1% (v/v) Triton X-100, 50 mM Tris HCl pH8, 150 mM NaCl, 0.5% (w/v) Na-deoxycholate, 0.1% (w/v) SDS) supplemented with 20 mM NEM, 10  $\mu$ g ml<sup>-1</sup> protease inhibitor cocktail (containing chymostatin, leupeptin, antipain and pepstatin A) and 1% phosphatase inhibitor cocktail 1 (v/v) (Sigma-Aldrich). RIPA lysates were DNase treated with benzonase (30 U/ml) (Novagen) for 60 minutes on ice. Alternatively, cells were lysed in 1 ml/10 cm<sup>2</sup> TRI-reagent (T9424; Sigma-Aldrich) for RNA isolation according to the manufacturer's protocol and subsequent RT-PCR.

## 3.6 *RT-PCR*

The concentration of extracted RNA was determined by spectrophotometry using an eppendorf biophotometer and diluted to 50 ng/µl. 50 ng total cell RNA was subjected to reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) using the AccessQuick RT-PCR kit (A1702; Promega). Primers for RT-PCR can be seen in Table 3. Primer sets were designed across intron-exon boundries. The RT-PCR cycle used was: 1h 45  $^{\circ}$ C, 2 mins 94  $^{\circ}$ C, (30 sec 94  $^{\circ}$ C, 1 min 60  $^{\circ}$ C, 1 min 72  $^{\circ}$ C) 30x, 5 min 72  $^{\circ}$ C, 4  $^{\circ}$ C for ever. XBP1 cDNA was then subjected to *PstI* digest (see below). All cDNA were either ran on 1% (w/v) agarose gel (*XBP1* before *PstI* digest) or ran on 2% (w/v) agarose gel (after *PstI* digest) at 100 mV for ~50 mins before exposure to UV light at 365 nm.

## 3.7 PstI digestion

Amplified XBP1 cDNA was subjected to *PstI* (MBI/Fermentas) digest to detect the presence of spliced mRNA. 12.5  $\mu$ l RT-PCR product was digested using 1  $\mu$ l (10 U) *PstI* in a total volume of 15  $\mu$ l at 37°C for 2 h. cDNA was extracted from the restriction digest using a PCR purification kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Purified cDNA was run on 2% (w/v) ethidium bromide agarose gel and visualized by UV light at 365 nm.

mRNA Target	Product Size (nt)	Forward/ Reverse	Primers
ATF4	760	Forward	CCTCGATTCCAGCAAAGCACCGC
		Reverse	GCTCCTATTTGGAGAGCCCCTGG
<i>ATF6α</i> 890	800	Forward	TGATGCCTTGGGAGTCAGAC
	890	Reverse	GTGTCAGAGAACCAGAGGCT
BiP	1002	Forward	AGAGCTGTGCAGAAACTCCGGC
	1092	Reverse	CCTCTTCACCAGTTGGGGGGAGG
СНОР	290	Forward	GCTGGAAGCCTGGTATGAGGACC
	367	Reverse	CGCTCGATTTCCTGCTTGAGC
XBP1	544	Forward	GAAACTGAAAAACAGAGTAGCAGC
		Reverse	GCTTCCAGCTTGGCTGATG
β-actin	823	Forward	CCACACCTTCTACAATGAGC
		Reverse	ACTCCTGCTTGCTGATCCAC

Table 3 – RT-PCR Primers
#### 3.8 PNGase digestion

Post-nuclear lysates were denatured using 10x denaturing buffer (5% (w/v) SDS, 0.4 M DTT) (New England Biolabs Inc.) and boiled at 95 °C for 10 minutes. 1000 U of PNGase were added to the lysates together with 10x G7 reaction buffer and 1% (v/v) NP-40 and incubated at 37°C for 2 hours before being taken into sample buffer for loading on an SDS-PAGE gel.

#### 3.9 SDS-PAGE

Samples were prepared for SDS-PAGE separation by the addition of 2x Laemmli loading buffer (1 M Tris pH 6.8, 20% (w/v) SDS, 5% (v/v) glycerol, 0.01% (w/v) bromophemol blue) in the presence or absence of 50 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) (Sigma-Aldrich), boiled at 95 °C for 5 min at 95 °C and spun down at 4 °C. All Blue Precision Plus protein standard (250-10 kD) (#161-0373; BioRad) was used as a protein marker. This marker contained ten protein bands at 10 kD, 15 kD, 20 kD, 25 kD, 37 kD, 50 kD, 75 kD, 100 kD, 150 kD and 250 kD. Samples were run on 8-10 % SDS-PAGE gels (Running gel: 8-10% (v/v) Acrylamide (Sigma-Aldrich), 0.375 M Tris pH 8.8, 0.1% (w/v) SDS (Sigma-Aldrich), 0.1% (w/v) Ammonium persulfate (APS) (Sigma-Aldrich) and 0.04% (v/v) N,N,N',N'-Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED) (Sigma-Aldrich). Stacking: 5% (v/v) Acrylamide, 0.125 M Tris pH 6.8, 0.1% (w/v) SDS, 0.075% (w/v) APS and 0.075% (v/v) TEMED) for ~50 min at 15 mV in 1x Tris-Glycine SDS buffer (Sigma-Aldrich) in order to resolve all proteins. The SDS-PAGE gel was cast using BioRad casting apparatus. Initially, the running gel was made up, cast and left for 40 mins with a layer of distilled water on top to prevent drying out. The water was drawn out using blotting paper and the stacking gel was made and cast on top. A 15-well comb was immediately placed in the stacking gel. This was left to set for 30 mins before the gels were removed from the apparatus and placed in a BioRad running tank. Running buffer was added to the tank and prior to loading the gel, the combs were removed. Once the gel had run, PVDF transfer membranes (Millipore) were pre-moistened for transfer in methanol and then in 1x transfer buffer (190 mM glycine, 25 mM Tris, 20% (v/v) methanol). Gels were then wet transferred in 1x transfer buffer for 2 h at 30 mV. Membranes were then blocked in 8 % (w/v) milk in PBST (100 ml dm<sup>-3</sup> PBS, 0.1% (v/v) Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich)) or TBST (10 mM Tris pH 8, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% (v/v) Tween 20) for 60 min.

#### 3.10 Ponceau S staining

Post-transfer PVDF membranes are washed in PBS and immersed in Ponceau S staining solution (P7170; Sigma-Aldrich) for 5 minutes. Membranes are then washed with distilled water to visualise bands and remove background. Membranes can either be dried at this point or further washed with distilled water for 5 minutes (or 0.1 M NaOH for 10-30 seconds) to remove the remaining stain allowing immuno-detection.

#### 3.11 Western Blotting

Membranes were incubated with the appropriate primary antibody dilution (see Table 2) in 8% (w/v) milk in PBST or 5% (w/v) BSA (A9418; Sigma-Aldrich) in TBST (Cell Signalling antibodies only) for 60 minutes before being washed three times for five minutes with PBST or TBST. Membranes were then incubated with the corresponding secondary antibody (DAKO) at 1:3000 in 8% (w/v) milk in PBST or TBST for 60 min then subsequently washed three times for five minutes with

PBST or TBST. Proteins were then visualised with 200  $\mu$ l enhanced chemiluminescence fluid (Amersham). The solution was prepared from the two individual solutions and incubated at RT for 1 min. The solution was applied to airdried membranes for 1 min on Saran wrap before removing the excess. Membranes were then wrapped in Saran wrap to prevent the membrane drying out and luminescent stickers were applied to the Saran wrap to aid visualisation in the dark room and to enable alignment of the film with the membrane after exposure. The membrane was then exposed to chemiluminescent film (Kodak) for a range of exposures and developed using an X-ray developer machine.

#### 3.12 Glycine stripping

To remove antibodies after Western blotting, membranes were rehydrated in PBST and stripped with glycine stripping buffer (15 g/l Glycine, 0.05 % (v/v) Tween pH 2.5) for 5-10 minutes, washes in PBST for 1 min, stripped again for 5-10 minutes with glycine stripping buffer then washed with PBST for 1 min before blocking in 8% (w/v) milk in PBST for 60 minutes.

#### 3.13 Immunofluorescence

Cells were grown on 100% ethanol-sterilised cover slips (VWR) in 6 cm dishes 3 days prior to transfection. Cells on the cover slips were either transfected and/or treated as normal before being washed in the dish with 4 ml warm PBS (Gibco, Invitrogen). Cover slips were then removed from the dish and were either then fixed in 4 ml -20 °C methanol (Fisher Scientific) for 10 minutes or paraformaldehyde-fixed in 1 ml 4% (w/v) paraformaldehyde (VWR) in a 6 well dish for 10 minutes at room temperature and then placed in 1 ml 10% (v/v) Triton X-100 (T8787; Sigma-Aldrich)

for 5 minutes at room temperature in a 6 well dish. Cover slips are then washed in 4 ml room temperature PBS. Then, individual cover slips are blocked with 75 µl 0.2% (w/v) BSA at room temperature for 30 minutes before a PBS wash. Cover slips are incubated with 50 µl of the appropriate primary antibody dilution (in 0.2 % (w/v) BSA in PBS) at room temperature for 45 minutes. After washing in PBS, cover slips are incubated in the dark with 75 µl of either swine anti-rabbit tetramethyl rhodamine isomer R (TRITC)-conjugated (R0156; DAKO) or donkey anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 488 (A21202; Invitrogen) secondary antibody (in 0.2 % (w/v) BSA in PBS) for 30 minutes. Cover slips are washed with PBS and stained with 75 µl 1x DAPI for 5 minutes in the dark before washing with PBS. Finally, cover slips are mounted on slides using hard-setting Vectashield (Vector Laboratories) and analysed by confocal microscopy.

#### 3.14 *Cell viability assay*

Cells were grown and treated with ER stress inducers in 6 cm dishes for the times stated. Cells were washed in PBS, tyrpsinised and diluted in fresh medium. 50  $\mu$ l of cells were serial diluted into a cell culture-treated 96-well plate, made up to a volume of 200  $\mu$ l with fresh media and grown overnight. Media was then removed; cells were washed in PBS before being fixed in 50  $\mu$ l -20 °C methanol for 10 minutes. Cells were then washed in PBS, stained with 50  $\mu$ l 1x DAPI in PBS for 10 minutes in the dark and washed in PBS again. Cells nuclei were imaged on a Zeiss Axiovert 200M microscope using the Image Associates' (IMAS) Axiovision 4.7 program. At least three internal repeats were done for each dilution. Cell number was determined using Image J.

### 4. RESULTS

### 4. 1 Induction of the UPR by pharmacological agents

#### 4.1.1 Introduction

The UPR is a multifaceted system which monitors the folding capacity of the ER and coordinates appropriate transcriptional and translational responses to perturbations in ER homeostasis. So-called ER stress can be caused by a number of perturbations including the accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteins – which could be caused by elevated secretory protein synthesis or mutant protein production – disturbances in  $Ca^{2+}$  storage, changes in redox status, altered glycosylation, hypoxia, ischemia and nutrient deprivation. Commonly, pharmacological agents are used to induce ER stress conditions in the cell, exploiting the sensitivity of the ER to various perturbations.

#### 4.1.1.1 *Tunicamycin*

Tunicamycin, a drug first identified and isolated from *Streptomyces lysosuperificus*, was initially studied for its antibiotic/antiviral effects but is now frequently employed to induce ER stress in cells by using commercially available tunicamycin which is a mixture of similar compounds (Takatsuki *et al.*, 1971; Back *et al.*, 2005). Structurally, tunicamycin is composed of uracil, a fatty acid and two glycosidically linked sugars – N-acetylglucosamine and tunicamine (Fig. 6). Tunicamycin inhibits the first step in the lipid-linked oligosaccharide pathway; the transfer of GlcNAc-1-P from UDP-GlcNAc to dolichyl-P by GlcNAc phosphotransferase (GPT) to form dolichyl-PP-GlcNAc (Tkacz & Lampen, 1975).



Figure 6. **The ER stress-inducing agents tunicamycin, thapsigargin and dithiothreitol.** A, The GlcNAc phosphotransferase (GPT) inhibitor tunicamycin PubChem CID: 6433557. B, The calcium ATPase pump inhibitor thapsigargin PubChem CID: 446378. C, The action of the reducing agent dithiothreitol (DTT) which reduces disulfide bonds PubChem CID: 19001.

Inhibition of the transfer of phosphorylated N-acetylglucosamine to dolichyl-P prevents N-linked glycosylation of proteins in the ER. If proteins fail to become fully glycosylated, their folding becomes inefficient since interaction with resident ER proteins, such as lectins, may be abolished and the protein becomes more hydrophilic. Inefficient folding of non- or under-glycosylated proteins can lead to their accumulation in the ER and saturation of the protein folding machinery. Thus, tunicamycin is a good inducer of the UPR since it triggers an increase in the protein folding demand.

#### 4.1.1.2 *Disruption of cellular* Ca<sup>2+</sup> *levels*

The ER is the cell's principle  $Ca^{2+}$  store and contains a high concentration of sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum  $Ca^{2+}$  ATPase (SERCA) pumps which regulate cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  levels. Thapsigargin is another commonly-used inducer of the UPR and exerts its ER stress-inducing activity by inhibiting intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  ATPase pumps (Campbell *et al.*, 1991; Lytton *et al.*, 1991). SERCA pump inhibition leads to depletion of ER  $Ca^{2+}$  levels and causes an increase in cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  due to passive leakage out of the ER (Thastrup *et al.*, 1990). Extracellular free  $Ca^{2+}$  also influxes into the cytosol due to changes in plasma membrane permeability (Parekh *et al.*, 1993). Perturbation in cellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels leads to induction of the ER stress response and prolonged treatment leads to UPR-dependent and -independent apoptosis (Nakagawa & Yuan, 2000; Rao *et al.*, 2001). Thapsigargin is a sesquiterpene lactone originally isolated from *Thapsia garganica* (Rasmussen *et al.*, 1978) (Fig. 6). Additionally, ionophores such as A23187 (calcimycin) and ionomycin, act as mobile carriers of divalent  $Ca^{2+}$  ions – and other cations – elevating the cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration and depleting ER  $Ca^{2+}$  levels which results in the disruption of ER function (Dedkova *et al.*, 2000; Rao *et al.*, 2004).

#### 4.1.1.3 DTT and glucose starvation

The ER is the site of disulfide bond formation and harbours a redox environment which is favourable for oxidation. Perturbations in the redox environment of the ER can lead to reduced protein folding efficiency and retention of proteins in the ER (Jämsä *et al.*, 1994). Dithiothreitol (DTT) – also known as Cleland's reagent – is a potent reducing agent which has high propensity to form a six-membered ring with an internal disulfide bond (Ruegg & Rudinger, 1977) (Fig. 6). Thus, DTT is used to reduce disulfide bonds in the ER causing the accumulation of reduced proteins and consequential ER stress. DTT is also used post-lysis to reduce proteins for gel electrophoresis.

Glucose starvation was one of the first inducers of the UPR to be studied (Shiu *et al.*, 1977). Withdrawal of glucose from the growth media most likely results in a decrease in the amount of oligosaccharide intermediates used for protein N-glycosylation as well as depleting ATP, which is required for protein folding. Prevention of glycosylation can lead to changes in protein folding efficiency and the accumulation of unfolded/misfolded proteins in the ER and activation of the UPR (Lee, 2001; Yoneda *et al.*, 2001; Nadanaka *et al.*, 2006).

#### 4.1.2 Results

#### 4.1.2.1 HeLa and HT1080 both upregulate BiP in response to ER stress induction

In order to understand how different cell types coordinate the unfolded protein response, I initially studied the effects of a range of pharmacological agents, known to induce ER stress, in model established cell lines. The immortalised HeLa cell line, derived from Henrietta Lacks in 1951, is a human cervical carcinoma cell line used widely in research while HT1080 is an immortalised human cell line derived from fibrosarcoma cells established in 1974 (Von *et al.*, 1954; Rasheed *et al.*, 1974). These cell lines were chosen primarily for their practicality since they grow rapidly, can be successfully transfected and have been used in our laboratory for many years. Furthermore, there is a raft of published experimental data pertaining to both these cell lines which allows for effective comparison of results.

Immunoglobulin-binding protein, or BiP, negatively regulates the UPR by binding to the lumenal domain of the three ER stress transducers IRE1, ATF6 and PERK. Detection of the amount of free BiP is important in assessing the protein folding capacity of the ER, although ER stress sensors may be able to detect unfolded protein directly. However, in response to reduced amounts of free BiP, the UPR is induced (Shamu *et al.*, 1994; Liu *et al.*, 2003; Kimata *et al.*, 2007). Accordingly, one of the major targets of UPR induction is to increase BiP expression, which serves to restore ER homeostasis by increasing the folding capacity of the ER (Lee *et al.*, 2003).





В

С



Figure 7. *BiP* expression in HeLa and HT1080 cells in response to ER stressinducing treatment. A, HeLa (H) and HT1080 (HT) cells were subjected to cell treatment with the pharmacological agents dithiotheritol (DTT), tunicamycin (Tm), thapsigargin (Tg), A23187, low glucose (Low Gluc.) or Mock-treated (-) for 6 hours. Cells were lysed with TRIreagent and subjected to RT-PCR using primers designed against intron-exon boundaries of *BiP* and  $\beta$ -actin. B and C, Graphical representation of the relative expression of *BiP* in response to the indicated ER stress inducers. BiP expression was normalised to  $\beta$ -actin and is the average of at least 2 independent RT-PCR experiments

HeLa and HT1080 cells were treated with 10 mM DTT, 1 µg/ml tunicamycin, 2 µM thapsigargin, 2 µM A23187 or mock treated, as suggested by previous literature (Duskin & Mahoney, 1982; Pagani et al., 2000). Additionally, mild glucose deprivation was also studied by replacing cell media with low glucose (1000 mg/L) D-MEM. Cells were treated for 6 hours under these conditions before being washed, lysed and subject to RNA extraction. *BiP* and  $\beta$ -actin expression were analysed by reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and visualised by agarose gel electrophoresis (Fig. 7A).

Steady-state expression of *BiP* in both HeLa and HT1080 cells was similar under mock treatment, however, under treatment of the reducing agent DTT, BiP expression was upregulated (Fig. 7A, compare lanes 3 and 4 with lanes 1 and 2). Treatment with tunicamycin also induced upregulation of BiP in both cell lines, although to a lesser extent in HT1080. Treatment of HeLa and HT1080 with thapsigargin and A23187, which promote  $Ca^{2+}$  efflux from the ER, significantly induced the expression of BiP (Fig. 7A, lanes 7-10). Mild glucose deprivation had little or no effect on *BiP* expression since *BiP* levels in Fig. 7A, lanes 11-12, were comparable to mock treatment in high glucose medium. Glucose starvation can induce *BiP* upregulation (Nadanaka *et al.*, 2006); however this occurs when cells are cultured in glucose-free medium. Conversely, exposure of cells to 1000 mg/L glucose (low glucose) for 6 hours did not lead to upregulation of *BiP* in HeLa cells (Fig. 7A, lanes 11). Treatment of HT1080 cells in low glucose seemed to slightly induce expression of *BiP* in HT1080 cells (Fig. 7C), however, since *BiP* expression was normalised to  $\beta$ -actin levels, the weak  $\beta$ -actin control for this sample may be misleading.  $\beta$ -actin is not a secretory pathway substrate and does not require glycosylation. It is therefore unlikely that weak  $\beta$ -actin expression in this sample is due to low levels of glucose in the medium.

Relative expression of *BiP* in HeLa and HT1080 is illustrated in Figure 7B and 7C. *BiP* induction was assessed by calculating the relative density of bands from independent RT-PCR experiments in which cells were exposed to ER stress inducers. Thus, these results show that when HeLa and HT1080 cells are treated with the same concentration of tunicamycin, expression of *BiP* occurs more strongly in HeLa than in HT1080 cells. This is despite the fact that treatments with DTT, thapsigargin and A23187 demonstrate very similar effects in both cell lines.

#### 4.1.2.2 Induction of XBP1 splicing by ER stress inducers in HeLa and HT1080

In order to determine if the UPR was responsible for an increase in the transcription of BiP, I examined the IRE1 pathway. The main target of IRE1 RNase activity is XBP1 mRNA. I used XBP1 splicing as a readout for IRE1-mediated UPR signalling. Since the IRE1-mediated removal of a 26-base intron from XBP1 mRNA eliminates a novel *PstI* site, I differentiated between the two versions of *XBP1* by digestion of XBP1 cDNA by PstI. This assay was first demonstrated by Calfon and colleagues and is illustrated in Figure 8 (Calfon et al., 2002). HeLa and HT1080 cells were again treated with ER stress inducers for 6 hours and analysed by RT-PCR using primers against XBP1 and  $\beta$ -actin. XBP1 cDNA was then digested with PstI restriction enzyme and digestion reaction components were removed using the PCR purification kit from Qiagen. Spliced XBP1, (XBP1 (S)), was differentiated from XBP1, unspliced (XBP1 (U)), since it was resistant to **PstI** 



Figure 8. *PstI* digestion as a technique for analysing *XBP1* processing. When inactive *XBP1* mRNA is spliced, a 26 nucleotide intron is removed containing a unique *PstI* site. Upon digestion of inactive *XBP1* RNA, two fragments are generated of 255 and 289 nucleotides (nt) due to the presence of the *PstI* site. Activated (spliced) RNA however is not digested by the restriction enzyme due to its removal by IRE1, and thus migrates as a single 518 nt fragment.

digestion and thus migrated at a slower rate than the unprocessed product on a 2% (w/v) agarose gel. Without treatment, *XBP1* mRNA was expressed at low levels and was sensitive to *Pst1* digestion in both HeLa and HT1080. The fast migrating doublet represents the 255- and 289-nucleotide digestion products of *Pst1* (Figure 9A, lanes 1 and 7). Thus, in non-stressed cells, *XBP1* exists as an unspliced, inactive transcript.

Upon treatment with the ER stress inducers DTT, tunicamycin, thapsigargin and A23187, *XBP1* cDNA became resistant to *PstI* digestion and the 518-nucleotide cDNA migrated more slowly than *PstI*-sensitive *XBP1* (Figure 9A, lanes 2-5 and 8, 10-11). *PstI*-resistant *XBP1* represents the spliced version of *XBP1* lacking the *PstI*-site-containing intron present in unspliced *XBP1*. Thus, when ER stress is induced by DTT, tunicamycin, thapsigargin and A23187 in HeLa and HT1080 cells, *XBP1* undergoes splicing, presumably by IRE1. The level of *XBP1* splicing in HeLa and HT1080 is dependent on which ER stress inducer is used. DTT, thapsigargin and A23187 induced robust splicing of *XBP1*. This is in line with the induction of *BiP* which was most robust with thapsigargin treatment and was strongly induced by A23187 in both cell lines (Figure 7A).

В



Figure 9. *XBP1* is spliced in response to a range of ER stress-inducing agents. A, Both HeLa and HT1080 cells were subjected to 6 hours treatment with the pharmacological agents indicated. *XBP1* RT-PCR products were digested with *Pst1* restriction enzyme and cleaned up using a PCR purification kit. The eluate was then run on a 2% gel to resolve the spliced (S) and unspliced (S) version of *XBP1*. Primers against  $\beta$ -actin were used as a control. B, To identify the nature of the 518-nt+ band observed in A, mRNA from Mock (-), and DTT (+DTT) as well as a mixture of mRNA from Mock and DTT-treated cells (-/+DTT) was subjected to *XBP1* RT-PCR. Like A, RT-PCR product was digested with *Pst1* and cleaned up before being run on a 2% agarose gel.  $\beta$ -actin was used as a control.

Treatment with tunicamycin induced robust splicing of *XBP1* in HeLa cells but was considerably less strong in HT1080 cells (Figure 9A, compare lanes 3 and 9). Additionally, tunicamycin-induced *XBP1* (S) migrated as a doublet with a more slowly migrating band in addition to the 518-nucleotide band (which represents spliced *XBP1* cDNA). Since this slower migrating band was only present in samples which contain partially spliced *XBP1* and not fully spliced or fully unspliced *XBP1* (Figure 9A, 9B and data not shown), I investigated whether or not this band was the product of a hybrid between spliced and unspliced *XBP1*, which was resistant to *Pst1* digested the RT-PCR products of untreated, DTT-treated and a mixture of untreated and DTT-treated RNA (Figure 9B).

The 518+ band was not detectable in either the untreated or DTT-treated samples, however, when a mixture of unspliced and spliced XBP1 – from the untreated and DTT-treated samples – was analysed, it contained both the 518-nucleotide band – representing spliced XBP1 – and the 518+ band (Figure 9B, compare lane 3 with lanes 1-2). Thus, the more slowly migrating band in these samples may be a *PstI*-resistant hybrid of unspliced and spliced XBP1. This finding is supported by the work of Shang and Lehrman who identified a similar hybrid of XBP1, detectable with mild stress induction (Shang & Lehrman, 2004).

A



В



Figure 10. **HT1080 cells inefficiently process** *XBP1* in response to tunicamycin treatment. A, HeLa cells were treated with a range of ER stress inducers for either 3 or 6 hours. RT-PCR for XBP1 and subsequent *Pst1* digestion and clean up was carried out.  $\beta$ -*actin* was used as a control. B, As in A, but treatments were carried out on HT1080 cells.

In order to determine if the IRE1 branch of the UPR responds to some types of ER stress in a shorter time frame, I studied *XBP1* splicing in HeLa and HT1080 which had been treated with ER stress-inducing agents for 0, 3 and 6 hours. In HeLa cells, treatment with DTT, tunicamycin, thapsigargin and A23187 strongly induced *XBP1* splicing after 6 hours treatment, as seen previously (compare Fig. 10A, lanes 8-11 with Fig. 9A, lanes 2-5). With a shorter treatment of 3 hours, the four stress-inducing agents all induced *XBP1* splicing, albeit slightly less robustly than with a 6 hour treatment. Both mock treatment and growing cells in low glucose medium for either 3 or 6 hours resulted in no *XBP1* splicing in HeLa cells. These results suggest that HeLa cells can trigger *XBP1* splicing within 3 hours of treatment with the ER stress inducers DTT, tunicamycin, thapsigargin and A23187.

In HT1080 cells, a 6 hour treatment with DTT, thapsigargin and A23187 resulted in *XBP1* splicing similar to that seen previously (compare Fig. 10B, lanes 8, 10-11 with Fig. 9A, lanes 8, 10-11). However, in this experiment, tunicamycin treatment for 6 hours resulted in low levels of *XBP1* splicing, consistent with the previous experiment (compare Fig. 10B, lane 9 with Fig. 9A, lane 9). The slight difference in *XBP1* splicing levels in these two experiments is most likely due to variation in cell density. A shorter 3 hour treatment of HT1080 cells resulted in robust splicing of *XBP1* with DTT, thapsigargin and A23187 treatment (Fig. 10B, lanes 2, 4-5). Treatment with tunicamycin for 3 hours did not induce *XBP1* splicing, indicating that the IRE1-mediated response to tunicamycin, in HT1080 cells, does not peak in a shorter time frame (Fig. 10B, lane 3). Unlike HeLa cells, the levels of DTT-, thapsigargin- and A23187-induced *XBP1* splicing in HT1080, after 3 hours, is very similar to that after 6 hours, possibly indicating that the RNase activity of IRE1 is

maximal by 3 hours treatment under these experimental conditions. Similar to HeLa cells, untreated HT1080 and HT1080 cells exposed to low glucose conditions for either 3 or 6 hours did not induce *XBP1* splicing.

Since XBP1 splicing has been shown to diminish in HEK 293 cells between four and eight hours of continuous treatment with tunicamycin at 5 µg/ml (Lin et al., 2007), I performed a tunicamycin time-course treatment on both HeLa and HT1080 cells to investigate the possibility that tunicamycin-induced XBP1 splicing attenuates more quickly in HT1080 cells than in HeLa cells (Fig. 11A). Tunicamycin-induced XBP1 splicing in HeLa cells is evident at the two hour time point; increasing after 3 hours and again with 6 hours treatment (Fig. 11A, lanes 1-5). Accordingly, BiP expression in HeLa cells started to increase within two hours of exposure to tunicamycin. XBP1 splicing in HT1080, on the other hand, was not induced by tunicamycin treatment throughout the range of the time-course suggesting that the lack of tunicamycininduced XBP1 splicing at the two time points seen previously (6 and 3 hours) was not due to rapid attenuation of IRE1-mediated signalling in this case (Fig. 11A, lanes 6-10). Interestingly, *BiP* expression in HT1080 remained at levels similar to untreated HT1080 throughout the time-course. Since BiP expression can be induced in response to ER stress in the absence of IRE1 (Lee et al., 2002), tunicamycin treatment should still induce *BiP* upregulation through ATF6 activation (Lee *et al.*, 2003). These results suggest that there are differences in the way tunicamycin stress is sensed by different cell types.

A



В



Figure 11. **HT1080 cells exposed to tunicamycin do not process** *XBP1*, **but tunicamycin prevents glycosylation of MHC class I heavy chains.** A, HeLa and HT1080 cells were treated with tunicamycin (Tm) for the indicated time. *XBP1* RT-PCR and subsequent *PstI* digestion was carried out in addition to *BiP* and  $\beta$ -actin RT-PCR. B, HeLa and HT1080 cells were treated with tunicamycin (Tm) for 6 hours. Cells were then lysed in MNT buffer and HeLa cell lysates were treated or not treated with PNGase. Lysates were then subjected to reducing SDS-PAGE and subsequent Western blotting with the monoclonal antibody (mAb) HC10. The monomeric MHC class I heavy chains were detected in addition to the unglycosylated version (\*). The PNGase treated lysate acts as a control for complete deglycosylation.

To rule out cell-specific permeability to tunicamycin being a factor in diminished levels of *XBP1* splicing in HT1080, I treated both HeLa and HT1080 cells with tunicamycin for 6 hours and analysed the effect on glycosylation. The MHC class I heavy chain (cI HC) contains an N-linked glycosylation site with an attached oligosaccharide at Asn<sup>86</sup> in the  $\alpha$ 1 domain (Parham *et al.*, 1977; Parham, 1996). Analysis of the glycosylation status of the cI HC was carried out by Western blotting with the pan-cI HC monoclonal antibody HC10 (Fig. 11B). 6 hour treatment with tunicamycin resulted in the appearance of an unglycosylated version of the cI HC in both HeLa and HT1080 indicating that tunicamycin is effective in preventing glycosylation of the unglycosylated version of the cI HC was confirmed by PNGase treatment of HeLa cell lysates (Fig. 11B, lane 6). Taken together, these results suggest that the level of IRE1-mediated splicing of *XBP1* is dependent on the duration of cell treatment and that there are cell-specific differences in *XBP1* splicing in response to exposure to tunicamycin.

## 4.1.2.3 The downstream UPR target CHOP is differentially induced by distinct ER stress inducers

I have demonstrated that UPR activation – at the level of *XBP1* splicing – is differentially sensitive to tunicamycin exposure in HeLa and HT1080 cells. IRE1mediated *XBP1* splicing is an upstream event in UPR signalling. In order to investigate the downstream effects of ER stress induction by a range of ER stress inducers, the expression of the proapoptotic transcription factor *CHOP*, which is induced downstream of PERK activation, and the expression of the PERK-branch specific bZiP transcription factor ATF4, was examined.



В



Figure 12. Expression of *CHOP* is differentially induced by distinct pharmacological agents. A, HeLa and HT1080 cells were treated with the indicated ER stress-inducers for 6 hours. A *ATF4* and *CHOP* RT-PCR was carried out on extracted mRNA from these treatments.  $\beta$ -actin was used as a control. B, HT0180 cells were treated with the indicated ER stress inducers for 3 hours. Subsequent *CHOP* RT-PCR on mRNA from these treatments was carried out.

HeLa and HT1080 cells were treated for 6 hours with the ER stress inducers DTT, tunicamycin, thapsigargin and A23187 as well as being exposed to low glucose conditions or untreated. RNA from these cells was subjected to RT-PCR with primers against *ATF4*, *CHOP* and  $\beta$ -actin (Fig. 12A). In HeLa cells, DTT, tunicamycin and thapsigargin treatment induced robust expression of *ATF4* mRNA, with thapsigargin treatment being the most effective (Fig. 12A, lanes 2-4). Levels of *ATF4* expression after A23187 treatment or exposure to low glucose conditions were only slightly elevated over the untreated control (Fig. 12A, lanes 5-6).

Analysis of *CHOP* levels in HeLa revealed that upon treatment with DTT, tunicamycin, thapsigargin and A23187, *CHOP* expression was induced. When cells were untreated or exposed to low glucose media, *CHOP* was not expressed, as expected. (Fig. 12A, lanes 2-5). In HT1080 cells however, strong induction of *CHOP* occurred when cells were treated with DTT, thapsigargin and A23187 but not mock-or low glucose-treated cells.

In HT1080 cells, ATF4 expression was upregulated in response to DTT and mildly elevated in response to A23187 treatment and with exposure to low glucose medium. This is contrary to HeLa cells which did not upregulate ATF4 in response to A23187 but did elevate ATF4 levels strongly with thapsigargin treatment (Fig. 10A, compare lanes 8-12 with lanes 2-6). ATF4 is primarily regulated at the translational level but there is evidence to suggest that ATF4 can be regulated at the transcriptional level (Dey *et al.*, 2010). ATF4 protein levels are regulated by eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation, however, these data indicate that HeLa and HT1080 can regulate *ATF4* mRNA levels differently in response to the same types of stress. HT1080 cells treated with tunicamycin exhibited limited *CHOP* induction (Fig. 12A, lane 9) indicating that an

impaired response to tunicamycin-induced ER stress is not limited to the IRE1 branch of the UPR but may also involve the PERK branch. Thus, there are differences in *CHOP* induction between HeLa and HT1080 cells in response to tunicamycin.

In order to investigate the likelihood that tunicamycin can induce rapid *CHOP* induction which subsided by the 6 hour time point, I analysed *CHOP* expression in HT1080 cells after 3 hours exposure to tunicamycin (Fig 12B). Similar to a 6 hour treatment, *CHOP* expression was extremely low when compared to induction by DTT, thapsigargin and A23187 (Fig 12B, compare lane 3 with lanes 2 and 4-5). In fact, tunicamycin-induced expression of *CHOP* was comparable to mock-treated samples, indicating that at this 3 hour time point, *CHOP* induction does not occur in response to tunicamycin.

# 4.1.2.4 ATF6 $\alpha$ can form higher order structures which are influenced by DTT and tunicamycin treatment

ATF6 $\alpha$  is a membrane-tethered transcription factor which, after proteolytic liberation, directly influences transcription without any known downstream effectors. To further understand the coordination of the UPR in response to ER stress, I studied the mechanisms of activation of ATF6 $\alpha$ . Since ATF6 $\alpha$  protein is expressed at low levels in HeLa cells (Thuerauf *et al.*, 2002) and due to the fact that I was unable to detect p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  using our  $\alpha$ -ATF6 $\alpha$  antibody (Fig. 13A and data not shown), I used a liposome-mediated cell transfection approach to introduce a tagged version of ATF6 $\alpha$  into the cell.

A



В

С



Figure 13. ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA transfection in HeLa cells leads to increased ATF6 $\alpha$  transcript and protein. A, No p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  was detected using the  $\alpha$ ATF6 $\alpha$  antibody either in the absence or presence of ER stress. The anti-lamin A and C antibody Jol 2 was used as a control. B, HeLa cells were subjected to liposome-mediated transfection of HA-tagged ATF6 $\alpha$ . mRNA from Mock (-) and ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA-transfected (ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA) was subjected to  $ATF6\alpha$  RT-PCR.  $\beta$ -actin was used as a control. C, MNT lysates from ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA transfected HeLa cells were analysed by  $\alpha$ HA,  $\alpha$ ATF6 $\alpha$  and  $\alpha$ PDI immunoblotting after separation by SDS-PAGE. Protein marker sizes are shown on the left of the image.



В



Figure 14. **Transfected ATF6α-HA localises to the ER.** A, Mock and ATF6α-HA transfected HeLa cells were stained with DAPI and antibodies against the HA tag ( $\alpha$ HA) and ATF6 $\alpha$  ( $\alpha$ ATF6 $\alpha$ ) and then fluorescence-conjugated secondary antibodies. A merge of DAPI,  $\alpha$ HA and  $\alpha$ ATF6 $\alpha$  (panels D and H) show colocalisation. B, ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA transfected HeLa cells were stained with  $\alpha$ HA and  $\alpha$ PDI and stained with secondary antibodies as in A. The merge in panel D shows colocalisation of HA-tagged ATF6 $\alpha$  with the ER resident protein PDI. Scale bars are 25 µm.

HeLa cells were either mock transfected or transfected with an N-terminal HAtagged version of full length p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  (ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA) using the transfection reagent Lipofectamine 2000. Expression of ATF6 $\alpha$  was monitored by RT-PCR using primers against ATF6 $\alpha$  and revealed that transfection of ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA resulted in an increase in transcript (Fig. 13B, lane 2).

ATF6 $\alpha$  protein levels were monitored by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting under reducing conditions. The HA tagged ATF6 $\alpha$  was detected by the  $\alpha$ -HA monoclonal antibody indicating that transfection had been successful (Fig. 13C, lane 2). This 90 kD protein migrated more slowly through the gel (between 110-120 kD) because of the additional HA tag. The  $\alpha$ -HA antibody detected background bands present in both the mock and transfected lysates of HeLa cells at ~48 kD and ~100 kD. Additionally, ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA was detected using the commercially available  $\alpha$ -ATF6 $\alpha$ polyclonal antibody. This antibody was raised against amino acids 31-310 of human ATF6 $\alpha$  and recognised the tagged version of ATF6 $\alpha$  also (Fig. 13C, lane 4). Neither the  $\alpha$ -HA or the  $\alpha$ -ATF6alpha antibodies detected the p50 fragment of transfected ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA. This is not a surprise because these cells received no exogenous stress treatment other than transfection-mediated ER stress. Protein levels were controlled for using the polyclonal  $\alpha$ -PDI antibody (Fig. 13C, lane 5-6).

Expression of ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA was further confirmed by immunofluorescence (Fig. 14). Mock transfected HeLa cells were negative when probed with both the  $\alpha$ -HA and the  $\alpha$ -ATF6 $\alpha$  primary antibodies and secondary donkey anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 488conjugated and swine anti-rabbit TRITC-conjugated antibodies respectively (Fig. 14A, panels B-C). Upon transfection of ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA, both the  $\alpha$ -HA and  $\alpha$ -ATF6 $\alpha$  antibodies detected the HA-tagged ATF6 $\alpha$ . In some experiments, transfection efficiency was near 100% as evidenced by the detection of ATF6 $\alpha$  in every cell – determined by DAPI staining (Fig. 14A, panel H). In order to determine the localisation of ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA, cells were antibody-stained with the  $\alpha$ -HA and  $\alpha$ -PDI primary antibodies which revealed that ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA colocalised with the ER resident protein PDI indicating that ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA was present in the ER. This was detected in several images taken from two independent staining experiments.

I next studied how ATF6 $\alpha$  responded to ER stress treatment in both HeLa and HT1080 cells. Once again, ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA was introduced into cells by transfection prior to a 6 hour treatment with the reducing agent, DTT or the glycosylation inhibitor, tunicamycin. Lysates were then analysed by reducing and non-reducing SDS-PAGE and subsequent Western blotting (Fig. 15). Transfection of ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA was successful in both HeLa and HT1080 cells and ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA was detected using the  $\alpha$ -HA antibody (Fig. 15A, lanes 2 and 6). Under reducing conditions, full length ATF6 $\alpha$  was detected after treatment with both DTT and tunicamycin but at lower levels than mock-treated cells (Fig. 15A, compare lanes 3-4 with lane 2 and lanes 7-8 with lane 6). Additionally, treatment with tunicamycin resulted in a shift in migration (\*) of the full length ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA protein in both cell lines (Fig. 15A, lanes 4 and 8). This shift represents the unglycosylated version of ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA existed in a completely

А



В



Figure 15. **p50** ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA is not detected upon treatment with DTT or tunicamycin but the amount of **p90** ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA is diminished. A,  $\alpha$ HA immunoblot of mock and ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA transfected HeLa and HT1080 RIPA buffer lysates under reducing (R) conditions. Cells were either untreated (-) or treated with DTT or tunicamycin (Tm). p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  and the unglycosylated form of p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  (\*) were detected. B, Reducing Jol 2 (against lamin A and lamin C) and  $\alpha$ PDI immunoblots. These act as controls for nuclear and ER fraction lysis respectively.

unglycosylated form in both cell lines. This is consistent with data from other groups which suggest that p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  is rapidly turned over and has a half life of ~2 hours (Haze *et al.*, 1999). This data also provides further evidence that tunicamycin is efficient in inhibiting glycosylation in both HeLa and HT1080 cells.

In the transfected lysates, even in presence of an ER stress inducer, I was unable to detect a p50 fragment representing the liberated transcription factor portion of ATF6 $\alpha$ . A very minor band at ~70kD was detected in response to DTT treatment in HeLa cells transfected with ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA, which may represent the tagged p50 fragment (Fig. 15A, lane 3 and unpublished data). Detection of the p50 fragment with the  $\alpha$ -HA antibody should be possible since the HA-tag is located in the liberated transcription factor portion of ATF6 $\alpha$ . Accordingly, the decrease in detectable full length p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  after DTT and tunicamycin treatment may be an indirect indication that ATF6 $\alpha$  is being proteolytically cleaved since the  $\alpha$ -HA antibody will not recognise the C-terminal anchored portion of ATF6 $\alpha$ . However, a decrease in steady-state p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  may be attributable to translational attenuation. In addition, the lysis buffer used was able to solubilise both the ER and nuclear fraction, as indicated by Western blotting for the nuclear lamins A and C using the monoclonal antibody Jol 2 in addition to the  $\alpha$ -PDI control (Fig. 15B).

Our inability to detect the liberated p50 transcription factor portion of ATF6 $\alpha$  is not without precedence. p50 ATF6 $\alpha$  occurs in very low amounts and its appearance is thought to be transient since it is likely to be degraded quickly (Yoshida *et al.*, 1998;

Haze *et al.*, 1999). Furthermore, detection of p50 using the HA-tagged version of ATF6 $\alpha$  has proven troublesome to other groups (Li *et al.*, 2000).

Interestingly, analysis of ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA transfection and DTT/tunicamycin treatment by non-reducing SDS-PAGE and  $\alpha$ -HA immunoblotting revealed higher order structures of ATF6 $\alpha$ . Upon transfection of ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA in HeLa and HT1080, ATF6 $\alpha$  could be detected in monomeric, dimeric (~250 kD) and oligomeric (>250 kD) forms (Fig. 16). In both cases, the majority of ATF6 $\alpha$  existed as an oligomer. This is consistent with the findings of Nadanaka and colleagues who reported the formation of dimeric and oligomeric ATF6 $\alpha$  in addition to monomeric ATF6 $\alpha$  in unstressed cells (Nadanaka *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, they showed that these higher order structures were formed via intermolecular disulfide bridges between two conserved cysteines in the lumenal domain of ATF6 $\alpha$ .

The relative magnitude of forms of ATF6 $\alpha$  can be influenced by treatment with the ER stress inducers DTT and tunicamycin. Treatment with DTT for 6 hours posttransfection resulted in the majority of ATF6 $\alpha$  existing in monomeric form with vastly diminished oligomeric ATF6 $\alpha$  in both HeLa and HT1080 (Fig. 16, lanes 3 and 7). This is not a surprise since the higher order structures of ATF6 $\alpha$  are likely to be disulfide-linked – as suggested by Nadanaka and colleagues. The addition of a reducing agent to the media thus resulted in the reduction of intermolecular disulfides in ATF6 $\alpha$ . In addition, treatment with DTT in both cell lines resulted in a decrease in dimeric ATF6 $\alpha$ , presumably also a consequence of DTT-mediated reduction (Fig. 16, lanes 3 and 7).



Figure 16. The oligomerisation status of ATF6 $\alpha$  is influenced by the ER stress inducers DTT and tunicamycin. A non-reducing  $\alpha$ HA immunoblot of ATF6 $\alpha$ -HA transfected HeLa and HT1080 cells which have been either mock treated (-) or treated with DTT or tunicamycin (Tm). p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  and the unglycosylated version of p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  (\*) are detectable. In addition, higher order dimers and oligomers were also detected.

159

Treatment with tunicamycin did not decrease the oligomeric pool of ATF6 $\alpha$  as significantly as DTT but overall, the oligomeric as well as the dimeric form of ATF6 $\alpha$  was diminished in comparison to the untreated cells (Fig. 16, compare lanes 4 and 8 with lanes 2 and 6). The monomeric pool of ATF6 $\alpha$  was also diminished in response to tunicamycin treatment. Reduction of ATF6 $\alpha$  upon treatment with tunicamycin is unlikely to be a direct consequence of tunicamycin activity. Rather, as suggested by Nadanaka and colleagues, reduction may be carried out by one of the many ER-localised oxidoreductases (Nadanaka *et al.*, 2007). ATF6 $\alpha$  oligomerisation in response to tunicamycin was similar in both HeLa and HT1080 cells, indicating that the drug had a similar effect on this aspect of the UPR. Thus, both DTT and tunicamycin can influence the redox status of higher order structures of ATF6 $\alpha$ . These forms of ATF6 $\alpha$ , therefore, may be differentially sensitive to different forms of ER stress and add an extra layer of regulation to the activation of the ATF6 branch of the UPR.

#### 4.1.3 Discussion

The UPR works to either promote the survival of cells undergoing ER stress, or, if subjected to prolonged stress, facilitate apoptosis. In order to understand how the UPR arrives at these 'decisions', we must first understand how the UPR coordinates its distinct pathways in response to ER stress and how those pathways are regulated. Here, I provide evidence that cell types respond in different ways to distinct forms of ER stress but also that these responses vary between cell lines. I report that, despite initiating a robust stress response to other forms of pharmacologically-induced ER stress such as thapsigargin and A23187, HT1080 does not respond as strongly to tunicamycin-induced ER stress. Treatment of HT1080 cells with the glycosylation inhibitor tunicamycin only weakly promoted the splicing of *XBP1*, a key step in the IRE1 branch of the UPR (Fig. 9A and 10B). This was in contrast to HeLa cells where tunicamycin-induced *XBP1* splicing was strong.

Additionally, *CHOP* expression was not induced in tunicamycin-treated HT1080 cells (Fig. 12A and 12B). Again, this was in contrast to HeLa cells where *CHOP* expression was strongly induced upon tunicamycin treatment. Moreover, *CHOP* was strongly induced upon treatment with DTT, thapsigargin and A23187 in both HeLa and HT1080 cells in line with studies showing that *CHOP* is induced by a variety of ER stress inducers (Price & Calderwood, 1992; Carlson *et al.*, 1993; Halleck *et al.*, 1997). In HT1080 cells a 3 hour treatment with the stress inducers DTT, thapsigargin and A23187 resulted in robust *CHOP* induction demonstrating that both *CHOP* induction and *XBP1* splicing occur with a 3 hour treatment under our experimental conditions. Limited induction of *CHOP* in response to tunicamycin may indicate that the PERK branch of the UPR is not activated. Further experiments, such as analysis

of eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation or ATF4 protein levels, will help determine if HT1080 cells are activating the PERK branch of the UPR in response to tunicamycin. However, low levels of tunicamycin-induced *CHOP* is not necessarily evidence of a lack of PERK signalling since the IRE1 branch of the UPR has been implicated in *CHOP* induction (Wang *et al.*, 1998). The mechanism by which IRE1 mediates *CHOP* expression is currently unknown although it has been postulated that downstream signalling of IRE1 may lead to modifications in the ER function which might impact on *CHOP* expression (Wang *et al.*, 1998). However, *XBP1* is dispensable for *CHOP* expression, implying that IRE1 may contribute to *CHOP* induction via a mechanism other than *XBP1* (Lee *et al.*, 2003). ATF6 is also thought to have a role in *CHOP* induction since a dominant negative of ATF6 blocks the induction of *CHOP* by ER stress (Yoshida *et al.*, 2000). The regulation of *CHOP* is illustrated in Figure 17.

The consequences of limited *CHOP* induction in HT1080 cells will be explored further in chapter 4.3; however, since *CHOP* is regarded as a proapoptotic component of the UPR, inhibition of *CHOP* induction could be associated with increased survival. Moreover, deletion of *CHOP* protects cells from the lethal consequences of ER stress (Zinszner *et al.*, 1998; Oyadomari *et al.*, 2002b; Pennuto *et al.*, 2008) indicating that the regulation of *CHOP* expression may directly influence cell fate decisions. Taken together, these results show that HeLa and HT1080 cells respond to tunicamycin-induced ER stress in different ways despite responding similarly to other forms of ER stress.


Figure 17. **The regulation of CHOP expression.** ER stress results in PERK activation by titration of BiP from its lumenal domain. As a consequence,  $eIF2\alpha$ , which promotes protein translation, is inhibited via phosphorylation by PERK. This then prevents  $eIF2\alpha$ inhibition of ATF4 translation, allowing the translation of ATF4 and other mRNAs containing multiple upstream open reading frames (ORFs). ATF4 then moves to the nucleus to upregulate target genes such as *CHOP*, *GADD34* and *ATF3*. Since the induction of *CHOP* was limited in tunicamycin-treated HT1080 cells, it is possible that PERK, or events downstream of PERK, are not activated. Furthermore, since IRE1 has been implicated in *CHOP* activation, limited *CHOP* induction could be a consequence of a lack of IRE1 signalling, as evidenced by low levels of *XBP1* splicing.

Initially, it was thought that tunicamycin was not entering HT1080 cells as efficiently as HeLa cells. However, Western blotting for the glycoproteins MHC class I heavy chain and ATF6 $\alpha$  post-tunicamycin treatment revealed that the inhibition of glycosylation was comparable in both cell lines (Fig. 11B and 15A). The possibility exists that HT1080 cells may have a slightly higher concentration of GlcNAc-1-P transferase and treatment with tunicamycin at the concentration used might not inhibit the whole pool of the enzyme. However, this is unlikely since short-lived p90 ATF6 $\alpha$  is completely unglycosylated after 6 hours tunicamycin treatment in HT1080 cells (Fig. 15A). If tunicamycin was not in excess, one would expect – in a protein with high turnover such as ATF6 $\alpha$  – both a glycosylated and unglycosylated pool of p90 ATF6 $\alpha$ .

Despite limited activation of the IRE1 and PERK branches of the UPR – inferred from *XBP1* splicing and *CHOP* induction – in tunicamycin-treated HT1080 cells, *BiP* expression was upregulated in response to this treatment (Fig. 7). However, *BiP* expression may not directly equate to an increase in BiP protein level and will, therefore, require further investigation. Despite this, it is possible that *BiP* mRNA upregulation in this case is mediated though ATF6 $\alpha$ . I was unable to detect activation of ATF6 $\alpha$  in response to DTT and tunicamycin; most likely due to the transience and low abundance of p50 ATF6 $\alpha$  (Yoshida *et al.*, 1998; Haze *et al.*, 1999). However, I did note that detection of the reduced form of HA-tagged ATF6 $\alpha$ , using the  $\alpha$ -HA monoclonal antibody, was diminished upon treatment with DTT and tunicamycin (Fig. 15A). Since the  $\alpha$ -HA antibody does not recognise the remaining C-terminal product after proteolysis, the lower ATF6 $\alpha$  levels in these treatments might be attributed to the loss of full length p90 ATF6 $\alpha$ , possibly due to proteolytic cleavage.

I also demonstrate that ATF6 $\alpha$  forms higher order structures when overexpressed in unstressed cells (Fig. 14). Nadanaka and colleagues reported this phenomenon in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells and I now report similar findings in both HeLa and HT1080 cells. Nadanaka and colleagues showed that dimeric and oligomeric disulfide bonded- ATF $6\alpha$  is reduced in response to ER stress. Our data also supports this finding. Nadanaka and colleagues reported a decrease in monomeric p90 ATF6 $\alpha$ after treatment with DTT, tunicamycin and thapsigargin. This is correlated with the appearance of p50 ATF6a, supporting our theory that a diminished p90 ATF6a levels after treatment might be the consequence of proteolytic cleavage. In line with this finding, I report diminished monomeric p90 ATF6a in our non-reducing gel upon DTT, and especially, tunicamycin treatment. Since monomeric ATF6 $\alpha$  was detected in the Golgi upon ER stress and the reduced monomer is a better substrate for site 1-protease activity, it has been suggested that reduction of ATF6 $\alpha$  is necessary for Golgi localisation and efficient cleavage (Nadanaka et al., 2007). However, reduction of ATF6 $\alpha$  is not sufficient for activation since it has been shown by Nadanaka and colleagues that BiP binding retains ATF6 $\alpha$  in the ER.

Together, these results demonstrate that there are intrinsic differences in way the UPR responds to distinct forms of ER stress. Regulation at the level of transcription is one way the cell differentiates between different forms of ER stress. This may have implications for inflammatory diseases such as ankylosing spondylitis, since in this disease, only certain cell types exhibit a UPR. Additionally, the regulation of higher order structures of ATF6 may play a role in differentiating between different forms of ER stress. Both IRE1 and PERK have been reported to oligomerise to regulate their function (Bertolotti *et al.*, 2000; Korennykh *et al.*, 2009). However, ATF6 $\alpha$  appears to deoligomerise in response to ER stress whereas both IRE1 and PERK oligomerise demonstrating another difference in the way the separate branches of the UPR are regulated.

### 4. 2 HLA-B27 misfolding and the unfolded protein response

#### 4.2.1 Introduction

Tuner and colleagues' key paper in 2005 provided the first evidence that HLA-B27 misfolding is associated with UPR activation in bone marrow-derived cells from the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat (Turner *et al.*, 2005). Differential expression of *BiP* and *CHOP* was not observed in whole spleen or thymus, or in bone marrow macrophages from 4-wk-old premorbid animals. However, transcripts for both BiP and CHOP were elevated in bone marrow macrophages from 10-wk-old B27/hB2m transgenic rats exhibiting inflammatory disease. Furthermore, XBP1 splicing, a key step in the IRE1mediated branch of the UPR, was increased by ~5 fold and relative expression of XBP1 was increased by ~2.6 fold in 10-wk-old B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rats. Thus, B27 misfolding, determined by SDS-PAGE using the HC10 antibody which recognises free class I heavy chains, is associated with the increase transcription of UPR target genes as well as an increase in proximal UPR signalling events. This was further supported by microarray data which showed that bone marrow macrophages from the transgenic rat exhibited a 'UPR signature' as determined by treatment with tunicamycin (Turner et al., 2005). Furthermore, expression of BiP, CHOP, XBP1 and XBP1 splicing increase when bone marrow macrophages from B27-expressing 4-wkold premorbid rat cells are exposed to IFN- $\gamma$ . This is likely to be due to the ~3 fold increase in HLA-B27 transcript levels since IFN-y treatment of wild-type cells does not alter BiP, CHOP, XBP1 expression or XBP1 splicing.

In addition, this study confirmed the increased expression of IFN- $\gamma$  in the colon of the transgenic rat which had been suggested previously (Taurog *et al.*, 1999). Moreover, increased expression of IFN- $\gamma$  is associated with increased expression of *BiP* and *CHOP* in the distal colon of the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat. However, differences in *BiP* and *CHOP* expression in transgenic and wild-type tissue were less pronounced than the same comparison in macrophages, indicating that high levels of UPR activity might be limited to cells with high heavy chain expression. Recently, defects in *XBP1* have been linked with inflammation of intestinal epithelium in mice (Kaser *et al.*, 2008). Deficiency in *XBP1* induces ER stress and this led to a heightened proinflammatory response of the epithelium to known inducers of IBD. Furthermore, increased *BiP* expression has recently been documented in IBD patients suggesting that ER stress – and associated UPR activity – might be an integral component of gut inflammation (Shkoda *et al.*, 2008; Heazlewood *et al.*, 2008). However, the contribution of the UPR to gut inflammation requires further study.

Recently, the IL-17-producting subset of T-cells, the Th17 cells, have been implicated in a number of autoimmune diseases including SpA. Polymorphisms in the IL-23 receptor, typical expressed on Th17 cells, have been associated with the development of AS and IBD (Duerr *et al.*, 2006; WTCC, 2007; Rahman *et al.*, 2008; Rueda *et al.*, 2008). The mechanism by which HLA-B27 misfolding and UPR induction are linked to IL-23 induction was demonstrated recently (DeLay *et al.*, 2009). This study, using B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rats, revealed that IL-23 was synergistically upregulated by LPS in macrophages undergoing a UPR induced by either pharmacological agents or by HLA-B27 misfolding. This study also verified that IL-23 levels were also elevated in the colon of B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rats exhibiting gut inflammation, further supporting the finding that IL-23R polymorphisms are associated with IBD development. It has been suggested that in the gut, low level immune responses to bacterial colonisation might result in increased levels of type I and/or type II interferons leading to upregulation in MHC class I heavy chain expression – and so in HLA-B27-expressing cells, activation of the UPR. Macrophages would then become sensitised to TLR agonists, such as LPS, pushing them towards increased production of IL-23 and IFN- $\beta$ . IL-23 would then drive IL-17 production through committed Th17 cells (Colbert *et al.*, 2009). Whether or not the Th17 lineage of T-cells is important for the arthritic phenotype in transgenic rats or indeed in human SpA patients will require further work.

Taken together, recently published results demonstrate the importance of HLA-B27 heavy misfolding in UPR induction and the possible influence that ER stress and UPR induction might have on driving inflammatory disease in animal models of AS. Despite this, the level of UPR induction and UPR target gene activation in cells expressing misfolded B27 heavy chains is still not fully understood. Thus, the aim of this chapter is to move towards a better understanding of the contribution of B27 misfolding/misoxidation in UPR induction, to help understand the influence of heavy chain homodimer formation in inflammation and identify targets for therapy.

#### 4.2.2 *Results*

## 4.2.2.1 Transient transfection of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 into HeLa and HT1080 cells causes misoxidation of MHC class I heavy chains

In order to study the effect of HLA-B27 misoxidation in HeLa and HT1080 cells, I transiently transfected HLA-B7 – a class I heavy chain similar to HLA-B27 (Fig. 18) but not associated with AS – or the HLA-B27 MHC class I heavy chain into these adherent cell lines. Transfected cells were lysed in the presence of the alkylating agent NEM (to trap any free disulfides and prevent post-lysis disulfide bond formation) and analysed by SDS-PAGE. Immunoblotting with the pan-class I monoclonal antibody HC10 revealed that both untransfected HeLa and HT1080 cells endogenously express MHC class I heavy chains (Fig. 19A, lanes 1 and 4). Under non-reducing conditions, these heavy chains exist as monomers representing free heavy chains (Fig. 19A, lanes 7 and 10). In transfected cells, the expression of MHC class I molecules increased, as expected (Fig. 19A, lanes 2-3 and 5-6).

Under non-reducing conditions, both HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 were resolved as a ladder of high molecular weight complexes in addition to the monomeric class I heavy chain (cI HC) (Fig. 19A, lanes 8-9 and 11-12). The ladder of bands seen as a consequence of HLA-B7 transfection was similar in both HeLa and HT1080 but dissimilar to that of HLA-B27 (Fig. 19A, compare lanes 8 and 11 with lanes 9 and 12). Likewise, transient transfection of HLA-B27 led to a similar make-up of high molecular weight complexes in HeLa and HT1080 cells.



Figure 18. **Protein sequence alignment of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27.** The amino acid sequence of the HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 heavy chain after removal of the 24-amino acid signal peptide. Cysteine residues are highlighted in red. Note the additional cysteine residue at position 67. The transmembrane region is highlighted in blue.

170



С



Figure 19. Transient transfection of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 causes misoxidation in HeLa and HT1080 cells which is accompanied by an increase in BiP expression. A, HeLa and HT1080 cells were either mock (-) or HLA-B7- or HLA-B27-transfected using the transfection reagent Fugene. Lysates were separated by reducing (R) and non-reducing (NR) SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with HC10. B, An HC10 non-reducing blot of HeLa cells transfected with either 1  $\mu$ g or 2.1  $\mu$ g HLA-B7 or HLA-B27 DNA. C, As in A, but the lysates were separated by non-reducing (NR) SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with HC10. B, An HC10 non-reducing blot of HeLa cells transfected with either 1  $\mu$ g or 2.1  $\mu$ g HLA-B7 or HLA-B27 DNA. C, As in A, but the lysates were separated by non-reducing (NR) SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with anti-BiP antibody H-129 ( $\alpha$ BiP).

In HeLa cells, the formation of high molecular weight complexes did not depend on the amount of DNA transfected, since increasing the plasmid concentration to 2.1  $\mu$ g/dish resulted in a very similar distribution of heavy chain complexes in a nonreducing blot (Fig. 19B).

Upon the reduction of these samples with DTT, the majority of the high molecular weight complexes, observed in the non-reduced samples, resolved as a monomer (Fig. 19A, compare lanes 2-3 and 5-6 with lanes 8-9 and 11-12). Thus, transient transfection of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 induced the disulfide dependent intermolecular misoxidation of MHC class I heavy chains in both HeLa and HT1080 cells. Misoxidation of cI HC was most likely due to overexpression in the absence of sufficient  $\beta_2$ m. This is consistent with other published work from our group which has shown that overexpression of wild-type and cysteine mutant forms of HLA-B\*2705 in HeLa cells causes misoxidation of heavy chains and the formation of disulfide-dependent high molecular weight complexes (Saleki *et al.*, 2006).

HC10-reactive and DTT-resistant bands were resolved at ~90-150 kD in the reducing gel of HLA-B7- and HLA-B27-transfected HeLa and HT1080 cells (Fig. 19A, lanes 2-3 and 5-6). These samples were boiled prior to loading and could either be heavy chain dimers that are resistant to reduction by DTT or a non-covalent interaction with the ER chaperone BiP which remains stable under reducing conditions (Saleki *et al.*, 2006). Equally, the bands could be a combination of these two phenomena. The appearance of these bands was reproducible but varied between experiments. Since BiP has been shown to associate with HLA-B27 when overexpressed (Saleki *et al.*,

2006), I immunoblotted the same lysates with the anti-BiP antibody H-129 under nonreducing conditions (Fig. 19C). BiP was resolved as a monomer at 78 kD but could not be detected at higher molecular weights in our experiments. The boiling- and DTT-resistant high molecular weight complexes observed in the reducing gel in Figure 19A did not correspond to either the molecular weight of BiP (78 kD) or the combined molecular weight of BiP and the cI heavy chain together, further indicating that these bands might not be BiP-cI HC conjugates. Mass spectrometric analysis of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 co-associating proteins in these lysates is needed to verify the identity of components of the high molecular weight complexes.

The number and size of the HC complexes were dependent upon the heavy chain. HLA-B7 expression led to the formation of three distinct boiling- and DTT-resistant distinct bands while expression of HLA-B27 only led to the formation of one high molecular weight band (Fig. 19A, lanes 2-3 and 5-6). Interaction of cI HCs with ER-resident proteins and peptide loading complex components has been shown to be dependent on the 116 residue (Turnquist *et al.*, 2000). Turnquist and colleagues showed that TAP interactions – as well as tapasin and calreticulin interactions – were improved in the HLA-B7 (*Y116D*) mutant over wild-type HLA-B7. Furthermore, natural subtypes of HLA-B15, which differ in residue identity at position 116, also showed disparity in ER-resident protein-interaction. Given that HLA-B7 possesses an tyrosine residue and HLA-B27 possesses an aspartic acid residue at position 116, the differences in the DTT-resistant band make-up between HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 may be, in part, due to the amino acid at this position.

It has also been reported that polymorphisms at position 116 in HLA-B27 influence conformational homodimer formation (Blanco-Gelaz *et al.*, 2009). Thus, the differences in high molecular weight complexes between HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 seen in the non-reducing blot in Figure 19A might be attributed to the sequence differences at this residue between the two molecules.

The transient expression of both HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 in HeLa and HT1080 cells increased protein levels of BiP (Fig. 19C). It must be noted, however, that this experiment did not have a loading control. Since misoxidation of cI HC is likely to have an impact on ER homeostasis, an increase in BiP expression may be attributed to the activation of the UPR.

## 4.2.2.2 Misoxidation of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 upregulates BiP and induces XBP1 splicing

In order to verify the effect of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 misoxidation on BiP expression, and to further study the effect of HC misoxidation on the UPR, I used RT-PCR to examine both *BiP* mRNA levels and the splicing of constitutively-expressed *XBP1* (Fig. 20). RNA was extracted from cells transfected with HLA-B7 or HLA-B27 and was subjected to RT-PCR using primers against *XBP1*, *BiP* and  $\beta$ -actin. The *XBP1* RT-PCR product was digested to differentiate between the spliced and unspliced version (See Results Chapter 4.1). Transient transfection of both HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 induced splicing of *XBP1* whereas mock transfection did not induce *XBP1* splicing. This occurred in both HeLa and HT1080 cells (Fig. 20, compare lanes 2-3 with lane 1 and lanes 5-6 with lane 4). There was no apparent difference in the

level of *XBP1* splicing. Additionally, at the mRNA level, *BiP* expression was upregulated as a consequence of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 transfection (Fig. 20). This supports the data in Figure 19C which shows upregulation of BiP in response to HLA-B transfection at the protein level. HC misoxidation-induced *XBP1* splicing was not as much as that induced by DTT treatment of HeLa and HT1080 cells (Fig. 20, compare B with A), however, induction of *BiP* expression was robust when compared to that induced by DTT. Thus, misoxidation of MHC class I heavy chains triggers *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* upregulation in HeLa and HT1080 cells.

When *CHOP* expression was analysed in HLA-B27-transfected HT1080 cells – which trigger *XBP1* splicing and upregulate BiP – it was found that *CHOP* was not induced (Fig. 20C, lane 3). DTT treatment of these cells, however, initiated *CHOP* expression, demonstrating that HT1080 cells were capable of inducing *CHOP* upon ER stress. Consequently, while HC induced-misoxidation was able to trigger processing of *XBP1* and *BiP* upregulation, it was unable to promote the expression of the apoptotic transcription factor *CHOP* which may have consequences for cell survival.



Figure 20. Misoxidation of HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 upregulates *BiP* and induces *XBP1* splicing. A, mRNA from mock (-), HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 transfected HeLa and HT1080 cells were subjected to RT-PCR for *XBP1*, *BiP* and  $\beta$ -actin. The *XBP1* product was digested with *Pst1* and run on a 2% agarose gel to differentiate between the spliced (S) and unspliced (U) forms. B, As in A but cells were either mock treated (-) or treated with dithiothreitol (DTT) for 6 hours prior to lysis.

#### 4.2.2.3 Rapamycin treatment of HLA-B27-expressing cells

One of the mechanisms the cell uses to degrade ER protein is autophagy. This is a catabolic process which degrades and recycles cytosolic or aggregated proteins and cellular organelles by delivering them to an autolysosome. Recently, autophagy has been shown to have a role in ER protein quality control and DTT and tunicamycin have can effectively induce autophagy via Atg1 kinase activity (Berger *et al.*, 2006; Kruse *et al.*, 2006; Kamimoto *et al.*, 2006; Yorimitsu *et al.*, 2006; Fujita *et al.*, 2007; Ishida *et al.*, 2009). Ishida and colleagues showed that the cell initiates autophagic mechanisms in response to the accumulation of cytotoxic aggregates of procollagen and that autophagy confers a cytoprotective role on these cells (Ishida *et al.*, 2009). The clearance of protein aggregates from the ER has implications for ER homeostasis and consequently, cell survival. The role of autophagy is therefore relevant to our understanding of diseases which have components of aberrant protein formation in the ER. I was therefore interested in the role of autophagy in cI HC misoxidation and the consequences of autophagy for the UPR.

The lipophilic antibiotic rapamycin induces autophagy by inhibiting the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR). Rapamycin binds to the intracellular receptor FK506 binding protein (FKBP12), forming a rapamycin-FKBP12 complex which binds directly to mTOR, a protein kinase involved in regulating the cell cycle (Heitman *et al.*, 1991; Lorenz & Heitman, 1995). In yeast, mTOR inhibition by rapamycin leads to Atg1 kinase activity which leads to the recruitment of multiple Atg proteins and the initiation of autophagosome formation (Cheong *et al.*, 2008; Kawamata *et al.*, 2008). Rapamycin treatment has been widely used to induce macroautophagy and, more

recently, to counter aggregate formation (Ravikumar *et al.*, 2002; Berger *et al.*, 2006; Ishida *et al.*, 2009).

Initially, HeLa cells were transfected with or without the cI HC HLA-B27. Six hours prior to lysis, cells were either treated or non-treated with rapamycin at 10 µg/ml – the concentration used by Ishida and colleagues – for 6 hours. Cells were then lysed and analysed either by SDS-PAGE and Western blotting or by RT-PCR (Fig. 21). Transfection with HLA-B27 was successful since a ladder of misoxidised heavy chains was detected after transfection in HeLa cells (Fig. 21, lanes 3-4). This is consistent with previous observations (Fig. 19A). Treatment of non-transfected as well as HLA-B27-transfected cells had no effect on the detectable level of heavy chain monomers. The ladder of misoxidised, high-molecular weight aggregates of HLA-B27 heavy chains was not affected by rapamycin treatment (Fig. 21, compare lane 4 with lane 3). It could be that the concentration of rapamycin, despite being sufficient for aggregate removal in mouse embryonic fibroblast cells, is not high enough to promote autophagy in HeLa cells. Alternatively, it may indicate that autophagy doesn't promote removal of disulfide bonded HC complexes in HeLa cells. Further experiments are required to address this issue.



Figure 21. The effect of rapamycin on misoxidised MHC cI heavy chains. A, HeLa cells were either non-transfected (mock) or transfected with HLA-B27. Six hours prior to lysis, cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ g/ml rapamycin to induce autophagy. Cells were lysed and analysed under non-reducing (NR) and reducing (R) conditions with the pan class-I HC antibody HC10.

Since overexpression of non-disease associated MHC cI heavy chains by transient transfection leads to different misoxidation patterns (Fig. 19A), it is likely that a high expression level of heavy chains in the absence of  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin is not solely responsible for oxidative misfolding. Therefore, I asked whether cells that were stably transfected with MHC class I heavy chains activated a UPR and if mutations thought to improve the folding kinetics of HLA-B27 had an effect on UPR induction.Fussell and colleagues recently showed that a single amino acid substitution in HLA-B27 led to an increase in resistance to DTT-induced reduction of HC monomers (Fussell *et al.*, 2008). In their experiment, C58 rat thymoma cells were stably transfected with a mutant form of HLA-B27 containing an amino acid substitution of Asp for His at position 114. This B27.H114D mutant was more susceptible to reduction by the reducing agent DTT.

Susceptibility to reduction is dependent on cysteine residue exposure. Therefore, forms of HLA-B27 that are resistant to reduction exist as fully folded, compact class I molecules with their cysteine residues buried. On the other hand, forms of HLA-B27 which are sensitive to reduction are poorly folded. Conformations with exposed cysteines could result from low-affinity peptide binding or slow folding kinetics (Williams *et al.*, 2002; Antoniou *et al.*, 2004). Thus, mutating a key structural residue in the F-pocket (p114) of the peptide-binding groove – which determines the requirement for the accessory molecules tapasin – can result in an improvement in folding and can lead to a more compact heavy chain, as indicated by resistance to reduction (Williams *et al.*, 2002; Antoniou *et al.*, 2004). Thus, in addition to

monitoring *XBP1* processing in HLA-B27 stable transfectants, I wished to examine the effect of improved folding of the B27.H114D.D116Y mutant over wild-type B27.

C58 cells stably expressing HLA-A\*0210, HLA-B\*2705 HLAand B\*2705.H114D.D116Y were given as a gift from Antony Antoniou. The cells were cultured in medium containing 1 mg/ml G418 to maintain the resistant cells. Cells were either non-treated or treated with DTT or tunicamycin then lysed and RNAextracted before undergoing RT-PCR analysis for XBP1 splicing and  $\beta$ -actin levels as a control (Fig. 22). Untransfected C58 cells exhibited negligible levels of XBP1 splicing without ER stress inducer-treatment (Fig. 22, lane 1). Untreated C58.A2, C58.B27 and C58.B27.H114D.D116Y cells also exhibited low levels of XBP1 splicing. Thus, stable transfection of MHC cI heavy chains in C58 cells did not induce splicing of XBP1. The H114D.D116Y mutation did not cause an HLA-B27 induction of XBP1 splicing under these experimental conditions. Each cell line responded to DTT and tunicamycin indicating that these cell lines are capable of initiating XBP1 splicing in response to ER stress. However, transfection of A2, B27 and B27.H114D.D116Y all caused an increase in the ratio of spliced:non spliced XBP1 in response to tunicamycin when compared to the untransfected C58 cells. (Fig. 22, compare XBP1 (S):XBP1 (U) in lanes 6,9,12 with lane 3). Thus, tunicamycin did not have as strong an effect in C58 cells which have been subjected to stable transfection with MHC class I heavy chains compared to untransfected C58 cells. This may suggest that chronic overexpression of MHC class I molecules "pre-sensitises" cells to some secondary stress events.



Figure 22. *XBP1* processing in C58 stable transfectants. Stable transfectants were maintained in RPMI at 10% FCS with 1 mg/ml G418. Lysates of each cell line were subjected to RNA extraction and subsequent RT-PCR analysis for *XBP1* and  $\beta$ -actin. Samples were then run on a 1 or 2% agarose gel.

#### 4.2.2.5 Lymphocytes from SpA patients exhibit HLA-B27 misoxidation

Analysis of cells from patients suffering from AS gives us an insight into the physiological condition of cells involved in disease. Oxidative misfolding has been demonstrated in splenocytes from HLA-B27/h $\beta_2$ -microglobulin transgenic (B27-Tg) rats, which spontaneously develop an inflammatory disease similar to human AS (Turner *et al.*, 2005). HLA-B27 heavy chains from these cells formed disulfide-linked complexes in the ER, with prolonged BiP binding and inefficient folding.

I received a selection of immortalised lymphocytes taken from spondyloarthropathy patients expressing the HLA-B27 allele as well as healthy controls (kind gift from J. Goodall, Cambridge). To ask whether these immune cells also exhibited oxidative misfolding, I analysed the lysates from these cell populations by Western blotting.

Alkylated proteins from lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE under reducing and non-reducing conditions to disrupt or preserve any disulfide-linked complexes. Heavy chains were detected using the monoclonal antibody HC10 (Fig. 23). Under reducing conditions, cI HCs from a healthy individual not expressing HLA-B27 migrated as a single band (Fig. 23, lane 5). HLA-B27-positive lymphocytes from reactive and psoriatic arthritis patients exhibited stronger and more diffuse HC bands, which may be due to higher MHC class I expression. An additional faster-migrating band below is likely to represent the unglycosylated form of the HC (Fig. 23, lanes 7-8).

Analysis of the non-reducing gel revealed that HLA-B27-negative lymphocytes from a healthy individual migrated as a single monomeric HC. In contrast, a healthy individual possessing the HLA-B27 allele exhibited a high molecular weight complex in addition to the monomeric form of HC. It is likely that this is a disulfide-linked complex since reduction of this sample disrupted the slower-migrating band.

The HCs of HLA-B27-positive patients presenting disease also exhibited disulfidelinked complexes (Fig. 23, lanes 3-4) unlike the HCs in the HLA-B27 negative cell line (Fig. 23, lane 1) and the HCs in untransfected HT1080 and HeLa cells (Fig 19A). Thus, in these individuals, possession of the HLA-B27 allele is associated with MHC class I "misoxidation". However, whether MHC class I molecules in these cells are truly misfolded requires further investigation. Rather more dimers were detected in the diseased patients (Fig. 23, lanes 3 and 4), although the presence of HC dimers in the healthy patient suggests that dimers per se are not a causal link with AS. However, it remains possible that the dimers are not B27-B27 homodimers, or that dimers are a precursor of disease, with other events being required for disease to occur. These samples only represent a population of cells from an individual and there is likely to be variation in HC oxidation dependent on cell type, HLA-B27 subtype and severity of disease. However, these data indicate that B27 misoxidation can occur in cells from a variety of genetic backgrounds.



Figure 23. **HLA-B27 misfolding in AS patient lymphocytes.** Immortalised lymphocytes were lysed and analysed under non-reducing (NR) and reducing (R) conditions and subjected to Western blotting with HC10. HLA-B27-positive (+) and negative (-) cells are indicated. A population of unglycosylated cI HCs are also indicated (\*).

#### 4.2.3 Discussion

High expression levels of HLA-B27 influence disease susceptibility in the B27-Tg rat (Taurog *et al.*, 1993). However, the transgene copy number and expression level of the HLA-B7/h $\beta_2$ -microglobulin transgenic rat – which does not develop disease – is similar to that of the B27-Tg rat, indicating that a disease phenotype is not simply an artefact of high HLA-B expression but represents an HLA-B27-specific effect (Hammer *et al.*, 1990; Taurog *et al.*, 1999).

Previously, in work which led to the completion of my Masters thesis, I showed that HLA-B27 misoxidises when transfected into HeLa cells (Lemin, A. J. MSc Thesis 2007). Here, I provide evidence that overexpression of HLA-B27 and the non-disease associated HC HLA-B7 by transient transfection in HeLa and HT1080 cells is sufficient to induce oxidative misfolding (Fig. 19A). Transient transfection of HLA-B heavy chains may therefore be a useful model for analysing how misfolded membrane proteins in general are handled by the ERAD and UPR systems. A model for how the cell might respond to heavy chain misfolding is proposed in Figure 24. This illustrates the interplay between ERAD, the peptide loading complex and the UPR in HC misfolding. HLA-B27 misoxidation in the B27-Tg rat has been linked with activation of the UPR (Turner *et al.*, 2005; Turner *et al.*, 2007). I studied the IRE1-mediated splicing of XBP1 - a key step in the IRE1 branch of the UPR – in cells exhibiting misoxidation of cI HCs to determine if HC misoxidation is correlated with UPR



Figure 24. The consequences of heavy chain misfolding for the ER. Newly synthesised MHC class I heavy chains (cI HC) enter the ER and are bound by the ER chaperone BiP (1.). In order to reach a fully formed state, the heavy chain must bind the ER lectin calnexin (not shown) and enter into the peptide loading complex (PLC) where it will acquire peptide and  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin. Alternatively, HCs terminally bound by BiP may be actively removed by ER-associated degradation. If misfolded HCs are not removed by ERAD they may form HC dimers or oligomers which accumulate in the ER. One of the responses to the accumulation of misfolded HCs is the release of BiP by IRE1 – which binds HCs to prevent aggregation (2.). This in turn causes activation of the RNase activity of IRE1 which results in the splicing of full length XBP1 (*XBP1* (*S*)) (3.). XBP1 then enters the nucleus and recognises specific promoter elements upregulating target genes, such as *BiP*, in order to combat HC accumulation. TAP = Transporter associated with antigen processing. UPRE = Unfolded protein response element. ERSE = ER stress response element.

induction. I demonstrate that cells transiently transfected with both HLA-B27 and HLA-B7 exhibit moderate *XBP1* splicing and increased transcript levels of *BiP* as well as an increase in BiP protein levels (Fig. 20A and 19B). Although, in order to state that the increase in BiP protein levels observed here are relevant, a more quantitative approach, utilising a loading control, will be required.

Consistent with the observation of B27 upregulation in the macrophages of B27-Tg rats, the magnitude of BiP upregulation and *XBP1* splicing correlated with HC expression level (data not shown) (Turner *et al.*, 2007). This was demonstrated in both HeLa and HT1080 cells indicating that this response may be conserved between different cell lines. *XBP1* splicing was more sturdy in HeLa and HT1080 with DTT treatment than HC misoxidation. This is expected since DTT will have a global reducing effect whereas the effect of HC misoxidation on the ER as a whole will be more limited. Thus, in the transient transfection model, *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* upregulation is correlated with cI HC misoxidation and is independent of heavy chain disease association. Therefore, it is likely that UPR induction in this regard is a consequence of overexpression-induced misoxidation – in the absence of a concomitant increase in  $\beta_2$ m expression.

Further analysis of HT1080 transiently transfected with HLA-B27 showed that despite moderate *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* upregulation, *CHOP* was not induced in these cells (Fig. 20C). I have previously shown that HT1080 cells do not induce *CHOP* expression in response to tunicamycin treatment (Fig. 10). However, tunicamycin treatment only induces very mild levels of *XBP1* splicing in these cells.

The consequences of limited *CHOP* induction may include increased cell survival since *CHOP* has been demonstrated to promote apoptosis (Oyadomari & Mori, 2004). Increased survival of B27-expressing pro-inflammatory cells could have implications for disease pathogenesis including increased cytokine production and exacerbation of the inflammatory response. Whether or not attenuated *CHOP* expression in response to HC misoxidation is demonstrable for other cell types – including more physiologically relevant cells types such as the professional antigen presenting cells like macrophages and dendritic cells – remains to be seen.

C58 cells stably expressing HLA-B27 had negligible levels of *XBP1* processing; comparable to background *XBP1* splicing in untransfected C58 cells (Fig. 22). Nondisease associated HLA-A2-expressing C58.A2 cells also showed extremely low levels of *XBP1* splicing. Since I have observed that the level of *XBP1* splicing is correlated with HC expression levels, it is possible that these stably transfected cell lines do not express HCs at as high a level as transiently transfected cells. Alternatively, long-term expression of cI HCs in stable transfectants may have led to adaptation and the attenuation of IRE1-mediated UPR signalling. The IRE1 branch of the UPR has been demonstrated to selectively attenuate during persistent ER stress whereas PERK signalling continued during this time (Lin *et al.*, 2007). However, Lin and colleagues demonstrated that persistent IRE1 signalling promoted cell survival and suggested that the attenuation of IRE1 signalling may represent a switch in fate from prosurvival to proapoptotic pathways. Analysis of PERK and ATF6 signalling in C58 stable transfectants would help determine if attenuation of UPR signalling is occurring in these cells. The oxidative status of transfected cI HCs can tell us much about the way HCs behave when expressed at various concentrations. However, analysis of lymphocytes from SpA patients – and healthy individuals – can tell us about the physiological status of the cells after disease is triggered. I demonstrate that lymphocyte populations from HLA-B27-expressing individuals exhibit some degree of oxidative misfolding of cI HCs. This finding was independent of disease presentation since lymphocytes from the healthy B27-expressing individual exhibited HC misoxidation. This suggests that oxidative misfolding may be a feature of HLA-B27 expression in these individuals. Since fewer than 5% of B27-expressing individuals develop disease – in the absence of a family history - it is clear that the genetic susceptibility to pathogenesis is complex.

The consequence of HC misoxidation in the patient cells shown in Figure 23 is unknown but previous work from our group determined that the HLA-B27-expressing lymphocytes WEWAK1, HOM-2 and JESTHOM cells may display elevated levels of baseline *XBP1* splicing which may indicate that HC misfolding in the patient cells presented here may be associated with XBP1 splicing (Lemin *et al.*, 2007). The presence of unglycosylated HCs in lymphocyte populations from the individuals presenting ReA or PsA may further indicate that HCs undergo inefficient folding events in the ER. Moreover, inappropriately oxidised HCs could be caused by free HC homodimerisation at the cell surface of B27-expressing cells. Further work will be required to identify the molecular basis for the differences in HLA-B heavy chain oxidative misfolding between patients presenting disease and healthy individuals. In addition, I explored the relationship between HC misoxidation and UPR activation by manipulating the degradation of HC aggregates through the promotion of autophagy. The effect of rapamycin, an inhibitor of mTOR, on HeLa cells transiently transfected with HLA-B27 was minimal, indicating that either autophagy was insufficiently activated in HeLa cells or that autophagy is not involved in removing cI HC aggregates from the ER. It should be noted that the conclusions from this experiment are limited since no positive control for the detection of autophagy induction is included. An appropriate control for the induction of autophagy is the conversion of microtubule-associated protein 1 LC3 from the free version (LC3-I) to the membrane-bound (LC3-II) version (Kabeya *et al.*, 2000). LC3 is a mammalian homologue of yeast ATG8, an ubiquitin-like protein which is involved in vesicle formation during macroautophagy. Therefore, further work is required to elucidate the role of autophagy in cI HC removal.

Together, our results indicate that HC misoxidation – evident in HLA-B27expressing cells – and promoted by high expression levels in the absence of  $\beta_2$ m, contributes to the activation of *XBP1* processing and *BiP* upregulation. Future work on the physiological significance of ER stress signals and how UPR target genes promote and maintain the inflammatory response is needed. In addition, the role of oxidative stress and ROS production in UPR signalling and inflammation also requires further study.

# 4. 3 Context dependent activation of the unfolded protein response

#### 4.3.1 Introduction

Protein tyrosine kinase signalling cascades play an important role in the regulation of cell proliferation, cell differentiation and signalling processes in the immune system, including the activation of inflammatory cells (Page *et al.*, 2009; Lemmon & Schlessinger, 2010). Consequently, tyrosine kinase inhibitors have been considered for their potential anti-inflammatory activity (Sahu & August, 2009; Cohen & Fleischmann, 2010). Recent work – using the tyrosine kinase inhibitor genistein – has linked tyrosine kinase signalling with the UPR (Hong *et al.*, 2005). This is of special interest when considering inflammatory diseases such as ankylosing spondylitis, as it may provide novel targets for therapy.

The transcriptional activation of the stress-response gene grp78/BiP is induced by a number of well documented pharmacological agents which disrupt ER function (see General Introduction and Results Chapter 4.1). In mammals, tyrosine- and serine/threonine kinases were demonstrated to be important for grp78 transactivation since treatment with the potent tyrosine kinase inhibitor genistein is able to reduce thapsigargin-induced induction of grp78 mRNA levels whereas the serine-threonine kinase phosphatase inhibitor okadaic acid enhances thapsigargin induction of grp78(Price *et al.*, 1992; Cao *et al.*, 1996). The mechanism by which genistein regulates the gene expression of grp78 was addressed in a key paper by Zhou and Lee in 1998 (Zhou & Lee, 1998). They demonstrated that genistein specifically inhibits the induction of HSP70 and GRP78 through interference of the CCAAT binding factor (CBF)/NF-Y and the proximal CCAAT site – part of the ER stress response element (ERSE) – of the *hsp70* and *grp78* promoters. However, the mechanism by which the DNA binding property of CBF/NF-Y is regulated by genistein is unknown.

Furthermore, the recently identified multifunctional transcription factor TFII-I has been implicated in the regulation of GRP78 and as a potential target of genisteinmediated stress response gene suppression (Hong et al., 2005). TFII-I demonstrates enhanced binding to the GC-rich motif in the ERSE of the grp78 promoter following thapsigargin treatment and stimulates the ERSE-binding activity of ATF6 (Parker et al., 2001; Yoshida et al., 2001b). The activity of TFII-I is regulated by phosphorylation at serine/threonine and tyrosine residues and it has been demonstrated that the tyrosine kinase c-Src – activated by thapsigargin-induced ER stress – is required for the phosphorylation of tyrosine residues at positions 248 and 611 (Novina et al., 1998; Cheriyath et al., 2002; Hong et al., 2005). Since tyrosine phosphorylation is not required for the DNA binding property of TFII-I, it is possible that phosphorylation of these residues regulates the formation of transcription factor complexes which, in turn, regulates the stability of these complexes at the promoter (Novina et al., 1998; Hong et al., 2005). A role for TFII-I tyrosine phosphorylation in the regulation of the stress response is illustrated by the evidence that a dominant negative mutant of c-Src attenuates thapsigargin stress induction of the grp78 promoter whereas overexpression of c-Src activates the grp78 promoter (Hong et al., 2005). Since TFII-I undergoes considerable tyrosine phosphorylation after ER stress

and tyrosine phosphorylation is required for activity, coupled with the fact that genistein treatment of thapsigargin stressed cells suppresses *grp78* induction, it has been suggested that TFII-I is the target for the inhibitive effect of genistein on the ER stress response. Thus, TFII-I is an ER stress-regulated transcription factor which links a tyrosine kinase pathway with UPR activity.

The induction of glucose regulated proteins – and specifically GRP78 – has been linked with resistance to apoptotic cell death; the maintenance of cell viability under stressed conditions; survival during development as well as the formation of tumours and resistance to cell mediated toxicity in cancerous cells (Sugawara *et al.*, 1993; McCormick *et al.*, 1997; Dong *et al.*, 2004; Luo *et al.*, 2006; Lee, 2007). Thus, the induction of GRP78 is a double-edged sword, providing an adaptive, prosurvival function in stressed cells but also affording dangerous tumorigenic or neoplastic cell resistance to apoptosis. Levels of GRP78, and indeed GRP94, are elevated – and correlated with malignancy – in several cancer cell lines and solid tumours and human cancer biopsies (Fernandez *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 2001). Therefore, targeted suppression of GRP induction or function in cancer cells might offer a novel approach to cancer therapy. Indeed, suppression of GRP78 induction by overexpressing antisense GRP78 mRNA inhibits tumour progression and increases cytotoxicity (Koong *et al.*, 1994; Jamora *et al.*, 1996).

Selective targeting of genistein to leukaemia cells results in tyrosine kinase inhibition and apoptotic cell death (Uckun *et al.*, 1995). In addition, administration of genistein to neonatal rats affords prevention against the development of mammary tumours following carcinogen treatment later in life (Lamartiniere *et al.*, 1995). Moreover, genistein is considered a potential anti-inflammatory agent since genistein treatment confers a cytoprotective effect on an IL-1 $\beta$ - and IFN- $\gamma$ -treated rat pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell line, thus preventing cytokine-mediated cytotoxicity (Kim *et al.*, 2007).

This chapter aims to investigate the role of genistein on the pharmacologicallyinduced ER stress response as well as examining the effect of serum withdrawal on cell viability of HeLa and HT1080 cells.

#### 4.3.2 *Results*

4.3.2.1 Serum withdrawal promotes XBP1 processing by tunicamycin in HT1080 cells.

Previously, I have shown that HT1080 cells are relatively insensitive to tunicamycin despite exhibiting XBP1 splicing in response to other stimuli (see Chapter 4.2). In order to determine if this was a general defect in ER to cytoplasm signalling, I subjected HT1080 and HeLa cells to treatments with tunicamycin in the presence or absence of foetal calf serum and analysed XBP1 splicing (Fig. 25A). Serum withdrawal is known to activate several intracellular signalling pathways including those linked with UPR activation (Allsopp et al., 2000; Kilic et al., 2002). Cells were grown in complete media and then replaced with either serum-free medium or complete medium in the presence or absence of tunicamycin for 6 hours before subsequent lysis and analysis. Both HeLa and HT1080 cells did not initiate XBP1 splicing when mock-treated even in the absence of serum (Fig. 25A, lanes 1-2 and 5-6). Tunicamycin treatment of HeLa cells resulted in XBP1 splicing, as expected, but was not further augmented by the absence of serum. HT1080 cells exhibited negligible XBP1 processing in response to tunicamycin, as seen previously (Fig. 9A, 10B and 11A) but, unlike HeLa cells, HT1080 displayed extensive splicing in the absence of serum. Thus, in HT1080 cells, serum withdrawal in the presence but not in the absence of tunicamycin leads to activation of the UPR and splicing of XBP1 (Fig. 25A, lane 8).

A



В



Figure 25. Serum withdrawal in the presence of tunicamycin promotes *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* and *CHOP* upregulation in HT1080. A, HeLa and HT1080 cells were either mock- or tunicamycin (Tm)-treated either in the presence of FCS (-) or in the absence of FCS (+) before being subjected to RT-PCR for *XBP1* to resolve the spliced (S) and unspliced (U) versions.  $\beta$ -actin is shown as a positive control. B, As in A, but cells were either treated in MEM (M), DMEM (D) or in DMEM preconditioned in HT1080 cells overnight (PD) or in MEM preconditioned in HeLa cells overnight (PM). In addition, RNA was used as a template to detect the expression of *BiP* and *CHOP*.
The data from Figure 25A suggests that, in HT1080, XBP1 splicing in response to tunicamycin might be regulated by a signal which originates from outside the ER. One possible source of this signal might be a secreted factor that is released into the medium which might either have an activatory or inhibitory role in signalling. To address this, I subjected each cell line to the environment of the other cell line by swapping the growth media. Cell media were preconditioned either by HeLa cells (destined for HT1080 cells) or HT1080 cells (destined for HeLa cells) over night in the presence or absence of serum. After preconditioning, the filtered media was swapped over onto the opposite cell line and cells were subsequently cultured with or without tunicamycin for 6 hours. The cells were then analysed by RT-PCR for XBP1 splicing, BiP, CHOP and  $\beta$ -actin expression (Fig. 25B). When HeLa cells were cultured in the absence of serum either in their native medium (MEM) or DMEM in the absence of tunicamycin, no XBP1 splicing or CHOP induction was observed (Fig. 25B, lanes 1 and 2). This was also the case for mock-treated HeLa cells cultured for the 6 hour period in preconditioned DMEM either in the presence or absence of serum (Fig. 25B, lanes 5 and 6). DMEM is a modified version of MEM which contains an increased concentration of vitamins, amino acids and glucose. It should be noted that HT1080 cells cultured in MEM alone did not initiate XBP1 splicing and were therefore unlikely to be sensitive to the decrease in glucose concentration or amino acid availability. This is consistent with previous experiments which showed that both HeLa and HT1080 cells do not initiate a UPR when exposed to diminished glucose conditions (Fig. 10 and 12).

As seen previously, when HeLa cells were grown in MEM in the presence or absence of serum, *XBP1* splicing is induced upon tunicamycin treatment. This is accompanied by upregulation of *BiP* and *CHOP* induction (Fig. 25B, lanes 3 and 4). Serum withdrawal, in this case, has a negligible effect on *BiP* and *CHOP* induction. In addition, HeLa cells cultured in preconditioned DMEM lacking serum (from HT1080 cells) in the presence of tunicamycin induced *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* and *CHOP* induction (Fig. 25B, lane 7). The level of *XBP1* splicing in these cells was comparable to that induced by tunicamycin treatment in serum-negative or -positive MEM. Thus, preconditioning the media in the environment of HT1080 cells does not lead to potentiation of *XBP1* splicing in non-tunicamycin-treated HeLa cells (Fig. 25B, lane 6) and, in the presence of tunicamycin, does not augment further *XBP1* splicing (Fig. 25B, lane 7).

As seen previously, when HT1080 cells were treated with tunicamycin in the presence of serum, *XBP1* splicing was not activated (Fig. 25B, lane 10). Tunicamycin treatment also failed to induce *CHOP* expression or upregulate *BiP* expression beyond the level induced by mock treatment (Fig. 25B, compare lane 10 with lanes 8 and 9). Tunicamycin treatment in the absence of serum however, induced robust *XBP1* splicing which was accompanied by strong upregulation of *BiP* and induction of *CHOP*. Culturing of HT1080 cells in serum-withdrawn and non-serum withdrawn preconditioned media from HeLa cells in the absence of tunicamycin did not induce *XBP1* splicing or *BiP* or *CHOP* induction. When HT1080 cells were cultured in serum-withdrawn, preconditioned media in the presence of tunicamycin, however, *XBP1* splicing was induced although not as strongly as with tunicamycin treatment in serum withdrawn DMEM (Fig. 25B compares lane 14 with lane 11). Surprisingly, *BiP* and *CHOP* expression were not strongly induced under these conditions. Thus, although the potentiation of the stress response in HeLa cells is largely unaffected by preconditioning of the media in HT1080 cells, when HT1080 cells are treated with tunicamycin in preconditioned, serum-starved HeLa medium, *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* and *CHOP* induction is attenuated. This may be due to some factor that HeLa is secreting which might regulate downstream UPR target gene induction. This factor might be viewed as 'prosurvival' since culturing of HT1080 cells in this medium prevents strong induction of the proapoptotic factor *CHOP*. Furthermore, HeLa may suffer from more severe nutrient deprivation than HT1080 cells or elevated production of toxic mertabolic waste products by HeLa cells. However, further work will be required to determine if there are any associated differences in cell survival between tunicamycin-treated, serum-starved HT1080 cells grown in DMEM or in preconditioned media from HeLa cells.

# 4.3.2.2 The magnitude of tunicamycin-induced UPR induction correlates with cell viability in HeLa and HT1080 cells.

The induction of the transcription factor CHOP is associated with the promotion of apoptosis (Zinszner *et al.*, 1998; McCullough *et al.*, 2001; Oyadomari et al., 2002b; Ma *et al.*, 2002). However, many other components of the UPR influence cell viability and cell fate (McCormick *et al.*, 1997; Scheuner *et al.*, 2001; Yoneda *et al.*, 2001; Scorrano *et al.*, 2003; Zong *et al.*, 2003; Rutkowski *et al.*, 2006; Lin *et al.*, 2009).

In the presence of serum, HT1080 cells do not induce CHOP in response to tunicamycin treatment (Fig. 25B, lane 10). This suggests that under these conditions, HT1080 cells would be resistant to cell death. In order to determine this, I examined the viability of HeLa and HT1080 by reseeding cells after exposure to tunicamycin in the presence or absence of serum. Cells were seeded in 6 cm dishes and left to grow to about 80% confluency (~5 x  $10^5$  cells) before being treated. After treatment, cells were trypsinised, and resuspended in the same volume of fresh medium before being diluted by a factor of 4 into the 96-well plates. The cells were then left to grow overnight before being washed, fixed and DAPI stained, in order to identify cell nuclei. The number of viable cells was then determined by photographing the wells under a fluorescence microscope and analysing the images with Image J software. An example of the images obtained from DAPI staining cells treated with tunicamycin can be seen in Figure 26A. The number of cells in untreated HeLa and HT1080 wells was similar (Fig. 26A). However, the number of viable HeLa cells, which had previously undergone tunicamycin treatment, was less when compared to the same treatment in HT1080 cells. This is represented in Figure 26B which shows that tunicamycin-treated HeLa cells were comparatively less viable than HT1080 cells compared to untreated (Fig. 26B).

202



В





Serum starvation of HeLa cells did not affect cell viability whilst serum starvation of HT1080 cells decreased HT1080 viability by ~30% (Fig. 26). The error bars are the standard deviation of at least two separate experiments, the data from each individual experiment being the average of four or more duplicates. Tunicamycin treatment of HeLa cells decreased cell viability by over a third whilst similar treatment of HT1080 cells only reduced viability by ~20%. Under these conditions, HeLa cells initiate *XBP1* splicing, *BiP* upregulation and *CHOP* induction whereas HT1080 cells do not. Thus, this crucial difference in UPR induction may be responsible for HT1080 cells being ~20% less sensitive than HeLa cells to tunicamycin-induced cell death.

When cells were serum starved concomitantly with tunicamycin treatment, cell viability, in both cell lines, was reduced further, to under a third (Fig. 26). However, despite identical cell treatments, viability between cell lines differed with HT1080 cell viability at almost half that of HeLa cells. Since serum-starved, tunicamycin-treated HT1080 cells exhibit stronger induction of *CHOP* and *XBP1* splicing in comparison to HeLa cells, these results indicate that cell viability may be in part determined by the level of UPR signalling. However, since serum withdrawal of tunicamycin-treated HeLa cells decreased viability without any apparent effect on UPR induction over tunicamycin-only-treated HeLa cells, it is likely that other mechanisms such as the IRE1/TRAF2 pathway and mitochondria-dependent pathways influence cell viability also (Yoneda *et al.*, 2001; Boya *et al.*, 2002; Danial & Korsmeyer, 2004).

4.3.2.3 Genistein suppresses the expression of BiP and XBP1 in HeLa cells undergoing different forms of ER stress.

Our observation that HT1080 cells induced *XBP1* splicing in response to serum withdrawal concomitant with tunicamycin treatment lead us to investigate whether tyrosine kinases might be involved in *XBP1* activation since growth factor receptors have been shown to have intrinsic protein tyrosine kinase activity (Pawson, 2004). Initially, I treated HeLa and HT1080 cells with genistein and analysed *XBP1* processing, and BiP expression in order to confirm that there is no associated UPR induction with general tyrosine kinase inhibition (Fig. 27A).

As seen previously, serum-starved HeLa cells induced *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* induction upon tunicamycin treatment (Fig. 27B, lane 1 and Fig. 25B, lane 3). As expected, when HeLa and HT1080 cells were treated with genistein, *XBP1* processing and *BiP* expression levels were similar to those obtained by mock-treatment. Next, HeLa and HT1080 cells which were subjected to serum starvation and tunicamycin treatment were simultaneously treated with genistein – which specifically inhibits protein tyrosine kinases. When these cells were simultaneously treated with genistein, *XBP1* splicing was attenuated and *BiP* levels decreased (Fig. 27B, lane 2). This is in line with published data demonstrating that genistein inhibits UPR-driven transcription of *BiP/GRP78* in mammalian cells exposed to thapsigargin (Cao *et al.*, 1995).



А

В

SS +Tm



Figure 27. Genistein suppresses *BiP* expression in serum-starved HeLa and HT1080 cells exposed to tunicamycin. A, HeLa and HT1080 cells were either mock treated (-) or exposed to 140  $\mu$ M genistein (+) for 6 hours in the absence of any ER stress inducer (Mock). B, Serum-starved (SS) HeLa and HT1080 cells were treated with tunicamycin (Tm) for 6 hours either in the absence (-) or presence (+) of genistein.

Genistein treatment of serum-starved, tunicamycin-treated HT1080 cells resulted in a decrease in – but not an abolition of – *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* expression (Fig. 27B, lane 4). Taken together, these results indicate that genistein treatment is able to suppress tunicamycin-induced UPR target gene upregulation and proximal UPR signalling events in serum-starved HeLa and HT1080 cells.

In order to determine if this effect was limited to tunicamycin-induced ER stress, I investigated the effect of genistein on HeLa and HT1080 cells treated with DTT and compared this with tunicamycin. These experiments were conducted in the presence of serum in order to examine the effect of genistein on UPR regulation under normal serum conditions. In addition to XBP1 splicing and BiP expression, CHOP expression was also monitored under these conditions. As previously reported, tunicamycin treatment of HeLa cells resulted in splicing of XBP1 and upregulation of BiP and CHOP whereas in HT1080 cells, tunicamycin treatment showed no effect when compared to mock treatment (Fig. 28A, compare lane 2 with lane 1 and lane 7 with lane 6). DTT treatment of HeLa cells also resulted in XBP1 splicing and BiP and CHOP upregulation. In HT1080 cells, DTT treatment resulted in XBP1 splicing, CHOP upregulation and limited BiP upregulation. When tunicamycin- and DTTtreated HeLa cells were subjected to genistein treatment, BiP levels were downregulated but CHOP levels remained constant. In addition, XBP1 expression was decreased although splicing remained at a similar level. These results indicate that, in HeLa cells, genistein can suppress the UPR-driven transcription of both BiP and XBP1 but does not inhibit XBP1 splicing. Furthermore, genistein exerted this effect when the UPR was initiated by a number of different mechanisms such as prevention of glycosylation by tunicamycin and global disulfide reduction by DTT in addition to depletion of ER  $Ca^{2+}$  caused by thapsigargin shown by other groups.

Treatment with genistein in tunicamycin- and DTT-treated HT1080 cells, on the other hand, led to contrasting results. Genistein treatment of HT1080 cells promoted, rather than prevented *XBP1* splicing as well as *BiP* and *CHOP* upregulation by tunicamycin in the presence of serum (Fig. 28A, compare lane 8 with lane 7). Fig. 28A provides further evidence that tunicamycin is bio-available to HT1080 cells, since in the presence of serum and genistein, tunicamycin can activate *XBP1* splicing. These results are in contrast with genistein treatment of tunicamycin-treated HT1080 cells in the absence of serum, in which genistein downregulates *XBP1* and *BiP* expression, confirming that genistein is bio-active at this concentration (Fig. 27B, lane 4).

Under serum-starved, tunicamycin-treated only conditions, *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* were upregulated in HT1080 cells (Fig. 27B, lane 3). This was in contrast to tunicamycin treatment in the presence of serum which did not promote *XBP1* splicing or *BiP* upregulation (Fig. 28A, lane 7). In HT1080 cells exposed to DTT, however, genistein treatment did not lead to changes in *XBP1*, *BiP* or *CHOP* expression (Fig. 27C, compares lane 10 with lane 9). Together these results indicate that under normal serum conditions, genistein treatment of HT1080 cells can promote *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* and *CHOP* upregulation with concomitant tunicamycin but not DTT treatment.

А

В



Figure 28. Genistein suppresses transcriptional activation of *XBP1* and *BiP* induced by a range of ER stress inducers. A, HeLa and HT1080 cells were mock-, tunicamycin (Tm)- or dithiothreitol (DTT)-treated either in the absence (-) or presence (+) of genistein for 6 hours. B, HeLa and HT1080 cells were either mock- or thapsigargin (Tg)-treated in the absence (-) or presence (+) of genistein for 6 hours.

To further investigate how genistein regulates UPR-driven transcription, I studied thapsigargin-induced *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* upregulation in HeLa and HT1080 cells. Thapsigargin-induced ER stress has been used previously to investigate the transcriptional regulation activity of genistein (Zhou & Lee, 1998). Treatment of both HeLa and HT1080 cells with thapsigargin resulted in increased expression of *BiP* and induction of *XBP1* splicing (Fig. 28B, lanes 2 and 5). However, whereas concomitant treatment of thapsigargin and genistein decreased both *XBP1* and *BiP* expression in HeLa cells, there was no further effect on expression levels of *XBP1* and *BiP* upon treatment of genistein in HT1080 cells. These results further strengthen our conjecture that expression of *XBP1* – in addition to *BiP* – is also suppressed by genistein in HeLa cells and that this mechanism is independent of the type of stress experienced by the cell. These results also indicate that the synergistic effect of genistein and tunicamycin treatment demonstrated in HT1080 cells (Fig. 28A, lane 8) is specific to tunicamycin.



Figure 29. Genistein can suppress *XBP1* and *BiP* transcriptional activity or promote *XBP1* splicing at early time points. HeLa and HT1080 cells were mockor tunicamycin (Tm)-treated in the absence (-) or presence (+) of genistein for either 1 or 3 hours.





С



Figure 30. The UPR-driven protein expression of GRP94 is suppressed by genistein in HeLa cells. A, HeLa and HT1080 cells were either mock- or tunicamycin (Tm)-treated in absence (-) or presence (+) of genistein for 6 hours. Cells were then lysed and subjected to SDS-PAGE and Western blotting using the  $\alpha$ Grp94 antibody. B, A Jol 2 control. C, GRP94 expression levels from A, calculated by optical density of each band using TINA.

Our experimental approach thus far was to treat cells with genistein for the duration of ER stress exposure; usually 6 hours. However, the effects of genistein on HeLa and HT1080 cells can be seen as early as 3 hours (Fig. 29). HeLa cells treated with tunicamycin for 3 hours induce *XBP1* splicing and upregulate *BiP*. However, genistein can suppress this effect at the 3 hour time point (Fig. 29, compare lane 5 with lane 4). The synergistic effect of tunicamycin and genistein in promoting *XBP1* splicing in HT1080 cells can be detected as early as 1 hour (Fig. 29, lane 8). However, a 3 hour treatment with tunicamycin and genistein is insufficient to upregulate *BiP* expression in HT1080 cells – although a 6 hour treatment is sufficient (Fig. 28A, lane 8). Thus, the synergistic induction of *BiP* by tunicamycin and genistein is in HT1080 cells is slower than the inhibition of tunicamycin-induced *BiP* expression by genistein in HeLa cells.

Since, in response to stress in mammalian cells, *BiP* expression is coordinately induced at the transcription level with *grp94* (Liu & Lee, 1991), I investigated the effect of genistein treatment on GRP94 protein levels (Fig. 30). HeLa and HT1080 cells were subjected to tunicamycin treatment only, or tunicamycin and genistein treatment together. Tunicamycin treatment resulted in a mild increase in GRP94 levels in HeLa cells at steady state (Fig. 30A, compare lanes 1 and 2).

In the presence of genistein, protein levels of GRP94 in HeLa were decreased to near mock-treated levels (Fig. 30A, lane 3 and Fig. 30C). Conversely, for HT1080, tunicamycin treatment did not measurably induce GRP94 (Fig. 30A, compare lane 5 with lane 4 and Fig. 30C). This behaviour is contrary to that of *BiP* which is

transcriptionally induced – albeit less robustly than in HeLa – in tunicamycin-induced HT1080 cells (Fig. 7). Although I have not analysed the induction of GRP94 message levels, this result provides further evidence of HT1080 cells being unable to launch a strong tunicamycin-induced UPR. Genistein treatment of tunicamycin-treated HT1080 cells, however, resulted in a small decrease in GRP94 protein levels. Taken together, these results indicate that genistein may be able to suppress UPR-dependent and -independent *grp94* expression, but further work will be required to clarify this.

### 4.3.2.4 Genistein regulates the transcriptional activation of BiP and XBP1.

Since tyrosine phosphorylation has been implicated in the regulation of transcription factor complex formation (Novina *et al.*, 1998; Hong *et al.*, 2005), I investigated whether the tyrosine kinase inhibitor activity of genistein might be responsible for its ability to suppress ER stress target gene induction. I studied the tyrosine kinase inhibitor activity of genistein by comparing its ability to regulate transcription with the isoflavonoid diadzein. Diadzein is a phytoestrogen antioxidant which is also found in dietary soy products (Wiseman & Duffy, 2001). It is a structural analogue of genistein, however, it lacks the tyrosine kinase inhibitor activity (Akiyama *et al.*, 1987).



В



Figure 31. Diadzein does not suppress the UPR-driven transcriptional activity of *XBP1* or *BiP* in HeLa cells. A, HeLa cells were either mock- or tunicamycin (Tm)-treated in the absence (-) or presence (+) of either genistein or diadzein for 6 hours. B, As in A but cells were treated for either 1 or 6 hours.

А

HeLa cells were either mock- or tunicamycin-treated in the absence or presence of genistein or diadzein for the duration of the 6 hour treatment. When HeLa cells were subjected to diadzein treatment only, there was minimal *XBP1* splicing and *BiP* induction when compared to non-treated cells (Fig. 31A, compare lane 3 with lane 1). When tunicamycin-treated HeLa cells were exposed to diadzein, *XBP1* splicing as well as the expression level of *XBP1* and *BiP* remained comparable to tunicamycin-only treatment (Fig. 31A, compare lane 4 with lane 2). As previously seen, exposure of tunicamycin-treated HeLa cell to genistein resulted in decreased *XBP1* and *BiP* expression. Since the effects of genistein on tunicamycin-treated cells can be demonstrated at early time points (Fig. 29), I investigated the effects of diadzein on tunicamycin-induced *XBP1* and *BiP* expression in HeLa cells at both 1 hour and 6 hours in order to rule out any early inhibitory effects on transcription (Fig. 31B).

Analysis of concomitant diadzein and tunicamycin treatment after 1 hour revealed similar expression levels of *XBP1* and *BiP* compared to diadzein-only treatment (Fig. 31B, compare lane 7 with lane 6). Taken together, these results indicate that diadzein has no effect on tunicamycin-induced *BiP* and *XBP1* expression with short- or long-term treatment in HeLa cells. Thus, it is probable that the tyrosine kinase inhibitory activity of genistein confers an ability to regulate UPR-driven transcriptional activation of *BiP* and *XBP1*. These results are supported by published data which suggest that tyrosine phosphorylation is essential for efficient transcriptional activation of *BiP*, at least in HeLa cells.

4.3.2.5 Genistein treatment does not strongly suppress MHC class I misoxidationinduced XBP1 or BiP expression.

I have shown that *XBP1* and *BiP* expression can be attenuated with genistein treatment in the face of pharmacologically induced ER stress. An interesting question arising from these observations is whether ER protein misfolding/misoxidation is influenced by genistein. Since I am interested in how the UPR is coordinated in response to misoxidation, I investigated whether genistein treatment could suppress *XBP1* and *BiP* expression induced by HLA-B27 misoxidation. HLA-B27 was transiently transfected into HeLa cells and treated with or without genistein 6 hours prior to lysis. Lysates were analysed for heavy chain misoxidation by HC10 Western blotting under reducing and non-reducing conditions and for *XBP1* and *BiP* expression by RT-PCR (Fig. 32). Transfection of the HLA-B27 heavy chain resulted in extensive misoxidation and the formation of high molecular weight complexes in the non-reducing HC10 blot (Fig. 32A, lane 2). Post-transfection treatment with genistein did not appreciably affect heavy chain misoxidation (Fig. 32A, lane 3).

Analysis of *XBP1* and *BiP* expression levels revealed that genistein treatment decreases misoxidation-induced *XBP1* expression only very mildly whereas *BiP* expression was not suppressed by genistein under these conditions. Whereas previously I had treated cells with genistein for the duration of the stress period (usually 6 hours), this procedure only allowed the presence of genistein several hours into the stress period.



Figure 32. Genistein does not suppress MHC class I heavy chain misoxidation-induced transcriptional activation of XBP1 or BiP in HeLa cells. A, HeLa cells were either mock transfected or transfected with HLA-B27 (HLA-B27), grown overnight and then either treated without (-) or with (+) genistein for 6 hours. Cells were then lysed and analysed reducing (R) and non-reducing (NR) SDS-PAGE and subsequent Western blotting with the anti-MHC class I HC antibody HC10. B, As in A but cells were analysed by RT-PCR for XBP1 splicing and BiP and β-actin expression.

В

Prolonged ER stress induced by protein misfolding may trigger a UPR response that is fundamentally distinct – in so much as it may utilise different branches of the UPR - from short term ER stress. Thus, genistein might be unable to suppress mechanisms of XBP1 and BiP upregulation that arise from prolonged ER stress. Note that BiP levels and XBP1 splicing was mildly activated in the mock treated cells of this experiment (Fig. 32B, lane 1), and that untransfected cells will also be present in the transfected dish. Thus, this experiment may under-represent the extent of stress signalling in response to ER protein misoxidation. Overexpression of heavy chains by transient transfection may not mimic physiological stress, in which case genistein treatment might still be able to suppress UPR-driven transcriptional activation in cells from the HLA-B27 transgenic rat model for example (Tran et al., 2004). However, there are likely to be tissue- and cell-specific differences in UPR-driven transcriptional activation, so the ability of genistein to suppress transcriptional activity may vary dependent on cell types. Further work will be required to determine if genistein can attenuate UPR-driven upregulation of XBP1 and BiP in animal model systems and in the clinic.

### 4.3.3 Discussion

I demonstrate that genistein can suppress UPR-driven upregulation of *BiP* in response to tunicamycin, thapsigargin and DTT treatment but not MHC class I heavy chain misoxidation by transient transfection (Figs. 27, 29 and 32). Thus, I provide evidence of the transcriptional regulation activity of genistein in response to various types of ER stress. However, genistein treatment does not downregulate basal *BiP* expression (Fig. 27A). This is in line with published work which shows that genistein has no effect on basal *BiP* promoter activity (Cao *et al.*, 1995; Zhou & Lee, 1998).

The isoflavonoid genistein is a potent inhibitor of tyrosine kinase activity but does not inhibit the activity of serine and threonine kinases (Akiyama *et al.*, 1987). Although originally isolated in *Pseudomonas* sp., genistein, as well as other isoflavonoids such as diadzein, is present in large concentrations in soy products – such as tofu – which is a fundamental part of the Chinese and Japanese diet. Studies using an immunoconjugate of genistein and the monoclonal antibody B43 – which targets genistein to the B-cell-specific receptor CD19 – demonstrated that, in B-cell precursor (BCP) leukaemia cells, genistein selectively inhibited CD19-associated tyrosine kinases leading to rapid apoptotic death of these cells (Uckun *et al.*, 1995). Thus, it was postulated that protein tyrosine kinase inhibitors may have therapeutic potential in the treatment of haematological malignancies. Since then, tyrosine kinase inhibitors such has erlotinib, which specifically targets the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) tyrosine kinase, have been developed for the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer (Perez-Solder *et al.*, 2004; Amann *et al.*, 2005).

Furthermore, genistein has been shown to downregulate cytokine-induced signal transduction events and, through its protein kinase inhibitor activity, impairs humoral immunity by blocking B-cell receptor mediated signalling (Lane et al., 1991; Kim et al., 2007). The tyrosine kinase inhibitor activity of genistein also downregulates the expression of the ER chaperone grp78/BiP which has implications for cell survival, and may therefore have therapeutic implications particularly for tumorigenic cells. Fazlul Sarkar's group showed that genistein can inhibit NF-KB activation in prostate cancer cells through Akt signalling, which is important in controlling the balance between cell survival and apoptosis (Davis et al., 1999; Li & Sarkar, 2002; Song et al., 2005; Banerjee et al., 2008). This indicates that genistein might regulate cell survival via the NF- $\kappa$ B and Akt signalling pathways. Since NF- $\kappa$ B is implicated in inflammatory diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease, a component of spondyloarthritis (Tak & Firestein, 2001; Chang et al., 2009), these findings may provide an approach to therapy for inflammatory disease. The preferential survival of certain cell types may contribute to inflammatory disease, since if certain cell types, such as cells which express high levels of IFN- $\gamma$ , exhibit increased survival in the face of ER stress, this might lead to an increase in cytokine signalling and be a contributing factor to chronic inflammation.

I demonstrate that *XBP1* expression, but not *XBP1* splicing, might also be regulated by genistein treatment. UPR-driven expression of *XBP1* was consistently low when cells were exposed to genistein (Figs. 27B, 4, 5 and 7). *XBP1* mRNA expression is induced in response to ER stress by ATF6 (Yoshida *et al.*, 2000; Yoshida *et al.*, 2001a). However, ATF6-mediated stimulation of the *grp78* promoter activity is resistant to genistein treatment suggesting that ATF6 does not contribute to genisteinmediated suppression of transcriptional activity (Li *et al.*, 2000). The transcription factor TFII-I, which is a downstream target of genistein tyrosine kinase inhibitor activity, interacts with ATF6 (Parker *et al.*, 2001). Since tyrosine phosphorylation of TFII-I is essential for transcription factor complex formation, genistein treatment might prevent TFII-I-ATF6 complex formation leading to suppression of ATF6 UPR target genes. Moreover, there is some evidence to suggest that UPR-driven upregulation of *XBP1* may occur by ATF6-independent mechanisms (Lee *et al.*, 2003). Alternatively, UPR-driven ATF6 expression might be suppressed by genistein which would then have consequences for *XBP1* induction. Further work will be required to verify if UPR-driven *XBP1* induction can be suppressed by genistein and the mechanism that underlies its transcriptional regulation. Additionally, our results also suggest that protein levels of GRP94, an ER chaperone which is coordinately induced with *BiP*, may also be downregulated by genistein (Fig. 30).

Studies by Amy Lee's group have highlighted the importance of c-Src-mediated phosphorylation of TFII-I in *BiP* expression and suggested that c-Src is a potential target of genistein tyrosine kinase inhibitor activity (Parker *et al.*, 2001; Hong *et al.*, 2005). However, Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) – which is important in B-cell maturation – and Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) also directly phosphorylate tyrosine residues on TFII-I. Our studies comparing a structural analogue of genistein, diadzein, also point to tyrosine kinase inhibition as important for the attenuation of *BiP* expression. Diadzein, like genistein, is a phytoestrogen but lacks its tyrosine kinase inhibitor activity. I demonstrate that diadzein has no effect on tunicamycin-driven *BiP* or *XBP1* 

upregulation either at short (1 hour) or long (6 hour) time points (Fig. 31). This is contrary to genistein treatment, which suppresses tunicamycin-induced *XBP1* and *BiP* upregulation. Thus, this finding supports the hypothesis that the tyrosine kinase inhibitor activity of genistein is responsible for suppression of *grp78* transcriptional activation although further work is required to analyse the phosphorylation of TFII-I and determine the tyrosine kinase targets of genistein.

Our studies reveal that different cell types can respond to the same stimuli in diverse ways. I show that cell viability is reduced in HT1080 cells to a lesser extent than HeLa cells in response to tunicamycin treatment (Fig. 26). This finding was consistent although further investigation into cell viability using other methods such as crystal violet staining would further validate this finding. Furthermore, I establish that genistein can differentially activate XBP1 in a cell specific manner. Whereas exposure of tunicamycin-treated HeLa cells to genistein suppresses transcriptional activation of BiP, the same treatment in HT1080 cells potentiates BiP expression and XBP1 splicing (Fig. 28A and 5). This synergistic effect was only observed with tunicamycin treatment. Furthermore, DTT- and thapsigargin-induced XBP1 splicing and BiP expression was not suppressed by genistein in HT1080 cells. However, genistein is capable of suppressing UPR-driven transcriptional activation in serum-starved HT1080 cells exposed to tunicamycin (Fig. 27B) indicating that the mechanism by which genistein attenuates transcriptional activation in HeLa cells may be functional in HT1080 cells. A summary of cell-specific differences in UPR regulation can be seen in Figure 33.



Figure 33. Cell-specific differences in UPR regulation between HeLa and HT1080. Each individual treatment is indicated on the left. Cells were treated with tunicamycin (Tm), genistein (Gen) or/and serum starved. The corresponding outcome in HeLa and HT1080 is indicated on the right compared to the previous treatment. An increase in expression, or activation in the case of XBP1 splicing, is represented by and up-arrow. A decrease is represented by a down-arrow and no effect is represented by a dash. All outcomes are based on data from this chapter or Results Chapter 4.1.

Unusually, HT1080 cells, when treated with tunicamycin only, do not initiate *XBP1* splicing or strongly upregulate *BiP* or *CHOP* (Figs. 25, 28A, 29 and Results Chapter 1). Initially, this was thought to be the consequence of tunicamycin being less available to the cell, but the observation that tunicamycin can activate *XBP1* splicing in the presence of genistein in HT1080 cells and that tunicamycin treatment can prevent glycosylation of MHC class I heavy chains demonstrates that tunicamycin is bio-available to HT1080 cells (Figs. 28A and 29 and Fig. 9B). Genistein is unlikely to activate tunicamycin import to or prevent tunicamycin export from HT1080 cell since vesicle assays have shown that genistein stimulates the ATPase activity of multi-drug resistance protein (MRP) transporters (Hooijberg et al., 1997). Therefore, if MRPs were involved in tunicamycin transport in HT1080, genistein should decrease, rather than increase, its bioavailability.

I also demonstrate that the weak response to tunicamycin in HT1080 cells can be overcome by serum starvation and that HT1080 cells treated with tunicamycin are relatively resistant to cell death (Fig. 25 and 26). Therefore, I propose that there is a molecular regulator of *XBP1* activity in HT1080 cells. A candidate protein which may play a role in regulating *XBP1* activity and the response to stress-inducing stimuli is the apoptotic regulator in the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum (ARMER)/ARL6IP1, which protects HT1080 cells from apoptosis when exposed to a variety of stimuli which can cause ER stress (Pettersson *et al.*, 2000; Lui *et al.*, 2003). ARMER has been shown to protect cells from tunicamycin-induced apoptosis by modulating caspase-9 activity. ARMER interacts with ADP-ribosylation-like factor-6 (ARL6), a member of the Ras superfamily, which interacts with a component of the

SEC61 channel, SEC61 $\beta$  (Ingley *et al.*, 1999). Moreover, ARMER is a direct target of C/EBP $\alpha$ , which possesses strong apoptotic activity; is involved in the regulation of cell growth and is controlled by a complex network or pathways which differ in different cell types (Wang *et al.*, 2008). Thus, a possible role for regulation of *XBP1* and the UPR by the ARMER/C/EBP $\alpha$  pathway deserves further exploration.

The results of our studies have particular relevance to inflammatory disease which is becoming increasingly linked with UPR activation. The effect of genistein on the immune system is cell type-dependent (Sakai & Togiso, 2008). Our results suggest that these differences may be linked to the control of *XBP1*, or of *BiP* induction, by genistein. This work provides an explanation for differences in tunicamycin responsiveness between cell lines, and provides a framework for identifying novel regulators of the UPR.

## **5. FINAL DISCUSSION**

### 5. Final Discussion

Recently ankylosing spondylitis has been linked to the misfolding of the MHC class I heavy chain HLA-B27 (Turner et al., 2005). Increased expression levels of HLA-B27, induced by IFN- $\gamma$ , in the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat result in activation of the UPR and an associated increase in disulfide linked B27 complexes (Turner et al., 2007). I show that overexpression of HLA-B27 by transient transfection leads to the formation of disulfide linked B27 complexes and associated activation of XBP1 and upregulation of *BiP* (Fig. 19 and 20). This is relevant to AS since *XBP1* activation has been linked with intestinal inflammation, a key component of AS. Furthermore, I demonstrate that different cell types are differentially sensitive to certain forms of ER stress which may impact upon cell survival and death (Fig. 10, 12, 26 and 28). I show that while tunicamycin treatment of HeLa cells leads to XBP1 splicing and induction of the proapoptotic component CHOP, tunicamycin treatment of HT1080 cells does not (Figs. 9-12). This is important in the context of AS since apoptosis of certain synovial cells, such as synovial fibroblasts, can lead to tissue damage and may contribute to disease pathogenesis (Yang et al., 2007). Furthermore, soluble tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) is upregulated in AS patients indicating that apoptosis may be important in disease (Yang et al., 2007). Thus, the work in results chapter 2 has implications for inflammatory disease and AS.

**Final Discussion** 

### 5.1 Coordination of the UPR in response to diverse ER stimuli

The unfolded protein response (UPR) is a multifaceted system for relieving ER stress and restoring ER homeostasis. The three branches of the UPR were originally thought to be activated in the same manner, by titration of BiP away from the lumenal domains of the three stress inducers, but recent studies have determined that certain UPR branches might be subject to further regulation, such as disulfide reduction in ATF6, or have additional activities related to activation, such as IRE1-mediated mRNA degradation, IRE1 clustering and mRNA targeting to IRE1 (Hollien & Weissman, 2006; Nadanaka *et al.*, 2006; Nadanaka *et al.*, 2007; Aragon *et al.*, 2009; Korennykh *et al.*, 2009; Schindler *et al.*, 2009; Yanagitani *et al.*, 2009; Kohno, 2010). Furthermore, direct binding of IRE1 to unfolded proteins has been suggested to be necessary for activation, which may allow the discrimination of certain conformations (Credle *et al.*, 2005; Kimata *et al.*, 2007; Pincus *et al.*, 2010). Thus, the individual branches of the UPR, aside from having distinct downstream effects – although some functional redundancy does exist – might also be activated by distinct mechanisms in addition to the common mechanism of negative regulation by BiP.

In the first results chapter, I analysed the induction of the UPR using pharmacological agents. For the ATF6 branch of the UPR I demonstrate that ATF6 $\alpha$  can form higher order structures and, in addition, show that upon treatment with DTT and tunicamycin, the ratio of oligomeric and dimeric to monomeric ATF6 $\alpha$  is changed leading to an increase in the monomer pool of ATF6 $\alpha$  (Fig 16). Tunicamycin is less efficient in inducing ATF6 $\alpha$  oligomer/dimer reduction than DTT, suggesting stimuli-

specific regulation of ATF6a. DTT is likely to reduce disulfide-bound ATF6a directly, but this begs the question of how tunicamycin treatment induces ATF6a reduction. Could ATF6 $\alpha$  reduction be caused by PDI, the most abundant oxidoreductase in the ER? Since PDI can act as a chaperone, in a situation where misfolded proteins have accumulated in the ER one might expect there to be less free PDI available since it will be found bound to substrates. One theory is that the increase in protein folding machinery brought about by UPR activation could increase the concentration of potential reductants in the ER which may possibly favour ATF6a reduction. However, increased free oxidoreductases might initiate the restoration of ER homeostasis and so continued UPR signalling through ATF6a would be counter intuitive. Thus, further work, such as pulse-chase experiments to study deoligomerisation over time, or analysis of ATF6a cysteine mutants will be required to determine the significance of ATF6 $\alpha$  reduction in activation of the ATF6 branch of the UPR. Further studies to identify potential molecules involved in the reduction of ATF6 $\alpha$  are also required. Our results are supported by those of Nadanaka and colleagues who showed that under non-stressed conditions ATF6 exists as disulfidebonded dimers and oligomers in addition to the monomeric form (Nadanaka et al., 2007).

Our results show that in response to different ER stress-inducing stimuli, cells upregulate the UPR target gene *BiP* but not all to the same degree (Fig. 7). Using pharmacological agents which prevent glycosylation (tunicamycin) and cause perturbation in ER  $Ca^{2+}$  levels (thapsigargin) led to the biggest increase in *BiP* 

expression (Fig. 7). However, processing of *XBP1*, which also exhibited diverse levels of activation dependent on stimuli, did not show the same pattern since disruption of disulfides with DTT caused the most robust splicing of *XBP1* (Figs. 9 and 10). Thus, different ER-stress-inducing stimuli may induce distinct patterns of UPR activity at both the activatory (*XBP1* splicing) and downstream transcriptional activity (*BiP* expression) level. Although *BiP* upregulation is a target of *XBP1*(S), the discrepancy in activation pattern between *BiP* upregulation and *XBP1* splicing is most likely to be due to the influence of p50ATF6, which also upregulates *BiP*.

The work of Lin and colleagues took steps towards understanding how the UPR is coordinated in response to stress and how coordination of the UPR branches contributes to cell survival (Lin *et al.*, 2007; Lin *et al.*, 2009). They showed that there is temporal regulation of UPR signalling by demonstrating that *XBP1* splicing levels decline after long periods of prolonged ER stress whereas PERK signalling is sustained over time. They suggest that this may sensitise the cell to apoptosis after chronic ER stress resulting in the enhancement of PERK-dependent *CHOP* expression and a decrease in IRE1-mediated prosurvival signalling through XBP1. Lin and colleagues showed that, in HEK293 cells, *XBP1* splicing is detectable at 4 hours post treatment (Lin *et al.*, 2007). This is consistent with our work since I demonstrate that, in HeLa cells, *XBP1* splicing starts to occur between 3 and 6 hours (Fig. 11A).

Here, I also show that different cell types respond differently to distinct forms of ER stress. I report that the HT1080 fibrosarcoma cell line, despite upregulating *BiP*, *CHOP* and *XBP1* splicing in response to treatment with DTT, thapsigargin and

A23187, are selectively resistant to UPR induction by tunicamycin (Figs. 9-12). Thus, HT1080 cells do not upregulate CHOP or activate XBP1 splicing in response to tunicamycin. I demonstrate that the weak response to tunicamycin in HT1080 cells can be overcome by serum starvation (Fig. 25). However, tunicamycin-treated HT1080 did upregulate *BiP* to levels comparative to that induced by DTT (Fig. 7). Although on other occasions I have detected less robust BiP induction in response to tunicamycin (Fig. 11A). Investigating the activity of tunicamycin in HT1080 cells revealed that tunicamycin was preventing glycosylation indicating that it was being taken up by the cells (Fig. 11B and 15). Furthermore, I show that HT1080 cells are relatively resistant to cell death indicating that increased cell survival is linked with low level UPR activity (Fig. 26). The proapoptotic UPR component CHOP is not induced in tunicamycin-treated HT1080 cells. Since the deletion of CHOP protects cells from the lethal consequences of ER stress, it is possible that failure to induce CHOP in HT1080 cells is responsible for increased cell survival (Zinszner et al., 1998; Oyadomari et al., 2002; Pennuto et al., 2008). However, since IRE-mediated JNK activity has been linked with apoptosis, further work is needed to verify if the IRE1-JNK pathway similarly fails to activate in HT1080 cells (Urano et al., 2000; Nishitoh et al., 2002). This is important in the context of inflammation, which may be caused in part by the preferential survival of cells that promote inflammation.

### 5.2 MHC class I heavy chain misfolding-driven UPR activation

Recently HLA-B27 misfolding has been linked with activation of the UPR in the B27/h $\beta_2$ m animal model of AS (Turner *et al.*, 2005). These rats express high levels of class I heavy chain due to a high copy number of the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgene. High

expression levels of B27 have been linked with disease in the transgenic rat, mouse and in human SpA sufferers (Taurog *et al.*, 1993; Khare *et al.*, 1995; Khare *et al.*, 1997; Cauli *et al.*, 2002). Thus, I used transient transfection to overexpress different MHC class I heavy chains in HeLa cells to determine the level of misfolding and investigate the comparative level of UPR induction induced from disease associated and non-disease-associated heavy chains (Ch. 4.2).

I demonstrate that overexpression of both HLA-B7 and HLA-B27 - in the absence of increased expression of  $\beta_2 m$  – in HeLa cells is sufficient to induce misfolding/misoxidation defined by the presence of disulfide-linked, high molecular weight complexes (Fig. 19). Misfolding of both heavy chains was sufficient to induce upregulation of BiP protein levels as well as XBP1 splicing and increased transcription of BiP (Fig. 19 and 20). The levels of B27-driven UPR induction was lower than those induced by pharmacological agents. This has been described in the literature relating to the transgenic rat model where UPR associated with B27 misfolding is less than that observed with tunicamycin treatment (Turner et al., 2005). This is not surprising since misfolding of a single protein species is unlikely to lead to as much cellular disruption as the global effect of disulfide reduction (as with DTT) or prevention of glycosylation (as with tunicamycin). Thus, in this transient transfection model, XBP1 splicing and BiP upregulation is correlated with cI HC misoxidation and is independent of heavy chain disease association In contrast, stable transfection of HLA-B27 and HLA-A2 in C58 cells did not result in XBP1 splicing levels beyond background levels (Fig. 22). Since I have observed that the level of XBP1 splicing is correlated with HC expression levels, it is possible that these stably transfected cell lines do not express HCs at as high a level as transiently transfected cells, although further work will be required to clarify this. However, a lack of *XBP1* splicing in these cells could indicate that they have adapted and attenuated the IRE1 prosurvival arm of the UPR. Studying the UPR activity of these cells from initial transfection through to becoming established stable transfectants would give an insight into how coordination of the UPR occurs in cells undergoing prolonged ER stress.

*XBP1* activation is becoming increasingly linked with inflammatory disease *in vivo* and especially intestinal inflammation (Kaser & Blumberg, 2010). Conditional deletion of *XBP1* in the intestinal epithelium of mice leads to the spontaneous development of intestinal inflammation showing great similarity to IBD (Kaser *et al.*, 2008). Indeed, hypomorphic *XBP1*, that is *XBP1* with reduced gene activity, actually results in ER stress determined by upregulation of *BiP*. Thus, it seems that intestinal inflammation, a key component of SpA and of inflammatory disease in the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat model, is linked with ER stress activation and *XBP1* activity.

Consistent with our novel findings that HT1080 cells do not induce *CHOP* expression in response to tunicamycin treatment (Fig. 12), B27 misfolding did not induce *CHOP* expression either. Given that B27 misfolding induces a milder UPR than tunicamycin treatment in the transgenic rat, it is not a surprise that HT1080 cells, which are unresponsive to tunicamycin, do not induce *CHOP* in response to B27 misfolding.

Activation of NF- $\kappa$ B, a master regulator of inflammation, has long been associated with ER dysfunction and ER stress (Pahl, 1999; Deng *et al.*, 2004; Zhang & Kaufman,
2008). The contribution of NF- $\kappa$ B signalling to inflammatory disease is currently unknown although the expression of HLA-B27 markedly enhances NF- $\kappa$ B activation and TNF $\alpha$  secretion in monocyte cells in response to LPS, suggesting that B27 may modulate NF- $\kappa$ B activation in response to infection (Penttinen *et al.*, 2002). However, gene expression analysis of bone marrow macrophages from the B27/h $\beta_2$ m transgenic rat model did not reveal a strong NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent transcriptional response (Turner *et al.*, 2005). Turner and colleagues postulated that under prolonged IFN- $\gamma$  stimulation, a more robust UPR with NF- $\kappa$ B activation might be observed. Thus, the contribution of NF- $\kappa$ B to inflammatory disease is worthy of further exploration. Levels of the inhibitor of NF- $\kappa$ B, I $\kappa$ B as well as immunoprecipitation studies to reveal the extent of I $\kappa$ B-bound NF- $\kappa$ B in our transient transfection model might give an insight into the consequences of B27 misfolding on NF- $\kappa$ B activation.

## 5.3 The integration of genistein activity with the UPR

Genistein is an isoflavone with tyrosine kinase inhibitory activity. It has previously been demonstrated to regulate ER-stress induced *BiP* upregulation through interference with transcription factor complex assembly and interaction with the *BiP* promoter. I demonstrate that genistein can suppress tunicamycin- and DTT-induced *BiP* upregulation in HeLa cells (Fig. 28). Consistent with this observation, thapsigargin-induced *BiP/Grp78* upregulation is suppressed by treatment with genistein in Chinese hamster ovary cells (Cao *et al.*, 1995). Furthermore, I establish that ER stress-driven expression of *XBP1* but not *CHOP* is also suppressed by genistein in HeLa cells (Fig. 28). Thus, I provide evidence of the transcriptional

regulation activity of genistein in response to various types of ER stress. *XBP1* expression is driven by ATF6, yet ATF6-mediated stimulation of the *Grp78* promoter activity is resistant to genistein treatment suggesting that genistein activity regulates the activity of more than one branch of the UPR (Lee *et al.*, 2000; Yoshida *et al.*, 2000; Yoshida *et al.*, 2001a). Further work is required to verify if genistein is able to suppress upregulation of *XBP1* or indeed other UPR target genes.

Genistein activity appears to be cell specific, since genistein can differentially activate *XBP1* in HT1080 cells exposed to tunicamycin (Fig. 28 and 29). This further highlights the diversity of activity of tunicamycin-driven UPR in HT1080 and HeLa cells. Genistein does not suppress thapsigargin-induced *BiP* upregulation – or indeed *XBP1* upregulation – in HT1080 cells (Fig. 28). Unsurprisingly, *BiP* expression is not attenuated in genistein- and tunicamycin-treated HT1080 cells since tunicamycin does not induce *BiP* upregulation in HT1080 cells in the absence of genistein. Rather, genistein treatment in the presence of tunicamycin – and not DTT or thapsigargin – promotes *XBP1* splicing in HT1080 cells (Fig. 28).

Genistein does suppress UPR-driven transcriptional activation in serum-starved HT1080 cells exposed to tunicamycin (Fig. 27). Thus, the mechanism by which genistein attenuates transcriptional activation in HeLa cells may be functional in HT1080 cells. Therefore, I propose the presence of a molecular regulator of *XBP1* in activity in HT1080 cells. One candidate is the apoptotic regulator ARMER which protects HT1080 cells from apoptosis when exposed to various stimuli including tunicamycin. Gene silencing of ARMER in HT1080 cells combined with analysis of

UPR induction in response to a wider variety of ER stress inducers, including those which disrupt the glycosylation machinery, would provide an insight into the potential influence of ARMER on HT1080 UPR induction and determine if a failure to respond to certain stimuli is dependent on the nature of that stimulus. Furthermore, recent work has highlighted HSP72 as a regulator of ER stress-induced apoptosis (Gupta *et al.*, 2010). HSP72 protected PC12 cells from ER-stress induced apoptosis by increasing the amplitude of IRE1-XBP1 signalling via a direct interaction, thus

promoting survival. Although I do not observe increased *XBP1* signalling in HT1080 cells exposed to tunicamycin, HSP72 has been reported to inhibit *CHOP* and TNF $\alpha$ -induced apoptosis (Gotoh *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, diminished UPR signalling in HT1080 cells might be the consequence of direct modulation of ER efferent signalling.

The pathogenesis of AS is likely to be a complex interaction of innate and adaptive immune responses. The influence of HLA-B27 misfolding on disease pathogenesis is irrefutable; however, it is likely that other mechanisms such as  $CD4^+$  T-cell recognition of cell surface homodimers may influence disease. Recent analysis of genetic susceptibility to AS has highlighted the IL-23 receptor. Furthermore, *IL-23R* polymorphisms have been implicated in Crohn's disease and other inflammatory phenotypes (Duerr *et al.*, 2006; Cargill *et al.*, 2007). Rather than contributing to T-cell differentiation, IL-23 favours the expansion and maintenance of Th17 cells suggesting that, in SpA patients, these cells might expand under the influence of IL-23 (McGeachy *et al.*, 2009; Melis & Elewaut, 2009). There is also growing evidence that IL-17 is a crucial proinflammatory cytokine since it can act on several cell types

including macrophages, fibroblasts, endothelial and epithelial cells to upregulate TNF $\alpha$ , IL-6 and IL-1 (Nakae *et al.*, 2003; Kolls *et al.*, 2004). Aside from IL-17, Th17 cells are also capable of producing TNF $\alpha$  and IL-6 themselves (Cua *et al.*, 2003; Chen *et al.*, 2006). Thus, it is clear that the downstream effects of Th17 expansion may include the production of multiple proinflammatory cytokines. The influence of HLA-B27 misfolding on IL-23 production, Th17 cell expansion and IL-17 production may provide novel insights into the pathogenesis of AS and other inflammatory diseases associated with a misfolding phenotype.

## **6. REFERENCES**

## 6. References

Abeijon, C. and Hirschberg, C. B. (1992). Topography of glycosylation reactions in the endoplasmic reticulum. Trends Biochem Sci 17: 32–36.

Acosta-Alvear, D., Zhou, Y., Blais, A., Tsikitis, M., Lents, N. H., Arias, C., Lennon, C. J., Kluger, Y. and Dynlacht, B. D. (2007). XBP1controls diverse cell type- and condition-specific transcriptional regulatory networks. Mol Cell 27: 53–66.

Adachi, Y., Yamamoto, K., Okada, T., Yoshida, H., Harada, A. and Mori, K. (2008). ATF6 is a transcription factor specializing in the regulation of quality control proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. Cell Struct Funct. 33 (1): 75-89.

Akiyama, T., Ishida, J., Nakagawa, S., Ogawara, H., Wantanabe, S., Itoh, N., Shibuya, M. and Fukami, Y. (1987). Genistein, a specific inhibitor of tyrosine-specific protein kinases. 262 (12): 5592-5595.

Alanen, H. I., Williamson, R. A., Howard, M. J., Hatahet, F. S., Salo, K. E., Kauppila, A., Kellokumpu, S. and Ruddock, L. W. (2006). ERp27, a new non-catalytic endoplasmic reticulum-located human protein disulfide isomerase family member, interacts with ERp57. J. Biol. Chem. 281: 33727–33738.

Albanese, V., Yam, A.Y.W., Baughman, J., Parnot, C. & Frydman, J. (2006). Systems analyses reveal two chaperone networks with distinct functions in eukaryotic cells. Cell 124, 75–88.

Allen, J. R., Nguyen, L. X., Sargent, K. E., Lipson, K. L., Hackett, A. and Urano, F. (2004). High ER stress in beta-cells stimulates intracellular degradation of misfolded insulin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 324: 166–170.

Allen, R. L., O'Callaghan, C. A., McMichael, A. J. and Bowness, P. (1999). Cutting edge: HLA-B27 can form a novel beta 2-microglobulin-free heavy chain homodimer structure. J Immunol 162: 5045–8.

Allen, R. L., Raine, T., Haude, A., Trowsdale, J. and Wilson, M. J. (2001). Leukocyte receptor complex-encoded immunomodulatory receptors show differing specificity for alternative HLA-B27 structures. J. Immunol. 167: 5543–5547.

Amann, J., Kalvankrishna, S., Massion, P. P., Ohm, J. E., Girard, L., Shigematsu, H., Peyton, M., Juroske, D., Huang, Y., Stuart Salmon, J., Kim, Y. H., Pollack, J. R., Yanagisawa, K., Gazdar, A., Minna, J. D., Kurie, J. M. and Carbone, D. P. (2005). Aberrant epidermal growth factor receptor signalling and enhanced sensitivity to EGFR inhibitors in lung cancer. 65 (1): 226-235.

Amerik, A. Y and Hochstrasser, M. (2004). Mechanism and function of deubiquitinating enzymes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1695: 189–207.

Anderson, P. and Kedersha, N. (2002). Visibly stressed: the role of eIF2, TIA-1, and stress granules in protein translation. Cell Stress Chaperones 7: 213–21.

André, P., Biassoni, R., Colonna, M., Cosman, D., Lanier, L. L., Long, E. O., Lopez-Botet, M., Moretta, A., Moretta, L., Parham, P., Trowsdale, J., Vivier, E., Wagtmann, N., Wilson, M. J. (2001). New nomenclature for MHC receptors. Nat Immunol. 2 (8): 661.

Anelli, T., Alessio, M., Mezghrani, A., Simmen, T., Talamo, F., Bachi, A. and Sitia, R. (2002). ERp44, a novel endoplasmic reticulum folding assistant of the thioredoxin family. EMBO J 21: 835–844.

Anelli, T., Alessio, M., Bachi, A., Bergamelli, L., Bertoli, G., Camerini, S., Mezghrani, A., Ruffato, E., Simmen, T. and Sitia, R. (2003). Thiol-mediated protein retention in the endoplasmic reticulum: the role of Erp44. EMBO J 22: 5015–5022.

Anfinsen, C. B., Haber, E., Sela, M. and White, F. H. (1961). The kinetics of formation of native ribonuclease during oxidation of the reduced polypeptide chain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 47: 1309–1314.

Antoniou, A. N., Ford, S., Alphey, M., Osborne, A., Elliott, T. and Powis, S. J. (2002). The oxidoreductase ERp57 efficiently reduces partially folded in preference to fully folded MHC class I molecules. EMBO J 21: 2655-2663.

Antoniou, A. N., Ford, S., Taurog, J. D., Butcher, G. W. and Powis, S. J. (2004). Formation of HLA-B27 homodimers and their relationship to assembly kinetics. J Biol Chem 279: 8895-8902.

Appenzeller-Herzog, C. and Ellgaard, L. (2008). The human PDI family: Versitility packed into a single fold. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1783 (4): 535-548.

Appenzeller-Herzog, C., Riemer, J., Christensen, B., Sorensen, E. S. and Ellgaard. L. (2008). A novel disulphide switch mechanism in Ero1alpha balances ER oxidation in human cells. EMBO J 27: 2977–2987.

Aragon, T., van Anken, E., Pincus, D., Serafimova, I. M., Korennykh, A. V., Rubio, C. A. and Walter, P. (2009). Messenger RNA targeting to endoplasmic reticulum stress signalling sites. Nature 457 (7230): 736-740.

Argon, Y. and Simen, B. B. (1999). GRP94, an ER chaperone with protein and peptide binding properties. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 10: 495-505.

Arnaudeau, S., Frieden, M., Nakamura, K., Castelbou, C., Michalak, M. and Demaurex, N. (2002). Calreticulin differentially modulates calcium uptake and release in the endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria. J. Biol Chem. 277 (48): 46696-46705.

Atagunduz, P., Appel, H., Kuon, W., Wu, P., Thiel, A., Kloetzel, P. M., and Sieper, J (2005). HLA-B27-restricted CD8+ T cell response to cartilage-derived self peptides in ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheum 52: 892–901.

Baas, E. J., van Santen, H. M., Kleijmeer, M. J., Geuze, H. J., Peters, P. J. and Ploegh H. L. (1992). Peptide-induced stabilization and intracellular localization of empty HLA class I complexes. J Exp Med 176: 147–156.

Back, S. H., Schroeder, M. Lee, K., Zhang, K. and Kaufman, R. J. (2005). ER stress signaling by regulated splicing: IRE1/HAC1/XBP1. Methods 35: 395-416.

Bailly-Maitre, B., Fondevila, C., Kaldas, F., Droin, N., Luciano, F., Ricci, J. E., Croxton, R., Krajewska, M., Zapata, J. M., Kupiec-Weglinski, J. W., Farmer, D. and Reed, J. C. (2006). Cytoprotective gene bi-1 is required for intrinsic protection from endoplasmic reticulum stress and ischemia-reperfusion injury. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103: 2809–2814.

Baker, K. M., Chakravarthi, S., Langton, K. P., Sheppard, A. M., Lu, H. and Bulleid, N. J. (2008). Low reduction potential of Ero1alpha regulatory disulphides ensures tight control of substrate oxidation. EMBO J 27: 2988–2997.

Banerjee, S., Li, Y., Wang, Z. and Sarkar, F. H. (2008). Multi-targeted therapy of cancer by genistein. Cancer Lett. 269 (2): 226-242.

Barak, N. N., Neumann, P., Sevvana, M., Schutkowski, M., Naumann, K., Malesevic, M., Reichardt, H., Fischer, G., Stubbs, M. T. and Ferrari, D. M. (2009). Crystal structure and functional analysis of the protein disulfide isomerase-related protein ERp29. J Mol Biol. 385 (5): 1630-1642.

Barbosa-Tessmann, I. P., Chen, C., Zhong, C., Siu, F., Schuster, S. M., Nick, H. S. and Kilberg, M. S. (2000). Activation of the human asparagine synthetase gene by the amino acid response and the endoplasmic reticulum stress response pathways occurs by common genomic elements. J Biol Chem 275: 26976–26985.

Bardwell, J.C., McGovern, K. and Beckwith, J. (1991). Identification of a protein required for disulfide bond formation in vivo. Cell 67: 581-589.

Barrm R. K. and Bogoyevitch, M. A. (2001). The c-Jun N-terminal protein kinase family of mitogen-activated protein kinases (JNK MAPKs). Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 33: 1047–63.

Bass, R., Ruddock, L. W., Klappa, P. and Freedman, R. B. (2004). A major fraction of endoplasmic reticulum-located glutathione is present as mixed disulfides with protein. J. Biol. Chem. 279 (7): 5257-5262.

Bastianutto, C., Clementi, E., Codazzi, F., Podini, P., De Giorgi, F., Rizzuto, R., Meldolesi, J. and Pozzan, T. (1995). Overexpression of calreticulin increases the  $Ca^{2+}$  capacity of rapidly exchanging  $Ca^{2+}$  stores and reveals aspects of their lumenal microenvironment and function. J. Cell Biol. 130 (4): 847-855.

Bays, N. W., Gardner, R. G., Seelig, L. P., Joazeiro, C. A. and Hampton, R. Y. (2001). Hrd1p/Der3p is a membrane-anchored ubiquitin ligase required for ER-associated degradation. Nat. Cell Biol. 3: 24–29.

Behrens, S., Maier, R, de Cock, H., Schmid, F. X. and Gross, C. A. (2001). The SurA periplasmic PPIase lacking its parvulin domains functions *in vivo* and has chaperone activity. EMBO J 20 (1-2): 285-94.

Benham, A. M. and Braakman, I. (2000). Glycoprotein folding the endoplasmic reticulum. Critical Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 35 (6): 433-473.

Benham, A.M., Cabibbo, A., Fassio, A., Bulleid, N., Sitia, R. and Braakman, I. (2000). The CXXCXXC motif determines the folding, structure and stability of human Ero1-Lalpha. EMBO J 19: 4493-4502.

Benjamin, R. and Parham, P. (1990). Guilt by association: HLA-B27 and ankylosing spondylitis. Immunol Today 11: 137–42.

Berger, Z., Ravikumar, B., Menzies, F. M., Oroz, L. G., Underwood, B. R., Oangalos, M. N., Schmitt, I., Wullner, U., Evert, B. O., O'Kane, C. J. and Rubinsztein, D. C. (2006). Rapamycin alleviates toxicity of different aggregate-prone proteins. Human Mol. Gen. 15 (3): 433-442.

Berger, Z., Roder, H., Hanna, A., Carlson, A., Rangachari, V., Yue, M., Wszolek, Z., Ashe, K., Knight, J., Dickinson, D., Andorfer, C., Rosenberry, T. L., Lewis, J., Hutton, M. and Janus, C. (2007). Accumulation of pathological tau species and memory loss in a conditional model of taupoathy. J. Neurosci. 27 (14): 3650-3662.

Bernardi, K. M., Forster, M. L., Lencer, W. I. and Tsai, B. (2008). Derlin-1 facilitates the retro-translocation of cholera toxin. Mol. Biol. Cell 19: 877-884.

Berridge, M. J., Lipp, P., Bootman, M. D. (2000). The versatility and universality of calcium signaling, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 1: 11–21.

Berridge, M. J., Bootman, M. D. and Roderick, H. L. (2003). Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling. Nature Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 4: 517–529.

Bertolotti, A., Zhang, Y., Hendershot, L. M., Harding, H. P. and Ron, D. (2000). Dynamic interaction of BiP and ER stress transducers in the unfolded- protein response. Nat Cell Biol 2: 326–332.

Bertolotti, A., Wang, X., Novoa, I., Jungreis, R., Schlessinger, K., Cho, J. H., West, A. B. and Ron, D. (2001). Increased sensitivity to dextran sodium sulfate colitis in IRE1b deficient mice. J. Clin. Invest. 107: 585–93.

Bhamidipati, A., Denic, V., Quan, E. M., and Weissman, J. S. (2005). Exploration of the topological requirements of ERAD identifies Yos9p as a lectin sensor of misfolded glycoproteins in the ER lumen. Mol. Cell 19: 741–751.

Bird, L. A., Peh, C. A., Kollnberger, S., Elliott, T., McMichael, A. J. and Bowness, P. (2003). Lymphoblastoid cells express HLA-B27 homodimers both intracellularly and at the cell surface following endosomal recycling. Eur J Immunol 33: 748–59.

Bitto, E. and McKay, D. B. (2003). The periplasmic molecular chaperone protein SurA binds a peptide motif that is characteristic of integral outermembrane proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 278 (49): 49316-49322.

Blais, A., Tsikitis, M., Acosta-Alvear, D., Sharan, R., Kluger, Y. and Dynlacht, B. D. (2005). An initial blueprint for myogenic differentiation. Genes Dev. 19: 553–569.

Bole, D. G., Hendershot, L. M. and Kearney, J. F. (1986). Posttranslational association of immunoglobulin heavy chain binding protein with nascent heavy chains in nonsecreting and secreting hybridomas. J Cell Biol 102: 1558-1566.

Bommiasamy, H., Back, S. H., Fagone, P., Lee, K., Meshinchi, S., Vink, E., Sriburi, R., Frank, M., Jackowski, S., Kaufman, R. J. and Brewer, J. W. (2009). ATF6alpha induces XBP1-independent expansion of the endoplasmic reticulum. J Cell Sci. 122 (Pt 10): 1626-36.

Bordallo, J., Plemper, R. K., Finger, A. and Wolf, D. H. (1998). Der3p/Hrd1p is required for endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation of misfolded lumenal and integral membrane proteins. Mol. Biol. Cell 9: 209–222.

Bork, P. and Sander, C. (1993). A hybride protein kinase-RNase in an interferoninduced pathway? 33 (2): 149-152.

Bos, M. P., Robert, V. and Tommassen, J. (2007). Biogenesis of the gram-negative bacterial outer membrane. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 61: 191-214.

Bosch, G., Baumeister, W. and Essen, L-O. (2000). Crystal Structure of the b-Apical Domain of the Thermosome Reveals Structural Plasticity in the Protrusion Region. Journal Molecular Biology 301, 19-25.

Bourdi, M., Demady, D., Martin, J. L., Jabbour, S. K., Martin, B. M., George, J. W. and Pohl, L. R. (1995). cDNA cloning and baculovirus expression of the human liver endoplasmic reticulum P58: characterization as a protein disulfide isomerase isoform, but not as a protease or a carnitine acyltransferase. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 323: 397-403.

Boya, P., Cohen, I., Zamzami, N., Vieira, H. L. and Kroemer, G. (2002). Endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced cell death requires mitochondrial membrane permeabilization. Cell Death Differ. 9: 465–467.

Boyce, M., Bryant, K. F., Jousse, C., Long, K., Harding, H. P., Scheuner, D., Kaufman, R. J., Ma, D., Coen, D. M., Ron, D. and Yuan, J. (2005). A selective inhibitor of eIF2 alpha dephosphorylation protects cells from ER stress. Science 307: 935–939.

Boyle, L. H., Goodall, J. C., Opat, S. S. and Gaston, J. S. (2001). The recognition of HLA-B27 by human CD4+ T-lymphocytes. J Immunol 167: 2619-24.

Boyle, L. H., Goodall, J. C. and Gaston, J. S. (2004). Major Histocompatibility complex class I-restricted alloreactive CD4+ T-cells. Immunology 112: 54-63.

Braig, K., Otwinowski, Z., Hegde, R., Boisvert, D., Joachimiak, A., Horwich, A. L. and Sigler, P.B. (1994) Crystal structure of GroEL at 2.8 Å. Nature 371, 578–586.

Brandl, K., Rutschmann, S., Li, X., Du, X., Xiao ,N., Schnabl, B., Brenner, D. A. and Beutler, B. (2009). Enhanced sensitivity to DSS colitis caused by a hypomorphic Mbtps1 mutation disrupting the ATF6-driven unfolded protein response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 106 (9): 3300-5.

Braun, J. and Sieper, J. (2007). Ankylosing Spondylitis. Lancet 369: 1379-1390.

Breban, M., Fernandez-Sueiro, J. L., Richardson, J. A., Hadavand, R. R., Maika, S. D., Hammer, R. E. and Taurog, J. D. (1996). T cells, but not thymic exposure to HLA-B27, are required for the inflammatory disease of HLA-B27 transgenic rats. J Immunol 156: 794–803.

Brewerton, D. A., Hart, F. D., Nicholls, A., Caffrey, M., James, D. C. and Sturrock, R. D. (1973). Ankylosing spondylitis and HL-A 27. Lancet 1: 904-907.

Brodsky, J. L., Werner, E. D., Dubas, M. E., Goeckeler, J. L., Kruse, K. B. and McCracken, A. A. (1999). The requirement for molecular chaperones during endoplasmic reticulum-associated protein degradation demonstrates that protein export and import are mechanistically distinct. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 3453–3460.

Bruhat, A., Averous, J., Carraro, V., Zhong, C, Reimold, A. M., Kilberg, M. S. and Fafournoux, P. (2002). Differences in the molecular mechanisms involved in the transcriptional activation of CHOP and asparagine synthetase in response to amino acid deprivation or activation of the unfolded protein response. J Biol Chem 277: 48107–48114.

Bukau, B. and Horwich, A. L. (1998) The Hsp70 and Hsp60 chaperone machines. Cell 92: 351-366.

Bukau, B., Deuerling, E. E., Pfund, C. and Craig, E. (2000). Getting newly synthesized proteins into shape. Cell. 101:119–122.

Bulieris, P. V., Behrens, S., Holst, O. and Kelinschmidt, J. H. (2003). Folding and insertion of the outer membrane protein OmpA is assisted by the chaperone Skp and by lipopolysaccharide. J. Biol. Chem. 278 (11): 9092-9099.

Buschhorn, B. A., Kostova, Z., Medicherla, B., and Wolf, D. H. (2004). A genomewide screen identifies Yos9p as essential for ER-associated degradation of glycoproteins. FEBS Lett. 577: 422–426.

Byrd, J. C., Tarentino, A. L., Maley, F., Atkinson, P. H. and Trimble, R. B. (1982). Glycoprotein synthesis in yeast. Identification of Man8GlcNAc2 as an essential intermediate in oligosaccharide processing. J Biol Chem 257(24): 14657–66.

Cabibbo, A., Pagani, M., Fabbri, M., Rocchi, M., Farmery, M. R., Bulleid, N. J., and Sitia, R. (2000). ERO1-L, a human protein that favors disulfide bond formation in the endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem 275: 4827-4833.

Calfon, M., Zeng, H., Urano, F., Till, J. H., Hubbard, S. R., Harding, H. P., Clark, S. G. and Ron, D. (2002). IRE1 couples endoplasmic reticulum load to secretory capacity by processing the XBP-1 mRNA. Nature 415: 92–96.

Campbell, A. M., Kessler, P. D., Sagara, Y., Inesi, G. and Fambrough, D. M. (1991). Nucleotide sequences of avian cardiac and brain SR/ER Ca(2+)-ATPases and functional comparisons with fast twitch Ca(2+)-ATPase. Calcium affinities and inhibitor effects. J. Bid. Chem. 266: 16050-16055.

Canfield, R. E. and Anfinsen, C. B. (1963). Nonuniform labelling of egg white lysozome. Biochemistry 2, 1073-1078.

Cao, X., Zhou, Y. and Lee, A. S. (1995). Requirement of tyrosine- and serine/threonine kinases in the transcriptional activation of the mammalian grp78/BiP promoter by thapsigargin. J Biol Chem. 270 (1): 494-502.

Capps, G. G., Robinson, B. E., Lewis, K. D. and Zuniga, M. C. (1993). In vivo dimeric association of class I MHC heavy chains. Possible relationship to class I MHC heavy chain-beta 2-microglobulin dissociation. J. Immunol. 151: 159–169.

Cardozo, A. K., Ortis, F., Storling, J., Feng, Y. M., Rasschaert, J., Tonnesen, M., Van Eylen, F., Mandrup-Poulsen, T., Herchuelz, A. and Eizirik, D. L. (2005). Cytokines downregulate the sarcoendoplasmic reticulum pump Ca2+ ATPase 2b and deplete endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+, leading to induction of endoplasmic reticulum stress in pancreatic beta-cells. Diabetes 54: 452–461.

Cargill, M., Schrodi, S. J., Chang, M., Garcia, V. E., Brandon, R., Callis, K. P., Matsunami, N., Ardlie, K. G., Civello, D., Catanese, J. J., Leong, D. U., Panko, J. M.,

McAllister, L. B., Hansen, C. B., Papenfuss, J., Prescott, S. M., White, T. J., Leppert, M. F., Kreuger, G. G. and Begovich, A. B. (2007). A large-scale genetic association study confirms IL12B and leads to the indentification of IL23R as psoriasis-risk genes. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 80: 273-290.

Carlson, S. G., Fawcett, T. W., Bartlett, J. D., Bernier, M. and Holbrook, N. J. (1993). Regulation of the C/EBP-related gene, gadd153, by glucose deprivation. Mol. Cell. Biol., 13: 4736–4744.

Carvalho, P., Goder, V. and Rapoport, T. A. (2006). Distinct ubiquitin-ligase complexes define convergent pathways for the degradation of ER proteins. Cell 126 (2): 361-373.

Caughey, B. and Lansbury, Jr. P. T. (2003). Protofibrils, pores, fibrils, and neurodegeneration: separating the responsible protein aggregates from the innocent bystanders. Annu Rev Neurosci 26:267–98.

Cauli, A., Dessole, G., Fiorillo, M. T., Vacca, A., Mameli, A., Bitti, P., Passiu, G., Sorrentino, R. and Mathieu, A. (2002). Increased level of HLA-B27 expression in ankylosing spondylitis patients compared with healthy HLA-B27-positive subjects: a possible further susceptibility factor for the development of disease. Rheumatol., 41: 1375-1379.

Chakravarthi, S. and Bullied, N. J. (2004). Gutathione is required to regulate the formation of native disulfide bonds within proteins entering the secretory pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 279: 39872-39879.

Chan, A. T., Kollnberger, S. D., Wedderburn, L. R. and Bowness, P. (2005). Expansion and enhanced survival of natural killer cells expressing the killer immunoglobulin-like receptor KIR3DL2 in pondyloarthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism 52: 3586–3595.

Chang, H. C., Tang, Y. C., Hayer-Hartl, M. & Hartl, F. U. (2007). SnapShot: molecular chaperones, Part I. Cell 128, 212.

Chang, M., Lee, A. J., Fitzpatrick, L., Zhang, M. and Sun, S. C. (2009). NF-kappa B1 p105 regulates T cell homeostasis and prevents chronic inflammation. J. Immunol. 182 (5): 3131-3138.

Chapman, E., Farr, G. W., Usaite, R., Furtak, K., Fenton, W. A., Chaudhuri, T. K., Hondorp, E. R., Matthews, R. G., Wolf, S. G., Yates, J. R., Pypaert, M. and Horwich, A. L. (2006). Global aggregation of newly translated proteins in an Escherichia coli strain deficient of the chaperonin GroEL. PNAS 103 (43): 15800–15805.

Chapman, R.E. and Walter, P. (1997). Translational attenuation mediated by an mRNA intron. Curr. Biol. 7: 850–859.

Chaudhuri, T. K. and Paul, S. (2006). Protein-misfolding diseases and chaperonebasic therapeutic approaches. FEBS J. 273 (7): 1331-1349.

Chen, M., Samuelson, J. C., Jiang, F., Muller, M., Kuhn, A. and Dalbey, R. E. (2002). Direct interaction of YidC with the Sec-independent Pf3 coat protein during its membrane protein insertion. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 7670–7675.

Chen, R. and Henning, U. (1996). A periplasmic protein (Skp) of *Escherichia coli* selectively binds a class of outer membrane proteins. Mol. Microbiol. 19 (6): 1287-1294.

Chen, H., Pan, Y. X., Dudenhausen, E. E. and Kilberg, M. S. (2004). Amino acid deprivation induces the transcription rate of the human asparagine synthetase gene through a timed program of expression and promoter binding of nutrient-responsive basic region/leucine zipper transcription factors as well as localized histone acetylation. J Biol Chem 279: 50829–50839.

Chen, X., Shen, J. and Prywes, R. (2002). The luminal domain of ATF6 senses endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and causes translocation of ATF6 from the ER to the Golgi. J Biol Chem 277: 13045–13052.

Chen, Y., Zhang, Y., Yin, Y., Gao, G., Li, S., Jiang, Y., Gu, X. and Luo, J. (2005). SPD—a web-based secreted protein database. Nucleic Acids Res 33: D169–D173.

Chen, Y., Langrish, C. L., McKenzie, B., Joyce-Shaikh, B., Stumhofer, J. S., McClanahan, T., Blumenschein, W., Churakovsa, T., Low, J., Presta, L., Hunter, C. A., Kastelein, R. A. and Cua, D. J. (2006). Anti-IL-23 therapy inhibits multiple inflammatory pathways and ameliorates autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest 116: 1317-26.

Cheong, H., Nair, U., Geng, J. and Klionsky, D. J. (2008). The Atg1 kinase complex is involved in the regulation of protein recruitment to intiate sequestering vesicle formation for non-specific autophagy in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol. Cell Biol. 19: 668-81.

Cheriyath, V., Desgranges, Z. P. and Roy, A. L. (2002). c-Src-dependent transcriptional activation of TFII-I. J Biol Chem. 277 (25): 22798-22805.

Chiti, F., Calamai, M., Taddei, N., Stefani. M., Ramponi, G. and Dobson, C. M. (2002). Studies on the aggregation of mutant proteins in vivo provides insights into the genetics of amyloid diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99 (4): 16419-26.

Choi, J. R., Heo, H., Lang, Y., Shin, K. S. and Kang, S. J. (2009). Apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 regulates the expression of caspase-11. FEBS Lett. 583 (18): 3016-20.

Christianson, J. C., Shaler, T. A., Tyler, R. E. and Kopito, R. R. (2008). OS-9 and GRP94 deliver mutant alpha1-antitrypsin to the Hrd1/SEL1L ubiquitin ligase complex for ERAD. Nat. Cell Biol. 10: 272-282.

Christis, C., Lubsen, N. H. and Braakman, I. (2008). Protein folding includes oligomerization – examples from the endoplasmic reticulum and cytosol. FEBS Journal 275, 4700–4727.

Chung, J., Chen, T., and Missiakas, D. (2000). Transfer of electrons across the cytoplasmic membrane by DsbD, a membrane protein involved in thiol-disulphide exchange and protein folding in the bacterial periplasm. Mol Microbiol *35*, 1099-1109.

Chung, K. T., Shen, Y. and Hendershot, L. M. (2002). BAP, a mammalian BiPassociated protein, is a nucleotide exchange factor that regulates the ATPase activity of BiP. J Biol Chem 277 (49): 47557-47563.

Christianson, J. C., Shaler, T. A., Tyler, R. E. and Kopito, R. R. (2008). OS-9 and GRP94 deliver mutant alpha1-antitripsin to the Hrd1-SEL1L ubiquitin ligase complex for ERAD. Nat. Cell Biol. 10: 272-282.

Clark, H. F., Gurney, A. L., Abaya, E., Baker, K., Baldwin, D., Brush, J., Chen, J., Chow, B., Chui, C., Crowley, C., Currell, B., Deuel, B., Dowd, P., Eaton, D., Foster, J., Grimaldi, C., Gu, Q., Hass, P. E., Heldens, S., Huang, A., Kim, H. S., Klimowski, L., Jin, Y., Johnson, S., Lee, J., Lewis, L., Liao, D., Mark, M., Robbie, E., Sanchez, C., Schoenfeld, J., Seshagiri, S., Simmons, L., Singh, J., Smith, V., Stinson, J., Vagts, A., Vandlen, R., Wantanabe, C., Wieand, D., Woods, K., Xie, M. H., Yansura, D., Ti, S., Yu, G., Yuan, J., Zhang, M., Zhang, Z., Goddard, A., Wood, W. Wi., Godowski, P. and Gray, A (2003). The secreted protein discovery initiative (SPDI), a large-scale effort to identify novel human secreted and transmembrane proteins: a bioinformatics assessment. Genome Res., 13, 2265–2270.

Clausen, T., Southan, C. and Erhmann, M. (2002). The HtrA family of proteases: Implications for protein composition and cell fate. Mol. Cell 10: 443-455.

Clauss, I. M., Gravallese, E. M., Darling, J. M., Shapiro, F., Glimcher, M. J. and Glimcher, L. H. (1993). In situ hybridization studies suggest a role for the basic region-leucine zipper protein hXBP-1 in exocrine gland and skeletal development during mouse embryogenesis. Dev Dyn. 197: 146–156.

Clauss, I. M., Chu, M., Zhao, J. L. and Glimcher, L. H. (1996). The basic domain/leucine zipper protein hXBP-1 preferentially binds to and transactivates CRE-like sequences containing an ACGT core. Nucleic Acids Res. 24: 1855–1864.

Clerc, S., Hirsch, C., Oggier, D. M., Deprez, P., Jakob, C., Sommer, T. and Aebi, M. (2009). Htm1 protein generates the N-glycan signal for glycoprotein degradation in the endoplasmic reticulum. J. Cell Biol. 184: 159-172.

Cohen, S. and Fleischmann, R. (2010). Kinase inhibitors: a new approach to rheumatoid arthritis treatment. Curr. Opin. Rheumatol. 22 (3): 330-335.

Colbert, R. A., Rowland-Jones, S. L., McMichael, A. J., and Frelinger, J. A. (1994). Differences in peptide presentation between B27 subtypes: the importance of the P1 side chain in maintaining high affinity peptide binding to B\*2703. Immunity 1: 121-130.

Colbert, R. A., DeLay, M. L., Layh-Schmitt, G. and Sowders, D. P. (2009). HLA-B27 misfolding and spondyloarthropathies. Prion 3 (1): 15-26.

Colmegna, I., Cuchacovich, R. and Espinoza, L. R. (2004). HLA-B27-associated reactive arthritis: pathogenetic and clinical considerations. Clin Microbiol Rev 17: 348-369.

Colonna, M., Nakajima, H. and Cella, M. (1999). Inhibitory and activating receptors involved in immune surveillance by human NK and myeloid cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. 66: 718–722.

Colver, R. A. (2000). HLA-B27 misfolding: A solution to the spondyloarthropathy conundrum? Mol. Med. Today 6: 224-230.

Corbett, E. F., Oikawa, K., Francois, P., Tessier, D. C., Kay, C., Bergeron, J. J., Thomas, D. Y., Krause, K. H. and Michalak, M. (1999). Ca2+ regulation of interactions between endoplasmic reticulum chaperones. J Biol Chem 274: 6203-6211.

Cormier, J. H., Tamura, T., Sunryd, J. C. and Hebert, D. N. (2009). EDEM1 recognition and delivery of misfolded proteins to the SEL1L-containing ERAD complex. Mol Cell. 34 (5): 627-33.

Cox, J. S., Shamu, C. E. and Walter, P. (1993). Transcriptional induction of genes encoding endoplasmic reticulum resident proteins requires a transmembrane protein kinase Cell 73: 1197–1206.

Cox, J. S. and Walter, P. (1996). A novel mechanism for regulating activity of a transcription factor that controls the unfolded protein response. Cell 87: 391–404.

Craven, R. A., Egerton, M. and Stirling, C. J. (1996). A novel Hsp70 of the yeast ER lumen is required for the efficient translocation of a number of protein precursors. EMBO J. 15: 2640–50.

Credle, J. J., Finer-Moore, J. S., Papa, F. R., Stroud, R. M. and Walter, P. (2005). On the mechanism of sensing unfolded protein in the endoplasmic reticulum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 18773–18784.

Cua, D. J., Sherlock, J., Chen, Y., Murphy, C. A., Joyce, B., Seymour, B., Lucian, L., To, W., Kwan, S., Churakova, T., Zurawski, S., Wiekowski, M., Lira, S. A., Gorman, D., Kastelein, R. A. and Sedgwick, J. D. (2003). Interleukin-23 rather than interleukin-12 is the critical cytokine for autoimmune inflammation of the brain. Nature 421: 744-8.

Cullinan, S. B. and Diehl, J. A. (2006). Coordination of ER and oxidative stress signaling: The PERK/Nrf2 signaling pathway. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 38: 317–332. Cunnea, P. M., Miranda-Vizuete, A., Bertoli, G., Simmen, T., Damdimopoulos, A. E., Hermann, S., Leinonen, S., Huikko, M. P., Gustafson, J. A., Sitia, R. and Spyrou, G. (2003). ERdj5, an andoplasmic reticulum (ER)-resident protein containing DnaJ and thioredoxin domains, is expressed in secretory cells or following ER stress. J Biol Chem 278: 1059-1066.

Cuozzo, J. W. and Kaiser, C. A. (1999). Competition between glutathione and protein thiols for disulphide-bond formation. Nat Cell Biol 1: 130-135.

D'Amato, M., Fiorillo, M. T., Carcassi, C., Mathieu, A., Zuccarelli, A., Bitti, P. P., Tosi, R., and Sorrentino, R. (1995). Relevance of residue 116 of HLA-B27 in determining susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis. Eur J Immunol 25: 3199-3201.

Dangoria, N. S., DeLay, M. L., Kingsbury, D. J., Mear, J. P., Uchanska-Ziegler, B., Ziegler, A. and Colbert, R. A. (2002). HLA-B27 misfolding is associated with aberrant intermolecular disulfide bond formation (dimerization) in the endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem 277: 23459-23468.

Danial, N. N. and Korsmeyer, S. J. (2004). Cell death: critical control points. Cell 116: 205–219.

Darby, N. J., Penka, E. and Vincentelli, R. (1998). The multi-domain structure of protein disulfide isomerase is essential for high catalytic efficiency. J Mol Biol 276: 239-247.

Davis, J. N., Kucuk, O. and Sarkar, F. H. (1999). Genistein inhibits NF-kappa B activation in prostate cancer cells. Nutr Cancer 35: 167-174.

de Vlam, K., Mielants, H., Cuvelier, C., de Keyser, F. Veys, E. M. and de Vos, M. (2000). Spondyloarthropathy is underestimated in inflammatory bowel disease: prevalence and HLA association. Journal of Rheumatology 27: 2860–2865.

Dedkova, E. N., Sigova, A. A. and Zinchenko, V. P. (2000). Mechanism of action of calcium ionophores on intact cells: ionophore-resistant cells. Membr Cell Biol. 13 (3): 357-68.

DeLay, M. L., Turner, M. J., Klenk, E. I., Smith, J. A., Sowders, D. P. and Colbert, R. A. (2009). HLA-B27 misfolding and the unfolded protein response augment interleukin-23 production and are associated with Th17 activation in transgenic rats. Arthrits & Rheumatism 60 (9): 2633-2643.

Delepine, M., Nicolino, M., Barrett, T., Golamaully, M., Lathrop, G. M. and Julier, C. (2000). EIF2AK3, encoding translation initiation factor 2-alpha kinase 3, is mutated in patients with Wolcott–Rallison syndrome. Nat Genet 25: 406–409.

Demmer, J., Zhou, C. and Hubbard, M. J. (1997). Molecular cloning of ERp29, a novel and widely expressed resident of the endoplasmic reticulum. FEBS Lett. 402 (2-3): 145-150.

Deng, J., Harding, H., Raught, B., Gingras, A., Berlanga, J., Scheuner, D., Kaufman, R., Ron, D. and Sonenberg, N. (2002). Activation of GCN2 in UV-irradiated cells inhibits translation. Curr Biol 12: 1279–1286.

Deng, J., Lu, P. D., Zhang, Y., Scheuner, D., Kaufman, R. J., Sonenberg, N., Harding, H. P. and Ron, D. (2004). Translational repression mediates activation of nuclear factor kappa B by phosphorylated translation initiation factor 2. Mol Cell Biol 24: 10161–10168.

Denic, V., Quan, E. M. and Weissman, J. S. (2006). A luminal surveillance complex that selects misfolded glycoproteins for ER-associated degradation. Cell 126: 349–359.

Denzel, A., Molinari, M., Trigueros, C., Martin, J. E., Velmurgan, S., Brown, S., Stamp, G. and Owen, M. J. (2002). Early postnatal death and motor disorders in mice congenitally deficient in calnexin expression. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22: 7398-7404.

Desilva, M.G., Lu, J., Donadel, G., Modi, W.S., Xie, H., Notkins, A.L. and Lan, M.S. (1996). Characterization and chromosomal localization of a new protein disulfide isomerase, PDIp, highly expressed in human pancreas. DNA Cell Biol 15: 9-16.

Desilva, M.G., Notkins, A.L. and Lan, M.S. (1997). Molecular characterization of a pancreas-specific protein disulfide isomerase, PDIp. DNA Cell Biol 16: 269-274.

Dey, S., Baird, T. D., Zhou, D., Palam, L. R., Spandau, D. F. and Wek, R. C. (2010). both transcriptional regulation and translational control of ATF4 are central to the integrated stress response. J. Biol. Chem. 285 (43): 33165-33174.

Dias-Gunasekara, S., Gubbens, J., van Lith, M., Dunne, C., Williams, J. A., Kataky, R., Scoones, D., Lapthorn, A., Bulleid, N. J., and Benham, A. M. (2005). Tissue-specific expression and dimerization of the endoplasmic reticulum oxidoreductase Ero1beta. J Biol Chem 280: 33066-33075.

Dias-Gunasekara, S., van Lith, M., Williams, J.A., Kataky, R. and Benham, A.M. (2006). Mutations in the FAD binding domain cause stress-induced misoxidation of the endoplasmic reticulum oxidoreductase Ero1beta. The Journal of biological chemistry 281: 25018-25025.

Dick, T. P., Bangia, N., Peaper, D. R. and Cresswell P. (2002). Disulfide bond and the assembly of MHC class I-peptide complexes. Immunity 16: 87–98.

Dick, T. P. (2004). Assembly of MHC class I peptide complexes from the perspective of disulfide bond formation. Cell Mol Life Sci. 61 (5): 547-56.

Diehn, M., Eisen, M. B., Botstein, D. and Brown, P. O. (2000). Large-scale identification of secreted and membrane-associated gene products using DNA microarrays Nat. Genet. 25: 58–62.

Dintzis, H. M. (1961). Assembly of the peptide chains of haemoglobin. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. 47, 247-261.

Dobson, C.M. (2001). The structural basis of protein folding and its links with human disease. Phil Trans R Soc Lond B 356:133–45.

Dollins, D. E., Warren, J. J., Immormino, R. M. and Gewirth, D. T. (2007). Structures of GRP94-nucleotide complexes reveal mechanistic differences between the Hsp90 chaperones. Mol. Cell 28: 41-56.

Dong, D., Dubeau, L., Bading, J., Nguyen, K., Luna, M., Tu, H., Gazit-Bornstein, G., Gordon, E. M., Gomer, C., Hall, F. L., Gambhir, S. S. and Lee, A. S. (2004). Spontaneous and controllable activation of suicide gene expression driven by the stress-inducible grp78 promoter resulting in eradication of sizable human tumors. Hum Gene Ther. 15: 553–61.

Dong, G., Wearsch, P. A., Peaper, D. R., Cresswell, P. and Reinisch, K. M. (2009). Insights into MHC class I peptide loading from the structure of the tapasin-Erp57 thiol oxidoreductase heterodimer. Immunity 30: 21–32.

Dong, M., Bridges, J. P., Apsley, K., Xu, Y. and Weaver, T. E. (2008). ERdj4 and ERdj5 are required for endoplasmic reticulum-associated protein degradation of misfolded surfactant protein C. Mol Biol Cell 19 (6): 2620-2630.

Dorner, A. J., Wasley, L. C. and Kaufman, R. J. (1992). Overexpression of GRP78 mitigates stress induction of glucose regulated proteins and blocks secretion of selective proteins in Chinese hamster ovary cells. EMBO J 11: 1563–1571.

Dougados, M., van der Linden, S., Juhlin, R., Huitfeldt, B., Amor, B., Calin, A., Cats, A., Dijkmans, B., Olivieri, I., Pasero, G. et al. (1991). The European Spondylarthropathy Study Group preliminary criteria for the classification of spondylarthropathy. Arthritis Rheum 34: 1218–27.

Duerr, R. H., Taylor, K. D., Brant, S. R., Rioux, J. D., Silverberg, M. S., Daly, M. J., Steinhart, A. H., Abraham, C., Regueiro, M., Griffiths, A., Dassopoulos, T., Bitton, A., Yang, H., Targan, S., Datta, L. W., Kistner, E. O., Schumm, L. P., Lee, A. T., Gregersen, P. K., Barmada, M. M., Rotter, J. I., Nicolae, D. L. and Cho, J. H. A (2006). A genome-wide association study identifies IL23R as an inflammatory bowel disease gene. Science 314: 1461-1463.

Duksin, D. and Mahoney, W. C. (1982). Relationship of the structure and biological activity of the natural homologues of tunicamycin. J Biol Chem. 257(6): 3105-9.

Edman, J. C., Ellis, L., Blacher, R. W., Roth, R. A. and Rutter, W. J. (1985). Sequence of protein disulphide isomerase and implications of its relationship to thioredoxin. Nature 317: 267-270.

Ellgaard, L. and Frickel, E. M. (2003). Calnexin, calreticulin and ERp57: teammates in glycoprotein folding. Cell Biochem. Biophys. 39 (3): 223-247.

Ellgaard, L., and Ruddock, L. W. (2005). The human protein disulphide isomerase family: substrate interactions and functional properties. EMBO Rep. 6: 28–32.

Elliott, J. G., Oliver, J. D., and High, S. (1997). The thiol-dependent reductase ERp57 interacts specifically with N-glycosylated integral membrane proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 13849–13855.

Ellis, R. J., and Hartl, F. U. (1996). Protein folding in the cell: Competing models of chaperonin function. FASEB J. 10: 20–26.

Facey, S. J. and Kuhn, A. (2010). Biogenesis of bacterial inner-membrane proteins. Cell Mol. Life Sci. 67: 2343-2362.

Farmery, M. R., Allen, S., Allen, A. J. and Bulleid, N. J. (2000). The role of Erp57 in disulfide bond formation during the assembly of major pondyloarthritis complex class I in a synchronized semipermeabilized cell translation system. J. Biol. Chem. 275: 14933–14938.

Farquhar, R., Honey, N., Murant, S. J., Bossier, P., Schultz, L., Montgomery, D., Ellis, R. W., Freedman, R. B. and Tuite, M. F. (1991). Protein disulfide isomerase is essential for viability in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Gene 108: 81-89.

Farrell, S. R. and Thorpe, C. (2005). Augmenter of liver regeneration: a flavindependent sulfhydryl oxidase with cytochrome c reductase activity. Biochemistry 44 (5): 1532-1541. Fawcett, T. W., Martindale, J. L., Guyton, K. Z., Hai, T. and Holbrook, N. J. (1999). Complexes containing activating transcription factor (ATF)/cAMP-responsiveelement-binding protein (CREB) interact with the CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP)-ATF composite site to regulate Gadd153 expression during the stress response. Biochem. J. 339: 135–141.

Ferguson, N., Becker, J., Tidow, H., Tremmel, S., Sharpe, T. D., Krause, G., Flinders, J., Petrovich, M., Berriman, J., Osschkinat, H. and Ferscht, A. R. (2006). General structural motifs of amyloid protofilaments. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. 103 (44): 16248-53.

Fernandez, P. M., Tabbara, S. O., Jacobs, L. K., Manning, F. C., Tsangaris, T. N., Schwartz, A. M., Kennedy, K. A. and Patierno, S. R. (2000). Overexpression of the glucose-regulated stress gene GRP78 in malignant but not benign human breast lesions. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 59 (1): 15-26.

Ferrari, D. M., Nguyen Van, P., Kratzin, H. D. and Soling, H. D. (1998). ERp28, a human endoplasmic-reticulum-lumenal protein, is a member of the protein disulfide isomerase family but lacks a CXXC thioredoxin-box motif. Eur J Biochem 255: 570-579.

Ferrari, D.M. and Soling, H.D. (1999). The protein disulphide-isomerase family: unravelling a string of folds. Biochem J 339 (Pt 1): 1-10.

Ferreiro, E., Resende, R., Costa, R., Oliveira, C. R. and Pereira, C. M. (2006). An endoplasmic reticulum-specific apoptotic pathway is involved in prion and amyloid- $\beta$  peptides neurotoxicity. Neurobiol. Dis. 23: 669–78.

Flynn, G. C., Pohl, J., Flocco, M. T. and Rothman, J.E. (1991). Peptide-binding specificity of the molecular chaperone BiP. Nature 353: 726–730.

Fonseca, S. G., Fukuma, M., Lipson, K. L., Nguyen, L. X., Allen, J. R., Oka, Y. and Urano, F. (2005). WFS1 is a novel component of the unfolded protein response and maintains homeostasis of the endoplasmic reticulum in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells. J. Biol. Chem. 280: 39609–15.

Forster, M. L., Sivick, K., Park, Y. N., Arvan, P., Lencer, W. I. and Tsai, B. (2006). Protein disulfide isomerase-like proteins play opposing roles during retrotranslocation. J Cell Biol 173 (6): 853-859.

Frand, A. R. and Kaiser, C. A. (1998). The ERO1 gene of yeast is required for oxidation of protein dithiols in the endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Cell 1: 161-170.

Frand, A. R. and Kaiser, C. A. (1999). Ero1p oxidizes protein disulfide isomerase in a pathway for disulfide bond formation in the endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Cell 4: 469-477.

Frand, A. R. and Kaiser, C. A. (2000). Two pairs of conserved cysteines are required for the oxidative activity of Ero1p in protein disulfide bond formation in the endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Biol Cell 11: 2833-2843.

Fratelli, M., Demol, H., Puype, M., Casagrande, S., Eberini, I., Salmona, M., Bonetto, V., Mengozzi, M., Duffieux, F., Miclet, E., Bachi, A., Vandekerckhove, J., Gianazza, E. and Ghezzi, P. (2002). Identification by redox proteomics of glutationylated proteins oxidatively stressed human T lymphocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 99 (6): 3505-3510.

Frauendorf, E., von Goessel, H., May, E. and Marker-Hermann, E. (2003). HLA-B27restricted T-cells from patients with ankylosing spondylitis recognize peptides from B\*2705 that are similar to bacteria-derived peptides. Clinical and Experimental Immunology 134: 351–359.

Freedman, R. B., Hirst, T. R. and Tuite, M. F. (1994). Protein disulphide isomerase: building bridges in protein folding. Trends Biochem Sci 19: 331-336.

Freedman, R.B., Klappa, P. and Ruddock, L.W. (2002). Protein disulfide isomerases exploit synergy between catalytic and specific binding domains. EMBO Rep 3: 136-140.

Frey, S., Leskovar, A., Reinstein, J. and Buchner, J. (2007). The ATPase cycle of the endoplasmic chaperone Grp94. J. Biol. Chem. 282: 35612-35620.

Friedlander, R., Jarosch, E., Urban, J., Volkwein, C. and Sommer, T. (2000). A regulatory link between ER-associated protein degradation and the unfolded-protein response. Nat. Cell Biol. 2: 379–384.

Friedmann, E., Salzberg, Y., Weinberger, A., Shaltiel, S. and Gerst, J. E. (2002). YOS9, the putative yeast homolog of a gene amplified in osteosarcomas, is involved in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-Golgi transport of GPI-anchored proteins. J Biol Chem 277 (38): 35274–81.

Fujita, E., Kouroku, Y., Isoai, A., Kumagai, H., Misutani, A., Matsuda, C., Hayashi, Y. K. and Momoi, T. (2007). Two endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation (ERAD) systems for the novel variant of the mutant dysferlin: ubiquitin/proteasome ERAD(I) and autophagy/lysosome ERAD(II). Hum. Mol. Genet. 16: 618–629.

Fussell, H., Nesbeth, D., Lenart, I., Campbell, E. C., Lynch, S., Santos, S., Gould, K., Powis, S. J. and Antoniou, A. N. (2008). Novel detection of in vivo HLA-B27 conformations correlates with anklyosing spondylitis association. Arthritis & Rheumatism 58 (11): 3419-3424.

Galocha, B. and Lopez de Castro, J. A. (2008). Folding of the HLA-B27 subtypes is determined by the global effect of polymorphic residues and shows incomplete correspondence to anklyosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheum. 58 (2): 401-412.

Garbi, N., Tiwari, N., Momburg, F. and Hammerling, G. J. (2003). A major role for tapasin as a stabilizer of the TAP peptide transporter and consequences for MHC class I expression. Eur J Immunol 33: 264–273.

Garbi, N., Tanaka, S., Momburg, F., and Hammerling, G. J. (2006). Impaired assembly of the major histocompatibility complex class I peptide-loading complex in mice deficient in the oxidoreductase ERp57. Nat. Immunol. 7: 93–102.

Garstka, M., Borchert, B., Al-Balushi, M., Praveen, P. V., Kuhl, N., Majoul, I., Duden, R. and Springer, S. (2007). Peptide-receptive major hispocompatibility complex class I molecules cycle between endoplasmic reticulum and cis-Golgi in wild-type lymphocytes. J Biol Chem 282: 30680–30690.

Gass, J. N., Gifford, N. M. and Brewer, J. W. (2002). Activation of an unfolded protein response during differentiation of antibody-secreting B cells. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 49047–49054.

Gass, J. N., Jiang, H. Y., Wek, R. C. and Brewer, J. W. (2008). The unfolded protein response of B-lymphocytes: PERK-independent development of antibody-secreting cells Molecular Immunology 45: 1035–1043.

Gething, M. J., and Sambrook, J. (1992). Protein folding in the cell. Nature 355: 33–45.

Gething, M. J. (1999). Role and regulation of the ER chaperone BiP. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 10:465–472.

Gilbert, H. F. (1998). Protein disulfide isomerase. Methods Enzymol 290: 26-50.

Gillece, P., J.M. Luz, W.J. Lennarz, F.J. de La Cruz, and K. Romisch. (1999). Export of a cysteine-free misfolded secretory protein from the endoplasmic reticulum for degradation requires interaction with protein disulfide isomerase. J. Cell Biol. 147: 1443–1456.

Givol, D., Goldberger, R. F. and Anfinsen, C. B. (1964). Oxidation and disulfide interchange in the reactivation of reduces ribonuclease. J Biol Chem. 293 (9): 3114-3116.

Gloire, G., Legrand-Poels, S. and Piette, J. (2006). NF-κB activation by reactive oxygen species: Fifteen years later. Biochem. Pharmacol. 72: 1493-1505.

Goder, V., Carvalho, P. and Rapoport, T. A. (2008). The ER-associated degradation component Der1p and its homolog Dfm1p are contained in complexes with distinct cofactors of the ATPase Cdc48p. FEBS Lett. 582 (11): 1575-80.

Goldberger, R. F., Epstein, C. J., and Anfinsen, C. B. (1963) J. Biol. Chem. 238: 628–635.

Gonzalez, T. N., Sidrauski, C., Dorfler, S. and Walter, P. (1999). Mechanism of nonspliceosomal mRNA splicing in the unfolded protein response pathway. EMBO J. 18: 3119–32.

Gonzalez-Roces, S., M. V. Alvarez, S. Gonzalez, A. Dieye, H. Makni, D. G. Woodfield, L. Housan, V. Konenkov, M. C. Abbadi, N. Grunnet, Coto, E. and Lopez-Larrea, C. (1997). HLA-B27 polymorphism and worldwide susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis. Tissue Antigens 49: 116-23.

Goodall, J.C., Ellis, L. and Hill Gaston, J. S. (2006). Spondylarthritis-associated and non–pondyloarthritis-associated B27 subtypes differ in their dependence upon tapasin for surface expression and their incorporation into the peptide loading complex. Arthritis Rheum 54: 138–47.

Gotoh, T. and Mori, M. (2004). Regulation of apoptosis by molecular chaperones. Tanpakushitsu Kakusan Koso – Protein Nucleic Acid Enzyme 49: 1010–1013.

Gotoh, T., Terada, K., Oyadamari, S. and Mori, M. (2004). Hsp70-DnaJ chaperone pair prevents nitric oxide- and CHOP-induced apoptosis by inhibiting translocation of Bax to mitochondria. Cell Death Differ. 11:390-402.

Gotz, J., Ittner, L. M. and Lim, Y. A. (2009). Common features between diabetes mellitus and Alzheimer's disease. Cell Mol. Life Sci. 66 (8): 1321-1325.

Gross, E., Kastner, D. B., Kaiser, C. A. and Fass, D. (2004). Structure of Ero1p, source of disulfide bonds for oxidative protein folding in the cell. Cell 177: 601-610.

Gross, E., Sevier, C. S., Heldman, N., Vitu, E., Bentzur, M., Kaiser, C. A., Thorpe, C. and Fass, D. (2006). Generating disulfides enzymatically: Reaction products and electron acceptors of the endoplasmic reticulum thiol oxidase Ero1p. PNAS 103 (2): 299-304.

Gruber, C. W., Cemezar, M., Heras, B., Martin, J. L. and Craik, D. J. (2006). Protein disulfide isomerase: the structure of oxidative folding. Trends Biochem Sci. 31 (8): 455-64.

Guan, D., Wang, H., Li, V. E., Xu, Y., Yang, M., and Shen, Z. (2009). N-Glycosylation of ATF6 beta Is Essential for Its Proteolytic Cleavage and Transcriptional Repressor Function to ATF6 alpha. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 108: 825–831.

Gunna, K. E., Gifford, N. M., Mori, K. and Brewer, J. W. (2004). A role for the unfolded protein response in optimizing antibody secretion Molecular Immunology 41: 919–927.

Gunther, R., Srinivasan, M., Haugejorden, S., Green, M., Ehbrecht, I. M., and Kuntzel, H. (1993). Functional replacement of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae

Trg1/Pdi1 protein by members of the mammalian protein disulfide isomerase family. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 7728–7732.

Gupta, S., Deepi, A., Deegan, S., Lisbona, F., Hetz, C. and Samali, A. (2010). HSP72 protects cells from ER stress-induced apoptosis via enhancement of IRE1 $\alpha$ -XBP1 signalling through a physical interaction. PLoS Biol. 8 (7): e1000410.

Haas, I. G. and Wabl, M. (1983). Immunoglobulin heavy chain binding protein. Nature 306: 387-389.

Hacquard-Bouder, C., Chimenti, M. S., Giquel, B., Donnadieu, E., Fert, I., Schmitt, A., Andre, C. and Breban, M. (2007). Alteration of antigen-independent immunologic synapse formation between dendritic cells from HLA-B27-transgenic rats and CD4+ T cells: selective impairment of costimulatory molecule engagement by mature HLA-B27. Arthritis Rheum. 56: 1478-1489.

Hai, T. W., Liu, F., Coukos, W. J. and Green, M. R. (1989). Transcription factor ATF cDNA clones: an extensive family of leucine zipper proteins able to selectively form DNA-binding heterodimers. Genes Dev 3: 2083–2090.

Hainzl, O., Lapina, M. C., Buchner, J. and Richter, K. (2009). The charged linker region is an important regulator of Hsp90 function. J Biol Chem. 284 (34): 22559-67.

Halleck, M. M., Holbrook, N. J., Skinner, J., Liu, H. and Stevens, J. L. (1997). The molecular response to reductive stress in LLC-PK1 renal epithelial cells: coordinate transcriptional regulation of gadd153 and grp78 genes by thiols. Cell Stress Chaper. 2: 31–40.

Hamman, B. D., Hendershot, L. M. and Johnson, A. E. (1998). BiP maintains the permeability barrier of the ER membrane by sealing the lumenal end of the translocon pore before and early in translocation. Cell 92: 747-758.

Hammer, R. E., Maika, S. D., Richardson, J. A., Tang, J. P. and Taurog, J. D. (1990). Spontaneous inflammatory disease in transgenic rats expressing HLA-B27 and human b2-m: an animal model of HLA-B27-associated human disorders. Cell 63: 1099-112.

Han, D., Lerner, A. G., Vande Walle, L., Upton, J. P., Xu, W., Hagen, A., Backes, B. J., Oakes, S. A. and Papa, F. R. (2009). IRE1alpha kinase activation modes control alternate endoribonuclease outputs to determine divergent cell fates. Cell. 138 (3): 562-75.

Harding, H. P., Zhang, Y. and Ron, D. (1999). Protein translation and folding are coupled by an endoplasmic-reticulum-resident kinase. Nature 397: 271–274.

Harding, H. P., Novoa, I., Zhang, Y., Zeng, H., Wek, R., Schapira, M. and Ron, D. (2000). Regulated translation initiation controls stress-induced gene expression in mammalian cells. Mol Cell 6: 1099–1108.

Harding, H., Zhang, Y., Bertolotti, A., Zeng, H. and Ron, D. (2000b). Perk is essential for translational regulation and cell survival during the unfolded protein response. Mol. Cell 5: 897–904.

Harding, H. P., Zeng, H., Zhang, Y., Jungries, R., Chung, P., Plesken, H., Sabatini, D. D. and Ron, D. (2001). Diabetes mellitus and exocrine pancreatic dysfunction in *perk*<sup>7</sup> mice reveals a role for translational control in secretory cell survival. Mol Cell 7: 1153–1163.

Harding, H. P. and Ron, D. (2002). Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the development of diabetes: a review. Diabetes 51 (Suppl. 3), S455–S461.

Harding, H. P., Zhang, Y., Zeng, H., Novoa, I., Lu, P. D., Calfon, M., Sadri, N., Yun, C., Popko, B., Paules, R., Stojdl, D. F., Bell, J. C., Hettmann, T., Leiden, J. M. and Ron, D. (2003). An integrated stress response regulates amino acid metabolism and resistance to oxidative stress. Mol Cell 11: 619–633.

Harper, J.D., Lansbury, Jr. P. T. (1997). Models of amyloid seeding in Alzheimer's disease and scrapie: mechanistic truths and physiological consequences of the time-dependent solubility of amyloid proteins. Annu Rev Biochem 66:385–407.

Hartl, F.-U. (1996). Molecular chaperones in protein folding. Nature, 381, 571-580.

Hartl, F. U. and Hayer-Hartl, M. (2002). Molecular chaperones in the cytosol: from nascent chain to folded protein. Science 295, 1852–1858.

Hartl, F. U. & Hayer-Hartl, M. (2009). Coverging concepts of protein folding in vitro and in vivo. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology 16:6, 574-581.

Haze, K., Yoshida, H., Yanagi, H., Yura, T. and Mori, K. (1999). Mammalian transcription factor ATF6 is synthesized as a transmembrane protein and activated by proteolysis in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress. Mol. Biol. Cell 10: 3787–3799.

Haze, K., Okada, T., Yoshida, H., Yanagi, H., Yura, T., Negishi, M. and Mori, K. (2001). Identification of the G13 (cAMP-response-element-binding protein-related protein) gene product related to activating transcription factor 6 as a transcriptional activator of the mammalian unfolded protein response. Biochem J 355: 19–28.

Heazlewood, C. K., Cook, M. C., Eri, R., Price, G. R., Tauro, S. B., Taupin, D., Thornton, D. J., Png, C. W., Crockford, T. L., Cornall, R. J., Adams, R., Kato M., Nelms, K. A., Hong, N.A., Florin, T. H., Goodnow, C. C. and McGuckin, M. A. (2008). Aberrant mucin assembly in mice causes endoplasmic reticulum stress and spontaneous inflammation resembling ulcerative colitis. PLoS Med. 5 (3): e54.

Hebert, D. N., Foellmer, B. Helenius, A. (1995). Glucose trimming and reglucosylation determine glycoprotein association with calnexin in the endoplasmic reticulum. Cell 81: 425–33.

Hebert, D. N., Bernasconi, R. and Molinari, M. (2010). ERAD substrates: Which way out? Semin Cell Dev Biol. 21 (5): 526-32.

Hedge, N. R., Chevalier, M. S., Wisner, T. W., Denton, M. C., Shire, K., Frappier, L. and Johnson, D. C. (2006). The role of BiP in endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation of major histocompatability complex class I heavy chain induced by cytomegalovirus proteins. J Biol Chem. 281 (30): 20901-20919.

Heiligenstein, S., Eisfeld, K., Sendzik, T., Jimenez-Becker, N., Breinig, F. and Schmitt, M. J. (2006). Retrotranslocation of a viral A/B toxin from the yeast endoplasmic reticulum is independent of ubiquitination and ERAD. EMBO J 25, 4717-4727.

Heitman, J., Movva, N. R. and Hall, M. N. (1991). Targets for cell cycle arrest by the immunosuppressant rapamycin in yeast. Science 253 (5022): 905-909.

Helenius, A. (1994). How N-linked oligosaccharides affect glycoprotein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Biol Cell 5(3): 253–65.

Hendershot, L., Bole, D., Kohler, G. and Kearney, J. F. (1987). Assembly and secretion of heavy chains that do not associate posttranslationally with immunoglobulin heavy chain-binding protein. J Cell Biol 104 (3): 761-767.

Hendershot, L. M. (2004). The ER chaperone BiP is a master regulator of ER function. Mt Sinai J Med. 71 (5): 289-97.

Hermann, E., Yu, D. T. Y., Meyer zum Buschenfelde, K-H. and Fleischer, B. (1993). HLA-B27-restricted CD8 T-cells from synovial fluids of patients with reactive arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis. Lancet 342: 646–650.

Hermann, V. M., Cutfield, J. F. and Hubbard, M J. (2005). Biophysical characterization of ERp29. Evidence for a key structural role of cysteine 125. J Biol Chem 280 (14): 13529-135.

Hetz, C., Bernasconi, P., Fisher, J., Lee, A. H., Bassik, M. C., Antonsson, B., Brandt, G. S., Iwakoshi, N. N., Schinzel, A., Glimcher, L. H. and Korsmeyer, S. J. (2006). Proapoptotic BAX and BAK modulate the unfolded protein response by a direct interaction with IRE1α. Science 312: 572–576.

High, S., Lecomte, F. J., Russell, S. J., Abell, B. M. and Oliver, J. D. (2000). Glycoprotein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum: a tale of three chaperones? FEBS Lett. 476 (1-2): 38-41.

Higo, T., Hattori, M., Nakamura, T., Natsume, T., Michikawa, T. and Mikoshiba, K. (2005). Subtype-specific and ER lumenal environment-dependent regulation of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor type 1 by ERp44. Cell 120: 85-98.

Hirano, N., Shibasaki, F., Sakai, R., Tanaka, T., Nishida, J., Yazaki, Y., Takenawa, T. and Hirai, H. (1995). Molecular cloning of the human glucose-regulated protein ERp57/GRP58, a thiol-dependent reductase. Identification of its secretory form and inducible expression by the oncogenic transformation. Eur. J. Biochem. 234: 336-342.

Hirao, K., Natsuka, Y., Tamura, T., Wada, I., Morito, D., Natsuka, S., Romero, P., Sleno, B., Tremblay, L. O., Herscovics, A., Nagata, K. and Hosokawa, N. (2006). EDEM3, a soluble EDEM homolog, enhances glycoprotein endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation and mannose trimming. J Biol Chem 281 (14): 9650–8.

Hitomi, J., Katayama, T., Eguchi, Y., Kudo, T., Taniguchi, M., Koyama, Y., Manabe, T., Yamagishi, S., Bando, Y., Imaizumi, K., Tsujimoto, Y. and Tohyama, M. (2004). Involvement of caspase-4 in endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis and A $\beta$ -induced cell death. J. Cell Biol. 165: 347–56.

Hitt, R. and Wolf, D. H. (2004). Der1p, a protein required for degradation of malfolded soluble proteins of the endoplasmic reticulum: topology and Der1-like proteins. FEMS Yeast Res 4: 721–729.

Höhfeld, J., Minami, Y. and Hartl, F-U. (1995). Hip, a novel cochaperone involved in the eukaryotic Hsc70/Hsp40 reaction cycle. Cell 83, 589-598.

Höhfeld, J. and Jentsch, S. (1997). GrpE-like regulation of the Hsc70 chaperone by the anti-apoptotic protein BAG-1. EMBO J 16:20, 6209-6216.

Hollien, J. and Weissman, J. S. (2006). Decay of endoplasmic reticulum localized mRNAs during the unfolded protein response. Science 313: 104–107.

Hollien, J., Lin, J. H., Li, H., Stevens, N., Walter, P. and Weissman, J. S. (2009). Regulated Ire1-dependent decay of messenger RNAs in mammalian cells. J Cell Biol. 186 (3): 323-31.

Hong, M., Luo, S., Baumeister, P., Huang, J.-M., Gogia, R. K., Li, M. and Lee, A. S. (2004). Underglycosylation of ATF6 as a novel sensing mechanism for activation of the unfolded protein response. J. Biol. Chem. 279: 11354–11363.

Hong, M., Lin, M., Huang, J., Baumeister, P., Hakre, S., Roy, A. L. and Lee, A. S. (2005). Transcriptional regulation of the Grp78 promoter by endoplasmic reticulum stress. Role of TFII-I and its tyrosine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem. 280 (17): 16821-16828.

Horwich, A. L., Apetri, A. C. and Fenton, W. A. (2009). The GroEL/GroES cis cavity as a passive anti-aggregation device. FEBS Letters 583, 2654-2662.

Horwich, A. L., Fenton, W. A., Chapman, E. and Farr, G. W. Two families of chaperonin: physiology and mechanism. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 23, 115–145 (2007).

Hosokawa, N., Tremblay, L. O., You, Z., Herscovics, A., Wada, I. and Nagat, K. (2003). Enhancement of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) degradation of misfolded Null Hong Kong alpha1-antitrypsin by human ER mannosidase I. J. Biol. Chem. 278 (28): 26287-26294.

Hosokawa, N., Wada, I., Natsuka, Y. and Nagata, K. (2006). EDEM accelerates ERAD by preventing aberrant dimer formation of misfolded a1-antitrypsin. Genes to Cells. 11, 465-474.

Hosokawa, N., Wada, I., Nagasawa, K., Moriyama, T., Okawa, K. and Nagata, K. (2008). Human XTP3-B forms an endoplasmic reticulum quality control scaffold with the HRD1–SEL1L ubiquitin ligase complex and BiP. J. Biol. Chem 283: 20914–20924.

Hosokawa, N., Tremblay, L. O., Sleno, B., Kamiya, Y., Wada, I., Nagata, K., Kato, K. and Herscovics, A. (2010). EDEM1 accelerates the trimming of alpha1,2-linked mannose on the C brance of N-glycams. Glycobiology 20 (5): 567-575.

Howarth, M., Williams, A., Tolstrup, A. B. and Elliott, T. (2004). Tapasin enhances MHC class I peptide presentation according to peptide half-life. Proc Natl Acad Sci 101: 11737–11742.

Hu, C. C., Dougan, S. K., McGehee, A. M., Love, J. C. and Ploegh, H. L. (2009). XBP-1 regulates signal transduction, transcription factors and bone marrow colonization in B cells. EMBO J. 28(11): 1624-36.

Hu, P., Han, Z., Couvillon, A. D., Kaufman, R. J. and Exton, J. H. (2006). Autocrine tumor necrosis factor alpha links endoplasmic reticulum stress to the membrane death receptor pathway through IRE1alpha-mediated NF-kappaB activation and down-regulation of TRAF2 expression. Mol. Cell Biol. 26: 3071-3084.

Hua, X., Sakai, J., Brown, M. S. and Goldstein, J. L. (1996). Regulated cleavage of sterol regulatory element binding proteins requires sequences on both sides of the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. J Biol Chem 271: 10379–10384.

Hughes, E. A., C. Hammond, and P. Cresswell. (1997). Misfolded major complex class I heavy chains are translocated into the cytoplasm and degraded by the proteasome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94: 1896-901.

Hunt, J. F., Weaver, A. J., Landry, S. J., Gierasch, L. and Deisenhofer, J. (1996). The crystal structure of the GroES co-chaperonin at 2.8 Å resolution. Nature 379, 37–45.

Hutchison, K. A., Dittmar, K. D., Pratt and W. B. (1994). All of the factors required for assembly of the glucocorticoid receptor into a functional heterocomplex with heat shock protein 90 are preassociated in a self-sufficient protein folding structure, a "foldosome". J Biol Chem 269:27894–9.

Hwang, C., Sinskey, A. J. and Lodish, H. F. (1992). Oxidized redox state of glutathione in the endoplasmic reticulum. Science 257: 1496–1502.

Ingley, E., Williams, J. H., Walker, C. E., Tsai, S., Colley, S., Sayer, M. S., Tilbrook, P. A., Sarna, M., Beaumont, J. G. and Klinken, S. P. (1999). A novel ADPribosylation like factor (ARL-6), interacts with the protein conducting channel SEC61b subunit. FEBS Lett. 459: 69-74.

Inoue, H., Tanizawa, Y., Wasson, J., Behn, P., Kalidas, K., Bernal-Mizrachi, E., Mueckler, M., Marshall, H., Donis-Keller, H., Crock, P., Rogers, D., Mikuni, M., Kumashiro, H., Higashi, K., Soube, G., Oka, Y. and Permutt, M. A. (1998). A gene encoding a transmembrane protein is mutated in patients with diabetes mellitus and optic atrophy (Wolfram syndrome). Nat. Genet. 20: 143–48.

Iqbal, J., Dai, K., Seimmon, T., Jungreis, R., Oyadomari, M., Kuriakose, G., Ron, D., Tabas, I. and Hussain, M. M. (2008). IRE1beta inhibits chylomicron production by selectively degrading MTP mRNA. Cell Metab. 7: 445-455.

Ireland, B. S., Brockmeier, U., Howe, C. M., Elliott, T. and Williams, D.B. (2008). Lectin deficient calreticulin retains full functionality as a chaperone for class I molecules. Mol Biol Cell 19: 2413–2423.

Ishida, Y., Yamamoto, A., Kitamura, A., Lamande, S. R., Yoshimori, T., Bateman, J. F., Kubota, H. and Nagata, K. (2009). Autophagic Elimination of Misfolded Procollagen Aggregates in the Endoplasmic Reticulum as a Means of Cell Protection. Mol. Biol. Cell 20: 2744-2754.

Iwakoshi, N. N., Lee, A. H., Vallabhajosyula, P., Otipoby, K. L., Rajewsky, K. and Glimcher, L. H. (2003). Plasma cell differentiation and the unfolded protein response intersect at the transcription factor XBP-1. Nat. Immunol. 4: 321–329.

Iwawaki, T., Hosoda, A., Okuda, T., Kamigori, Y., Nomura-Furuwatari, C., Kimata, Y., Tsuru, A. & Kohno, K. (2001). Translational control by the ER transmembrane kinase/ribonuclease IRE1 under ER stress. Nat Cell Biol 3: 158–164.

Iwawaki, T., Akai, R., Kohno, K. and Miura, M. (2004). A transgenic mouse model for monitoring endoplasmic reticulum stress. Nat. Med. 10: 98–102.

Jahn, T. R. and Radford, S. E. (2008). Folding versus aggregation: Polypeptide conformations on competing pathways. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 469: 100-117.

Jakob, U., Lilie, H., Meyer, I., and Buchner, J. (1995). Transient interaction of Hsp90 with early unfolding intermediates of citrate synthase. Implications for heat shock in vivo. J. Biol. Chem. 270:7288–7294.

Jamora, C., Dennert, G. and Lee, A. S. (1996). Inhibition of tumor progression by suppression of stress protein GRP78/BiP induction in fibrosarcoma B/C10ME. PNAS 93: 7690-7694.

Jämsä, E., Simonen, M. and Makarow, M. (1994). Selective retention of secretory proteins in the yeast endoplasmic reticulum by treatment of cells with a reducing agent Yeast. 10 (3): 355-70.

Jansens, A., van Duijn, E. and Braakman, I. (2002). Coordinated nonvectorial folding in a newly synthesized multidomain protein. Science 298: 2401–2403.

Jarosch, E., Taxis, C., Volkwein, C., Bordallo, J., Finley, D., Wolf, D.H. and Sommer, T. (2002). Protein dislocation from the ER requires polyubiquitination and the AAA-ATPase Cdc48. Nat Cell Biol 4, 134-139.

Jessop, C. E., Chakravarthi , S., Garbi, N., Hammerling, G. J., Lovell, S. and Bulleid, N. J. (2006). ERp57 is essential for the efficient folding of glycoproteins sharing common structural domains. EMBO J 26 (1): 28-40.

Jessop, C. E., Chakravarthi, S., Garbi, N., Hämmerling, G. J., Lovell, S. and Bulleid, N. J. (2007). Erp57 is essential for efficient folding of glycoproteins sharing common structural domains. EMBO J. 26 (1): 28-40.

Jessop, C. E., Tavender, T. J., Watkins, R. H., Chambers, J. E. and Bullied, N. J. (2007). Substrate specificity of the oxidoreductase ERp57 is determined primarily by its interaction with calnexin and calreticulin. J. Biol. Chem. 284 (4): 2194-2202.

Jiang, H. Y., Wek, S. A., McGrath, B. C., Scheuner, D., Kaufmann, R. J., Cavener, D. R. and Wek, R. W. (2003). Phosphorylation of the alpha subunit of eukaryotic initiation factor 2 is required for activation of NF-kappa B in response to diverse cellular stress. Mol Cell Biol 23: 5651–5663.

Jiang, H. Y., Wek, S. A., McGrath, B. C., Lu, D., Hai, T., Harding, H. P., Wang, X., Ron, D., Cavener, D. R. and Wek, R. W. (2004). Activating transcription factor 3 (ATF3) is integral to the eIF2 kinase stress response. Mol Cell Biol 24: 1365–1377.

Jiang, H. Y. and Wek, R. C. (2005). GCN2 phosphorylation of eIF2 $\alpha$  activates NF- $\kappa$ B in response to UV irradiation Biochem. J. 385: 371–380.

Jiang, H. Y. and Wek, R. C. (2005b). Phosphorylation of the  $\alpha$ -subunit of the eukaryotic initiation factor-2 (eIF2 $\alpha$ ) reduces protein synthesis and enhances apoptosis in response to proteasome inhibition. J. Biol. Chem. 280: 14189–202.

Joly, J. C., and Swartz, J. R. (1997). In vitro and in vivo redox states of the Escherichia coli periplasmic oxidoreductases DsbA and DsbC. Biochemistry *36*, 10067-10072.

Jonikas, M. C., Collins, S. R., Denic, V., Oh, E., Quan, E. M., Schmid, V., Weibezahn, J., Schwappach, B., Walter, P., Weissman, J. S. and Schuldiner, M. (2009). Comprehensive characterization of genes required for protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum. Science. 323 (5922): 1693-7.

Kabani, M., Kelley, S. S., Morrow, M. W., Montgomery, D. L., Sivendran, R., Rose, M. D., Gierasch, L. M. and Brodsky, J. L. (2003). Dependence of endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation on the peptide binding domain and concentration of BiP. Mol Biol Cell 14: 3437–3448.

Kabeya, Y., Mizushima, N., Ueno, T., Yamamoto, A., Kirisako, T., Noda, T., Kominami, E., Ohsumi, Y. and Yoshimori, T. (2000). LC3, a mammalian homologue of yeast Apg8p, is localized in autophagosome membranes after processing. EMBO J. 19: 5720–5728.

Kadowaki, H., Nishitoh, H., Urano, F., Sadamitsu, C., Matsuzawa, A., Takeda, K., Masutani, H., Yodoi, J., Urano, Y., Nagano, T. and Ichijo, H. (2005). Amyloid  $\beta$  induces neuronal cell death through ROS-mediated ASK1 activation. Cell Death Differ. 12: 19–24.

Kamimoto, T., Shoji, S., Hidvegi, T., Mizushima, N., Umebayshi, K., Perlmutter, D. H. and Yoshimori, T. (2006). Intracellular inclusions containing mutant alphalantitrypsin Z are propagated in the absence of autophagic activity. J. Biol. Chem. 281 (7): 4467-4476.

Kaneko, M., Niinuma, Y. and Nomura, Y. (2003). Activation signal of nuclear factorkappa B in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress is transduced via IRE1 and tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 2. Biol. Pharm. Bull. 26: 931-935.

Kaser, A., Lee, A., Franke, A., Glickman, J. N., Zeissig, S., Tilg, H., Nieuwenhuis, E. E. S., Higgins, D., Schreiber, S., Glimcher, L. H. and Blumberg, R. S. (2008). XBP1 links ER stress to intestinal inflammation and confers genetic risk for inflammatory bowel disease. Cell 134: 743-756.

Kastelein, R. A., Hunter, C. A. and Cua, D. J. (2007). Discovery and biology of IL-23 and IL-27: related but functionally distinct regulators of inflammation. Annu Rev Immunol 25: 221–42.

Kawahara, T., Yanagi, H., Yura, T., Mori, K. (1997). Endoplasmic reticulum stressinduced mRNA splicing permits synthesis of transcription factor Hac1p/Ern4p that activates the unfolded protein response. Mol. Biol. Cell 8: 1845–62. Kawahara, T., Yanagi, H., Yura, T. and Mori, K. (1998). Unconventional splicing of HAC1/ERN4 mRNA required for the unfolded protein response. Sequence-specific and non-sequential cleavage of the splice sites. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 1802–7.

Kawamata, T., Kamada, Y., Kabeya, Y., Sekito, T. and Ohsumi, Y. (2008). Organization of the pre-autophagosomal structure responsible for autophagosome formation. Mol. Cell Biol. 19:2039-50.

Keenan, R. J., Freymann, D. M., Stroud, R. M. and Walter, P. (2001). The signal recognition peptide. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 70: 755-775.

Kemmink, J., Darby, N. J., Dijkstra, K., Nilges, M. and Creighton, T. E. (1997). The folding catalyst protein disulfide isomerase is constructed of active and inactive thioredoxin modules. Curr Biol 7: 239-245.

Khare, S. D., Luthra, H. S. and David, C. S. (1995). Spontaneous inflammatory arthritis in HLA-B27 transgenic mice lacking b2-microglobulin: a model of human spondyloarthropathies. J Exp Med 182: 1153-8.

Khare, S. D., Hansen, J., Luthra, H. S. and David, C. S. (1996). HLA-B27 heavy chains contribute to spontaneous inflammatory disease in B27/human b2-microglobulin (b2m) transgenic mice with disrupted mouse b2m. J Clin Invest 98: 2746–55.

Khare, S. D., Hansen, J., Luthra, H. S. and David, C. S. (1997). HLA-B27 heavy chains contribute to spontaneous inflammatory disease in B27/human b2-microglobulin (b2m) double transgenic mice with disrupted mouse b2m. J Clin Invest 98: 2746-55.

Khare, S. D., Bull, M. J., Hanson, J., Luthra, H. S. and David, C. S. (1998). Spontaneous inflammatory disease in HLA-B27 transgenic mice is independent of MHC class II molecules: a direct role for B27 heavy chains and not B27-derived peptides. J Immunol 160: 101-6.

Kievits, F., Ivanyi, P., Krimpenfort, P., Berns, A. and Ploegh, H. L. (1987). HLA-restricted recognition of viral antigens in HLA transgenic mice. Nature 329: 447-9.

Kim, E., Kwon, K., Song, M., Seo, S., Park, S., Ka, S., Na, L., Kim, K., Ryu, D., So, H., Park, R., Park, J. and Park, B. (2007). Genistein protects pancreatic beta cells against cytokine-mediated toxicity. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 278 (1-2): 18-28.

Kim, I., Shu, C. W., Xu, W., Shiau, C. W., Grant, D., Vasile, S., Cosford, N. D. and Reed, J. C. (2008). Chemical biology investigation of cell death pathways activated by endoplasmic reticulum stress reveals cytoprotective modulators of ASK1. J Biol Chem. 284 (3): 1593-603.

Kimata, Y., Kimata, Y. I., Shimizu, Y., Abe, H., Farcasanu, I. C., Takeuchi, M., Rose, M. D. and Kohno, K. (2003). Genetic evidence for a role of BiP/Kar2 that regulates Ire1 in response to accumulation of unfolded proteins. Mol Biol Cell 14: 2559–2569.

Kimata, Y., Oikawa, D., Shimizu, Y., Ishiwata-Kimata, Y. and Kohno, K. (2004). A role for BiP as an adjustor for the endoplasmic reticulum stress-sensing protein Ire1. J Cell Biol 167: 445–456.

Kimata, Y., Ishiwata-Kimata, Y., Ito, T., Hirata, A., Suzuki, T., Oikawa, D., Takeuchi, M. and Kohno, K. (2007). Two regulatory steps of ER-stress sensor Ire1 involving its cluster formation and interaction with unfolded proteins. J. Cell Biol. 179 (1): 75-86.

Kingsbury, D. J., Mear, J. P., Witte, D. P., Taurog, J. D., Roopenian, D. C. and Colbert, R. A. (2000). Development of spontaneous arthritis in beta2-microglobulindeficient mice without expression of HLA-B27: association with deficiency of endogenous major pondyloarthritis complex class I expression. Arthritis Rheum 43: 2290-2296.

Klappa, P., Freedman, R.B. and Zimmermann, R. (1995). Protein disulphide isomerase and a lumenal cyclophilin-type peptidyl prolyl cis-trans isomerase are in transient contact with secretory proteins during late stages of translocation. Eur J Biochem 232: 755-764.

Klappa, P., Freedman, R. B., Langenbuch, M., Lan, M. S., Robinson, G. K. and Ruddock, L. W. (2001). The pancreas-specific protein disulfide isomerase PDIp interacts with the hydroxyaryl group in ligands. Biochem J. 354 (3): 553-559.

Klappa, P., Ruddock, L. W., Darby, N. J. and Freedman, R. B. (1998a). The b' domain provides the principal peptide-binding site of protein disulfide isomerase but all domains contribute to binding of misfolded proteins. EMBO J 17: 927-935.

Klappa, P., Stromer, T., Zimmermann, R., Ruddock, L.W. and Freedman, R.B. (1998b). A pancreas-specific glycosylated protein disulphide-isomerase binds to misfolded proteins and peptides with an interaction inhibited by oestrogens. Eur J Biochem 254: 63-69.

Kleizen, B. and Braakman, I. (2004). Protein folding and quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. Current Opinion Cell Biol. 16: 343-349.

Klionsky, D. J., Abeliovich, H., Agostinis, P., Agrawal, D. K., Aliev, G., Askew, D. S., Baba, M., Baehrecke, E. H., Bahr, B. A., Ballabio, A., Bamber, B. A., Bassham, D.

C. et al. (2008). Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy in higher eukaryotes. Autophagy 4: 151–175.

Knop, M., Hauser, N. and Wolf, D. H. (1996). N-glycosylation affects endoplasmic reticulum degradation of a mutated derivative of carboxypeptidase ycsY in yeast. Yeast 12: 1229.

Kobayashi, T., Kishigami, S., Sone, M., Inokuchi, H., Mogi, T. and Ito, K. (1997). Respiratory chain is required to maintain oxidized states of the DsbA-DsbB disulfide bond formation system in aerobically growing Escherichia coli cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 11857-11862.

Kobayashi, T. and Ito, K. (1999). Respiratory chain strongly oxidizes the CXXC motif of DsbB in the Escherichia coli disulfide bond formation pathway. EMBO J 18: 1192-1198.

Kohno, K., Normington, K., Sambrook, J., Gething, M. J. and Mori, K. (1993). The promoter region of the yeast KAR2 (BiP) gene contains a regulatory domain that responds to the presence of unfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. Mol. Cell. Biol. 13: 877–90.

Kohno, K. (2010). Stress sensing mechanisms in the unfolded protein response: similarities and differences between yeast and mammals. J. Biochem. 147 (1): 27-33.

Koivunen, P., Helaakoski, T., Annunen, P., Veijola, J., Raisanen, S., Pihlajaniemi, T. and Kivirikko, K. I. (1996). ERp60 does not substitute for protein disulfide isomerase as the beta subunit of prolyl 4-hydroxylase. Biochem. J. 316 (2): 599-605.

Kolitz, S. E. and Lorsch, J. R. (2010). Eukaryotic initiator tRNA: finely tuned and ready for action. FEBS Lett. 584 (2): 396-404.

Kollnberger, S., Bird, L., Sun, M. Y., Retiere, C., Braud, V. M., McMichael, A. and Bowness, P. (2002). Cell-surface expression and immune receptor recognition of HLA-B27 homodimers. Arthritis Rheum. 46: 2972–2982.

Kollnberger, S., Bird, L. A., Roddis, M., Hacquard-Bouder, C., Kubagawa, H., Bodmer, H. C., Breban, M., McMichael, A. J. and Bowness, P. (2004). HLA-B27 heavy chain homodimers are expressed in HLA-B27 transgenic rodent models of spondyloarthritis and are ligands for paired Ig-like receptors. J. Immunol. 173: 1699–1710.

Kolls, J. K. and Linden, A. (2004). Interleukin-17 family members and inflammation. Immunity 21: 467-76.

Koong, A. C., Chen, E. Y., Lee, A. S., Brown, J. M. and Giaccia, A. J. (1994). Increased cytotoxicity of chronic hypoxic cells by molecular inhibition of GRP78 induction. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 28 (3): 661-666.

Korennykh, A. V., Egea, P. F., Korostelev, A. A., Finer-Moore, J., Zhang, C., Shokat, K. M., Stroud, R. M. and Walter, P. (2009). The unfolded protein response signals through high-order assembly of Ire1. Nature 457 (7230): 687-694.

Kornfeld, R., and Kornfeld, S. (1985). Assembly of asparagine-linked oligosaccharides. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 54: 631–64.

Kortemme, T. and Creighton, T. E. (1995). Ionisation of cysteine residues at the termini of model alpha-helical peptides. Relevance to unusual thiol pKa values in proteins of the thioredoxin family. J Mol Biol 253: 799-812.

Kostova, Z. and Wolf, D. H. (2003). For whom the bell tolls: protein quality control of the endoplasmic reticulum and the ubiquitin-proteasome connection. EMBO J 22: 2309-2317.

Kostova, Z., Tsai, Y. C. and Weissman, A. M. (2007). Ubiquitin ligases, critical mediators of endoplasmic reticulum associated degradation. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol 18:770–779.

Kostyu, D. D., Hannick, L. I., Traweek, J. L., Ghanayem, M., Heilpern, D. and Dawson, D. V. (1997). HLA class I polymorphism: structure and function and still questions. Hum. Immunol. 57: 1–18.

Kozlov, G., Maattanen, P., Schrag, J. D., Pollock, S., Cygler, M., Nagar, B., Thomas, D. Y. and Gehring, K. (2006). Crystal structure of the bb' domains of the protein disulfide isomerase Erp57. Structure. 14 (8): 1331-9.

Kozlov, G., Määttänen, P., Schrag, J. D., Hura, G. L., Gabrielli, L., Cygler, M., Thomas, D. Y. and Gehring, K. (2009). Structure of the non-catalytic domains and global fold of the protein disulfide isomerase ERp72. Structure 17 (5): 651-659.

Kramer, G., Boehringer, D., Ban, N. and Bukau, B. (2009). The ribosome as a platform for cotranslational processing, folding and targeting of newly synthesized proteins. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 16, 589–597.

Kruse, K. B., Brodsky, J. L. and McCracken, A. A. (2006). Characterization of an ERAD gene as VPS30/ATG6 reveals two alternative and functionally distinct protein quality control pathways: one for soluble Z variant of human alpha-1 proteinase inhibitor (A1PiZ) and another for aggregates of A1PiZ. Mol. Biol. Cell 17: 203–212.

Kulp, M. S., Frickel, E. M., Ellgaard, L. and Weissman, J. S. (2006). Domain architecture of protein-disulfide isomerase facilitates its dual role as an oxidase and an isomerase in Ero1p-mediated disulfide formation. J Biol Chem 281: 876-884.

LaMantia, M., Miura, T., Tachikawa, H., Kaplan, H. A., Lennarz, W. J. and Mizunaga, T. (1991). Glycosylation site binding protein and protein disulfide
isomerase are identical and essential for cell viability in yeast. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88: 4453–57.

LaMantia, M. L. and Lennarz, W. J. (1993). The essential function of yeast protein disulfide isomerase does not reside in its isomerase activity. Cell 74: 899-908.

Lamartiniere, C. A., Moore, J., Holland, M. and Barnes, S. (1995). Neonatal genistein chemoprevents mammary cancer. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 208: 120-123.

Lambert, R. G., Dhillon, S. S., Jhangri, G. S., Sacks, J., Sacks, H., Wong, B., Russell, A. S. and Maksymowych, W. P. (2004). High prevalence of symptomatic enthesopathy of the shoulder in ankylosing spondylitis: deltoid origin involvement constitutes a hallmark of disease. Arthritis Rheum 51: 681-90.

Lane, P. J., Ledbetter, J. A., McConnell, F. M., Draves, K., Deans, J., Schieven, G. L. and Clark, E. A. (1991). The role of tyrosine phosphorylation in signal transduction through surface Ig in human B cells. Inhibition of tyrosine phosphorylation prevents intracellular calcium release. J. Immunol. 146: 715–22.

Lazar, S. W. and Kolter, R. (1996). SurA assists in the folding of *Escherichia coli* outer membrane proteins. J. Bacteriol. 178 (6): 1770-1773.

Lee, A. S. (2001). The glucose regulated proteins: stress induction and clinical applications. Trends Biochem Sci. 26 (8): 504-510

Lee, K., Tirasophon, W., Shen, X., Michalak, M., Prywes, R., Okada, T., Yoshida, H., Mori, K. and Kaufman, R. J. (2002). IRE1-mediated unconventional mRNA splicing and S2P-mediated ATF6 cleavage merge to regulate XBP1 in signaling the unfolded protein response. Genes Dev 16: 452–466.

Lee, A. H., Iwakoshi, N. N. and Glimcher, L. H. (2003). XBP-1 regulates a subset of endoplasmic reticulum resident chaperone genes in the unfolded protein response. Mol Cell Biol. 23 (21): 7448-59.

Lee, A. H., Chu, G. C., Iwakoshi, N. N. and Glimcher, L. H. (2005). XBP-1 is required for biogenesis of cellular secretory machinery of exocrine glands. EMBO J. 24: 4368–4380.

Lee, A. S. (2007). GRP78 induction in cancer: therapeutic and prognostic implications. Cancer Res. 67 (8): 3496-3499.

Lee, K. P. K., Dey, M., Neculai, D., Cao, C., Dever, T. E., and Sicheri, F. (2008a). Structure of the Dual Enzyme Ire1 Reveals the Basis for Catalysis and Regulation in Nonconventional RNA Splicing. Cell 132: 89–100.

Lee, A. H., Scapa, E. F., Cohen, D. E. and Glimcher, L. H. (2008b). Regulation of hepatic lipogenesis by the transcription factor XBP1. Science. 320 (5882): 1492-6.

Lee, V. M., Goedert, M. and Trojanowski, J. Q. (2001). Neurodegenerative tauopathies. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 24: 1121–1159.

Lehner, P. J., Surman, M. J. and Cresswell, P. (1998). Soluble tapasin restores MHC class I expression and function in the tapasin-negative cell line .220. Immunity 8: 221–231.

Lei, K. and Davis, R. J. (2003). JNK phosphorylation of Bim-related members of the Bcl2 family induces Bax-dependent apoptosis. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 100: 2432–2437.

Lemin, A. J., Saleki, K., van Lith, M. and Benham, A. M. (2007). Activation of the unfolded protein response and alternative splicing of ATF6 $\alpha$  in HLA-B27 positive lymphocytes. FEBS Lett. 581: 1819-1824.

Lemin, A. J. (2007). Characterisation of the oxidoreductase Ero1-L $\beta$  and the misfolding of the secretory pathway substrate HLA-B27. MSc Thesis. Durham University Library.

Lemmon, M. A. and Schlessinger, J. (2010). Cell signalling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell 141 (7): 1117-1134.

Lewis, S. A., Tian, G., Vainberg, I. E. and Cowan, N. J. (1996). Chaperonin-mediated folding of actin and tubulin. J Cell Biol 132:1-4.

Li, M., Baumeister, P., Roy, B., Phan, T., Foti, D., Luo, S. and Lee, A. S. (2000). ATF6 as a transcription activator of the endoplasmic reticulum stress element: thapsigargin stress-induced changes and synergistic interactions with NF-Y and YY1. Mol. Cell Biol. 20 (14): 5096-5106.

Li, Y. and Sarkar, F. H. (2002). Inhibition of nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B activation in PC3 cells by genistein is mediated via Akt signalling pathway. Clin. Cancer Res. 8: 2369-2377.

Li, Y., Schwabe, R. F., DeVries-Seimon, T., Yao, P. M., Gerbod-Giannone, M. C., Tall, A. R., Davis, R. J., Flavell, R., Brenner, D. A. and Tabas, I. (2005). Free cholesterol-loaded macrophages are an abundant source of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6: model of NFkappaB and map kinase-dependent inflammation in advanced atherosclerosis. J Biol Chem 280: 21763-72.

Liberek, K., Marszalek, J., Ang, D., Georgopoulos, C. and Zylicz, M. (1991). Escherichia coli DnaJ and GrpE heat shock proteins jointly stimulate ATPase activity of DnaK. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88: 2874–2878.

Lilley, B. N. and Ploegh, H. L. (2004). A membrane protein required for dislocation of misfolded proteins from the ER. Nature 429: 834–840.

Lin, J. H., Li, H., Yasumura, D., Cohen, H. R., Zhang, C., Panning, B., Shokat, K. M., LaVail, M. M. and Walter, P. (2007). IRE1 Signaling Affects Cell Fate During the Unfolded Protein Response. Science 318 (5852): 944-949.

Lin, J. H., Walter, P. and Yen, T. S. B. (2008). Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in Disease. Pathogenesis Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis. 3: 399–425.

Lin, J H., Li, H., Zhang, Y., Ron, D. and Walter, P. (2009). Divergent Effects of PERK and IRE1 Signaling on Cell Viability. PLoS One 4 (1): e4170.

Lindholm, D., Wootz, H. and Korhonen, L. (2006). ER stress and neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Death Differ 13: 385–392.

Lindquist, J. A., Jensen, O. N., Mann, M. and Hammerling, G. J. (1998). ER-60, a chaperone with thiol-dependent reductase activity involved in MHC class I assembly. EMBO J. 17: 2186–2195.

Lipinska, B., Zylicz, M. and Georgopoulos, C. (1990). The HtrA (DegP) protein, essential for Escherichia coli survival at high temperatures, is an endopeptidase, J. Bacteriol. 172: 1791-1797.

Lisbona, F., Rojas-Rivera, D., Thielen, P., Zamorano, S., Todd, D., Martinon, F., Glavic, A., Kress, C., Lin, J. H., Walter, P., Reed, J. C., Glimcher, L. H. and Hetz, C. (2009). BAX inhibitor-1 is a negative regulator of the ER stress sensor IRE1alpha. Mol. Cell 33: 679–691.

Liu, C. Y., Schröder, M. and Kaufman, R. J. (2000). Ligand-independent dimerization activates the stress response kinases IRE1 and PERK in the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem 275: 24881–24885.

Liu, C. Y., Wong, N. H., Schauerte, J. A. and Kaufman, R. J. (2002). The protein kinase/endoribonuclease IRE1alpha that signals the unfolded protein response has aluminal N-terminal ligand-independent dimerization domain. J Biol Chem 277: 18346-18356.

Liu, C. Y., Xu, Z. and Kaufman, R. J. (2003). Structure and intermolecular interactions of the luminal dimerization domain of human IRE1alpha. J Biol Chem 278: 17680-17687.

Ljunggren, H. G., Stam, N. J., Ohlen, C., Neefjes, J. J., Hoglund, P., Heemels, M. T., Bastin, J., Schumacher, T. N., Townsend, A., Karre, K. and Ploegh, H. L. (1990). EmptyMHC class I molecules come out in the cold. Nature 346: 476–480.

Lopez de Castro, J. A. (1998). The pathogenetic role of HLA-B27 in chronic arthritis. Curr. Opin. Rheumatol. 10: 59-66.

Lopez de Castro, J. A. (2006). HLA-B27 and the pathogenesis of spondyloarthropathies. Immunol. Lett. 108 (1): 27-33.

López de Castro, J. A. (2007). HLA-B27 and the pathogenesis of spondyloarthropathies. Immunol Lett. 108 (1): 27-33.

Lopez-Larrea, C., Sujirachato, K., Mehra, N. K., Chiewsilp, P., Isarangkura, D., Kanga, U., Dominguez, O., Coto, E., Pena, M., Setien, F., et al. (1995). HLA-B27 subtypes in Asian patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Evidence for new associations. Tissue Antigens 45: 169-176.

Lopez-Larrea, C., Mijiyawa, M., Gonzalez, S., Fernandez-Morera, J. L., Blanco-Gelaz, M. A., Martinez-Borra, J., Lopez-Vazquez, A. (2002). Ankylosing spondylitis is associated with HLA-B\*1403 in a West African population. Arthritis Rheum 46:2968–71.

Lorenz, M. C. and Heitman, J. (1995). TOR mutations confer rapamycin resistence by preventing interaction with FKBP12-rapamycin. J Biol. Chem. 270 (46): 27531-27537.

Lu, P. D., Harding, H. P. and Ron, D. (2004). Translation re-initiation at alternative open reading frames regulates gene expression in an integrated stress response. J Cell Biol 167: 27–33.

Lui, E. S. and Lee, A. S. (1991). Common sets of nuclear factors binding to the conserved promoter sequence motif of two coordinately regulated ER protein genes GRP78 and GRP94. Nucelic Acids Res. 19 (19): 5425-5431.

Lui, H. M., Chen, J., Wang, L. and Naumovski, L. (2003). A RMER, Apoptotic Regulator in the Membrane of the Endoplasmic Reticulum, A Novel Inhibitor of Apoptosis. Mol. Canc. Res. 1: 508-518.

Luo, S., Mao, C., Lee, B. and Lee, A. S. (2006). GRP78/BiP is required for cell proliferation and protecting the inner cell mass from apoptosis during early mouse embryonic development. Mol Cell Biol. 26: 5688–97.

Lyles, M. M., and Gilbert, H. F. (1992). Catalysis of the oxidative folding of ribonuclease A by protein disulfide isomerase: dependence of the rate on the composition of the redox buffer. Biochemistry 30,613-619

Lytton, J., Westlin, M. and Hanley, M. R. (1991). Thapsigargin inhibits the sarcoplasmic or endoplasmic reticulum Ca-ATPase family of calcium pumps. J. Biol. Chem. 266: 17067-71.

Ma, K., Vattem, K. M. and Wek, R. C. (2002). Dimerization and release of molecular chaperone inhibition facilitate activation of eukaryotic initiation factor-2 kinase in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress. J Biol Chem 277: 18728–18735.

Ma, Y., Lu, Y., Zeng, J., Ron, D., Mo, W. and Neubert, T. A. (2001). Characterization of phosphopeptides from protein digests using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry and nanoelectrospray quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom. 15: 1693–1700.

Ma, Y., Brewer, J. W., Diehl, J. A. and Hendershot, L. M. (2002). Two distinct stress signaling pathways converge upon the CHOP promoter during the mammalian unfolded protein response. J. Mol. Biol. 318: 1351–1365.

Maghraoui, A. E., Bensabbah, R., Bahiri, R., Bezza, A., Guedira, N. and Hajjaj-Hassouni, N. (2003). Cervical spine involvement in ankylosing spondylitis. Clin Rheumatol 22: 94-8.

Mansour, M., Cheema, G. S., Naguwa, S. M., Greenspan, A., Borchers, A. T., Keen, C. L. and Gershwin, M. E. (2006). Ankylosing Spondylitis: A Contemporary Perspective on Diagnosis and Treatment Semin Arthritis Rheum 36: 210-223.

Marciniak, S. J., Yun, C. Y., Oyadomari, S., Novoa, I., Zhang, Y., Jungreis, R., Nagata, K., Harding, H. P. and Ron, D. (2004). CHOP induces death by promoting protein synthesis and oxidation in the stressed endoplasmic reticulum. Genes Dev 18:066–3077.

Marciniak, S. J., Garcia-Bonilla, L., Hu, J., Harding, H. P. and Ron, D. (2006). Activation-dependent substrate recruitment by the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 kinase PERK. J Cell Biol. 172 (2): 201-209.

Masaki, T., Yoshida, M. and Noguchi, S. (1999). Targeted disruption of CRE-binding factor TREB5 gene leads to cellular necrosis in cardiac myocytes at the embryonic stage. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 261: 350–356.

Masciarelli, S., Fra, A. M., Pengo, N., Bertolotti, M., Cenci, S., Fagioli, C., Ron, D., Hendershot, L. M. and Sitia, R. (2010). CHOP-independent apoptosis and pathway-selective induction of the UPR in developing plasma cells. Mol Immunol. 47 (6): 1356-65.

Mast, S. W., Diekman, K., Karaveg, K., Davis, A., Sifers, R. N. and Moremen, K.W. (2005). Human EDEM2, a novel homolog of family 47 glycosidases, is involved in ER-associated degradation of glycoproteins. Glycobiology 15, 421–436.

Matlck, K. E., Misselwitz, B., Plath, K. and Rapoport, T. A. (1999). BiP acts as a molecular ratchet during posttranslational transport of prepro-alpha factor across the ER membrane. Cell 97 (5): 553-564.

Matsuo, Y., Masutani, H., Son, A., Kizaka-Kondoh, S. and Yodio, J. (2009). Physical and functional interaction of transmembrane thioredoxin-related protein with major

hisocompatibility complex class I heavy chain: Redox-based protein quality control and its potential relevance to immune responses. Mol. Biol. Cell 20: 4552-4562.

Mattson, M. P., Guo, Q., Furukawa, K. and Pedersen, W. A. (1998). Presenilins, the endoplasmic reticulum, and neuronal apoptosis in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 70: 1–14.

May, E., Dulphy, N., Frauendorf, E., Duchmann, R., Bowness, P., Lopez de Castro, J. A., Troubert, A. and Marker-Hermann, E. (2002). Conserved TCRb chain usage in reactive arthritis; evidence for selection by a putative HLA-B27-associated autoantigen. Tissue Antigens 60: 299–308.

May, E., Dorris, M. L., Satumtira, N., Iqbal, I., Rehman, M. I., Lightfoot, E. and Taurog, J. D. (2003). CD8 alpha beta T cells are not essential to the pathogenesis of arthritis or colitis in HLA-B27 transgenic rats. J Immunol 170: 1099–105.

Mazzarella, R. A., Srinivasan, M., Haugejorden, S. M. and Green, M. (1990). ERp72, an abundant luminal endoplasmic reticulum protein, contains three copies of the active site sequences of protein disulfide isomerase. J Biol Chem 265 (2): 1094-1101.

McCarty, J. S., Buchberger, A., Reinstein, J. and Bukau, B. (1995). The role of ATP in the functional cycle of the DnaK chaperone system. J Mol Biol 249:126-137.

McClellan, A. J., Scott, M. D. and Frydman, J. (2005). Folding and quality control of the VHL tumor suppressor proceed through distinct chaperone pathways. Cell 121: 739–748.

McCormick, T. S., McColl, K. S. and Distelhorst, C. W. (1997). Mouse lymphoma cell destined to undergo apoptosis in response to thapsigargin treatment fail to generate a calcium-mediated grp78/grp98 stress response. J Biol. Chem. 272: 6087-6092.

McCullough, K. D., Martindale, J. L., Klotz, L. O., Aw, T. Y. and Holbrook, N. J (2001). Gadd153 sensitizes cells to endoplasmic reticulum stress by down-regulating Bcl2 and perturbing the cellular redox state. Mol. Cell Biol. 21(4): 1249–59.

McGeachy, M. J., Chen, Y., Tato, C. M., Laurence, A., Joyce-Shaikh, B., Blumenschein, W. M., McClanahan, T. K., O'Shea, J. J. and Cua, D. J. (2009). The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. Nat Immunol 10: 314-324.

Medicherla, B., Kostova, Z., Schaefer, A. and Wolf, D. H. (2004). A genomic screen identifies Dsk2p and Rad23p as essential components of ER-associated degradation. EMBO Rep 5: 692–697.

Meldolesi, J. and Pozzan, T. (1998). The endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ store: a view from the lumen, Trends Biochem. Sci. 23: 10–14.

Melis, L. and Elewaut, D. (2009). Immunopathogenesis of spondyloarthritis: which cells drive disease? Arthritis Res Therapy 11 (3): 233-239.

Melnick, J., Aviel, S. and Argon, Y. (1992). The endoplasmic reticulum stress protein GRP94, in addition to BiP, associates with unassembled immunoglobulin chains. J Biol Chem 267: 21303–21306.

Melnick, J., Dul, J. L. and Argon, Y. (1994). Sequential interaction of the chaperones BiP and GRP94 with immunoglobulin chains in the endoplasmic reticulum. Nature 370: 373-5.

Menon, S., Lee, J., Abplanalp, W. A., Yoo, S. E., Agui, T., Furudate, S., Kim, P. S. and Arvan, P. (2007). Oxidoreductase interactions include a role for ERp72 engagement with mutant thyroglobulin from the rdw/rdw rat dwarf. J Biol Chem 282: 6183-6191.

Meraz-Rios, M. A., Lira-De Leon, K. I., Campos-Pena, V. De Anda-Hernandez, M. A. and Mena-Lopez, R. (2010). Tau oligomers and aggregation in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem. 112 (6): 1353-1367.

Merino, E., Montserrat, V., Paradela, A. and Lopez de Castro, J. A. (2005). Two HLA-B14 subtypes (B\*1402 and B\*1403) differentially associated with ankylosing spondylitis differ substantially in peptide specificity, but have limited peptide and T-cell epitope sharing with HLA-B27. J Biol Chem 280: 35868–80.

Mery, L., Masaeli, N., Michalak, M., Opas, M., Lew, D. P. and Krause, K. H. (1996). Overexpression of calreticulin increases intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  storage and decreases store-operated  $Ca^{2+}$  influx. J. Biol. Chem. 271 (16): 9332-9339.

Mesaeli, N., Nakamura, K., Zvaritch, E., Dickie, P., Dziak, E., Krause, K. H., Opas, M., MacLennan, D. H. and Michalak, M. (1999). Calreticulin is essential for cardiac development. J. Cell Biol. 144: 857-868.

Meunier, L., Usherwood, Y. K., Chung, K. T. and Hendershot, L. M. (2002). A subset of chaperones and folding enzymes form multiprotein complexes in endoplasmic reticulum to bind nascent proteins. Mol Biol Cell 13: 4456-4469.

Mezghrani, A., Fassio, A., Benham, A., Simmen, T., Braakman, I. and Sitia, R. (2001). Manipulation of oxidative protein folding and PDI redox state in mammalian cells. EMBO J 20: 6288-6296.

Michalak, M., Corbett, E. F., Mesaeli, N., Nakamura, K. and Opas, M. (1999). Calreticulin: one protein, one gene, many functions. Biochem J. 344 (2): 281–292.

Michalak, M., Groenendyk, J., Szabo, E., Gold, L. I. and Opas, M. (2009). Calreticulin, a multi-process calcium-buffering chaperone of the endoplasmic reticulum. Biochem J. 417 (3): 651-66.

Mikulits, W., Pradet-Balade, B., Habermann, B., Beug, H., Garcia-Sanz, J. A. and Mullner, E. W. (2000). Isolation of translationally controlled mRNAs by differential screening. FASEB J 14: 1641–1652.

Miot, M. and Betton, J-M. (2004). Protein quality control in the bacterial periplasm. Microbial Cell Factories 3 (1): 4.

Miyaishi, O., Kozaki, K., Iida, K., Isobe, K., Hashizume, Y. and Saga, S. (1998). Elevated expression of PDI family proteins during differentiation of mouse F9 teratocarcinoma cells. J Cell Biochem 68 (4): 436-445.

Mkrtchian, S., Fang, C., Hellman, U. and Ingelman-Sundberg, M. (1998). A stressinducible rat liver endoplasmic reticulum protein, ERp29. Eur J Biochem 251 (1-2): 304-313.

Molinari, M. and Helenius, A. (1999). Glycoproteins form mixed disulfides with oxidoreductases during folding in living cells. Nature 402: 90-93.

Molinari, M., Galli, C., Piccaluga, V., Pieren, M. and Paganetti, P. (2002). Sequential assistance of molecular chaperones and transient formation of covalent complexes during protein degradation from the ER. J Cell Biol 158: 247–257.

Molinari, M., Calanca, V., Galli, C., Lucca, P. and Paganetti, P. (2003). Role of EDEM in the release of misfolded glycoproteins from the calnexin cycle. Science 299: 1397-1400.

Molinari, M., Eriksson, K. K., Calanca, V., Galli, C., Cresswell, P., Michalak, M. and Helenius, A. (2004). Contrasting functions of calreticulin and calnexin in glycoprotein folding and ER quality control. Mol. Cell 13 (1): 125-135.

Molteni, S. N., Fassio, A., Ciriolo, M. R., Filomeni, G., Pasqualetto, E., Fagioli, C. and Sitia, R. (2004). Glutathione limits Ero1-dependent oxidation in the endoplasmic reticulum. J. Biol. Chem. 279: 32667-32673.

Molton, S. A., Todd, D. E. and Cook, S. J. (2003). Selective activation of the c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway fails to elicit Bax activation or apoptosis unless the phosphoinositide 3'-kinase (PI3K) pathwayis inhibited. Oncogene 22: 4690-4701.

Momburg, F. and Tan, P. (2002). Tapasin–the keystone of the loading complex optimizing peptide binding by MHC class I molecules in the endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Immunol 39: 217–233.

Mori, K., Sant, A., Kohno, K., Normington, K., Gething, M. J. and Sambrook, J. F. (1992). A 22 bp cis-acting element is necessary and sufficient for the induction of the yeast KAR2 (BiP) gene by unfolded proteins. EMBO J. 11: 2583–93.

Mori, K., Ma, W., Gething, M. J. and Sambrook, J. (1993). A transmembrane protein with a cdc2+/CDC28-related kinase activity is required for signaling from the ER to the nucleus. Cell 74: 743–756.

Mori, K., Kawahara, T., Yoshida, H., Yanagi, H. and Yura, T. (1996). Signalling from endoplasmic reticulum to nucleus: transcription factor with a basic-leucine zipper motif is required for the unfolded protein-response pathway. Genes Cells 1: 803–17.

Mori, K., Ogawa, N., Kawahara, T., Yanagi, H. and Yura, T. (2000). mRNA splicingmediated C-terminal replacement of transcription factor Hac1p is required for efficient activation of the unfolded protein response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97: 4660–65.

Morrice, N. A. and Powis, S. J. (1998). A role for the thiol-dependent reductase Erp57 in the assembly of MHC class I molecules. Curr. Biol. 8: 713–716.

Muller, J. P. (1996). Influence of impaired chaperone or secretion function on SecB production in *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 178: 6097–6104.

Mundinger, A., Ioannidou, M., Meske, S., Dinkel, E., Beck, A. and Sigmund, G. (1991). MRI of knee arthritis in rheumatoid arthritis and spondylarthropathies. Rheumatol Int 11:183-6.

Nadanaka, S., Yoshida, H. and Mori, K. (2006). Reduction of disulfide bridges in the lumenal domain of ATF6 in response to glucose starvation. Cell Struct Funct. 31 (2): 127-34.

Nadanaka, S., Okada, T., Yoshida, H. and Mori, K. (2007). Role of Disulfide Bridges Formed in the Luminal Domain of ATF6 in Sensing Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress Mol Cell Biol. 27 (3): 1027–1043.

Nakae, S., Nambu, A., Sudo, K. and Iwakura, Y. (2003). Suppression of immune induction of collageninduced arthritis in IL-17-deficient mice. J Immunol 171: 6173-7.

Nakagawa, T. and Yuan, J. (2000). Cross-talk between two cysteine protease families. Activation of caspase-12 by calpain in apoptosis. J Cell Biol 150: 887-94.

Nakagawa, T., Zhu, H., Morishima, N., Li, E., Xu, J., Yankner, B. A. and Yuan, J. (2000). Caspase-12 mediates endoplasmic-reticulum-specific apoptosis and cytotoxicity by amyloid- $\beta$ . Nature 403: 98–103.

Nakamura, K., Zuppini, A., Arnaudeau, S., Lynch, J., Ahsan, I., Krause, R., Papp, S., De Smedt, H., Parys, J. B., Muller-Esterl, W., Lew, D. P., Krause, K. H., Demaurex, N., Opas, M. and Michalak, M. (2001). Functional specialization of calreticulin domains. J. Cell Biol. 154 (5): 961-972.

Nakatani, Y., Kaneto, H., Kawamori, D., Yoshiuchi, K., Hatazaki, M., Matsuoka, T.A., Ozawa, K., Ogawa, S., Hori, M., Yamasaki, Y. and Matsuhisa, M. (2005). Involvement of endoplasmic reticulum stress in insulin resistance and diabetes. The Journal of biological chemistry 280: 847-851.

Nakatsukasa, K. and Brodsky, J. L. (2008). The recognition and retrotranslocation of misfolded proteins from the endoplasmic reticulum. Traffic 9 (6): 861-870.

Nakatsukasa, K., Huyer, G., Michaelis, S. and Brodsky, J. L. (2008). Dissecting the ER-associated degradation of a misfolded polytopic membrane protein. Cell 132: 101–112.

Ng, D. T. W., Watowich, S. S. and Lamb, R. A. (1992). Analysis in vivo of GRP78-BiP/substrate interactions and their role in induction of the GRP78-BiP gene. Mol. Biol. Cell 3: 143–55.

Nigam, S. K., Goldberg, A. L., Ho, S., Rohde, M. F., Bush, K. T. and Sherman, M. (1994). A set of endoplasmic reticulum proteins possessing properties of molecular chaperones includes Ca(2+)-binding proteins and members of the thioredoxin superfamily. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 1744-9.

Nikawa, J., Akiyoshi, M., Hirata, S. and Fukuda, T. (1996). Saccharomyces cerevisiae IRE2/HAC1 is involved in IRE1-mediated KAR2 expression. Nucleic Acids Res. 24: 4222–26.

Nishitoh, H., Matsuzawa, A., Tobiume, K., Saegusa, K., Takeda, K., Inoue, K., Hori, S., Kakizuka, A. and Ichijo, H. (2002). ASK1 is essential for endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced neuronal cell death triggered by expanded polyglutamine repeats. Genes Dev. 16: 1345–55.

Nojima, H., Sun-Hee, L., Araki, H., Sakai, A., Nakashima, N., Kanaoka, Y. and Ono, Y. (1994). Hac1: A novel yeast bZIP protein binding to the CRE motif is a multicopy suppressor for cdc10 mutant of Schizosaccharomyces pombe. Nucleic Acids Res. 22: 5279–88.

Normington, K., Kohno, K., Kozutsumi, Y., Gething, M. J. and Sambrook, J. (1989). S. cerevisiae encodes an essential protein homologous in sequence and function to mammalian BiP. Cell 57:1223–36.

Novina, C. D., Cheriyath, V. and Roy, A. L. (1998). Regulation of TFII-I activity by phosphorylation. J Biol Chem. 273 (50): 33443-33448.

Novoa, I., Zeng, H., Harding, H. P. and Ron, D. (2001). Feedback inhibition of the unfolded protein response by GADD34-mediated dephosphorylation of eIF2 $\alpha$ . J. Cell Biol. 153: 1011–22.

Nozaki, J., Kubota, H., Yoshida, H., Naitoh, M., Goji, J., Yoshinaga, T., Mori, K., Koizumi, A. and Nagata, K. (2004). The endoplasmic reticulum stress response is stimulated through the continuous activation of transcription factors ATF6 and XBP1 in Ins2+/Akita pancreatic beta cells. Genes Cells 9: 261–270.

Nozaki, S., Sledge Jr, G. W. and Nakshatri, H. (2001). Repression of GADD153/CHOP by NF-kappa B: a possible cellular defense against endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced cell death. Oncogene 20: 2178-2185.

Nutt, L. K., Pataer, A., Pahler, J., Fang, B., Roth, J., McConkey, D. J. and Swisher, S. G. (2002). Bax and Bak promote apoptosis by modulating endoplasmic reticular and mitochondrial Ca2+ stores. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 9219–25.

Oakes, S. A., Scorrano, L., Opferman, J. T., Bassik, M. C., Nishino, M., Pozzan, T. and Korsmeyer, S. J. (2005). Proapoptotic BAX and BAK regulate the type 1 inositol trisphosphate receptor and calcium leak from the endoplasmic reticulum. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102: 105–10.

Oakes, S. A., Lin, S. S. and Bassik, M. C. (2006). The control of endoplasmic reticulum-initiated apoptosis by the BCL-2 family of proteins. Curr. Mol. Med. 6: 99–109.

Obermann, W. M., Sondermann, H., Russo, A. A., Pavletich, N. P. and Hartl, F. U. (1998). In vivo function of Hsp90 is dependent on ATP binding and ATP hydrolysis. J Cell Biol 143:901–10.

Oda, Y., Hosokawa, N., Wada, I. and Nagata, K. (2003). EDEM as an acceptor of terminally misfolded glycoproteins released from calnexin. Science 299: 1394-1397.

Oda, Y., Okada, T., Yoshida, H., Kaufman, R. J., Nagata, K. and Mori, K. (2006) Derlin-2 and Derlin-3 are regulated by the mammalian unfolded protein response and are required for ER-associated degradation. J. Cell Biol. 172: 383–393.

Ohoka, N., Yoshii, S., Hattori, T., Onozaki, K. and Hayashi, H. (2005). TRB3, a novel ER stress-inducible gene, is induced via ATF4-CHOP pathway and is involved in cell death. EMBO J 24: 1243–1255.

Oikawa, D., Kimata, Y. and Kohno, K. (2007). Self-association and BiP dissociation are not sufficient for activation of the ER stress sensor Ire1. J. Cell Biol. 120: 1681-1688.

Oikawa, D., Kimata, Y., Kohno, K. and Iwawaki, T. (2009). Activation of mammalian IRE1 $\alpha$  upon ER stress depends on dissociation of BiP rather than on direct interaction with unfolded proteins Exp Cell Res. 315 (15): 2496-504.

Okada, T., Yoshida, H., Akazawa, R., Negishi, M. and Mori, K. (2002). Distinct roles of ATF6 and PERK in transcription during the mammalian unfolded protein response. Biochem. J. 366: 585–594.

Okada, T., Haze, K., Nadanaka, S., Yoshida, H., Seidah, N. G., Hirano, Y., Sato, R., Negishi, M. and Mori, K. (2003). A serine protease inhibitor prevents endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced cleavage but not transport of the membrane-bound transcription factor ATF6. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 31024–31032.

Okamura, K., Kimata, Y., Higashio, H., Tsuru, A. and Kohno, K. (2000). Dissociation of Kar2p/BiP from an ER sensory molecule, Ire1p, triggers the unfolded protein response in yeast. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 279: 445–450.

Olivari, S., Galli, C., Alanen, H., Ruddock, L. and Molinari, M. (2005). A novel stress-induced EDEM variant regulating endoplasmic reticulum-associated glycoprotein degradation. J Biol Chem 280, 2424–2428.

Oliver, J. D., van de Wal, F. J., Bulleid, N. J. and High, S. (1997). Interaction of the thiol-dependent reductase ERp57 with nascent glycoproteins. Science 275: 86-88.

Oliver, J. D., Roderick, H. L., Llewellyn, D. H. and High S. (1999). Erp57 functions as a subunit of specific complexes formed with the ER lectins calreticulin and calnexin. Mol. Biol. Cell 10: 2573–2582.

Olivieri, I., Barozzi, L. and Padula, A. (1998). Enthesiopathy: clinical manifestations, imaging and treatment. Baillieres Clin Rheumatol 12: 665-81.

Ortega, J., Iwanczyk, J. and Jomaa, A. (2009). *Escherichia coli* DegP: a structuredriven functional model. J. Bacteriol. 191 (15): 4705-4713.

Ortmann, B., Copeman, J., Lehner, P. J., Sadasivan, B., Herberg, J. A., Grandea, A. G., Riddell, S. R., Tampe, R., Spies, T., Trowsdale, J. and Cresswell, P. (1997). A critical role for tapasin in the assembly and function of multimeric MHC class I-TAP complexes. Science 277: 1306–1309.

Otsu, M., Bertoli, G., Fagioli, C., Guerini-Rocco, E., Nerini-Molteni, S., Ruffato, E. and Sitia, R. (2006). Dynamic retention of Ero1a and Ero1b in the endoplasmic reticulum by interactions with PDI and ERp44. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 8:274-282.

Otto, H., Conz, C., Maier, P., Wolfle, T., Suzuki, C. K., Jeno, P., Rucknagel, P., Stahl, J. and Rospert, S. (2005). The chaperones MPP11 and Hsp70L1 form the mammalian ribosomeassociated complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 10064–10069.

Oyadomari, S., Takeda, K., Takiguchi, M., Gotoh, T., Matsumoto, M., Wada, I., Akira, S., Araki, E. and Mori, M. (2001). Nitric oxide-induced apoptosis in pancreatic b-cells is mediated by the endoplasmic reticulum stress pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98: 10845–10850.

Oyadomari, S., Araki, E. and Mori, M. (2002a). Endoplasmic reticulum stressmediated apoptosis in pancreatic beta-cells. Apoptosis 7: 335–345.

Oyadomari, S., Koizumi, A., Takeda, K., Gotoh, T., Akira, S., Araki, E. and Mori, M. (2002b). Targeted disruption of the Chop gene delays endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated diabetes. J. Clin. Invest. 109: 525–532.

Oyadomari, S. and Mori, M. (2004). Roles of CHOP/GADD153 in endoplasmic reticulum stress. Cell Death Differ. 11: 381–389.

Oyadomari, S., Yun, C., Fisher, E., Kreglinger, N., Kreibich, G., Oyadomari, M., Harding, H. P., Goodman, A. G., Harant, H., Garrison, J. L., Taunton, J., Katze, M. G. and Ron, D. (2006). Cotranslocational degradation protects the stressed endoplasmic reticulum from protein overload. Cell. 126: 727–739.

Ozcan, U., Cao, Q., Yilmaz, E., Lee, A.H., Iwakoshi, N.N., Ozdelen, E., Tuncman, G., Gorgun, C., Glimcher, L.H. and Hotamisligil, G.S. (2004). Endoplasmic reticulum stress links obesity, insulin action, and type 2 diabetes. Science 306: 457-461.

Pagani, M., Fabbri, M., Benedetti, C., Fassio, A., Pilati, S., Bulleid, N. J., Cabibbo, A. and Sitia, R. (2000). Endoplasmic reticulum oxidoreductin 1-lbeta (ERO1-Lbeta), a human gene induced in the course of the unfolded protein response. J Biol Chem 275: 23685-23692.

Page, T. H., Smolinska, M., Gillespie, J., Urbaniak, A. M. and Foxwell, B. M. (2009). Tyrosine kinases and inflammatory signalling. Curr. Mol. Med. 9 (1): 69-85.

Pahl, H. L (1999). Signal transduction from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cell nucleus. Physiol. Rev. 79 (3): 683-701.

Pamer, E. and Cresswell, P. (1998). Mechanisms of MHC class I-restricted antigen processing. Annu Rev Immunol 16: 323-358.

Pappenberger, G., Wilsher, J. A., Roe, S. M., Counsell, D. J., Willison, K. R. and Pearl, L. H. (2006). Crystal Structure of the CCTg Apical Domain: Implications for Substrate Binding to the Eukaryotic Cytosolic Chaperonin. Journal Molecular Biology 318, 1367-1379.

Parekh, A. B., Terlau, H. and Stühmer, W. (1993). Depletion of InsP3 stores activates a Ca2+ and K+ current by means of a phosphatase and a diffusible messenger. Nature 364: 814-8.

Parham, E., Alpert, B. N., Orr, H. T. and Strominger, J. L. (1977). Carbohydrate moiety of HLA antigens. Antigenic properties and amino acid sequences around the site of glycosylation J. Biol. Chem. 252: 7555—7567.

Parham, P., Barnstable, C. J. and Bodmer, W. F. (1979). Use of a monoclonal antibody (W6/32) in structural studies of HLA-A, B, C, antigens. J Immunol 123: 342–349.

Parham, P. (1996). Functions for MHC class I carbohydrates inside and outside the cell. Trends Biochem. Sci. 21: 427–433.

Parker, R., Phan, T., Baumeister, P., Roy, B., Cheriyath, V., Roy, A. L. and Lee, A. S. (2001). Identification of TFII-I as the endoplasmic reticulum stress element binding factor ERSF: Its autoregulation by stress and interaction with ATF6. Mol Cell Biol. 21 (9): 3220-3233.

Patil, C. K., Li, H. and Walter, P. (2004). Gcn4p and novel upstream activating sequences regulate targets of the unfolded protein response. PLoS Biol. 2: 1208-1223.

Pawson, T. (2004) Specificity in signal transduction: from phosphotyrosine-SH2 domain interactions to complex cellular systems. Cell 116: 191–203.

Pazár, B., Sáfrány, E., Gergely, P., Szántó, S., Szekanecz, Z. and Poór, G. (2010). Association of ARTS1 gene polymorphisms with ankylosing spondylitis in the Hungarian population: the rs27044 variant is associated with HLA-B\*2705 subtype in Hungarian patients with ankylosing spondylitis. J Rheumatol. 37(2): 379-84.

Peaper, D. R., Wearsch, P. A. and Cresswell, P. (2005). Tapasin and Erp57 form a stable disulfide-linked dimer within the MHC class I peptide-loading complex. EMBO J 24: 3613–3623.

Peaper, D. R. and Cresswell, P. (2008). The redox activity of Erp57 is not essential for its functions in MHC class I peptide loading. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105: 10477–10482.

Pennuto, M., Tinelli, E., Malaguti, M., Del Carro, U., D'Antonio, M., Ron, D., Quattrini, A., Feltri, M. L. and Wrabetz, L. (2008). Ablation of the UPR-mediator CHOP restores motor function and reduces demyelination in Charcot-Marie-Tooth 1B mice. Neuron. 57 (3): 393-405.

Penttinen, M. A., Holmberg, C. I., Sistonen, L. and Gransfors, K. (2002). HLA-B27 modulates nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  activation in human monocytic cells exposed to lipopolysaccharide. Arthritis Rheum. 46 (8): 2172-2180.

Pereira, C., Ferreiro, E., Cardoso, S. M. and de Oliveira, C. R. (2004). Cell degeneration induced by amyloid-beta peptides: implications for Alzheimer's disease. J Mol Neurosci 23: 97–104.

Perez-Solder, R., Chachoua, A., Hammond, L. A., Rowinsky, E. K., Huberman, M., Karp, D., Rigas, J., Clark, G. M., Santabarbara, P. and Bonomi, P. (2004). Determinants of tumor response and survival with erlotinib in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin. Oncol. 22 (16): 3238-3247.

Perlmutter, D. H. (2006). The role of autophagy in alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency: a specific cellular response in genetic diseases associated with aggregation-prone proteins. Autophagy 2 (4): 258-263.

Peruzzi, M., Wagtmann, N. and Long, E. O. (1996). A p70 killer cell inhibitory receptor specific for several HLA-B allotypes discriminates among peptides bound to HLA-B\*2705. J. Exp. Med. 184: 1585–1590.

Pettersson, M., Bessonova, M., Gu, H. F., Groop, L. C. and Jonsson, J. I. (2000). Characterization, chromosomal localization, and expression during hematopoietic differentiation of the gene encoding Arl6ip, ADP-ribosylation-like factor-6 interacting protein (ARL6). Genomics. 68 (3): 351-354.

Picard D. (2002). Heat-shock protein 90, a chaperone for folding and regulation. Cell Mol Life Sci 59:1640–8.

Pilon, M., Romisch, K., Quach, D., and Schekman, R. (1998). Sec61p serves multiple roles in secretory precursor binding and translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Mol. Biol. Cell. 9: 3455–3473.

Pincus, D., Chevalier, M. W., Aragon, T., van Anken, E., Vidal, S. E., El-Samad, H. and Walter, P. (2010). BiP binding to the ER stress-sensor Ire1 tunes the homeostatic behavior of the unfolded protein response. PloS Biol. 8 (7): e1000415.

Plemper, R. K. and Wolf, D. H. (1999). Endoplasmic reticulum degradation. Reverse protein transport and its end in the proteasome. Mol. Biol. Rep. 26 (1-2): 125-130.

Polier, S., Dragovic, Z., Hartl, F.U. and Bracher, A. (2008). Structural basis for the cooperation of Hsp70 and Hsp110 chaperones in protein folding. Cell 133, 1068–1079.

Pollard, M. G., Travers, K. J. and Weissman, J. S. (1998). Ero1p: A novel and ubiquitous protein with an essential role in oxidative protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Cell 1: 171-182.

Price, B. and Calderwood, S. (1992). Gadd45 and Gadd153 messenger RNA levels are increased during hypoxia and after exposure of cells to agents which elevate the levels of glucose-regulated proteins. Cancer Res. 52: 3814–3817.

Price, B. D., Mannheim-Rodman, L. A. and Calderwood, S. K. (1992). Brefeldin A, thapsigargin, and AIF4- stimulate the accumulation of GRP78 mRNA in a

cyclohexamide dependent manner, whilst induction by hypoxia is independent of protein synethesis. J Cell Physiol. 152 (3): 545-552.

Primm, T. P., Walker, K. W., and Gilbert, H. F. (1996). Facilitated protein aggregation. Effects of calcium on the chaperone and anti-chaperone activity of protein disulfide-isomerase. J Biol Chem 271: 33664-33669.

Prodromou, C., Panaretou, B., Chohan, S., Siligardi, G., O'Brien, R., Ladbury, J. E., Roe, S. M., Piper, P. W. and Pearl, L. H. (2000). The ATPase cycle of Hsp90 drives a molecular 'clamp' via transient dimerization of the N-terminal domains. EMBO J 19:4383–92.

Pugsley, A. P (1993). The complete general secretory pathway in Gram-Negative bacteria. Microbiol. Rev. 57: 50-108.

Puig, A. and Gilbert, H. F. (1994). Protein disulfide isomerase exhibits chaperone and anti-chaperone activity in the oxidative refolding of lysozyme. J Biol Chem 269: 7764-7771.

Putcha, G. V., Le, S., Frank, S., Besirli, C. G., Clark, K., Chu, B., Alix, S., Youle, R. J., LaMarche, A., Maroney, A. C. and Johnson, E. M. Jr. (2003). JNK-mediated BIM phosphorylation potentiates BAX-dependent apoptosis. Neuron 38: 899–914.

Puthalakath, H., O'Reilly, L. A., Gunn, P., Lee, L., Kelly, P. N., Huntington, N. D., Hughes, P. D., Michalak, E. M., McKimm-Breschkin, J., Motoyama, N., Goth, T., Akira, S., Bouillet, P. and Strasser, A. (2007). ER stress triggers apoptosis by activating BH3-only protein Bim. Cell 129: 1337–1349.

Pyhtila, B., Zheng, T., Lager, P. J., Keene, J. D., Reedy, M. C. and Nicchitta, C. V. (2008). Signal sequence- and translation-independent mRNA localization to the endoplasmic reticulum. RNA 14, 445–453.

Quan, E. M., Kamiya, Y., Kamiya, D., Denic, V., Weibezahn, J., Kato, K. and Weissman, J. S. (2008). Defining the glycan destruction signal for endoplasmic reticulum associated degradation. Mol. Cell 32: 870-877.

Raasi, S. and Wolf, D. H. (2007). Ubiquitin receptors and ERAD: a network of pathways to the proteasome. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 18:780–791.

Rahman, P., Inman, R. D., Gladman, D. D., Reeve, J. P., Peddle, L. and Maksymowych, W. P. (2008). Association of interleukin-23 receptor variants with ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheum 58: 1020-1025.

Rainey-Barger, E. K., Mkrtchian, S. and Tsai, B. (2007). Dimerisation of ERp29, a PDI-like protein, is essential for its diverse functions. Mol Biol Cell 18 (4): 1253-1260.

Ramos, M., Alvarez, I., Sesma, L., Logean, A., Rognan, D. and Lopez de Castro, J.A. (2002). Molecular mimicry of an HLA-B27-derived ligand of arthritis linked subtypes with chlamydial proteins. J Biol Chem 277: 37573–81.

Rao, R. V., Hermel, E., Castro-Obregon, S., del Rio, G., Ellerby, L. M., Ellerby, H. M. and Bredesen, D. E. (2001). Coupling endoplasmic reticulum stress to the cell death program. Mechanism of caspase activation. J Biol Chem 276: 33869-74.

Rao, R. V., Ellerby, H. M. and Bredesen, D. E. (2004). Coupling endoplasmic reticulum stress to the cell death program Cell Death and Differentiation 11: 372–380.

Rapoport, T. A., Matlack, K. E., Plath, K., Misselwitz, B. and Staeck, O. (1999). Posttranslational protein translocation across the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum. Biol. Chem. 380 (10): 1143-1150.

Rasheed, S., Nelson-Rees, W. A., Toth, E. M., Arnstein, P. and Gardner, M. B. (1974). Characterization of a newly derived human sarcoma cell line (HT-1080). Cancer. 33 (4): 1027-33.

Rasmussen, U., Brogger Christensen, S. and Sandberg, F. (1978). Thapsigargine and thapsigargicine, two new histamine liberators from Thapsia garganica L. Acta Pharm Suec. 15: 133-40.

Rath, H. C., Herfarth, H. H., Ikeda, J. S., Grenther, W. B., Hammer., T. E., Taurog, J. D., Hammer, R. E., Wilson, K. H. and Sartor, R. B. (1996). Normal luminal bacteria, especially Bacteroides species, mediate chronic colitis, gastritis, and arthritis in HLA-B27/human beta2 microglobulin transgenic rats. J. Clin. Invest. 98: 945-953.

Ravikumar, B., Duden, R. and Rubinsztein, D.C. (2002) Aggregate-prone proteins with polyglutamine and polyalanine expansions are degraded by autophagy. Hum. Mol. Genet. 11: 1107–1117.

Rehakova, Z., Capkova, J., Stepankova, R., Sinkora, J., Louzecka, A., Ivanyi, P. and Weinreich, S. (2000). Germ-free mice do not develop ankylosing enthesopathy, a spontaneous joint disease. Hum. Immunol. 61: 555–8.

Reimold, A. M., Etkin, A., Clauss, I., Perkins, A., Friend, D. S., Zhang, J., Horton, H. F., Scott, A., Orkin, S. H., Byrne, M. C., Grusby, M. J. and Glimcher, L. H. (2000). An essential role in liver development for transcription factor XBP-1. Genes Dev. 14: 152–157.

Reimold, A. M., Iwakoshi, N. N., Manis, J., Vallabhajosyula, P., Szomolanyi-Tsuda, E., Gravallese, E. M., Friend, D., Grusby, M. J., Alt, F. and Glimcher, L. H. (2001). Plasma cell differentiation requires the transcription factor XBP-1. Nature 412: 300–307.

Ribaudo R. K. and Margulies D. H. (1992). Independent and synergistic effects of disulfide bond formation, beta 2-microglobulin and peptides on class I MHC folding and assembly in an in vitro translation system. J. Immunol. 149: 2935–2944.

Rietsch, A., Belin, D., Martin, N., and Beckwith, J. (1996). An in vivo pathway for disulfide bond isomerization in Escherichia coli. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 13048-13053.

Rivett, A. J. (1993). Proteasomes: multicatalytic proteinase complexes. Biochem. J 291: 1–10.

Rizzitello, A. E., Harper, J. R. and Silhavy, T. J. (2001). Genetic evidence for parallel pathways of chaperone activity in the periplasm of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 183: 6744-6800.

Rodan, A. R., Simons, J. F., Trombetta, E. S., and Helenius, A. (1996). N-linked oligosaccharides are necessary and sufficient for association of glycosylated forms of bovine RNase with calnexin and calreticulin. EMBO J. 15: 6921–6930.

Ron. D. and Walter, P. (2007). Signal integration in the endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response Nature Reviews 8: 519-529.

Rosser, M. F. and Nicchitta, C. V. (2000). Ligand interactions in the adenosine nucleotide-binding domain of the Hsp90 chaperone, GRP94. Evidence for allosteric regulation of ligand binding. J. Biol. Chem. 275: 22798-805.

Roychaudhuri, R., Yang, M., Hoshi, M. M. and Teplow, D. B. (2008). Amyloid betaprotein assembly and Alzheimer disease. J Biol Chem. 284 (8): 4749-53.

Ruddock, L.W., Freedman, R.B. and Klappa, P. (2000). Specificity in substrate binding by protein folding catalysts: tyrosine and tryptophan residues are the recognition motifs for the binding of peptides to the pancreas-specific protein disulfide isomerase PDIp. Protein Sci 9: 758-764.

Ruddon, R. W. and Bedows, E. (1997). Assisted protein folding. J Biol Chem. 272:6, 3125-3128.

Rudwaleit, M. and Baeten, D. (2006). Ankylosing spondylitis and bowel disease. Best Prac. & Res. Clin. Rheumatol. 20 (3): 451-471.

Rueda, B., Orozco, G., Raya, E., Fernandez-Sueiro, J. L., Mulero, J., Blanco, F. J., Vilches, C., Gonzalez-Gay, M. A. and Martin, J. (2008). The IL23R Arg381Gln non-synonymous polymorphism confers susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis 67: 1451-1454.

Ruegg, U. T. and Rudinger, J. (1977). Reductive cleavage of cystine disulfides with tributylphosphine. Methods Enzymol., 47: 111-116.

Ruegsegger, U., Leber, J. H. and Walter, P. (2001). Block of HAC1 mRNA Translation by Long-Range Base Pairing Is Released by Cytoplasmic Splicing upon Induction of the Unfolded Protein Response Cell 107: 103–114.

Russell, S. J., Ruddock, L. W., Salo, K. E., Oliver, J. D., Roebuck, Q. P., Llewellyn, D. H., Roderick, H. L., Koivunen, P., Myllyharju, J. and High, S. (2004). The primary substrate binding site in the b' domain of Erp57 is adapted for endoplasmic reticulum lectin association. J Biol Chem. 279 (18): 18861-9.

Rutkowski, D. T., Arnold, S. M., Miller, C. N., Wu., J., Li., J., Gunnison, K. M., Mori, K., Sadighi, Akha, A. A., Raden, D. and Kaufman, R. J. (2006). Adaptation to ER stress is mediated by differential stabilities of pro-survival and pro-apoptotic mRNAs and proteins. PLoS Biol. 4 (11): e374.

Rybin, V., Zapun, A., Torronen, A., Raina, S., Missiakas, D., Creighton, T. E., and Metcalf, P. (1996). Crystallization of DsbC, the disulfide bond isomerase of Escherichia coli. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr *52*, 1219-1221.

Sadasivan, B., Lehner, P. J., Ortmann, B., Spies, T. and Cresswell, P. (1996). Roles for calreticulin and a novel glycoprotein, tapasin, in the interaction of MHC class I molecules with TAP. Immunity 5: 103–114.

Sahu, N. and August, A. (2009). ITK inhibitors in inflammation and immunemediated disorders. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 9 (8): 690-703.

Saibil, H. R., Zheng, D., Roseman, A. M., Hunter, A. S., Watson, G. M., Chen, S., Auf Der Mauer, A., O'Hara, B. P., Wood, S. P., Mann, N. H., Barnett, L. K. and Ellis, R.J. (1993). ATP induces large quaternary rearrangements in a cage-like chaperonin structure. Curr. Biol. 3, 265–273.

Sakaguchi M. (1997) Eukaryotic protein secretion. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 8, 595-601

Sakai, J., Duncan, E. A., Rawson, R. B., Hua, X., Brown, M. S. and Goldstein, J. L. (1996). Sterol-regulated release of SREBP-2 from cell membranes requires two sequential cleavages, one within a transmembrane segment. Cell 85: 1037–1046.

Sakai, T. and Kogiso, M. (2008). Soy isoflavones and immunity. J. Med. Invest. 55 (3-4): 167-173.

Saleki, K., Hartigan, N., Lith, M., Bulleid, N. and Benham, A. M. (2006). Differential oxidation of HLA-B2704 and HLA-B2705 in lymphoblastoid and transfected adherent cells. Antioxid Redox Signal 8: 292-299.

Saltiel, A. R. and Kahn, C. R. (2001). Insulin signalling and the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. Nature 414: 799–806.

Samuelson, J. C., Chen, M., Jiang, F., Moller, I., Wiedmann, M., Kuhn, A., Phillips, G. J. and Dalbey, R. E. (2000). YidC mediates membrane protein insertion in bacteria. Nature 406: 637–641.

Santos, S. G., Campbell, E. C., Lynch, S., Wong, V., Antoniou, A. N. and Powis, S. J. (2007). Major histocompatability complex class I-ERp57-tapasin interactions within the peptide loading complex. J Biol Chem. 282 (24): 17587-93.

Santos, S. G., Lynch, S., Campbell, E. C., Antoniou, A. N. and Powis, S. J. (2008). Induction of HLA-B27 heavy chain homodimer formation after activation in dendritic cells. Arthritis Res Ther. 10(4): R100.

Saric, T., Chang, S. C., Hattori, A., York, I. A., Markant, S., Rock, K. L., Tsujimoto, M. and Goldberg, A. L. (2002). An IFN- $\gamma$ -induced aminopeptidase in the ER, ERAP1, trims precursors to MHC class I-presented peptides. Nat. Immunol. 3: 1169–76.

Sato, B. K., Schulz, D., Do, P. H. and Hampton, R. Y. (2009). Misfolded membrane proteins are specifically recognized by the transmembrane domain of the Hrd1p ubiquitin ligase. Mol Cell. 34 (2): 212-22.

Schaiff, W. T., Hruska, K. A., McCourt, D.W., M. Green and Schwartz, B. D. (1992). HLA-DR associates with specific stress proteins and is retained in the endoplasmic reticulum in invariant chain negative cells. J Exp Med 176: 657-666.

Schenk, D., Barbour, R., Dunn, W., Gordon, G., Grajeda, H., Guido, T., Hu, K., Huang, J., Johnson-Wood, K., Khan, K., Kholodenko, D., Lee, M., Liao, Z., Lieberburg, I., Motter, R., Mutter, L., Soriano, F., Shopp, G., Vasquez, N., Vandevert, C., Walker. S., Wogulis, M., Yednock, T., Games, D. and Seubert, P. (1999). Immunization with amyloid- $\beta$  attenuates Alzheimer-disease-like pathology in the PDAPP mouse. Nature 400: 173–77.

Scheufler, C., Brinker, A., Bourenkov, G., Pegoraro, S., Moroder, L., Bartunik, H., Hartl, F. U. and Moarefi, I. (2000). Structure of TPR domain-peptide complexes: critical elements in the assembly of the Hsp70–Hsp90 multichaperone machine. Cell 101:199–210.

Scheuner, D., Song, B., McEwen, E., Liu, C., Laybutt, R., Gillespie, P., Saunders, T., Bonner-Weir, S. and Kaufman, R. J. (2001). Translational control is required for the unfolded protein response and in-vivo glucose homeostasis. Mol. Cell 7: 1165–76.

Scheuner, D., Mierde, D. V., Song, B., Flamez, D., Creemers, J. W., Tsukamoto, K., Ribick, M., Schuit, F. C. and Kaufman, R. J. (2005). Control of mRNA translation preserves endoplasmic reticulum function in beta cells and maintains glucose homeostasis. Nat Med 11: 757–764.

Scheuner, D. and Kaufman, R. J. (2008) The unfolded protein response: a pathway that links insulin demand with beta-cell failure and diabetes. Endocr Rev. 29 (3): 317-33.

Schindler, A.J. and Schekman, R. (2009). In vitro reconstitution of ER-stress induced ATF6 transport in COPII vesicles. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 106: 17775-17780.

Schmitz, A., Herrgen, H., Winkeler, A. and Herzog, V. (2000). Cholera toxin is exported from microsomes by the Sec61 complex. J. Cell Biol. 148: 1203–1212.

Scholz, C. and Tampe, R. (2009). The peptide loading complex–antigen translocation and MHC class I loading. Biol Chem 390: 783–794.

Schröder, M., Clark, R., Liu, C. Y., Kaufman, R. J. (2004). The unfolded protein response represses differentiation through the RPD3-SIN3 histone deacetylase. EMBO J. 23 (11): 2281-2292.

Schwaller, M., Wilkinson, B. and Gilbert, H. F. (2003). Reduction-reoxidation cycles contribute to catalysis of disulfide isomerization by protein-disulfide isomerase. J Biol Chem 278: 7154-7159.

Scofield, R. H., Kurien, B., Gross, T., Warren, W. L. and Harley, J. B. (1995). HLA-B27 binding of peptide from its own sequence and similar peptides from bacteria: implications for spondyloarthropathies. Lancet 345: 1542–1544.

Scorrano, L., Oakes, S. A., Opferman, J. T., Cheng, E. H., Sorcinelli, M. D., Pozzan, T. and Korsmeyer, S. J. (2003). BAX and BAK regulation of endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+: a control point for apoptosis. Science 300: 135–139.

Scott, D. C. and Scheckman, R. (2008). Role of Sec61p in the ER-associated degradation of short-lived transmembrane proteins. J Cell Biol 181 (7): 1095-1105.

Selkoe, D. J. (2001). Alzheimer's disease: genes, proteins, and therapy. Physiol. Rev. 81: 741–66.

Senderek, J., Krieger, M., Stendel, C., Bergmann, Moser, M., Breitbach-Faller, N., Rudnick-Schoneborn, S., Blaschek, A., Wolf, N. I, Harting, I., North, K., Smith, J., Muntoni, Brockington, M., Quijano-Roy, S., Renault, F., Hermann, R., Hendershot, L. M., Schroeder, J. M., Lochmuller, H., Topaloglu, H., Voit, T., Weis, J., Ebinger, F. and Zerres, K. (2005). Mutations in SIL1 cause Marinesco-Sjogren syndrome, a cerebellar ataxia with cataract and myopathy. Nat. Genet. 37, 1312–1314.

Sevier, C. S and Kaiser, C. A. (2002). Formation and transfer of disulfide bonds in living cells. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 3 (11): 836-847.

Sevier C. S. and Kaiser, C. A. (2006). Disulfide transfer between two conserved cysteine pairs imparts selectivity to protein oxidation by Ero1. Molecular Biology Cell 17: 2256-2266.

Sevier, C. S., Qu, H., Heldman, N, Gross, E., Fass, D. and Kaiser, C.A. (2007). Modulation of cellular disulfide-bond formation and the ER redox environment by feedback regulation of Ero1. Cell 129: 333-334.

Shaffer, A. L., Shapiro-Shelef, M., Iwakoshi, N. N., Lee, A. H., Qian, S. B., Zhao, H., Yu, X., Yang, L., Tan, B. K., Rosenwald, A., Hurt, E. M., Petroulakis, E., Sonenberg, N., Yewdell, J. W., Calame, K., Glimcher, L. H. and Staudt, L. M. (2004). XBP1, downstream of Blimp-1, expands the secretory apparatus and other organelles, and increases protein synthesis in plasma cell differentiation. Immunity 21: 81–93.

Shamu, C. E., Cox, J. S. and Walter, P. (1994). The unfolded-protein-response pathway in yeast. Trends Cell Biol 4: 56–60.

Shamu, C. E. and Walter, P. (1996). Oligomerization and phosphorylation of the Ire1p kinase during intracellular signaling from the endoplasmic reticulum to the nucleus. EMBO J 15: 3028–3039.

Shen, H., Goodall, J. C. and Hill Gaston, J. S. (2009). Frequency and phenotype of peripheral blood Th17 cells in ankylosing spondylitis and theumatoid arthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism 60 (6): 1647-1656.

Shen, J., Chen, X., Hendershot, L. and Prywes, R. (2002). ER stress regulation of ATF6 localization by dissociation of BiP/GRP78 binding and unmasking of Golgi localization signals. Dev. Cell 3: 99–111.

Shen, J., Snapp, E. L., Lippincott-Schwartz, J. and Prywes, R. (2005). Stable binding of ATF6 to BiP in the endoplasmic reticulum stress response. Mol. Cell. Biol. 25: 921–932.

Shen, X., Ellis, R. E., Lee, K., Liu, C. Y., Yang, K., Solomon, A., Yoshida, H., Morimoto, R., Kurnit, D. M., Mori, K. and Kaufman, R. J. (2001). Complementary signaling pathways regulate the unfolded protein response and are required for C. elegans development. Cell 107: 893–903.

Shen, X., Ellis, R. E., Sakaki, K. and Kaufman, R. J. (2005). Genetic interactions due to constitutive and inducible gene regulation mediated by the unfolded protein response in C. elegans. PLoS Genet. 1 (3): e37.

Shi, Y., Vattem, K. M., Sood, R., An, J., Liang, J., Stramm, L. E. and Wek, R. C. (1998). Identification and characterization of pancreatic eukaryotic initiation factor 2 alpha-subunit kinase, PEK, involved in translational control. Mol. Cell Biol. 18: 7499-7509.

Shi, Y., An, J., Liang, J., Hayes, S. E., Sandusky, G. E., Stramm, L. E. and Yang, N. N. (1999). Characterization of a mutant pancreatic eIF-2alpha kinase, PEK, and colocalizationwith somatostatin in islet delta cells. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 5723-5730.

Shiu, R. P., Pouyssegur, J. and Pastan, I. (1977). Glucose depletion accounts for the induction of two transformation-sensitive membrane proteins in Rous sarcoma virus-transformed chick embryo fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 74 (9): 3840-4.

Shkoda, A., Werner, T., Daniel, H., Gunckel, M., Rogler, G. and Haller, D. (2007). Differential protein expression profile in the intestinal epithelium from patients with inflammatory bowel disease. J Proteome Res. 6 (3): 1114-25.

Shomura, Y., Yoshida, T., Iizuka, R., Maruyama, T., Yohda, M. and Miki, K. (2004). Crystal Structures of the Group II Chaperonin from Thermococcus strain KS-1: Steric Hindrance by the Substituted Amino Acid, and Inter-subunit Rearrangement between Two Crystal Forms. Journal Molecular Biology 335, 1265-1278.

Sidrauski, C., Cox, J. S. and Walter, P. (1996). tRNA ligase is required for regulated mRNA splicing in the unfolded protein response. Cell 87: 405–13.

Sidrauski, C. and Walter, P. (1997). The transmembrane kinase Ire1p is a site-specific endonuclease that initiates mRNA splicing in the unfolded protein response. Cell 90: 1031–1039.

Skorko-Glonek, J., Krzewski, K., Lipinska, B., Bertoil, E. and Tanfani, F. (1995). comparison of the structure of wild-type HtrA heat shock protease and mutant HtrA proteins. A Fourier transform infrared spectroscopic study. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 11140-11146.

Smith, J. A., Marker-Harmann, E. and Colbert, R. A. (2006). Pathogenesis of ankylosing spondylitis: Current concepts. Best Prac. Res. Clin. Rheumatol. 20 (3): 571-591.

Smith, J. A., Turner, M. J., DeLay, M. L., Kleck, E. I., Sowders, D. P. and Colbert, R. A. (2008). Endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced and the unfolded protein response are linked to synergistic IFN $\beta$  induction via X-box binding protein-1. Eur J Immunol 38: 1194-203.

Smith, J. D., Solheim, J. C., Carreno, B. M. and Hansen T. H. (1995). Characterization of class I MHC folding intermediates and their disparate interactions with peptide and beta 2-microglobulin. Mol. Immunol. 32: 531–540.

Solda, T., Garbi, N., Hammerling, G. J. and Molinari, M. (2006). Consequences of ERp57 deletion on oxidative folding of obligate and facultative clients of the calnexin cycle. J. Biol. Chem. 281: 6219-6226.

Solda, T., Galli, C., Kaufman, R. J. and Molinari, M. (2007). Substrate-specific requirements for UGT1-dependent release from calnexin. Mol. Cell. 27: 238-249.

Soldano, K. L., Jivan, A., Nicchitta, C. V. and Gewirth, D. T. (2003). Structure of the N-terminal domain of GRP94. Basis for ligand specificity and regulation. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 48330-8.

Sommer, T. and E. Jarosch. (2002). BiP binding keeps ATF6 at bay. Dev. Cell 3: 1–2. Sriburi, R., Bommiasamy, H., Buldak, G. L., Robbins, G. R., Frank, M., Jackowski, S. and Brewer, J. W. (2007). Coordinate regulation of phospholipid biosynthesis and secretory pathway gene expression in XBP-1(S)-induced endoplasmic reticulum biogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 282: 7024–7034.

Sone, M., Akiyama, Y., and Ito, K. (1997). Differential in vivo roles played by DsbA and DsbC in the formation of protein disulfide bonds. J Biol Chem 272, 10349-10352.

Song, G., Ouyang, G. and Bao, S. (2005). The activation of Akt/PKB signalling pathway and cell survival. J. Cell Mol. Med. 9 (1): 59-71.

Spiess, C., Beil, A. and Ehrmann, M. (1999). A temperature-dependent switch from chaperone to protease in a widely conserved heat shock protein. Cell 97: 339-347.

Sriburi, R., Bommiasamy, H., Buldak, G. L., Robbins, G.R., Frank, M., Jackowski, S. and Brewer, J. W. (2007). Coordinate regulation of phospholipid biosynthesis and secretory pathway gene expression in XBP-1(S)-induced endoplasmic reticulum biogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 282: 7024–7034.

Stagg, A. J., M. Breban, R. E. Hammer, S. C. Knight, and J. D. Taurog. (1995). Defective dendritic cell (DC) function in a HLA-B27 transgenic rat model of spondyloarthropathy (SpA). Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 378: 557–559.

Stam, N. J., Vroom, Th. M., Peters, P. J., Pastoors, E. B. and Ploegh, H. L. (1990) HLA-A- and HLA-B-specific monoclonal antibodies reactive with free heavy chains in Western blots, in formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue sections and in cryo-immuno-electron microscopy. International Immunology 2 (2): 113-125.

Stephens, S. B., Dodd, R. D., Brewer, J. W., Lager, P. J., Keene, J. D. and Nicchitta, C. V. (2005). Stable ribosome binding to the endoplasmic reticulum enables compartment- specific regulation of mRNA translation. Mol. Biol. Cell 16: 5819–5831.

Stevens, F. J. and Argon, Y. (1999). Protein folding in the ER. Semin Cell Dev Biol 10, 443–454.

Strauch, K. L. and Beckwith, J. (1988). An *Escherichia coli* mutation preventing degradation of abnormal periplasmic proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85, 1576-1580.

Strom, T. M., Hortnagel, K., Hofmann, S., Gekeler, F., Scharfe, C., Rabl, W., Gerbitz, K. D. and Meitinger, T. (1998). Diabetes insipidus, diabetes mellitus, optic atrophy and deafness (DIDMOAD) caused by mutations in a novel gene (wolframin) coding for a predicted transmembrane protein. Hum. Mol. Genet. 7: 2021–28.

Su, K., Stoller, T., Rocco, J., Zemsky, J. and Green, R. (1993). Pre-Golgi degradation of yeast prepro-alpha-factor expressed in a mammalian cell. Influence of cell type-specific oligosaccharide processing on intracellular fate. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 14301-14309.

Sugawara, S., Takeda, K., Lee, A. and Dennert, G. (1993). Suppression of stress protein GRP78 induction in tumor B/C10ME eliminates resistance to cell mediated toxicity. Cancer Res. 53: 6001–5.

Sullivan, D. C., Huminiecki, L., Moore, J. W., Boyle, J. J., Poulsom, R., Creamer, D., Barker, J. and Bicknall, R. (2003). EndoPDI, a protein-disulfide isomerase-like protein that is preferentially expressed in endothelial cells acts as a stress survival factor. J Biol Chem 278 (47): 47079-47088.

Surrey, T. and Jahnig, F. (1995). Kinetics of folding and membrane insertion of a  $\beta$ -barrel membrane protein. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 28199-28203.

Szabo, A., Langer, T., Schroder, H., Flanagan, J., Bukau, B. and Hartl, F.-U. (1994). The ATP hydrolysis-dependent reaction cycle of the Escherichia coli Hsp70 system – DnaK, DnaJ, and GrpE. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA, 91, 10345–10349.

Szathmary, R., Bielmann, R., Nita-Lazar, M., Burda, P., and Jakob, C. A. (2005). Yos9 protein is essential for degradation of misfolded glycoproteins and may function as lectin in ERAD. Mol. Cell 19: 765–775.

Tachibana, C. and Stevens, T. H. (1992). The yeast EUG1 gene encodes an endoplasmic reticulum protein that is functionally related to protein disulfide isomerase. Mol. Cell. Biol. 12: 4601–11.

Tak, P. P. and Firestein, S. G. (2001). NF-kB: a key role in inflammatory diseases. J. Clin. Invest. 107 (1): 7-11.

Takatsuki, A., Arima, K. and Tamura, G. (1971). Tunicamycin, a new antibiotic. I. Isolation and characterization of tunicamycin. J. Antibiot. 24: 215-21.

Tan, J. M., Wong, E. S. and Lim, K. L. (2009). Protein misfolding and aggregation in Parkinson's deases. Antiox Redox Signal 11 (9): 2119-2134.

Tan, P., Kropshofer, H., Mandelboim, O., Bulbuc, N., Hammerling, G. J. and Momburg, F. (2002). Recruitment of MHC class Imolecules by tapasin into the transporter associated with antigen processing-associated complex is essential for optimal peptide loading. J. Immunol. 168: 1950–1960.

Tanaka, M. and Herr, W. (1990). Differential transcriptional activation by Oct-1 and Oct-2: Interdependent activation domains induce Oct-2 phosphorylation. Cell 60: 375-386.

Tang, Y. C., Chang, H. C., Roeben, A., Wischnewski, D., Wischnewski, N., Kerner, M. J., Hartl, F. U., and Hayer-Hartl, M. (2006). Structural features of the GroEL-GroES nano-cage required for rapid folding of encapsulated protein. Cell 125, 903–914.

Tang, Y. C., Chang, H. C., Hayer-Hartl, M. & Hartl, F. U. (2007). SnapShot: molecular chaperones, Part II. Cell 128, 412.

Taurog, J. D., Maika, S. D., Simmons, W. A., Breban, M. and Hammer, R. E. (1993). Susceptibility to inflammatory disease in HLA-B27 transgenic rat lines correlates with the level of B27 expression. J. Immunol. 150: 4168-4178.

Taurog, J. D., Richardson, J. A., Croft, J. T., Simmons, W. A., Zhou, M., Fernandez-Sueiro, J.L., Balish, E. and Hammer, R.E. (1994). The germfree state prevents development of gut and joint inflammatory disease in HLA-B27 transgenic rats. J. Exp. Med. 180: 2359-2364.

Taurog, J. D., Maika, S. D., Satumtira, N., Dorris, M. L., McLean, I. L., Yanagisawa, H., Sayad, A., Stagg, A. J., Fox, G. M., O'Brien, A. L., Rehman, M., Zhou, M., Weiner, A. L., Splawski, J. B., Richardson, J. A. and Hammer, R. E. (1999). Inflammatory disease in HLA-B27 transgenic rats. Immunological Reviews 169: 209-223.

Taurog, J. D., Dorris, M. L., Satumtira, N., Tran, T. M., Sharma, R., Dressel, R., van den Brandt, J. and Reichardt, H. M. (2009). Spondyloarthritis in HLA-B27/human b2-microglobulin transgenic rats is not prevented by lack of CD8. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 60 (7): 1977-1984.

Taylor, S. C., Ferguson, A. D., Bergeron, J. J. and Thomas, D. Y. (2004). The ER protein folding sensor UDP-glucose glycoprotein-glucosyltransferase modifies substrates distant to local changes in glycoprotein conformation. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 11: 128-134.

Tector, M. and Salter, R. D. (1995). Calnexin influences folding of human class I proteins but not their assembly with beta 2-microglobulin. J Biol Chem. 270 (33): 19638-42.

Tector, M., Zhang, Q. and Salter, R. D. (1997). Beta 2-microglobulin and calnexin can independently promote folding and disulfide bond formation in class I proteins. Mol. Immunol. 34: 401–408.

Thastrup, O., Cullen, P. J., Drobak, B. K., Hanley, M. R. and Dawson, A. P. (1990). Thapsigargin, a tumor promoter, discharges intracellular Ca2+ stores by specific inhibition of the endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87: 2466-70.

Thomas, C. G. and Spyrou, G. (2009). ERdj5 sensitizes neuroblastoma cells to endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem, 284 (10): 6282-6290. Thomas, P. J., Qu, B. H., Pedersen, P. L. (1995). Defective protein folding as a basis of human disease. Trends Biochem Sci 20:456–9.

Thuerauf, D. J., Morrison, L. E., Hoover, H. and Glembotski, C. C. (2002). Coordination of ATF6-mediated transcription and ATF6 degradation by a domain that is shared with the viral transcription factor, VP16. J Biol Chem 277: 20734–20739.

Thuerauf, D. J., Morrison, L. and Glembotski, C. C. (2004). Opposing roles for ATF6 alpha and ATF6 beta in endoplasmic reticulum stress response gene induction. J Biol Chem 279: 21078–21084.

Thuerauf, D. J., Marcinko, M., Belmont, P. J. and Glembotski, C. C. (2007). Effects of the isoform-specific characteristics of ATF6 alpha and ATF6 beta on endoplasmic reticulum stress response gene expression and cell viability. J Biol Chem 282: 22865–22878.

Tian, G., Xiang, S., Noiva, R., Lennarz, W. J. and Schindelin, H. (2006). The crystal structure of yeast protein disulfide isomerase suggests cooperativity between its active sites. Cell 124 (1): 61-73.

Tian, G., Kober, F. X., Lewandrowski, U., Sickmann, A., Lennarz, W. J. and Schindelin, H. (2008). The catalytic activity of protein-disulfide isomerise requires a conformationally flexible molecule. J. Biol. Chem. 283 (48): 33630-33640.

Tirasophon, W., Welihinda, A. A. and Kaufman, R. J. (1998). A stress response pathway from the endoplasmic reticulum to the nucleus requires a novel bifunctional protein kinase/endoribonuclease (Ire1p) in mammalian cells. Genes Dev. 12: 1812-1824.

Tirasophon, W., Lee, K., Callaghan, C., Welihinda, A. and Kaufman, R. J. (2000). The endoribonuclease activity of mammalian IRE1 autoregulates its mRNA and is required for the unfolded protein response. Genes Dev. 14 (21): 2725-36.

Tirosh, B., Furman, M. H., Tortorella, D. and Ploegh, H. L. (2003). Protein unfolding is not a prerequisite for endoplasmic reticulum-to-cytosol dislocation. J. Biol. Chem. 278: 6664–6672.

Tirosh, B., Iwakoshi, N. N., Glimcher, L. H. and Ploegh, H. L. (2006). Rapid turnover of unspliced Xbp-1 as a factor that modulates the unfolded protein response. J Biol Chem. 281(9): 5852-60.

Tkacz, J. S. and Lampen, O. (1975). Tunicamycin inhibition of polyisoprenyl N-acetylglucosaminyl pyrophosphate formation in calf-liver microsomes. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 65: 248-53.

Todd-Corlett, A., Jones, E., Seghers, C. and Gething, M. J. (2007). Lobe IB of the ATPase domain of Kar2p/BiP interacts with the Ire1pto negatively regulate the unfolded protein response in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Mol. Biol. 367 (3): 770-787.

Tran, T. M., Satumtira, N., Dorris, M. L., May, E., Wang, A., Furuta, E. and Taurog, J. D. (2004). HLA-B27 in transgenic rats forms disulfide-linked heavy chain oligomers and multimers that bind to the chaperone BiP. J Immunol 172: 5110-5119.

Tran, T. M., Dorris, M. L., Satumtira, N., Richardson, J. A., Hammer, R. E., Shang, J. and Taurog, J. D. (2006). Additional human beta(2)-microglobulin curbs HLA-B27 misfolding and promotes arthritis and spondylitis without colitis in male HLA-B27-transgenic rats. Arthritis Rheum 54: 1317-27.

Travers, K. J., Patil, C. K., Wodicka, L., Lockhart, D. J., Weissman, J. S. and Walter, P. (2000). Functional and genomic analyses reveal an essential coordination between the unfolded protein response and ER-associated degradation. Cell 101: 249–258.

Trombetta, E. S. and Helenius, A. (2000). Conformational requirements for glycoprotein reglucosylation in the endoplasmic reticulum. J Cell Biol 148, 1123–1129.

Tsai, J. and Douglas, M. G. (1996) A conserved HPD sequence of the J domain is necessary for YDJ1 stimulation of Hsp70 ATPase activity at a site distinct from substrate binding. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 9347–9354.

Tu, B. P., Ho-Schleyer, S. C., Travers, K. J. and Weissman, J. S. (2000). Biochemical basis of oxidative protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum. Science 290: 1571-1574.

Tu, B. P. and Weissman, J. S. (2002). The FAD- and O(2)-dependent reaction cycle of Ero1-mediated oxidative protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum. Mol Cell 10: 983-994.

Turner, M. J., Sowders, D. P., DeLay, M. L., Mohapatra, R., Bai, S., Smith, J. A., Brandewie, J. R., Taurog, J. D. and Colbert, R. A. (2005). HLA-B27 misfolding in transgenic rats is associated with activation of the unfolded protein response. J Immunol 175: 2438-2448.

Turner, M. J., DeLay, M. L., Bai, S., Klenk, E. Colbert, R. A. (2007). HLA-B27 upregulation causes accumulation of misfolded heavy chains and corrolates with the magnitude of the unfolded protein response in transgenic rats. Arthritis & Rheumatism 56 (1): 215-223.

Uckun, F. M., Evans, W. E., Forsyth, C. J., Waddick, K. G., Ahlgren, L. T., Chelstrom, L. M., Buckhardt, A., Bolen, J. and Myers, D. E. (1995). Biotherapy of B-cell precursor leukemia by targeting genistein to CD19-associated tyrosine kinases. Science 267 (5199): 886-891.

Ueda, K., Kawano, J., Takeda, K., Yujiri, T., Tanabe, K., Anno, T., Akiyama, M., Nozaki, J., Yoshinga, T., Koizumi, A., Shinoda, K., Oka, Y. and Tanizawa, Y. (2005). Endoplasmic reticulum stress induces Wfs1 gene expression in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells via transcriptional activation. Eur. J. Endocrinol. 153: 167–76.

Uemura, A., Oku, M., Mori, K. and Yoshida, H. (2009). Unconventional splicing of XBP1 mRNA occurs in the cytoplasm during the mammalian unfolded protein response. J Cell Sci. 122 (Pt 16): 2877-86.

Ullers, R. S., Houben, E. N., Raine, A., ten Hagen-Jongman, C. M., Ehrenberg, M., Brunner, J., Oudega, B., Harms, N. and Luirink, J. (2003). Interplay of signal recognition particle and trigger factor at L23 near the nascent chain exit site on the Escherichia coli ribosome. J. Cell Biol. 161: 679–684.

Urano, F., Wang, X., Bertolotti, A., Zhang, Y., Chung, P., Harding, H. P. and Ron, D. (2000). Coupling of stress in the ER to activation of JNK protein kinases by transmembrane protein kinase IRE1. Science. 287 (5453): 664-6.

Ushioda, R., Hoseki, J., Araki, K., Jansen, G., Thomas, D. Y. and Nagata, K. (2008). ERdj5 is required as a disulfide reductase for degradation of misfolded proteins in the ER. Science 321 (5888): 569-572.

Vallee, F., Lipari, F., Yip, P., Sleno, B., Herscovics, A., and Howell, P. L. (2000). Crystal structure of a class I alpha1, 2–mannosidase involved in N-glycan processing and endoplasmic reticulum quality control. EMBO J. 19: 581–588.

Van den Berg, B., Clemons, W. M., Collinson, I., Modis, Y., Hartmann, E., Harrison, S. C. and Rapoport, T. A. (2004). X-ray structure of a protein-conducting channel. Nature. 427 : 36–44.

Van Kaer, L., Ashton-Rickardt, P. G., Ploegh, H. L. and Tonegawa, S. (1992). TAP1 mutant mice are deficient in antigen presentation, surface class I molecules, and CD4-8+ T cells. Cell 71: 1205–1214.

van Lith, M., Hartigan, N., Hatch, J. and Benham, A.M. (2005). PDILT, a divergent testis-specific protein disulfide isomerase with a non-classical SXXC motif that

engages in disulfide-dependent interactions in the endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem 280: 1376-1383.

van Lith, M., Karala, A. R., Bown, D., Gatehouse, J. A., Ruddock, L. W., Saunders, P. T. and Benham, A. M. (2007). A developmentally regulated chaperone complex for the endoplasmic reticulum of male haploid germ cells. Mol Biol Cell 18 (8): 2795-2804.

Vassilakos, A., Cohen-Doyle, M. F., Peterson, P. A., Jackson, M. R. and Williams, D. B. (1996). The molecular chaperone calnexin facilitates folding and assembly of class I molecules. EMBO J 15: 1495–1506.

Vattem, K. M. and Wek, R. C. (2004). Reinitiation involving upstream ORFs regulates ATF4 mRNA translation in mammalian cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101: 11269–11274.

Vembar, S. S. and Brodsky, J. L. (2008). One step at a time: endoplasmic reticulumassociated degradation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 9 (12): 944–957.

Verma, R., Chen, S., Feldman, R., Schieltz, D., Yates, J., Dohmen, J. and Deshaies, R. J. (2000). Proteasomal proteomics: identification of nucleotide-sensitive proteasome interacting proteins by mass spectrometric analysis of affinity-purified proteasomes. Mol. Biol. Cell 11:3425–3439.

Vinje, O., Dale, K. and Moller, P. (1985). Radiographic evaluation of patients with Bechterew's syndrome (ankylosing spondylitis). Findings in peripheral joints, tendon insertions and the pubic symphysis and relations to non-radiographic findings. Scand J Rheumatol 14: 279-88.

Volkmer, J., Guth, S., Nastainczyk, W., Knippel, P., Klappa, P., Gnau, V. and Zimmermann, R. (1997). Pancreas specific protein disulfide isomerase, PDIp, is in transient contact with secretory proteins during late stages of translocation. FEBS Lett 406: 291-295.

Von, H., Owens, O., Gey, M. K. and Gey, G. O. (1954). Growth of cells in agitated fluid medium. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 58 (7): 1039-55.

Walker, K. W. and Gilbert, H. F. (1997). Scanning and escape during proteindisulfide isomerase-assisted protein folding. J Biol Chem 272: 8845-8848.

Walter, P. and Johnson, A.E. (1994). Signal sequence recognition and protein targeting to the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 10: 87–119.

Wanders, A., Landewe, R., Dougados, M., Mielants, H., van der Linden, S. and van der Heijde, D. (2005). Association between radiographic damage of the spine and spinal mobility for individual patients with ankylosing spondylitis: can assessment of spinal mobility be a proxy for radiographic evaluation? Ann Rheum Dis 64: 988–94.

Wang H., Capps G. G., Robinson B. E. and Zuniga M. C. (1994). Ab initio association with beta 2-microglobulin during biosynthesis of the H-2Ld class I major Histocompatibility complex heavy chain promotes proper disulfide bond formation and stable peptide binding. J. Biol. Chem. 269: 22276–22281.

Wang, G., Shi, X., Salisbury, E. and Timchenko, N. A. (2008). Regulation of apoptotic and growth inhibitory activities of C/EBPa in different cell lines. Experiment. Cell Res. 314: 1626-1639.

Wang, J., Takeuchi, T., Tanaka, S., Kubo, S. K., Kayo, T., Lu, D., Takata, K., Koizumi, A. and Izumi, T. (1999). A mutation in the insulin 2 gene induces diabetes with severe pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction in the Mody mouse. J. Clin. Invest. 103: 27–37.

Wang, L., Wang, L., Vavassori, S., Lee, S., Ke, H., Anelli, T., Degano, M., Ronzoni, R., Sitia, R., Sun, F. and Wang, C. C. (2008). Crystal structure of human ERp44 shows a dynamic function modulation by its carboxy-terminal tail. EMBO Reports 9 (7): 642-7.

Wang, X.-Z. and Ron, D. (1996). Stress-induced phosphorylation and activation of the transcription factor CHOP (GADD153) by p38 MAP-kinase. Science 272: 1347–1349.

Wang, X. Z., Harding, H. P., Zhang, Y., Jolicoeur, E. M., Kuroda, M. and Ron, D. (1998). Cloning of mammalian Ire1 reveals diversity in the ER stress responses. EMBO J. 17: 5708-5717.

Wang, Y., Shen, J., Arenzana, N., Tirasophon, W., Kaufman, R. J. and Prywes, R. (2000). Activation of ATF6 and an ATF6 DNA binding site by the endoplasmic reticulum stress response. J Biol Chem 275: 27013–27020.

Wearsch, P. A. and Nicchitta, C. V. (1997). Interaction of endoplasmic reticulum chaperone GRP94 with peptide substrates is adenine nucleotide-independent, J. Biol. Chem. 272: 5152-5156.

Wearsch, P. A. and Cresswell, P. (2007). Selective loading of high-affinity peptides onto major pondyloarthritis complex class I molecules by the tapasin-Erp57 heterodimer. Nat Immunol 8: 873–881.

Wei, M. C., Zong, W. X., Cheng, E. H., Lindsten, T., Panoutsakopoulou, V., Ross, A. J., Roth, K. A., MacGregor, G. R., Thompson, C. B. and Korsmeyer, S. J. (2001). Proapoptotic BAX and BAK: a requisite gateway to mitochondrial dysfunction and death. Science 292: 727–30.

Weissman, J. S., Rye, H. S., Fenton, W. A., Beechem, J. M. and Horwich, A. L. (1996). Characterization of the active intermediate of a GroEL-GroES-mediated folding reaction. Cell 84, 481–490.

Wek, R. C., Jiang, H. Y. and Anthony, T. G. (2006). Coping with stress: eIF2 kinases and translational control. Biochem Soc Trans. 34(Pt 1): 7-11.

Welihinda, A. A. and Kaufman, R. J. (1996). The unfolded protein response pathway in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: oligomerization and transphosphorylation of Ire1p (Ern1p) are required for kinase activation. J Biol Chem 271: 18181–18187.

Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium; Australo-Anglo-American Spondylitis Consortium (TASC) (2007) Association scan of 14,500 nonsynonymous SNPs in four diseases identifies autoimmunity variants. Nat. Genet. 39:1329-1337.

Whitesell, L., Mimnaugh, E. G., De, C. B., Myers, C. E. and Neckers, L. M. (1994). Inhibition of heat shock protein HSP90-pp60v-src heteroprotein complex formation by benzoquinone ansamycins: essential role for stress proteins in oncogenic transformation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 91: 8324–8328.

Wiertz , E. J., Tortorella, D., Bogyo, M., Yu, J., Mothes, W., Jones, T. R., Rapoport, T. A. and Ploegh, H. L. (1996). Sec61-mediated transfer of a membrane protein from the endoplasmic reticulum to the proteasome for destruction. Nature . 384: 432–438.

Williams, A. P., Peh, C. A., Purcell, A. W., McCluskey, J. and Elliott, T. (2002). Optimization of the MHC class I peptide cargo is dependent on tapasin. Immunity 16: 509–20.

Wiseman, H., and Duffy, R. (2001). New advances in the understanding of the role of steroids and steroid receptors in disease. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 29 (2): 205-209.

Wiseman, R. L., Zhang, Y., Lee, K. P., Harding, H. P., Haynes, C. M., Price, J., Sicheri, F. and Ron, D. (2010). Flavonol activation defines an unanticipated ligandbinding site in the kinase-RNase domain of IRE1. Mol. Cell 38: 291-304.

Wu, J., Rutkowski, D. T., Dubois, M., Swathirajan, J., Saunders, T., Wang, J., Song, B., Yau, G. D. Y. and Kaufman, R. J. (2007). ATF6a Optimizes Long-Term Endoplasmic Reticulum Function to Protect Cells from Chronic Stress Developmental Cell 13: 351–364.

Wu, S., Tan, M., Hu, Y., Wang, J-L., Scheuner, D. and Kaufman, R. J. (2004). Ultraviolet light activates NF kappa B through translation inhibition of I kappa B alpha synthesis. J Biol Chem 279: 24898–24902.

Wunderlich, M., Jaenicke, R., and Glockshuber, R. (1993). The redox properties of protein disulfide isomerase (DsbA) of Escherichia coli result from a tense conformation of its oxidized form. J Mol Biol 233, 559-566.

Xiao, R., Solovyov, A., Gilbert, H. F., Holmgren, A. and Lundstrom-Ljung, J. (2001). Combinations of protein-disulfide isomerase domains show that there is little correlation between isomerase activity and wild-type growth. J Biol Chem 276: 27975-27980.

Xiao, R., Wilkinson, B., Solovyov, A., Winther, J. R., Holmgre, A., Lundstrom-Ljung, J. and Gilbert, H. F. (2004). The contributions of protein disulfide isomerase and its homologues to oxidative protein folding in the yeast endoplasmic reticulum. J Biol Chem. 279, 48:49780-49786.

Xu, Y., and Lindquist, S. (1993). Heat-shock protein hsp90 governs the activity of pp60v-src kinase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 90:7074–7078.

Xue, Y., Daly, A., Yngvadottir, B., Liu, M., Coop, G., Kim, T., Sabeti, P., Chen, Y., Stalker, J., Huckle, E., Burton, J., Leonard, S., Rogers, J. and Tyler-Smith, C. (2006). Spread of an inactive form of caspase-12 in humans is due to recent positive selection. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 78: 659–70.

Yam, A. Y., Xia, Y., Lin, H. T., Burlingame, A., Gerstein, M. and Frydman, J. (2008). Defining the TRiC/CCT interactome links chaperonin function to stabilization of newly made proteins with complex topologies. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 15, 1255–1262.

Yamaguchi, S., Ishihara, H., Yamada, T., Tamura, A., Usui, M., Tominaga, R., Munakata, Y., Satake, C., Katagiri, H., Tashiro, F., Aburatari, H., Tsukiyama-Kohara, K., Miyazaki, J., Sonenberg, N. and Oka, Y. (2008). ATF4-mediated induction of 4EBP1 contributes to pancreatic beta cell survival under endoplasmic reticulum stress. Cell Metab 7: 269–276.

Yamamoto, K., Yoshida, H., Kokame, K., Kaufman, R. J. and Mori, K. (2004). Differential contributions of ATF6 and XBP1 to the activation of endoplasmic reticulum stress-responsive cis-acting elements ERSE, UPRE and ERSE-II. J Biochem (Tokyo) 136: 343–350.

Yamamoto, K., Sato, T., Matsui, T., Sato, M., Okada, T., Yoshida, H., Harada, A. and Mori, K. (2007). Transcriptional induction of mammalian ER quality control proteins is mediated by single or combined action of ATF6alpha and XBP1. Dev Cell. 13 (3): 365-76.

Yanagitani, K., Imagawa, Y., Iwawaki, T., Hosoda, A., Saito, M., Kimata, Y. and Kohno, K. (2009). Cotranslational targeting of XBP1 protein to the membrane promotes cytoplasmic splicing of its own mRNA. Mol. Cell 34: 191-200.

Yang, Z. –X., Liang, Y., Zhu, Y., Li, C., Zhang, L. –Z., Zeng, X. –M. and Zhong, R. – Q. (2007). Increased expression of Toll-like receptor 4 in peripheral blood leucocytes and serum levels of some cytokines in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Clin. Exp. Immol. 149: 48-55.

Ye, J., Rawson, R. B., Komuro, R., Chen, X., Dave, U. P., Prywes, R., Brown, M. S and Goldstein, J. L. (2000). ER stress induces cleavage of membrane-bound ATF6 by the same proteases that process SREBPs. Mol Cell 6: 1355–1364.

Ye, Y., Meyer, H. H. and Rapoport, T.A. (2001). The AAA ATPase Cdc48/p97 and its partners transport proteins from the ER into the cytosol. Nature 414, 652-656.

Ye, Y., Shibata, Y., Yun, C., Ron, D. and Rapoport, T. A. (2004). A membrane protein complex mediates retro-translocation from the ER lumen into the cytosol. Nature 429: 841–847.

Yoneda, T., Imaizumi, K., Oono, K., Yui, D., Gomi, F., Katayama, T. and Tohyama, M. (2001). Activation of caspase-12, an endoplastic reticulum (ER) resident caspase, through tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 2-dependent mechanism in response to the ER stress. J Biol Chem. 276 (17): 13935-40.

Yorimitsu, T., Nair, U., Yang, Z. and Klionsky, D. J. (2006). Endoplasmic reticulum stress triggers autophagy. J. Biol. Chem. 281 (40): 30299-30304.

York, I. A., Chang, S. C., Saric, T., Keys, J. A., Favreau, J. M., Goldberg, A. L. and Rock, K. L. (2002). The ER aminopeptidase ERAP1 enhances or limits antigen presentation by trimming epitopes to 8–9 residues. Nat. Immunol. 3: 1177–84.

Yoshida, H., Haze, K., Yanagi, H., Yura, T. and Mori, K. (1998). Identification of the cis-acting endoplasmic reticulum stress response element responsible for transcriptional induction of mammalian glucose-regulated proteins; involvement of basic leucine zipper transcription factors. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 33741–33749.

Yoshida, H., Okada, T., Haze, K., Yanagi, H., Yura, T. and Mori, K. (2000). ATF6 activated by proteolysis directly binds in the presence of NF-Y (CBF) to the cis-acting element responsible for the mammalian unfolded protein response. Mol. Cell Biol. 20: 6755–6767.

Yoshida, H., Matsui, T., Yamamoto, A., Okada, T. and Mori, K. (2001a). XBP1 mRNA is induced by ATF6 and spliced by IRE1 in response to ER stress to produce a highly active transcription factor. Cell 107: 881–891.

Yoshida, H., Okada, T., Haze, K., Yanagi, H., Yura, T., Negishi, M. and Mori, K. (2001b). Endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced formation of transcription factor complex ERSF including NF-Y (CBF) and activating transcription factors 6 alpha and

6 beta that activates the mammalian unfolded protein response. Mol Cell Biol 21: 1239–1248.

Yoshida, H., Matsui, T., Hosokawa, N., Kaufman, R. J., Nagata, K. and Mori, K. (2003). A time-dependent phase shift in the mammalian unfolded protein response. Dev. Cell 4: 265–271.

Yoshida, H., Nadanaka, S., Sato, R. and Mori K. (2006a). XBP1 is critical to protect cells from endoplasmic reticulum stress: evidence from site-2 protease-deficient Chinese hamster ovary cells. Cell Struct Funct 31: 117–125.

Yoshida, H., Oku, M., Suzuki, M. and Mori, K. (2006b). pXBP1(U) encoded in XBP1 pre-mRNA negatively regulates unfolded protein response activator pXBP1(S) in mammalian ER stress response. J Cell Biol. 172 (4): 565-75.

Yoshida, H., Uemura, A. and Mori, K. (2009). pXBP1(U), a negative regulator of the unfolded protein response activator pXBP1(S), targets ATF6 but not ATF4 in proteasome-mediated degradation. Cell Struct. Funct. 34 (1): 1-10.

Yoshimura, F. K., Luo, X., Zhao, X., Gerard, H. C., Hudson, A. P. (2008). Upregulation of a cellular protein at the translational level by a retrovirus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105: 5543–5548.

Young, N. T., Uhrberg, M., Phillips, J. H., Lanier, L. L. and Parham, P. (2001). Differential expression of leukocyte receptor complex-encoded Ig-like receptors correlates with the transition from effector to memory CTL. J Immunol 166: 3933–41.

Zapun, A., Bardwell, J. C., and Creighton, T. E. (1993). The reactive and destabilizing disulfide bond of DsbA, a protein required for protein disulfide bond formation in vivo. Biochemistry *32*, 5083-5092.

Zapun, A. and Creighton, T. E. (1994). Effects of DsbA on the disulfide folding of bovine pancreatic trypsin inhibitor and alpha-lactalbumin. Biochemistry *33*, 5202-5211.

Zapun, A., Petrescu, S. M., Rudd, P. M., Dwek, R. A., Thomas, D. Y., and Bergeron, J. J. (1997). Conformation-independent binding of monoglucosylated ribonuclease B to calnexin. Cell 88: 29–38.

Zapun, A., Darby, N. J., Tessier, D. C., Michalak, M., Bergeron, J. J. and Thomas, D. Y. (1998). Enhanced catalysis of ribonuclease B folding by the interaction of calnexin or calreticulin with Erp57. J Biol Chem. 273 (11): 6009-12.

Zhang, K., Wong, H. N., Song, B., Miller, C. N., Scheuner, D. and Kaufman, R. J. (2005). The unfolded protein response sensor IRE1alpha is required at 2 distinct steps in B cell lymphopoiesis. J. Clin. Invest. 115: 268–281.

Zhang, L., Lai, E., Teodoro, T. and Volchuk, A. (2008) GRP78, but Not Proteindisulfide Isomerase, Partially Reverses Hyperglycemia-induced Inhibition of Insulin Synthesis and Secretion in Pancreatic beta-cells. J Biol Chem. 284 (8): 5289-98.

Zhang, P., McGrath, B., Li, S., Frank, A., Zambito, F., Reinert, J., Gannon, M., Ma, K., McNaughton, K. and Cavener, D. R. (2002). The PERK eukaryotic initiation factor 2 alpha kinase is required for the development of the skeletal system, postnatal growth, and the function and viability of the pancreas. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22: 3864–3874.

Zhang, W., Feng, D., Li, Y., Iida, K., McGrath, B. and Cavener, D.R. (2006). PERK EIF2AK3 control of pancreatic beta cell differentiation and proliferation is required for postnatal glucose homeostasis. Cell Metab. 4: 491–497.

Zhang, Y. and Williams, D. B. (2006). Assembly of MHC class I molecules in the endoplasmic reticulum. Immunologic Res 34 (1-2): 151-162.

Zhang, Y., Baig, E., and Williams, D.B. (2006). Functions of Erp57 in the folding and assembly of major complex class I molecules. J. Biol. Chem. 281: 14622–14631.

Zhang, Y., Kozlov, G., Poncanschi, C. L., Brockmeier, U., Ireland, B. S., Maattanen, P., Howe, C., Elliott, T., Gehring, K. and Williams, D. B. (2009). ERp57 does not require interactions with calnexin and calreticulin to promote assembly of class I histocompatability molecules, and it enhances peptide loading independently of its redox activity. J Biol Chem 284 (15): 10160-73.

Zhou, D., Pallam, L. R., Jiang, L., Narasimhan, J., Staschke, K. A. and Wek, R.C. (2008). Phosphorylation of eIF2 directs ATF5 translational control in response to diverse stress conditions. J Biol Chem 283: 7064–7073.

Zhou, J., Liu, C. Y., Back, S. H., Clark, R. L., Peisach, D., Xu, Z. and Kaufman, R. J. (2006). The crystal structure of human IRE1 luminal domain reveals a conserved dimerization interface required for activation of the unfolded protein response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 14343–14348.

Zhou, Y. and Lee, A. S. (1998). Mechanism for the suppression of the mammalian stress response by gennistein , an anticancer phytoestrogen from soy products. J National Cancer Inst. 90 (5): 381-388.

Zinszner, H., Kuroda, M., Wang, X., Batchvarova, N., Lightfoot, R. T., Remotti, H., Stevens, J. L. and Ron, D. (1998). CHOP is implicated in programmed cell death in response to impaired function of the endoplasmic reticulum. Genes Dev. 12: 982–995.
Zong, W. X., Li, C., Hatzivassiliou, G., Lindsten, T., Yu, Q. C., Yuan, J. and Thompson, C. B. (2003). Bax and Bak can localize to the endoplasmic reticulum to initiate apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. 162: 59–69.